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·1· ·Thereupon, the following proceeding began at 9:30 a.m.:

·2· · · · · · ·CHAIRMAN UPTON:· Good morning.· It's 9:30.

·3· · · · Let's call the meeting to order.· It is June 8,

·4· · · · 2023.· Let's start with the Pledge of Allegiance.

·5· · · · Everybody, please rise.

·6· · · · · · · · · · · ·(Pledge of Allegiance.)

·7· · · · · · ·CHAIRMAN UPTON:· The first order of business

·8· · · · is the selection of the Vice Chair.· What I would

·9· · · · like to do is open it up for discussion or a

10· · · · motion.

11· · · · · · ·COMMISSIONER DRAGO:· Mr. Chair, if I could, I

12· · · · would like to make a nomination, if I could.  I

13· · · · don't know if this is the right time to do that.

14· · · · Do you want to do that now?

15· · · · · · ·CHAIRMAN UPTON:· Absolutely.

16· · · · · · ·COMMISSIONER DRAGO:· I would like to make a

17· · · · nomination for Vice Chair of Commissioner Julie

18· · · · Brown.

19· · · · · · ·CHAIRMAN UPTON:· Is there a second?

20· · · · · · ·COMMISSIONER D'AQUILA:· I would like to make a

21· · · · second, Mr. Chair.

22· · · · · · ·CHAIRMAN UPTON:· Okay.· All in favor?

23· · · · · · ·(Multiple ayes.)

24· · · · · · ·COMMISSIONER D'AQUILA:· Congratulations.

25· · · · · · ·COMMISSIONER BROWN:· Thank you so much.
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·1·

·2·

  ·    COMMISSIONER DRAGO:· Congratulations.

 · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· All right.· Agenda Item No.

·3· ·2, 2.1, approval of the April 6, 2023 minutes.

·4· ·Open it up for any discussion on that.

·5· · · · COMMISSIONER BROWN:· Move to approve the

·6· ·minutes for April 6, 2023.

·7· · · · COMMISSIONER D'AQUILA:· I would like to make a

·8· ·second.

·9· · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· All in favor?

10· · · · (Multiple ayes.)

11· · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· All right.· It's unanimous.

12· ·All right.· Moving on, we're going to handle the

13· ·number three, the discussion of consent orders a

14· ·little differently than we have in the past.· We're

15· ·going to take 3.1 through 3.10 up as a consent

16· ·agenda, unless any of the commissioners would like

17· ·to speak.

18· · · · Or if we have a speaker, which we do today, on

19· ·3.2.· So what we'll do first is allow Mr. Zachem to

20· ·speak on 3.2 if he would like, and then we'll open

21· ·it up for any discussion on the others or take them

22· ·up as a consent agenda.

23· · · · Mr. Zachem, come on up.

24· · · · MR. ZACHEM:· Thank you, Mr. Chair.· I'm just

25· ·here for information purposes only.· I represent
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·1· ·Casino Miami.· If you have any questions, I was

·2· ·here to assist.· If not, I'm fine with waiving my

·3· ·time.

·4· · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· Does anyone have questions

·5· ·for counsel?

·6· · · · Okay.· Thank you.

·7· · · · Okay.· Do any of the commissioners want to

·8· ·discuss any of these consent orders individually?

·9· · · · COMMISSIONER BROWN:· Mr. Chair, just 3.9 and

10· ·3.10 together.

11· · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· Okay.· Let's go ahead and do

12· ·3.1 though 3.8 together, if I can get a motion to

13· ·approve those consent orders.

14· · · · COMMISSIONER D'AQUILA:· I'll make a motion to

15· ·approve those consent orders.

16· · · · COMMISSIONER DRAGO:· Second.

17· · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· All in favor?

18· · · · (Multiple ayes.)

19· · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· Unanimous.

20· · · · Okay.· Commissioner Brown, take it away on

21· ·3.9.

22· · · · COMMISSIONER BROWN:· Thank you, Mr. Chair.

23· ·Good morning.· Could you just go over -- it's the

24· ·same individual, just a few months apart, the same

25· ·fine.· I'm just worried that this is going to be a
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·1· ·continuing pattern because all he has to do is pay

·2· ·$1,000, return the money, and he's going to

·3· ·continue to have this infraction.

·4· · · · MS. ALVARADO:· Yes.· This is Emily Alvarado,

·5· ·for the record.· So the first case, which is

·6· ·2023-019250, the race was February 18th.· The

·7· ·administrative complaint was not filed until April

·8· ·12th.

·9· · · · And the second case, which is 2023-022742, the

10· ·race was April 2nd, so before we had even filed the

11· ·first case.· It is the same horse and the same

12· ·substance, so they didn't have notice of the first

13· ·race prior to racing in that second race.

14· · · · COMMISSIONER BROWN:· Thank you.· I'm okay with

15· ·that.· I just wanted to make sure that we don't

16· ·continue to have this pattern with this trainer.

17· · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· Any other discussion?

18· · · · COMMISSIONER BROWN:· Move to approve 3.9 and

19· ·3.10.

20· · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· Second?

21· · · · COMMISSIONER D'AQUILA:· I'll make a second.

22· · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· All in favor?

23· · · · (Multiple ayes.)

24· · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· Unanimous.

25· · · · All right.· Moving on to number four on the
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·1· ·agenda, a discussion of default final orders.· And

·2· ·similar to number three, we will take these up as a

·3· ·consent agenda for 4.1 through 4.8, unless any

·4· ·commissioner would like to discuss one of these or

·5· ·more individually.

·6· · · · COMMISSIONER D'AQUILA:· General question for

·7· ·Ms. Alvarado.· In at least three of these cases,

·8· ·there is a difficulty in locating the individual.

·9· ·Could you briefly explain what we go through.  I

10· ·mean, I can see what methods we use, but do we use

11· ·any electronic means like social media means to

12· ·track these people as well?

13· · · · MS. ALVARADO:· We don't.· We send via USPS

14· ·certified mail at least twice, sometimes three

15· ·times.· If we're unable to serve at the address

16· ·that we have on record, we do use any resources

17· ·that we have to locate any other address, and we

18· ·try to serve at those addresses as well.

19· · · · And then we contact our investigators.· They

20· ·attempt by hand service.· If they are unable to do

21· ·that, then publication is our last resort, and

22· ·we'll publish in a newspaper of the local newspaper

23· ·in the area of the last known address that we have.

24· · · · COMMISSIONER D'AQUILA:· Thank you.

25· · · · COMMISSIONER BROWN:· Mr. Chair, I do want to
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·1· ·discuss 4.2 and 4.7.

·2· · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· Anyone else?· Okay.· Let's

·3· ·move 4.1, 4.3, 4.4, 4.5, 4.6, and 4.8 through on

·4· ·consent.· Do I have a motion on those?

·5· · · · COMMISSIONER DRAGO:· So moved.

·6· · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· Second?

·7· · · · COMMISSIONER D'AQUILA:· Second.

·8· · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· All those in favor?

·9· · · · (Multiple ayes.)

10· · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· Okay.· It's unanimous.

11· · · · Commissioner Brown, take it away on 4.2.

12· · · · COMMISSIONER BROWN:· Thank you so much.

13· · · · Emily, if you don't mind going through the

14· ·rationale for the fines for 4.2 and 4.7.· 4.2 is a

15· ·$500 administrative fine for a Class III drug;

16· ·whereas, 4.7 is a $1,000 administrative fine for a

17· ·Class IV.

18· · · · MS. ALVARADO:· Sure.· 4.2 is a Class B drug.

19· ·The ARCI guidelines require for a first-time

20· ·offense $500 fine, 15-day suspension, and a return

21· ·of purse.· And then what was the other one you

22· ·mentioned?

23· · · · COMMISSIONER BROWN:· 4.7, the NSAID aspirin.

24· · · · MS. ALVARADO:· So this case is different than

25· ·other phenylbutazones that we see.· I mentioned
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·1· ·this before in other meetings that if it's greater

·2· ·than five, the penalty guidelines classify it as a

·3· ·Class C drug.· It will have a $1,000 fine and

·4· ·return of purse for that for first offense.

·5· · · · COMMISSIONER BROWN:· Thank you for the

·6· ·clarification.

·7· · · · If there are no questions, I'll just move to

·8· ·approve 4.2 and 4.7.

·9· · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· Do I have a second?

10· · · · COMMISSIONER D'AQUILA:· Second.

11· · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· All in favor?

12· · · · (Multiple ayes.)

13· · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· It's unanimous.· That was 4.2

14· ·and 4.7.

15· · · · Now moving on to Agenda Item No. 5, the

16· ·discussion of HISA and HIWU agreement.· I'll need

17· ·counsel's assistant on this one.

18· · · · Would you, Mr. Marshman, like to speak first?

19· · · · MR. MARSHMAN:· Yes, sir.· Good morning,

20· ·Mr. Chair.· Before the Commission today is the

21· ·latest version of the draft agreement between the

22· ·State of Florida and the Horseracing Integrity and

23· ·Safety Authority and the Horseracing Integrity &

24· ·Welfare Unit of Drug Free Sports America, HIWU.

25· · · · This is acronym soup.· So if I mistake any of
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·1· ·them, please bear with me.

·2· · · · Pursuant to terms of the Horseracing Integrity

·3· ·and Safety Act, states can enter into agreements

·4· ·with the Horseracing Integrity and Safety

·5· ·Authority, HISA, to carry out certain provisions of

·6· ·the racetrack safety program and the anti-doping

·7· ·and medication control program.

·8· · · · This has been a long process, as most of us

·9· ·know, because the federal programs have hit their

10· ·own roadblocks.

11· · · · For instance, the anti-doping medication

12· ·control program was supposed to go live in July of

13· ·2022, and it only went live, so to speak, this year

14· ·once.· And then it was invalidated, and then it

15· ·subsequently went back into effect only recently.

16· · · · So this has taken some time, based on

17· ·negotiations going back and forth with them and the

18· ·status of the constitutionality of HISA itself.

19· ·There were changes made to the act in December of

20· ·2022 that addressed the Fifth Circuit's concern.

21· · · · They expressed an opinion in late 2022

22· ·regarding non-delegation principles.· The Fifth

23· ·Circuit has since remanded the case back to the

24· ·trial court for further proceedings.

25· · · · Meanwhile, the Sixth Circuit has considered
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·1· ·that newly-amended language and has ruled that the

·2· ·newly-amended act is constitutional.

·3· · · · So if I had to guess, the trial court will

·4· ·develop its case similar to the Fifth Circuit, and

·5· ·the Fifth Circuit will issue a new opinion taking

·6· ·into account that new language.

·7· · · · In terms of timelines, I don't know.· The

·8· ·trial court is still proceeding, and then the Fifth

·9· ·Circuit will have its own timelines, which are

10· ·months, not weeks.· I say all that to provide

11· ·context for this agreement.

12· · · · This agreement has two parts mirroring the two

13· ·parts of HISA's regulations, the racetrack safety

14· ·program and the anti-doping and medication control

15· ·program.

16· · · · Florida had previously entered into a smaller

17· ·agreement only related to the racetrack safety

18· ·program, and that is the smaller portion of this

19· ·draft agreement before you still.

20· · · · Not much has changed since the last time;

21· ·although we have clarified based on feedback from

22· ·the Commission last meeting exactly when we will be

23· ·reimbursed for certain investigations -- strike

24· ·that -- certain time our investigators would spend

25· ·carrying out provisions of the racetrack safety
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·1· ·program.· That's the main substantive change since

·2· ·the last time we met.

·3· · · · For the anti-doping and medication control

·4· ·program, that's been the subject of the most

·5· ·debate, both here and, of course, in circuit courts

·6· ·around the state -- around the country, rather.

·7· · · · I can address any specific questions the

·8· ·commissioners might have about any of the

·9· ·provisions, both the old provision, so to speak,

10· ·and the newly-amended provisions.· However, I know

11· ·we've had the opportunity to speak individually,

12· ·and we've hopefully had a good dialogue so far.

13· · · · But, of course, I'm here to answer any

14· ·questions about what this agreement says or doesn't

15· ·say and any other questions you may have.

16· · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· If any of the commissioners

17· ·have questions for counsel, go ahead now, and then

18· ·we'll have discussion afterward.

19· · · · Not seeing any questions, we'll open it up for

20· ·discussion.

21· · · · Commissioner Brown, go ahead.

22· · · · COMMISSIONER BROWN:· Thank you, Mr. Chair.  I

23· ·just want to thank you, Ross, for the amount of

24· ·time you spent on this agreement and Liz and your

25· ·whole team really getting it to a point where it's
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·1· ·palatable for us, and I think it's as good of an

·2· ·agreement as we can get in the current state.

·3· · · · I do have a question more maybe probably for

·4· ·PMW, and that's how long it's taking right now for

·5· ·HISA and HIWU to get the results back of the

·6· ·testing of the specimens?

·7· · · · MR. MARSHMAN:· Really that's unknown because

·8· ·we haven't become an interested party within the

·9· ·meaning of HISA's regulations, so they would not be

10· ·sharing with us positive test results until after

11· ·we enter into this agreement.

12· · · · We would be aware, generally speaking, of

13· ·positive test results, but only at the same time a

14· ·trainer or the owner would know something to that

15· ·effect.

16· · · · So we would know our own positive test results

17· ·from our own sample collection that we conducted

18· ·pursuant to our own rules and regulations, but that

19· ·was only a brief window of time, and those results

20· ·are still being sent in from our own lab as it

21· ·winds down.

22· · · · So from HISA HIWU specifically, I don't think

23· ·we gotten any results from that based on us not

24· ·becoming an interested party.

25· · · · COMMISSIONER BROWN:· And once we sign this
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·1· ·agreement, which I'm assuming if we approve it

·2· ·today, we'll sign it expeditiously right away, and

·3· ·then it will go into effect.

·4· · · · Would we in any of these provisions, is there

·5· ·any recourse for significant regulatory lag if the

·6· ·specimens and the findings are not -- or at least

·7· ·we're not notified of it in a timely fashion?

·8· · · · MR. MARSHMAN:· In this agreement, no.· No

·9· ·other state has managed to get HISA or HIWU to add

10· ·any sort of prong or a state to hold them to any

11· ·sort of time standard.

12· · · · I would state, however, that their own

13· ·interest in prosecuting these cases means they need

14· ·to expeditiously move to get these samples

15· ·collected for their own sake, for their own

16· ·prosecution.

17· · · · And I can say from speaking with HIWU's

18· ·general counsel, particularly, she is very aware of

19· ·the need for expeditious prosecution which would

20· ·entail fast testing, fast sharing of results in the

21· ·beginning of this administrative process as quickly

22· ·as possible.

23· · · · COMMISSIONER BROWN:· And then lastly, I think

24· ·from an administrative side, some of the orders

25· ·that we approve today, that's more of the
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·1· ·regulatory administrative side for the State.

·2· · · · Will that affect how we fund individuals or

·3· ·licensees of our agency, in terms of -- because

·4· ·they have -- they'll have the test results?

·5· · · · MR. MARSHMAN:· So whether we enter into this

·6· ·agreement or not, most of Florida's regulations and

·7· ·penalties for drug positives have been arguably

·8· ·preempted by the Horseracing Integrity and Safety

·9· ·Act.

10· · · · So, again, whether we enter into this

11· ·agreement or not, we would have a hard time as a

12· ·State, I think, successfully prosecuting a drug

13· ·positive that Ms. Alvarado was discussing earlier

14· ·if the trainer or the owner of the horse can raise

15· ·a preemption argument that would block the State

16· ·from carrying out those portions of the law.

17· · · · So, no, I don't think that so long as HISA,

18· ·the act, is in effect and its regulations are in

19· ·effect, I don't know if the State has a viable path

20· ·forward for prosecuting Florida licensees as a

21· ·matter of Florida law if those same laws are also

22· ·discussed and covered by federal act or federal

23· ·regulation.

24· · · · COMMISSIONER BROWN:· Thank you.

25· · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· Any other questions.
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 · · · COMMISSIONER D'AQUILA:· I have a general

·7·

·1·

·2· ·question for General Counsel Marshman or any member

·3· ·of the legal team or even Executive Director

·4· ·Trombetta.· We've had a long, successful history

·5· ·working with the University of Florida lab and

·6· ·regulating our mutual racing here in the state.

In your opinion, is there any way we can, once

·8· ·this agreement is signed, monitor how well the new

·9· ·body, HISA, is doing compared to the way we've

10· ·done, in your opinion?

11· · · · Or even should we be looking at that,

12· ·considering your point about our rights?· And,

13· ·again, just thinking about the general welfare of

14· ·the horse industry and how serious our state has

15· ·taken it and the success we've had in the past.

16·  ·   MR. TROMBETTA:· Let me try to get this one.

17· ·I won't be as well spoken as Mr. Marshman, but let

18· ·me try.· So I think, you know, lately there's been

19· ·a lot of attention on what's happening at Churchill

20· ·Downs and how now that HISA is in place how HISA is

21· ·responding and what they're doing.

22· · · · So I think, Commissioner D'Aquila, my answer

23· ·is kind of based on what the general public is also

24· ·going to be able to judge them on.· There's going

25· ·to be information.· You know, the horseracing
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·1· ·industry is going to evolve and probably change a

·2· ·little bit under HISA.

·3· · · · I don't think we're in a position that's

·4· ·necessarily that different than what the general

·5· ·public will have.· I think, as the agreement

·6· ·states, being an interested party will allow us to

·7· ·have some information ahead of time.

·8· · · · But I think that the impact of this federal

·9· ·act on the horseracing industry is going to be

10· ·judged over a period of time to see if some of the

11· ·intent and some of the new practices and new

12· ·regulations work.

13· · · · And I think that we as a -- you know,

14· ·personally as a personal opinion, I thing we're

15· ·just going to -- we're in a position to watch and

16· ·see what happens.· You know, I think, as I just

17· ·mentioned, the preemption is going to change the

18· ·role of all State racing commissions.

19· · · · We no longer are going to be the ones.

20· ·Whether we sign part of this agreement or not,

21· ·we're not going to be the ones involved in the

22· ·legal disputes of legal action.· So we are going to

23· ·be sitting on the sidelines kind of judging it from

24· ·there.

25· · · · I mean, if you have a different opinion that
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·1· ·you're willing to -- you don't have to.· I don't

·2· ·want to put you on the spot.

·3· · · · MR. MARSHMAN:· I don't have a different

·4· ·opinion, but just an additional factor.· Let's say

·5· ·we will have more of a -- if we enter into this

·6· ·agreement and we become an interested party, we

·7· ·will have access to other information the public

·8· ·may not otherwise have faster than the public will

·9· ·have.

10· · · · This goes back to the example I've tried to

11· ·use in the past.· If we collect samples from four

12· ·horses in a race and we get results back from two

13· ·and not the other two, if we're an interested

14· ·party, we'll know more or less what happened with

15· ·those other two horses, and we'll be able on a

16· ·smaller level prior to any public prosecution to

17· ·know what's going on.

18· · · · If we don't, then we'll potentially never know

19· ·what happened to those other two horses, just like

20· ·any other member of the public, unless we just ask

21· ·the trainer who may or may not know as well.· So on

22· ·a smaller level, we will have some access to

23· ·information at a period of time that the public

24· ·would never have it.

25· · · · So I could foresee any State racing
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·1· ·commission, including us, having a conversation

·2· ·with HISA and HIWU about those two horses.· If we

·3· ·are an interested party, hey, our sample collection

·4· ·folks took those samples.· We know you have them.

·5· ·We packed them up and shipped them.· What's going

·6· ·on with those two horses?

·7· · · · And I expect HISA and HIWU want to have a good

·8· ·relationship with the State, since we're the ones

·9· ·largely doing the work for them on the ground.· So

10· ·I think that's something that if we become an

11· ·interested party, we'll have some regulatory

12· ·oversight, let's say, not exactly, but we will at

13· ·least know more how the sausage is being made, and

14· ·we can talk to them about it.

15· · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· Anything further?

16· · · · A couple points on this.· I came into this one

17· ·late, and it's a difficult one for me because it

18· ·generally offends my sensibilities of a role of a

19· ·limited federal government and State's rights.

20· · · · However, after giving it much, much thought,

21· ·it's not really our role as regulatory bodies to

22· ·pass on the constitutionality of it.· And I want to

23· ·commend staff, particularly the general counsel and

24· ·executive director in negotiating the best deal

25· ·they could.
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·1· · · · It's a very difficult position that they were

·2· ·in to negotiate with a more or less

·3· ·take-it-or-leave-it agreement.· But they got

·4· ·something that was a little better than that, so

·5· ·that's to be commended.

·6· · · · So ultimately, I think that the

·7· ·constitutionality of HISA is to be left to the

·8· ·courts, and we'll deal with -- on the regulatory

·9· ·side, this gives us more of a chance for regulation

10· ·and to have a seat at the table than we would

11· ·otherwise have.

12· · · · I would like to open it up for a motion to

13· ·approve the HISA and HIWU agreement.

14· · · · COMMISSIONER DRAGO:· I would like to make a

15· ·motion to approve the agreement.

16· · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· All in favor?

17· · · · (Multiple ayes.)

18· · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· Unanimous.· That one is off

19· ·the agenda.

20· · · · All right.· On to Agenda Item No. 6.

21· ·Ms. Jelks, would you like to come up and lead us

22· ·through the discussions of the renewal application

23· ·for slot machine licenses.

24· · · · MS. JELKS:· Good morning.· I'm La'Kesha Jelks

25· ·here presenting for PMW.· For 6.1, I have Case No.
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·1· ·2023-013390, 831 Federal Highway Acquisition,

·2· ·L.L.C. would like to renew its annual slot machine

·3· ·license for the spring 2023-2024 fiscal year.

·4· · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· Ms. Jelks, I think we're

·5· ·having a hard time hearing.· I'm not sure if the

·6· ·mic is working.

·7· · · · MS. JELKS:· I'm sorry.· Do you want me to

·8· ·start over?

·9· · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· That would be best, yes.

10· ·Thank you.

11· · · · MS. JELKS:· So I am presenting for 2023 Case

12· ·No. 013390.· 831 Federal Highway Acquisition,

13· ·L.L.C. would like to renew its annual slot machine

14· ·license for the 2023-2024 fiscal year, and it is

15· ·effective June 11, 2023.· It is our recommendation

16· ·that this is approved.

17· · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· We'll open it up for

18· ·questions and discussion.· Anything, Commission?

19· ·Do we have a motion?

20· · · · COMMISSIONER D'AQUILA:· I make a motion to

21· ·approve the renewal.

22· · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· All in favor?

23· · · · (Multiple ayes.)

24· · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· Unanimous.

25· · · · MS. JELKS:· Thank you.· Next is Case No.



Page 24
·1· ·2023-028661 for Calder Race Course, Inc.· They are

·2· ·requesting to renew their slot machines license as

·3· ·well effective July 10, 2023 through July 9, 2024.

·4· ·It is our recommendation that this is approved.

·5· · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· Any discussion or questions?

·6· ·Do we have a motion to approve?

·7· · · · COMMISSIONER DRAGO:· So moved.

·8· · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· All in favor?

·9· · · · (Multiple ayes.)

10· · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· Unanimous.

11· · · · Ms. Jelks, you'll lead us through discussion

12· ·on Agenda Item No. 7 as well.

13· · · · MS. JELKS:· Case No. 2023-030908, OBS Real

14· ·Estate Holdings, L.L.C. is requesting to add four

15· ·additional card tables for their cardroom for the

16· ·2023-2024 fiscal years for a total of nine cardroom

17· ·tables.· It is our recommendation that the

18· ·Commission approve this as well.

19· · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· Any questions or discussion?

20· · · · (Inaudible).

21· · · · Second?

22· · · · COMMISSIONER D'AQUILA:· Second.

23· · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· All in favor?

24· · · · (Multiple ayes.)

25· · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· It's unanimous.
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·1· · · · Ms. Jelks, on to Agenda Item No. 8.

·2· · · · MS. JELKS:· Case No. 2023-028359, Tampa Bay

·3· ·Downs is requesting to add an additional

·4· ·performance to their license for the 2023-2024

·5· ·fiscal year for a total of 92 performances.· It is

·6· ·our request that the Commission approve the request

·7· ·as well.

·8· · · · COMMISSIONER D'AQUILA:· Make a motion to

·9· ·approve.

10· · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· All in favor?

11· · · · (Multiple ayes.)

12· · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· Unanimous.· 8.2.

13· · · · MS. JELKS:· Case No. 2023-030638, Gulfsteam

14· ·Park Thoroughbred After Racing Program would like

15· ·to delete three performances.· They are currently

16· ·licensed to perform 42 performances for the

17· ·2022-2023 fiscal year.· It is our recommendation

18· ·that the Commission approve this request with an

19· ·effective date of June 1, 2023.

20· · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· Any discussion or questions?

21· · · · (Inaudible).· Second?

22· · · · COMMISSIONER D'AQUILA:· Second.

23· · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· All in favor?

24· · · · (Multiple ayes.)

25· · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· Unanimous.
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·1· · · · We'll move on to Agenda Item No. 9, discussion

·2· ·of license denial.· I understand Ms. Alvarado is

·3· ·going to lead us through 9.1 through 9.4.

·4· · · · MS. ALVARADO:· 9.1 is Dasha M. Edwards, Case

·5· ·No. 2023-013060.· The applicant applied for a

·6· ·cardroom employee occupational license.· After

·7· ·review of her application, it was discovered that

·8· ·she was convicted of aggravated assault with intent

·9· ·in 2005.

10· · · · The applicant applied for a waiver, which was

11· ·declined by the executive director.· Therefore, the

12· ·Division would ask the Commission to authorize a

13· ·notice of intent to deny.

14· · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· Open it up for questions or

15· ·any discussion.

16· · · · COMMISSIONER DRAGO:· Mr. Chair?

17· · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· Yes, you are reorganized.

18· · · · COMMISSIONER DRAGO:· Ms. Alvarado, I don't see

19· ·any police reports in these this time.· Normally,

20· ·it seems like we do.

21· · · · MS. ALVARADO:· This investigator report did

22· ·not have the arrest report in it.· It does have an

23· ·explanation from her in the waiver interview of the

24· ·actual arrest, but there was no arrest report.

25· ·There is a judgment and a conviction report and
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·1· ·sentencing in there.

·2· · · · COMMISSIONER DRAGO:· This is one of the cases

·3· ·where this was a crime committed back in 2005, and

·4· ·she's been working at the same place for like 11

·5· ·years, I think.· From what I can see, she's

·6· ·rehabilitated herself, from what I can gather from

·7· ·the paperwork.

·8· · · · And there's some confusion about even the

·9· ·original arrest back in 2005 in terms of what it

10· ·involved, and she's got no other serious issues

11· ·like that since.

12· · · · So I want to, I think, open it up to consider

13· ·allowing it to continue with the license process

14· ·and not issue the notice to deny.· And if we issue

15· ·the notice to deny, that still gives her a chance

16· ·to come back; right?

17· · · · MS. ALVARADO:· Yes.· She would still have 21

18· ·days to request a hearing.

19· · · · COMMISSIONER DRAGO:· But if we decide here not

20· ·to issue that notice to deny, she gets the license?

21· · · · MS. ALVARADO:· Right.

22· · · · COMMISSIONER DRAGO:· Okay.· That's what I

23· ·thought.· So I'm inclined to go that route and not

24· ·issue the notice to deny.· I think -- I don't know

25· ·what else we could get in cases to show that a
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·1· ·person's been rehabilitated, other than, what, 18

·2· ·years or whatever it is of no felonies, of

·3· ·long-term employment.· I don't know what else we

·4· ·could do to show that she's been rehabilitated.

·5· · · · MS. ALVARADO:· I will state for the record

·6· ·that she did have a misdemeanor conviction in 2012

·7· ·for issuing a worthless check as well.

·8· · · · COMMISSIONER DRAGO:· Yes, I saw that.· You're

·9· ·right.· She explained that, too.· Again, that's why

10· ·I wish I could see the police report so that we can

11· ·see the other side of it.· But all we have is her

12· ·explanation, and her explanation may or may not be

13· ·100 percent accurate.

14· · · · I don't know but to take her word for it at

15· ·this point.· We don't have anything otherwise.· I'm

16· ·inclined to listen to the rest of the Commission

17· ·obviously, but I'm inclined to issue the license.

18· · · · COMMISSIONER D'AQUILA:· My understanding is

19· ·that the assault, if I read the materials

20· ·correctly, was involving a homeless person who

21· ·attempted to grab her bag, but we don't have a

22· ·police report on that.

23· · · · MS. ALVARADO:· Right.

24· · · · COMMISSIONER D'AQUILA:· That came from her

25· ·explanation at the time.
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·1· · · · MS. ALVARADO:· Right.

·2· · · · COMMISSIONER D'AQUILA:· And that goes back to,

·3· ·I believe, 2003.· And then subsequent to that, the

·4· ·only thing we're aware of is one check which did

·5· ·not clear, if I understand correctly.

·6· · · · MS. ALVARADO:· Yes, that's correct.

·7· · · · COMMISSIONER D'AQUILA:· And we have no other

·8· ·research or background check, no other felonies or

·9· ·misdemeanors to speak of?

10· · · · MS. ALVARADO:· No, just the stuff that is

11· ·included in the record.

12· · · · COMMISSIONER D'AQUILA:· I concur with

13· ·Commissioner Drago's opinion on this, considering

14· ·the number of years working to support oneself.  I

15· ·will concur with his summation on that and leave it

16· ·up to discussion with the other commissioners.

17· · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· Commissioner Brown.

18· · · · COMMISSIONER BROWN:· Commissioner Drago, you

19· ·took literally the words right out of my mouth, and

20· ·much more eloquently.· I completely, agree with

21· ·you.· This is a case of a completely rehabilitated

22· ·character.

23· · · · The one thing that did jump out at me was the

24· ·worthless check.· You know, she explained

25· ·everything very clearly, though, in her letter.  I
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·1· ·wish we had more of these letters attesting to good

·2· ·character and being rehabilitated because that

·3· ·would help us with this process.

·4· · · · But I completely agree with you Commissioner

·5· ·D'Aquila and Commissioner Drago.· It does say that

·6· ·she has a temporary gaming license; is that

·7· ·correct?

·8· · · · MS. ALVARADO:· I'm not aware of that.

·9· · · · COMMISSIONER BROWN:· She states in her letter

10· ·or her email she got it in January 2023.

11· · · · MS. ALVARADO:· Other than that letter, I don't

12· ·believe that's anywhere in the reports we have, so

13· ·I'm not exactly sure where she has a gaming

14· ·license.

15· · · · COMMISSIONER BROWN:· I would support her being

16· ·granted a license.· She's a single mother, and she

17· ·works hard.· It looks like she's had no evidence of

18· ·any other infraction.

19· · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· Anyone else?

20· · · · MS. REPP:· I just have a question.· Is there

21· ·any issue that she still owes them money?

22· · · · MS. ALVARADO:· Yes.· It looks like she still

23· ·owes for the 2012 conviction.· And for both

24· ·convictions, she still owes her court fines.

25· · · · MS. REPP:· And is that any bar?
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·1· · · · MS. ALVARADO:· You could still grant her a

·2· ·license, if that's what you guys are inclined to

·3· ·do.· It could be a basis for denial as well.

·4· · · · COMMISSIONER D'AQUILA:· Question, counsel.· Is

·5· ·it proper to grant or is it permitted to grant a

·6· ·license subject to the payment of the fines to the

·7· ·court?

·8· · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· I had that same question.

·9· ·Mr. Marshman, do you have the answer to that?· But

10· ·if you do not, I would like to find that out.

11· ·Maybe we can table this.· I had another question on

12· ·this one as well.

13· · · · It wasn't clear to me in the materials whether

14· ·or not she disclosed a felony on her application.

15· ·As a general matter, I don't know why these people

16· ·continue not to disclose the felony.

17· · · · Anyone out there that's listening, disclose

18· ·the felony.· It will be found out, and it goes to

19· ·your truth, veracity.· It's much better to disclose

20· ·them and let us have all of it than to find it out

21· ·later.

22· · · · So this one, it seems in the memo it said that

23· ·she disclosed the conviction on her application.

24· ·But when I looked at the actual application, it

25· ·appeared she did not, so I was confused by that.
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·1· · · · MS. ALVARADO:· So she in her initial

·2· ·application, which is considered incomplete, she

·3· ·did not disclose it.· She was sent a deficiency

·4· ·letter and then disclosed all of the convictions.

·5· ·So on her initial application --

·6· · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· But she lied on her initial

·7· ·application?

·8· · · · MS. ALVARADO:· Yes, you're correct.

·9· · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· I am still somewhat

10· ·sympathetic, given the fact that (inaudible).

11· · · · Do we have a motion, or would we like to table

12· ·this until we can find out about making it

13· ·contingent upon the payment of the outstanding

14· ·fines?· I'll open it up for discussion or motion.

15· · · · Does general counsel have a comment?

16· · · · MR. MARSHMAN:· If I may, you had asked earlier

17· ·if the Commission can grant a conditional license.

18· ·Yes, you can grant a conditional license.· I looked

19· ·up this case now since we were talking.

20· · · · The applicant pled and was sentenced to time

21· ·served and restitution of 121 days, and there were

22· ·court costs that seven years later were referred to

23· ·collection.· She was never on probation.· There was

24· ·never any violation of probation for this case.

25· · · · Technically, the Court didn't have
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·1· ·jurisdiction to enforce the restitution order when

·2· ·they didn't put her on probation, so they couldn't

·3· ·have violated her for failure to pay the violation

·4· ·of probation, and they can't open a subsequent

·5· ·criminal case for failure to pay court costs and

·6· ·fines.· That's why they referred it to collection.

·7· · · · It's an incomplete record whether this is

·8· ·still outstanding in collections.· I can't tell

·9· ·from looking at the docket because courts don't

10· ·really keep track, as far as I know.· This is also

11· ·a case from 2005.

12· · · · None of this information is scanned

13· ·electronically in any database that I have access

14· ·to.· To Commissioner Drago's point about the police

15· ·report itself, I would have to submit a public

16· ·records request for this information in paper copy.

17· · · · And the second question or the second issue

18· ·that the chairman brought up was the failure to

19· ·disclose.· It is a persistent issue for staff where

20· ·an individual fails to disclose a prior conviction.

21· · · · My only comment is that the conviction -- the

22· ·definition of a conviction for purposes of the

23· ·Chapter 550, 551 and 849 is broader, I think, than

24· ·a layman's understanding of it in that it captures

25· ·any sort of plea, regardless of adjudication.
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·1· · · · Meaning, if your adjudication is withheld, as

·2· ·was this particular applicant, you are convicted

·3· ·within the meaning of Chapter 550.· It is something

·4· ·that we highlight on our form so they can't claim

·5· ·that they have no notice of it.

·6· · · · But it is something that unless we change our

·7· ·form, as Commissioner Brown has suggested in the

·8· ·past, it may be a persistent problem, despite us

·9· ·educating everyone as much as we can that they need

10· ·to disclose as much as possible.

11· · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· Any further discussions?· Do

12· ·we have a motion?

13· · · · COMMISSIONER D'AQUILA:· I would like to make a

14· ·motion.· Based on counsel's explanation with regard

15· ·to the court costs, it appears that we do not need

16· ·to attach those to the approval, so I would like to

17· ·make a motion to follow the recommendation and

18· ·observations of Commissioner Drago.· What is the

19· ·motion, send it back?

20· · · · COMMISSIONER DRAGO:· Approve it, yes.· Approve

21· ·the license.

22· · · · COMMISSIONER D'AQUILA:· Make a motion to

23· ·approve the license.

24· · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· Is that technically correct

25· ·that we can approve it?
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·1· · · · MR. MARSHMAN:· That's correct, Mr. Chair.· You

·2· ·can vote to approve the application for a license.

·3· · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· We have a motion and a

·4· ·second.· All in favor?

·5· · · · (Multiple ayes.)

·6· · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· All right.· 9.2.

·7· · · · MS. ALVARADO:· That is Kaliyah Alexander

·8· ·2023-025733.· This applicant applied for a slot

·9· ·machine cardroom pari-mutuel combination

10· ·occupational license.· After review of her

11· ·application, it was discovered that she was

12· ·convicted of possession of marijuana with intent to

13· ·sell, manufacture or deliver in 2019.

14· · · · She did fail to disclose this on her

15· ·application.· She did not apply for a waiver

16· ·because 561 does not compensate waivers by the

17· ·executive director.· Therefore, the Division would

18· ·ask the Commission to authorize a notice of intent

19· ·to deny.

20· · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· Any discussion?

21· · · · You're recognized.

22· · · · COMMISSIONER DRAGO:· Again, the same kind of

23· ·issues as we had in the first one, I think.

24· ·Possession of marijuana with intent, we don't know

25· ·what that meant in this case, whether she had 2
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·1· ·pounds of marijuana or 21 grams of marijuana.

·2· · · · And somebody's decision, either the officer or

·3· ·the prosecutor decided that it was enough to

·4· ·warrant possession with intent.· I'm sorry we're

·5· ·not sure what the circumstances are.

·6· · · · I don't know if this is a drug dealer

·7· ·situation or it's just somebody with a substantial

·8· ·amount of pot or what it is.· And I don't know that

·9· ·this is really a -- if it is a drug sale situation,

10· ·I think it would relate to pari-mutuel wagering

11· ·industry.

12· · · · I think if it's a mere possession of

13· ·marijuana, then I'm not sure I see how it relates

14· ·to pari-mutuel wagering business.· Again, this is

15· ·the only thing we're aware of, in terms of any

16· ·other felony convictions.

17· · · · Again, this is four years ago.· It's not that

18· ·long ago, but I think I'd like to have some

19· ·discussion on it because of the nature of the

20· ·conviction, as opposed to the time.· I think I

21· ·would like to hear what the other commissioners

22· ·have to say in that regard, whether or not we would

23· ·deny a license based on that one offense.

24· · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· Commissioner Brown, you're

25· ·recognized.
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·1· · · · COMMISSIONER BROWN:· Thank you.· The one thing

·2· ·that jumped out at me about this case is that there

·3· ·is not a lot of information in the file.· A lot of

·4· ·these other cases have substantial information.

·5· ·Again, like the last case, we have letters of

·6· ·support.

·7· · · · In terms of this investigation, was there any

·8· ·direct discussion with the individual?

·9· · · · MS. ALVARADO:· I'm not aware of the

10· ·discussions with our investigators or with our

11· ·staff with the individual.· I don't think so.· It's

12· ·not in the record.· Usually they would make note of

13· ·that if they did make contact with the individual.

14· · · · COMMISSIONER BROWN:· There's just not a lot --

15· ·I mean, this individual is still employed by the

16· ·Island Capri currently.· I would not be inclined to

17· ·support a denial without more information.

18· · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· Anything else from any of the

19· ·other commissioners?

20· · · · COMMISSIONER DRAGO:· Can I ask one more

21· ·question?

22· · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· We'll go Commissioner Drago,

23· ·then Commissioner D'Aquila.

24· · · · COMMISSIONER DRAGO:· Thank you.· She was put

25· ·on probation.· Do we know if she is still on
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·1· ·probation or not?· I can't really figure it out

·2· ·from the material.

·3· · · · MS. ALVARADO:· I am not aware.· If you can

·4· ·give me a moment, I can check that.

·5· · · · MR. MARSHMAN:· Mr. Chair.

·6· · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· General counsel, you're

·7· ·recognized.

·8· · · · MR. MARSHMAN:· To Commissioner Drago's point,

·9· ·I think we do have additional information that we

10· ·can provide.· There is a police report that was

11· ·scanned not in our materials.

12· · · · And Commissioner Brown's point, we wouldn't

13· ·have contact with this individual necessarily,

14· ·unless it was in the context of a waiver interview.

15· ·And because this applicant is not eligible for a

16· ·waiver, we don't have those types of conversations.

17· · · · So that kind of explains the lack of personal

18· ·contact with this applicant.· However, I think if

19· ·the Commission votes to table this item, we can

20· ·provide additional information to the

21· ·commissioners.· I'm just not sure what the 90th day

22· ·is for granting or denying the application in this

23· ·case.

24· · · · Ms. Alvarado, if she's allowed, if she can

25· ·provide that information to the Commission just to
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·1· ·consider the time.· If not, I'm happy to provide a

·2· ·summary of the police report.· It does include

·3· ·details.

·4· · · · It was a traffic stop.· Marijuana and firearms

·5· ·were located in the vehicle.· We can go into that

·6· ·now, if we'd like to do it now.· I would only

·7· ·advise that if we're on that 90th day cusp where if

·8· ·we don't issue some notice of taking an action, we

·9· ·would by default grant the application when the

10· ·Commission may have concerns about the applicant.

11· · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· Commissioner D'Aquila and

12· ·then Commissioner Brown.· Commissioner Repp, do you

13· ·also have something?· I thought you had your hand

14· ·up.

15· · · · COMMISSIONER D'AQUILA:· Ms. Alvarez, as I go

16· ·through the materials, if you can explain to me, I

17· ·see possession of equipment also.· And then further

18· ·down, I see possession of paraphernalia.· And I

19· ·think one of the charges is, if I understand

20· ·correctly, intent to sell.

21· · · · In addition to possession of whether it be 21

22· ·grams or 2 pounds, is this also a case where the

23· ·individual was selling to others?

24· · · · MS. ALVARADO:· I do not have specific

25· ·information on the arrest in my file here.
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·1· ·Mr. Marshman's report might have more information

·2· ·on that as well.· I will say, the 90th day is not

·3· ·until August.· So if you would like to review the

·4· ·report that Mr. Marshman has, I can add that and

·5· ·address it again at the July meeting as well.

·6· · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· As I understand it, it's a

·7· ·certain amount.· If you have a certain amount,

·8· ·you're assumed to have the intent of selling.· So I

·9· ·don't think we necessarily know just from the --

10· ·we'd have to dig more into the facts.

11· · · · COMMISSIONER D'AQUILA:· So with those charges,

12· ·this would indicate that the amount would have to

13· ·be greater to have that on the initial charge.

14· · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· That's my understanding.

15· ·Commissioner Drago might have something.· It's more

16· ·than just -- it's more than this individual, in the

17· ·eyes of the law.

18· · · · COMMISSIONER DRAGO:· So it can be the amount.

19· ·It can be the circumstances around it.· It can be

20· ·paraphernalia might be like baggies, individual

21· ·baggies, or some type of manufacturing devices

22· ·nearby, something to indicate that this is more

23· ·than mere intent.

24· · · · That's why I say it could be just possession

25· ·with baggies found.· It can be, you know, depending
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·1· ·on the amount.· Again, that's why I say without the

·2· ·police report, it's difficult to know what extent

·3· ·the person was involved with this, whether there

·4· ·was any real evidence that it was her intent to

·5· ·sell or whatever it might have been.

·6· · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· What we do know is that four

·7· ·years ago, she was convicted of this, and she lied

·8· ·about it on her application, which I find troubling

·9· ·because it was just four years ago.· Whereas, the

10· ·last one we looked at, it was a much longer time.

11· · · · To me, there's really no argument here that it

12· ·shouldn't have been reported.· That's were I have a

13· ·little bit of an issue.· I know Commissioner Brown

14· ·wanted further discussion.

15· · · · COMMISSIONER BROWN:· It's a perpetual problem

16· ·that we have with failure to disclose.· Our forms

17· ·just need a little reworking on them.· On the

18· ·current application, it doesn't -- other than the

19· ·section of disclosing the charge, it doesn't say

20· ·along with the application, please submit

21· ·additional materials, does it, currently?· We don't

22· ·have that section that we discussed previously.

23· · · · MR. MARSHMAN:· If I may, I would suggest that

24· ·someone like Ms. Ricks, who is behind me, would

25· ·probably be most knowledgeable about what the
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·1· ·application says or doesn't say.

·2· · · · COMMISSIONER BROWN:· I mean, even the forms

·3· ·still have DBPR on it.· We really need to look at

·4· ·modifying them.· Maybe some of this can be solved

·5· ·and we can see less cases here that are inclined

·6· ·that don't disclose.

·7· · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· I agree that the form can be

·8· ·improved, but I think it's more of a matter of

·9· ·training on the HR side of the various operators

10· ·that these applicants know it's going to be found

11· ·out.· You're in a much better position if you

12· ·disclose it than if you tried to hide it and then

13· ·we find out.

14· · · · I think that should be more on the applicant.

15· ·I agree we don't need to have a form that says DBPR

16· ·on it or anything like that.· But to me, the form

17· ·is pretty obvious.· And I think when they're not

18· ·disclosing it, a vast majority of the time, they

19· ·know what they're doing.

20· · · · COMMISSIONER DRAGO:· Chairman, can I ask a

21· ·follow-up question?

22· · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· Yes.

23· · · · COMMISSIONER DRAGO:· So when somebody

24· ·doesn't -- and I know we've had this discussion

25· ·before.· But when somebody doesn't fill out the
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·1· ·form entirely and they leave their address off, or

·2· ·they leave a conviction off, or they leave their

·3· ·date of birth off, is there some difference in the

·4· ·way we look at that in terms of whether we're going

·5· ·-- I know we send it back if it's not complete.

·6· · · · But is there a difference, meaning what they

·7· ·leave off the application?· Do you understand what

·8· ·I'm saying?· Do we have established policy -- I

·9· ·know this is a rhetorical question -- established

10· ·policy that if they don't report or disclose

11· ·criminal convictions, we won't approve it, but if

12· ·they leave their address off, we'll give them

13· ·another shot to do it?

14· · · · But isn't the reason we send them the -- I

15· ·forget what we call it -- but an incomplete, it's

16· ·not complete, a not complete report or application

17· ·so that they can look at it again and get a second

18· ·bite at the apple and put in whatever information

19· ·they may have left out, isn't that the purpose of

20· ·sending it to them the second time?

21· · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· You're recognized, Executive

22· ·Director.

23·  ·   MR. TROMBETTA:· Thank you, Mr. Chair.· I can

24· ·speak on the licensing processin general.· We don't 

25· ·have a set policy.· We review the licenses on a 
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·3·

·8·

·1·  case-- license applications on an

·2· ·application-by-application basis.

Deficiency letters are sent out when materials

·4· ·are missing or the license is incomplete or where

·5· ·essentially the agency can't make a decision based

·6· ·on the information that was submitted and we need

·7· ·more information.

The deficiency in terms of failing to

·9· ·disclose, we do send out deficiency letters in that

10· ·instance, but it's more -- I don't want to say it's

11· ·more for anything.

12· · · · But we review the applications separately.

13· ·And the information that either is provided or is

14· ·not provided, it's kind of all viewed

15· ·independently.

16· · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· Commissioner Repp.

17· · · · MS. REPP:· I agree on a lot of things.· I come

18· ·from a background where omission is the same as a

19· ·lie.· I do agree with Commissioner Brown

20· ·(inaudible).

21· · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· Question for the executive

22· ·director.· Can we issue a letter or something

23· ·recommending to the permit holders here to stress

24· ·to their applicants, what I've mentioned, it's far

25· ·better to disclose than to have us find out later
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·1· ·because it certainly is a frustration?

·2· · · · And we don't know.· We don't know if it --

·3· ·like Commissioner Repp, I think I assume that it's

·4· ·intentional, particularly when it happened in 2019.

·5· ·You don't forget your felony conviction from four

·6· ·years ago.

·7· · · · I do think that that's something that it's

·8· ·more of an HR issue on the other side where they

·9· ·can clarify to the applicant that's sitting there,

10· ·you need to disclose.

11·  ·   MR. TROMBETTA:· Mr. Chair, I do think we have

12· ·a few options.· I would suggest maybe that

13· ·operationally, we can have the pari-mutuel wagering

14· ·work with the licensing facilities to address sort

15· ·of the discussion we're having here about

16· ·completing the application.

17· · · · However, some applicants don't -- you know,

18· ·that is one large group of applicants that go

19· ·through the pari-mutuels.· There's a whole other

20· ·group that don't go through those pari-mutuels.· So

21· ·I think that will solve a problem, and we

22· ·absolutely can do that.

23· · · · I just want the Commission to be aware that

24· ·people can apply online.· They can apply -- they

25· ·can submit their applications in a number of ways.
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 · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· Commissioner Brown.

 · · · COMMISSIONER BROWN:· Thank you.

·5·

·1·

·2·

·3· ·Mr. Trombetta, what is the process for revising

·4· ·the forms, is it through rule making or --

MR. TROMBETTA:· Yes, Commissioner Brown, it

·6· ·is through rule making.· Particularly, this form

·7· ·has been incorporated by rule, so any change to the

·8· ·form would have to go through formal rule making.

·9· ·That's why it still says DBPR on the form.

10· · · · COMMISSIONER BROWN:· Is that one of the rules

11· ·that we're contemplating?

12·  ·   MR. TROMBETTA:· Yes.· We filed notice of

13· ·proposed rule -- no -- notice of rule development,

14· ·which is the initial stage for our occupational

15· ·licensing form, so it's something that we're going

16· ·through the process.

17· · · · I plan to speak a little bit more about rule

18· ·making at the executive director update at the end

19· ·of the Commission meeting, but I'm happy to address

20· ·some of that right now.

21· · · · COMMISSIONER BROWN:· I think we'll just wait,

22· ·if that's okay.· Thank you.

23· · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· I think that's better, too.

24· ·Does anyone have a motion on 9.2?· Further

25· ·discussion?
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·1· · · · COMMISSIONER BROWN:· Mr. Chair, I would really

·2· ·like to see a more complete file in the record

·3· ·before we make --

·4· · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· Would you like to make a

·5· ·motion to table?

·6· · · · COMMISSIONER BROWN:· Yes, sir.

·7· · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· Any second?

·8· · · · COMMISSIONER D'AQUILA:· I will second that,

·9· ·table it to the next meeting.

10· · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· All in favor?

11· · · · (Multiple ayes.)

12· · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· Unanimous that we'll table

13· ·9.2 until the next meeting.

14· · · · Ms. Alvarado, you're recognized for 9.3.

15· · · · MS. ALVARADO:· That is 2023-027265, Robert

16· ·Jeffrey Kaye.· This applicant is seeking a slot

17· ·machine cardroom pari-mutuel combination

18· ·occupational license.· Upon our review of his

19· ·application, he was convicted of possession of

20· ·dangerous drugs in 1970.

21· · · · He did fail to disclose this on his

22· ·application.· He could not apply for a waiver

23· ·because it's a slot machine combo license under

24· ·Chapter 551.· Back in 2017, there was a consent

25· ·order granting this applicant a cardroom
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·1· ·occupational license.

·2· · · · He also provided some sort of documentation

·3· ·from New York.· It's called a certificate of

·4· ·release from disability which removes any

·5· ·restrictions in New York from getting a license.

·6· ·It's not necessarily applicable here, but it's

·7· ·something to note.

·8· · · · So the Division would ask the Commission to

·9· ·authorize a notice of intent to deny in this case.

10· · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· I will open it up for

11· ·discussion.

12· · · · COMMISSIONER D'AQUILA:· Ms. Alvarez, reading

13· ·all the materials, I was unclear.· Maybe you can

14· ·help me.· What is an NYCPL?· What does that mean?

15· ·How does that -- does that have any relevance in

16· ·this matter?

17· · · · MS. ALVARADO:· Where are you reading NYCPL?

18· · · · COMMISSIONER D'AQUILA:· If you're in the

19· ·unredacted materials Page No. 1121, it refers to

20· ·NYCPL 720.35.

21· · · · MR. DRAGO:· I think that refers to criminal

22· ·procedure in the number, criminal procedure CPL

23· ·after whatever.· The criminal procedure, it's in

24· ·the documents.

25· · · · COMMISSIONER D'AQUILA:· Does that have any
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·1· ·relevance here whatsoever?· He was encouraged to

·2· ·bring that up in connection with his license by

·3· ·someone advising him on the outside.· I see it in

·4· ·the evidence.

·5· · · · MS. ALVARADO:· Yes.· Actually, the next page

·6· ·on it has the actual youthful offender statute.

·7· · · · COMMISSIONER D'AQUILA:· 2035 youthful

·8· ·offender, right.

·9· · · · MS. ALVARADO:· That doesn't have any relevance

10· ·here.· I think it may apply in New York when he's

11· ·applying for a license.· But here, he was

12· ·convicted --

13· · · · COMMISSIONER D'AQUILA:· So no relevance

14· ·whatsoever?

15· · · · MS. ALVARADO:· No.

16· · · · COMMISSIONER D'AQUILA:· Okay.· Thank you.

17· · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· Commissioner Brown, you're

18· ·recognized.

19· · · · COMMISSIONER BROWN:· I think most importantly

20· ·to note here is that there's a stipulation and

21· ·contempt order that granted him a current

22· ·pari-mutuel license.

23· · · · So with the same crimes that we are

24· ·contemplating today, simply because this is a slot

25· ·machine combo license, he can't request a waiver.
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·1· ·So we've already granted him a waiver for this 19

·2· ·-- and he actually put all of his crimes.

·3· · · · He did disclose the crimes in the '80s and the

·4· ·'70s.· None go -- again, to Commissioner Drago's

·5· ·earlier point, none go to whether he is fit to hold

·6· ·a slot machine license.· He's a current pari-mutuel

·7· ·licensee.

·8· · · · COMMISSIONER D'AQUILA:· It's my understanding

·9· ·he's working as a guest services representative

10· ·currently, and I'm also looking at the package.  I

11· ·want to put the gentleman in the '70s; is that

12· ·correct?

13· · · · MS. ALVARADO:· Right.

14· · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· This is unclear.· His only

15· ·felony was in 1970, and he was, I think, 18 at the

16· ·time.· No other felonies.· They were DUI

17· ·misdemeanors, possession in 1986 in New York,

18· ·drugs.

19· · · · And then also, I do think maybe the youthful

20· ·felony -- he probably -- well, I hate to say I know

21· ·what he's thinking.· But it can be -- that is when

22· ·it can be confusing.

23· · · · It's hard to distinguish between, if you're a

24· ·non-lawyer, that New York's laws aren't going to be

25· ·the same as Florida's laws, and you didn't have to
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·1· ·disclose it here and there.· That one is more

·2· ·understandable than just committing a crime four

·3· ·years ago, in my opinion.

·4· · · · COMMISSIONER D'AQUILA:· In light of the

·5· ·circumstances, I'm inclined to make a motion to

·6· ·approve a license.

·7· · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· All in favor?

·8· · · · (Multiple ayes.)

·9· · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· All right.· Moving on to 9.4.

10· · · · MS. ALVARADO:· This is 2023-028305 Terrell

11· ·Lipscomb.· He applied for a slot machine cardroom

12· ·pari-mutuel combination occupational license.

13· · · · Upon review of his application, he has been

14· ·convicted of grand theft of a motor vehicle in

15· ·2020, possession of a vehicle without a VIN number

16· ·in 2020, dealing in stolen property in 2023, false

17· ·ownership information for a pawned item in 2023.

18· · · · And he did disclose the felonies on his

19· ·application.· He did not apply for a waiver because

20· ·you can't apply for a waiver under Chapter 551.

21· ·Therefore, the Division would ask that the

22· ·Commission authorize the notice of intent to deny

23· ·in this case.

24· · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· Open it up for discussion and

25· ·questions.
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·1· · · · COMMISSIONER BROWN:· These crimes go to -- are

·2· ·very relevant to being granted a license.· With

·3· ·that, I would move to approve the staff

·4· ·recommendation.

·5· · · · COMMISSIONER D'AQUILA:· Second.

·6· · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· All in favor?

·7· · · · (Multiple ayes.)

·8· · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· Unanimous.· We move on to

·9· ·Agenda Item No. 10.· And, Mr. Executive Director,

10· ·the floor is yours.

11·  ·    MR. TROMBETTA:· Thank you, Mr. Chair.· So I

12· ·have a few updates to provide.· I think first in

13· ·accordance with Section 285.710, the Florida Gaming

14· ·Control Commission has to distribute moneys to

15· ·several cities and counties within the state based

16· ·on moneys paid as part of the revenue share by the

17· ·Seminole Tribe of Florida.

18· · · · The regulatory team of Division of Pari-Mutuel

19· ·Wagering has submitted the paperwork to DFS this

20· ·past week to make payments of an amount of about

21· ·$5.6 million distributed to 11 cities and counties.

22· ·It goes to DFS, so we've essentially sent the

23· ·paperwork out.

24· · · · This is money that's relied on by these cities

25· ·and counties.· So the notice was for the Commission
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·1· ·to be aware that it's happened so that if any of

·2· ·the counties are tuning in, they're aware to that

·3· ·it is going out.

·4· · · · The moneys, the revenue shares are based on

·5· ·payments made from October of 2021 to February of

·6· ·2022, so going back a little bit.· Any questions on

·7· ·that?

·8· · · · And then moving on to rule making updates, so

·9· ·I do have a few updates.· A few meetings ago, the

10· ·Commission provided the authority for me and my

11· ·staff to have rule making on a few areas.· We

12· ·initially filed notice of rule development in three

13· ·areas.

14· · · · One was public comments made at the Commission

15· ·meetings.· The second one was forms for

16· ·occupational licensing.· Well, it's really

17· ·occupational licensing, not just forms.

18· · · · And the third area was a greyhound cleanup.

19· ·Essentially, with greyhound racing ending, there's

20· ·still a number of rules that reference greyhounds,

21· ·and we have a -- you know, we intend to kind of

22· ·clean all of that up.

23· · · · The rule development is still going on for the

24· ·greyhound cleanup and for the occupational

25· ·licensing.· Essentially, our staff is reviewing the
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·1· ·rules and trying to come up with a plan before we

·2· ·move to the next step, which is filing a notice of

·3· ·proposed rule.

·4· · · · Today the notice of proposed rule is noticed

·5· ·in FAR on the public comment portion our rule.

·6· ·This was modified, as discussed in the last

·7· ·Commission meeting to provide a three-minute

·8· ·speaking period.

·9· · · · However, there was some additional discussion

10· ·at that meeting about some additional requests to

11· ·have in the rule.· We didn't move forward on that.

12· ·Frankly, I'd like to turn it over to legal affairs

13· ·for any comments or thoughts or questions about

14· ·what happened.

15· · · · Essentially, the advice from legal counsel was

16· ·to try to stick to the rule, I guess, to make it as

17· ·clean as possible, just sticking with public

18· ·comment.· And then if the Commission wants to go

19· ·into other areas during public meetings, we would

20· ·probably do that through a different rule.

21· · · · So at this point, I would like to kind of open

22· ·it up if you have any other thoughts or any ideas

23· ·on some items that you'd like us to cover in rule

24· ·making regarding the process of the Commission

25· ·meetings, we can do that.
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·1· · · · And I know the discussion of -- what were some

·2· ·of the things, Liz.· Do you mind jumping in here.

·3· ·What were some of the things that we discussed?

·4· · · · MS. STINSON:· Sure.· So we discussed including

·5· ·information about the IT policy saying that we were

·6· ·going to try and provide the same access

·7· ·electronically as we were in person, and that

·8· ·typically is addressed through a different rule,

·9· ·other than the public comment rule.

10· · · · So we wanted to keep the rule as this

11· ·particular rule based only on the public comment

12· ·section and then include information about other

13· ·procedural items and other rules in that chapter.

14·  ·   MR. TROMBETTA:· And so big picture, we are

15· ·trying to effectuate rule making as the Commission

16· ·desires.· We're just trying to do it in the best

17· ·way.· So even if there's nothing at this point, I

18· ·just want you all to know that if there are other

19· ·things that you'd like us to adopt to govern

20· ·Commission meetings, we can do it.

21· · · · You have some time to think about it, but we

22· ·can do it.· We just need to do it through the

23· ·correct rule-making process.

24· · · · For the other two rules, so for greyhound rule

25· ·making, again, that's still rule development of the
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·1· ·next step for both greyhound cleanup and for the

·2· ·occupational licensing.· The next step would be to

·3· ·move and file a notice of proposed rule and then

·4· ·try to move forward.

·5· · · · At that point, we would have to have a draft

·6· ·of the language.· That's essentially what's slowing

·7· ·that process down.· Finally, in terms of rule

·8· ·making, there's a notice of technical change has

·9· ·been filed as well.

10· · · · The technical change is really the DBPR

11· ·cleanup.· It kind of moves and replaces references

12· ·to DBPR with the FGCC.· That is also in the

13· ·process.· Essentially, we've done our end, and

14· ·we're kind of waiting for, is it FAR, to correct

15· ·the existing rules.

16· · · · Is there any questions on rule making?

17· · · · From the legislative sessions, House Bill

18· ·No. 7063 was signed by the Governor.· This was the

19· ·bill related to tax credits for thoroughbred

20· ·horseracing permit holders associated with the HISA

21· ·program.

22· · · · So the intent, big picture here is that the

23· ·thoroughbred permit holders in the state that are

24· ·part of the HISA program will be able to request a

25· ·tax credit from the Gaming Commission to offset
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·1· ·costs associated with the HISA implementation.

·2· · · · So that bill has been passed.· That is going

·3· ·to be something that we are going to be working

·4· ·with permit holders to help make happen this year,

·5· ·so just update there.

·6· · · · As Mr. Marshman said in some of the HISA

·7· ·discussion, HISA drug testing program did go into

·8· ·effect May 22nd.· So we are at the racetracks in

·9· ·the state of Florida, we are now operating under

10· ·HISA's drug testing rules as the agreement.

11· · · · As we were just authorized to sign the

12· ·agreement, we'll continue to have our staff

13· ·collect, do sample taking, and our investigators

14· ·will work with HISA to conduct any investigations

15· ·that are needed.

16· · · · There's a lot of things happening with the

17· ·close -- with the end of fiscal year coming up just

18· ·kind of around the admin IT side.· Our IT team has

19· ·been in the process of moving as many users onto

20· ·the Gaming Commission's own network as possible.

21· · · · We've kind of come up with a plan where we are

22· ·keeping -- right now, there's issues with some of

23· ·our document processing and record retention

24· ·programs.· So employees that have a large

25· ·responsibility in using those programs, we're kind
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·1· ·of keeping on DBPR so we can fix some of the issues

·2· ·that have come up.

·3· · · · We're trying to move everybody else onto the

·4· ·Gaming Commission's network as soon as possible.

·5· ·So I know IT is doing a lot in that area.

·6· · · · Admin-wise, same type of thing.· Our

·7· ·construction is going really well at the building

·8· ·over here.· We're hoping -- I don't have a

·9· ·deadline, but for the commissioners, for the staff

10· ·that are watching, we are trying to make that move

11· ·happen as soon as possible.

12· · · · Right now, the plan is to as construction

13· ·winds up to move people that are in temporary

14· ·offices.· I'm pointing.· Sorry.· At the 4070

15· ·location into their final offices and then move

16· ·people from the other building over once those

17· ·offices are ready.

18· · · · Again, I don't have a firm deadline, but I

19· ·think it's coming up pretty quick.· It won't happen

20· ·probably before the end of this fiscal year.· But

21· ·shortly thereafter, I think we're going to be able

22· ·to make some rules on moving people into that

23· ·building, which I think will be a great thing for

24· ·me, for staff, just to have everybody in the same

25· ·place.· It's going to make thing a lot easier, so
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·1· ·that's exciting.

·2· · · · I'm going to turn it over to Carl Herold, our

·3· ·director of law enforcement, to give you an update

·4· ·on some of the law enforcement activities that have

·5· ·occurred over the past month.· But before I do

·6· ·that, I just want to also point to the next

·7· ·Commission meeting.

·8· · · · Just while we're here, I think I've spoken

·9· ·with all of you to get scheduling.· It looks like

10· ·July 11th everybody is available for the next

11· ·Commission meeting.· If that is still the case, I'd

12· ·just like to get that out there publicly.· Does

13· ·that still work?· Perfect.

14· · · · And then I'm planning, depending on the

15· ·feedback I get right now to have kind of a year in

16· ·review at that meeting.· I would like kind of our

17· ·admin team, kind of the senior management to have

18· ·five or ten minutes to kind of present to you and

19· ·to everybody that's watching what we've been able

20· ·to accomplish in the last year.· It's a ton.· We've

21· ·done a ton.

22· · · · Looking back, we've got a lot done, and I

23· ·would like to show that off to you all to allow you

24· ·to answer questions to talk about some of the kind

25· ·of internal things we've been working on and
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·1· ·external stuff that we've got done.

·2· · · · So, you know, if that's something you'd like,

·3· ·I'd like to go forward doing that for the next

·4· ·meeting.

·5· · · · If there's nothing else, Mr. Herold, the floor

·6· ·is yours.

·7· · · · MR. HEROLD:· Thank you.· For the record, Carl

·8· ·Herold, the director of law enforcement.

·9· · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· If I may, I would like to do

10· ·one thing.· I would like to commend you,

11· ·Mr. Herold.· You and your team have done an

12· ·excellent job with the recent enforcement actions,

13· ·and I just wanted to note that for the record.

14· ·Great work on that.· Now the floor is yours.

15· · · · MR. HEROLD:· Well, since you brought that up,

16· ·I've got a little something.· First, thank you very

17· ·much.· You know, I'm gratified that I was able to

18· ·do something as far as the whole unit in the law

19· ·enforcement realm that gave some value to the works

20· ·of everybody in our agency.

21· · · · I mean, you know, while this was a law

22· ·enforcement action, it was not without the help of

23· ·everybody within the Gaming Enforcement Unit, from

24· ·administration to general counsel's office and

25· ·everybody in between.
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·1· · · · And I think -- Mr. Chair, you weren't here

·2· ·whenever I initially spoke about getting this

·3· ·position.· I really stress collaboration and

·4· ·working partnerships with our law enforcement

·5· ·community, and I think that this particular action

·6· ·really highlights that sense of cooperation and

·7· ·collaboration.

·8· · · · I did want to take an opportunity to kind of

·9· ·highlight the men and women that were a part of

10· ·this in the law enforcement community that helps us

11· ·out.

12· · · · Commissioner Mark Glass with his folks from

13· ·FDLE, Sheriff Rick Bradshaw with the Palm Beach

14· ·County Sheriff's Office, Sheriff Ken Mascara from

15· ·the St. Lucie County Sheriff's Office, Sheriff Chad

16· ·Chronister from Hillsborough County Sheriff's

17· ·Office, and then Chief Anthony Holloway of St. Pete

18· ·PD.

19· · · · All their folks were instrumental in helping

20· ·us carry this out, so they certainly deserve a

21· ·great deal of our thanks and gratitude for what

22· ·they've done for us.· Thank you.· I'm glad we were

23· ·able to do this.

24· · · · Kind of a summary of what happened in that

25· ·action is we were able to close four arcades.
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·1· ·Personally, I don't like that term.· It insinuates

·2· ·that it is some sort of lawful action that is very

·3· ·innocent, but it is not.· We were able to close

·4· ·four arcades.· We confiscated 359 slot machines.

·5· · · · The number of cash and bank deposits that were

·6· ·seized is just over $1 million and over $2 million

·7· ·worth of property had liens put on them, since they

·8· ·were all purchased through proceeds of these

·9· ·illegal actions.

10· · · · We made five arrests for everything from money

11· ·laundering to RICO to some other possession of slot

12· ·machines and those kind of things like that.

13· ·Probably the greatest compliment to all of that is

14· ·that now the news media is helping us carry the

15· ·banner and educate the public and educate these

16· ·business owners that are out there that if they're

17· ·going to conduct themselves in an illegal

18· ·operation, they're going to be identified.

19· · · · Going forward, we already have four or five

20· ·operations in various level of completeness.· So

21· ·this is certainly not the only one that you'll see.

22· ·It's the first one, and I'm glad it turned out to

23· ·be very identifiable to the public and something

24· ·that we can hang our hat on, but this is certainly

25· ·not the last one.· Thank you.
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·1· · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· Thank you.

·2· · · · Commissioner Brown.

·3· · · · COMMISSIONER BROWN:· I cannot echo it more

·4· ·emphatically your compliments to Carl and his team.

·5· ·Literally, you have been working with these

·6· ·partners.· There were two law enforcement officers

·7· ·in our agency.

·8· · · · And what you have been able to achieve is just

·9· ·mind blowing with the limited resources that you

10· ·had, and I know there's more to come.· You've just

11· ·done a tremendous job.· The more resources you get,

12· ·I think we'll begin to see it even more mind

13· ·blowing.

14· · · · So, Carl, thank you so much for working so

15· ·hard and for your team.· You guys have been doing a

16· ·great job.

17· · · · I also want to commend our admin, our HR, our

18· ·CIO.· What they're doing, too, is just incredible,

19· ·and our new external affairs director, too.

20· · · · MR. HEROLD:· Absolutely.· And without their

21· ·assistance, this would not have been possible.  I

22· ·do want to specifically call out Dan DeCoursey

23· ·(phonetic), my chief of law enforcement because

24· ·without him there to help stand shoulder to

25· ·shoulder, it wouldn't have been possible.· Thank
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·1· ·you.

·2· · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· Thank you.

·3· ·Commissioner Repp.

·4· · · · COMMISSIONER REPP:· I'd also really want to

·5· ·commend you.· I was there in Hillsborough for the

·6· ·law enforcement action.· I'm really excited to see

·7· ·what you did with so little resources at that time.

·8· · · · I got to sit down and talk to you about your

·9· ·vision for how you plan to develop and your ideas

10· ·and your values behind how you want to create your

11· ·department.· I'm really excited to see it.

12· · · · I'm glad that I'm here to watch you follow

13· ·through with your vision.· I know it's going to be

14· ·great.· I appreciate your efforts, and we're very

15· ·lucky to have you.

16· · · · MR. HEROLD:· Thank you.· I'm humbled.

17· · · · COMMISSIONER D'AQUILA:· I would just like to

18· ·multiply all of that praise by two.· Thank you very

19· ·much, sir, for all your work.

20· · · · MR. HEROLD:· Thank you.

21· · · · MR. DRAGO:· I guess I'm going to have to say

22· ·something.· Everybody I think knows how I feel

23· ·about the work you guys have done.· I really do

24· ·appreciate it.· I know what's gone into it,

25· ·especially with the limited resources that you had.
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·1· · · · I also want to make sure -- because my

·2· ·understanding is that the statewide prosecutor, of

·3· ·course, is a valuable part in this, too.· I want to

·4· ·make sure we recognize them as well and appreciate

·5· ·their efforts.

·6· · · · Their help is what's going to help make this

·7· ·all happen as we go statewide.· So, yes, thank you

·8· ·so much for what you've done.· Thank you for your

·9· ·folks.· I know you're moving ahead and hiring more

10· ·people.· So as you hire more people, we certainly

11· ·expect you to do way more work and get more and

12· ·more arrests, so thank you, everybody.

13· · · · MR. HEROLD:· The only thing I would say is,

14· ·again, I'm grateful for all this praise.· Without

15· ·my executive director being there helping make

16· ·these things happen, it wouldn't be possible.  I

17· ·thank you very much.· Hope to do more.

18· · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· On to Agenda No. 11, public

19· ·comment.· I do not have any cards.· I understand we

20· ·do not have any public comment today.· Anything

21· ·further from any of the commissioners?

22· ·Mr. Lockwood, welcome.

23· · · · MR. LOCKWOOD:· I apologize.· I did not realize

24· ·we were doing public comment cards on just the

25· ·public speaking portion, so I'll fill this out and
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·1· ·get this in.

·2· · · · Briefly, one, it's great now that we have back

·3· ·full Commission slate with five commissioners.

·4· ·Great to see you.· I look forward to working with

·5· ·everyone.

·6· · · · Second, I just would like to echo the thanks

·7· ·that Carl and the law enforcement staff with the

·8· ·internet cafes and the arcades.· It's certainly

·9· ·been a very big issue for all of my clients over

10· ·the years, and it's really gratified to see this

11· ·actually taking place and some change being

12· ·accomplished.

13· · · · Last, Lou had mentioned rule making that the

14· ·Commission staff is undertaking.· In the last

15· ·couple weeks, my firm and myself have been working

16· ·with the staff on the concept of cashless wagering

17· ·in the context of slot machine operations.

18· · · · I know that some of the commissioners may be

19· ·aware of this and some of the protocols that are

20· ·going on and the products that are on the market.

21· ·At this point, our slot machine laws really and the

22· ·rules and regulations haven't been modified in a

23· ·number of years.

24· · · · The concept of cashless wagering I think is

25· ·certainly contemplated by Chapter 551.· But maybe
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·1· ·through various technological issues, we've got

·2· ·some rules that may or may not be problematic.

·3· · · · At a minimum, I know that staff would want to

·4· ·see kind of more standalone rules to make sure that

·5· ·they're gathering the data that they're needing in

·6· ·order to conduct their audits and enforcements and

·7· ·things of that nature.

·8· · · · And with that, I would hope that the

·9· ·Commission -- I'm asking that the Commission at

10· ·least give some direction to staff.

11· · · · I feel like they need that direction now to

12· ·kind of continue their exploration of this idea and

13· ·this technology so that the slot machine facilities

14· ·can have this technology.· It is definitely

15· ·something that is becoming more prevent in the

16· ·casino gaming industry.

17· · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· Any questions?· Okay.· Thank

18· ·you.· Do you have anything further?

19· · · · MR. LOCKWOOD:· Nothing further.· Thank you.

20· · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· Thank you.· Would anybody

21· ·else like to say anything?· I know it wasn't -- it

22· ·may not have been clear, but I do like to have the

23· ·comment cards, just so I know who's speaking.· No

24· ·other speakers, then we'll stand adjourned.

25· · · ·(Proceedings concluded at 10:48 a.m.)
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·1· ·Thereupon,

·2· ·the following proceedings were transcribed from an audio

·3· ·recording:

·4· · · · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· Okay.· Good morning.· Welcome

·5· · · ·to -- let's go on the record.· Welcome to the

·6· · · ·July 11, 2023 meeting of of the Florida Gaming

·7· · · ·Control Commission.· We're going to begin with the

·8· · · ·Pledge of Allegiance.· I'd like to ask Vice Chair

·9· · · ·Brown to lead us today.

10· · · · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

11· · · ·Please rise with me.

12· · · · · · (Pledge of Allegiance.)

13· · · · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· Okay.· The first order of

14· · · ·business today is the approval of the minutes from

15· · · ·May 2, 2023.· We'll take those up together, that's

16· · · ·1.1 and 1.2 on the agenda.· Do I -- any discussion on

17· · · ·the minutes?· A motion to approve the minutes?

18· · · · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· Chairman, I move to approve

19· · · ·items 1.1 and 1.2 meeting minutes.

20· · · · ·

21· · · · ·

22· · · · ·

23· · · · ·

 · COMMISSIONER D'AQUILA:· Chairman, I'll second. 

· CHAIRMAN UPTON:· Okay.· All in favor?

· ALL MEMBERS:· Aye.

· CHAIRMAN UPTON:· Approval of the minutes is

24· · · ·unanimous.· Moving on to the discussion of the

25· · · ·consent orders.· We have that agenda to be taken up
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·1· · · ·together, unless one of the commissioners has

·2· · · ·something they'd like to discuss on these.· Okay.

·3· · · ·Can I get a motion to approve 2.1 through 2.3?

·4· · · · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· Mr. Chairman, I'll go ahead

·5· · · ·and move Items -- the staff recommendation on Items

·6· · · ·2.1 through 2.3.

·7· · · · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· Do I have a second?· I'll

·8· · · ·second it.· All in favor?

·9· · · · · · ALL MEMBERS:· Aye.

10· · · · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· Moving on to Agenda Item

11·

12·

13·

14·

15·

  ·No. 3, discussion of the defualt final orders

 ·Again, do any of the commissioners have anything

 ·they'd like to discuss here?· All right.

 ·I'll make a motion to approve the staff

 ·recommendation here.· Do I have a second?

16· · · · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· Second.

17· · · · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· All those in favor?

18· · · · · · ALL MEMBERS:· Aye.

19· · · · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· All right.· Onto Agenda

20· · · ·Item 4, the discussion of application for transfer of

21· · · ·permit holder tax credit exemption.

22· · · · · · Now, when I read through these, these all look

23· · · ·to be uncontested on the same issue.· Do we have a

24· · · ·problem taking these up together as well?· Any

25· · · ·discussion on these?· All right.· Then I'll make a
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·1· · · ·motion to approve 4.1 through 4.6.· Do we have a

·2· · · ·second on that?

·3· · · · ·

·4· · · · ·

·5· · · · ·

·6· · · · ·

 · COMMISSIONER D'AQUILA:· Second.

· CHAIRMAN UPTON:· All those in favor?

· ALL MEMBERS:· Aye.

· CHAIRMAN UPTON:· All right.· It's unanimous.

·7· · · ·We'll move on to Agenda Item 5 No. 5, discussion of

·8· · · ·renewal application for slot machine license, that's

·9· · · ·5.1, that's Gretna Racing.· We have someone from

10· · · ·staff who would like to present on this.

11· · · · · · MS. POUNCEY:· Good morning, Jamie Pouncey,

12·

13·

14·

15·

16·

17·

18·

19·

20·

21·

22·

  ·Permit Holder Program Administrator for Pari-Mutuel

 ·Wagering.· Item No. 5.1, Case No. 2023-035062.· It is

 ·the annual slot license renewal for Gretna Racing,

 ·LLC, d/b/a Magic City Casino.· The slot machine

 ·license application was submitted on June 19, 2023,

 ·the application was deemed complete as of June 27,

 ·2023, they have submitted all the required

 ·documentation to include the application, the other

 ·numerous requirements to be elements to the slot

 ·machine license, and the division recommends

 ·approval.

23· · · · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· We'll open it up for

24· · · ·discussion.

25· · · · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· Mr. Chairman, all of the
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·1· · · ·prerequisites have been met and there's been all of

·2· · · ·the appropriate disclosures with this application.

·3· · · ·With that, I'd move the approval of the application

·4· · · ·renewal.

·5· · · · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· I'll second that motion.· All

·6· · · ·those in favor?

·7· · · · · · ALL MEMBERS:· Aye.

·8· · · · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· All right.· In unanimous.

·9· · · ·Moving on to Agenda Item No. 6.· We'll do 6.1, that's

10· · · ·the Florida Standardbred Breeders' and Owners'

11· · · ·Association.· It's a renewal application for

12· · · ·non-wagering pari-mutuel license.

13· · · · · · MS. POUNCEY:· That's Case No. 2023-001563.· The

14· · · ·Florida Standardbred Breeders' and Owners'

15· · · ·Association has submitted their annual admission for

16· · · ·renewal of their non-wagering license for calendar

17· · · ·year 2024.· They have requested to operate seven

18· · · ·non-wagering performances, they have submitted the

19· · · ·required information for their license, they possess

20· · · ·the qualifications, and the division is recommending

21· · · ·approval of their non-wagering license for the

22· · · ·calendar year of '24.

23· · · · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· Thank you.· We'll open it up

24· · · ·for discussion.· All right.

25· · · · · · COMMISSIONER D'AQUILA:· [Indiscernible].
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·1· · · · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· I'll second that.· All those

·2· · · ·in favor?

·3· · · · · · ALL MEMBERS:· Aye.

·4· · · · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· All right.· 6.1 is approved.

·5· · · ·Moving on to Agenda Item No. 7.· 7.1, that's the

·6· · · ·discussion of final orders by request from

·7· · · ·respondent, that's Mr. Timothy McDonald.· I'd like to

·8· · · ·hear from staff on this.

·9· · · · · · MS. ALVARADO:· This is Emily Alvarado for the

10·

11·

12·

13·

14·

15·

16·

17·

 ·record.· That's Case No. 2023-012964.· In this case

·the respondent was provided with an administrative

·complaint seeking exclusion from all pari-mutuel and

·slot machine facilities.· He responded with an

·election of rights requesting that a final order be

·issued against him, and therefore the division would

·ask that the commission enter a final order adding

·respondent to the permanent exclusion list.

18· · · · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· Thank you.· We'll open it up

19· · · ·for discussion.

20· · · · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· Mr. Chairman, if there's no

21· · · ·discussion, I would go ahead and move approval of the

22· · · ·final order.

23· · · · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· Okay.· We've got a motion to

24· · · ·approve.· I'll second that.· All those in favor?

25· · · · · · ALL MEMBERS:· Aye.
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·1· · · · ·

·2· · · · ·

 · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· On to Agenda Item 7.2.

 · MS. ALVARADO:· FGCC vs. Lisandro Sky,

·3·

·4·

·5·

·6·

·7·

·8·

·9·

10·

11·

12·

13·

 ·Case No. 2023-013741.· In this case, it was an

·administrative complaint that was filed seeking

·exclusion and revocation of the respondent's license

·or slot machine card room pari-mutuel wagering

·occupational license.· They were excluded and fired

·from Hialeah Park on February 20, 2023.· He had

·responded with an election of rights requesting that

·a final order be issued against him, therefore the

·division would ask that the commission exclude

·respondent from all pari-mutuel slot machine

·facilities as well as revoke his license.

14· · · · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· Thank you.· We'll open it up

15· · · ·for discussion.

16· · · · ··  · I have a question on this one, and maybe

17·  ·I missed it in the materials.

18· · · · · · When it says that the respondent asked for a

19· · · ·penalty, what was their request for in this case?

20· · · · · · MS. ALVARADO:· They don't make a specific

21· · · ·request.· They're given a form that gives them

22· · · ·multiple options.· In this case, they were given an

23· · · ·option for a formal hearing, an informal hearing, or

24· · · ·option three, which is what they checked.· It just

25· · · ·says the division will make a decision on a final
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·1· · · ·order in this case.

·2· · · · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· Are they aware of the severity

·3· · · ·of the penalty?

·4· · · · · · MS. ALVARADO:· Yes.· The administrative

·5· · · ·complaint does address what the penalty would be or

·6· · · ·what the potential penalty could be.

·7· · · · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· Do we have a motion on this?

·8· · · · · · COMMISSIONER DRAGO:· I'll move to approve staff

·9· · · ·recommendation.

10· · · · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· Okay.· I'll second that.· All

11· · · ·those in favor?

12· · · · · · ALL MEMBERS:· Aye.

13· · · · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· Unanimous on 7.2.· On to

14· · · ·Agenda Item No. 8, discussion of recommended orders.

15· · · ·8.1, we'll hear from staff on that.

16· · · · · · MS. ALVARADO:· FGCC vs. Patty Anne Burns, Case

17·

18·

19·

20·

21·

22·

23·

24·

25·

  ·No. 2023-0511570.· This case comes before you

 ·following a recommended order that was issued by the

 ·hearing officer.· An informal hearing was conducted

 ·on April 25, 2023 regarding an administrative

 ·complaint seeking to suspend respondent's license for

 ·an unpaid financial obligation relating to racing

 ·conducted at a pari-mutuel in the state of Florida.

 ·After the hearing, the hearing officer recommended

 ·entering an order suspending respondent's license
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·1· · · ·until proof was provided that the unpaid financial

·2· · · ·obligation has been satisfied.· The hearing officer

·3· · · ·gave the respondent until October 11, 2023 to provide

·4· · · ·proof of past action of the debt.· Therefore, the

·5· · · ·Florida Gaming Commission would ask that that

·6· · · ·commission adopt the hearing officer's recommended

·7· · · ·order.

·8· · · · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· All right.· Thank you,

·9· · · ·counsel.· We'll open it up for discussion.

10· · · · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· Mr. Chairman, I think this

11· · · ·strikes the perfect balance of leniency, but also

12· · · ·giving the respondent an opportunity to rectify their

13· · · ·error.· And with that, I would move approval if

14· · · ·there's no other discussion on the item.

15· · · · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· Any other discussion?· Do we

16· · · ·have a second to Vice Chair Brown?

17· · · · · · COMMISSIONER DRAGO:· I'll second.

18· · · · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· All these in favor?

19· · · · · · ALL MEMBERS:· Aye.

20· · · · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· Unanimous for the

21· · · ·recommendation.

22· · · · ·

23· · · · ·

24· · · · ·

 · MR. MARSHMAN:· Mr. Chair?

 · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· Yes.

 · MR. MARSHMAN:· I'm sorry to interrupt.· I've

25· · · ·been informed that our audio might not be
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·1· · · ·broadcasting correctly on The Florida Channel's

·2· · · ·website.· We're trying to fix that.· I'm not sure how

·3· · · ·you'd like to proceed.

·4· · · · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· You want to take a five-minute

·5· · · ·recess, see if we can figure it out?

·6· · · · ·

·7· · · · ·

·8· · · · ·

·9· · · · ·

10· · · · ·

 · MR. MARSHMAN:· I believe that would help.  · 

CHAIRMAN UPTON:· We'll stand in recess.

· MR. MARSHMAN:· Thank you.

· (Brief recess taken.)

· CHAIRMAN UPTON:· I'd ask everybody to have a

11· · · ·seat, we're going to go back on the record here in a

12· · · ·few seconds.· Okay.· We'll go back on the record.

13· · · · · · We'll take up Agenda Item 8.2.· We'd ask to

14· · · ·hear from staff now.

15· · · · · · MS. ALVARADO:· This is Emily Alvarado for the

16·

17·

18·

19·

20·

21·

22·

23·

24·

25·

 ·record.· Item 8.2 is FGCC vs. Luis Y. Roll in

·Case No. 2023-005746.· This case comes before you

·following the recommended order that was issued by

·the hearing officer.· An informal hearing was

·conducted on April 25, 2023 regarding a two-count

·administrative complaint alleging that respondent was

·convicted of a felony and failed to inform us of the

·felony within 48 hours.· The hearing officer

·recommended entering an order revoking respondent's

·pari-mutuel wagering general and divisional
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·1· · · ·occupational license, therefore the division would

·2· · · ·ask that the commission adopt this recommendation.

·3· · · · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· Thank you, Ms. Alvarado.

·4· · · ·We'll open it up for discussion.· No discussion --

·5· · · · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· This is a pretty clear-cut

·6· · · ·case here, pretty onerous charges, and the fact that

·7· · · ·he neglected to disclose it.· With that, I would

·8· · · ·agree with the hearing officer and approve the

·9· · · ·recommended order.

10· · · · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· All right.· Do we have a

11· · · ·second on the motion?

12· · · · ·

13· · · · ·

14· · · · ·

15· · · · ·

 · COMMISSIONER D'AQUILA:· Second.

· CHAIRMAN UPTON:· All those in favor?

· ALL MEMBERS:· Aye.

· CHAIRMAN UPTON:· Staff recommendation is

16· · · ·approved.· Moving on to agenda items 9.1 and 9.2,

17· · · ·discussions of order vacating final orders.

18· · · · ·

19· · · · ·

 · 9.1, we will hear from staff, Ms. Alvarado. 

· MS. ALVARADO:· 9.1 is 2023-003527, FGCC versus

20·

21·

22·

23·

24·

25·

 ·Marquitta Jones.· The commission seeks to vacate

·the final order that was issued on June 9, 2023

·permanently excluding respondent from all pari-mutuel

·and slot machine facilities in the state.· The

·administrative complaint was served at the wrong

·address and we reviewed notification of the new
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·1· · · ·address for respondent.· So the division would ask

·2· · · ·that the commission allow us to vacate the final

·3· · · ·order and reissue the administrative complaint in

·4· · · ·this case.

·5· · · · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· Thank you.· I'll open it up

·6· · · ·for discussion.· Seems pretty straightforward to me.

·7· · · ·If the respondent didn't receive notice, we need to

·8· · · ·provide them with proper notice.· So I'll make a

·9· · · ·motion to approve the staff recommendation.

10· · · · ·

11· · · · ·

12· · · · ·

13· · · · ·

14· · · · ·

COMMISSIONER DRAGO:· Second.

CHAIRMAN UPTON:· All those in favor?

ALL MEMBERS:· Aye.

CHAIRMAN UPTON:· Ms. Alvarado, on 9.2.  · 

MS. ALVARDO:· 2023-014450, Lucasindre Remy.

15·

16·

17·

18·

19·

20·

21·

22·

 ·This case is similar to the last.· The

·commission entered a final order permanently

·excluding respondent from all pari-mutuel slot

·machine facilities in the state and the

·administrative complaint was served at the wrong

·address.· So we'd ask that the commission allow us to

·vacate the final order and serve the respondent at

·the correct address.

23· · · · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· Okay.· Motion to approve the

24· · · ·staff recommendation?

25· · · · · · COMMISSIONER DRAGO:· I'll make it.· So moved.
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·1· · · · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· I'll second that.· All those

·2· · · ·in favor?

·3· · · · · · ALL MEMBERS:· Aye.

·4· · · · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· Staff recommendation is

·5· · · ·approved for 9.2.· Moving on to Agenda Item No. 10,

·6· · · ·discussion of licensed denials.· We'll hear from

·7· · · ·staff on 10.1.

·8· · · · · · MS. ALVARADO:· That is 2023-021465, Celestino

·9·

10·

11·

12·

13·

14·

15·

16·

17·

18·

19·

20·

21·

22·

 ·Lanza.· The division received an application

·for Celestino Lanza on April 6, 2023.· He was

·seeking a general and divisional occupational

·license.· After review of the application, it was

·discovered that they were convicted of manufacture,

·possession and delivery of more than one kilogram of

·cocaine and manufacture, deliver or possession with

·intent of a schedule five drug in 2017.· They failed

·to disclose this on their original admission and

·disclosed one of the convictions on the amended

·application.· The applicant applied for waiver which

·was declined by the executive director, therefore the

·division would ask that that commission authorize the

·issuance of a notice of intent to deny in this case.

23· · · · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· Thank you.· We'll open it up

24· · · ·for discussion.· No discussion, do we have a motion?

25· · · · · · COMMISSIONER D'AQUILA:· [Indiscernible].
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·1· · · · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· I'll second that motion.· All

·2· · · ·in favor?

·3· · · · · · ALL MEMBERS:· Aye.

·4· · · · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· It's unanimous.· Staff

·5· · · ·recommendation is approved for 10.1.

·6· · · · ·

·7· · · · ·

 · Ms. Alvarado on 10.2.

· MS. ALVARADO:· 2023-025733, Kaliyah Alexander.

·8· · · ·The division received an application for the

·9· · · ·applicant on May 3, 2023.· They were seeking a slot

10· · · ·machine card room pari-mutuel combination

11· · · ·occupational license.· After review of the

12· · · ·application, it was discovered that they were

13· · · ·convicted of possession of marijuana with intent to

14· · · ·sell or deliver in 2019.· This was on the June

15· · · ·meeting materials, and the commission asked that we

16· · · ·include the arrest report into the packet, and that

17· · · ·has been included in the meeting materials.· The

18· · · ·applicant did not apply for waiver because it is not

19· · · ·authorized under Chapter 551, and the division would

20· · · ·ask that the commission authorize the notice of

21· · · ·intent to deny in this case.

22· · · · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· Thank you.· I will open it up

23· · · ·for discussion.

24· · · · · · COMMISSIONER DRAGO:· I just want to say thank

25· · · ·you for getting that extra information.· It does
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·1· · · ·clarify it quite a bit for me anyway.· So I

·2· · · ·appreciate you getting that.· That helps a lot in my

·3· · · ·decisionmaking on this and where I want to go on it.

·4· · · · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· I would agree.· That second

·5· · · ·judicial circuit affidavit as well provided a lot

·6· · · ·more detail surrounding the incident.· And it is

·7· · · ·clear that this is -- I would agree with staff

·8· · · ·recommendation on denying this applicant at this

·9· · · ·time.

10· · · · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· Anyone else?· Do we have a

11· · · ·motion?

12· · · · · · COMMISSIONER DRAGO:· So moved.

13· · · · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· All those in favor?

14· · · · · · ALL MEMBERS:· Aye.

15· · · · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· Okay.· That one is unanimous

16· · · ·as well.· And we'll hear from the staff on 10.3.

17· · · · · · MS. ALVARADO:· This is 2023-0030433, Kijuana

18·

19·

20·

21·

22·

23·

24·

25·

 ·Larkins.· The division received a license

·application on May 10, 2023 seeking a slot machine

·card room pari-mutuel wagering combination

·occupational license.· After review of the

·application, it was discovered that she was convicted

·of two grand thefts in 2003.· The applicant did not

·apply for waiver because it's not contemplated under

·Chapter 551, therefore the division would ask the
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·1· · · ·commission issue a notice of intent to deny in this

·2· · · ·case.

·3· · · · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· Okay.· I'll open it up for

·4· · · ·discussion.

·5· · · · · · COMMISSIONER DRAGO:· I have one question, Mr.

·6· · · ·Chair.

·7· · · · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· Okay, yes.

·8· · · · · · COMMISSIONER DRAGO:· Did it turn out to be a

·9· · · ·felony or misdemeanor conviction?· I know it started

10· · · ·out as a felony.· I thought I read something in there

11· · · ·that it ended up being misdemeanor.

12· · · · ·  · MS. ALVARDO:· It ended up being two felony

13· · · ·convictions, two grand theft felony convictions.

14· · · · · · COMMISSIONER DRAGO:· Thank you.

15· · · · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· Further discussion?

16· · · · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· Mr. Chairman, I would move

17· · · ·to approve the license denial recommendation.

18· · · · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· I'll second that.· All in

19· · · ·favor?

20· · · · · · ALL MEMBERS:· Aye.

21· · · · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· Okay.· We're moving on then to

22· · · ·Item No. 11, that's the executive director update.

23· · · ·And we'll hear from you, executive director.

24· · · · · · MR. TROMBETTA:· Thank you, Mr. Chair.· I have

25· · · ·one -- there's one update on the agenda, and I'm



Page 17
·1· · · ·available for any additional questions.· This update

·2· · · ·really involves rulemaking, and there's a few kind of

·3· · · ·subparts to this.

·4· · · · · · As I mentioned last meeting, the technical

·5· · · ·change that was filed to move the existing rules into

·6· · · ·a new chapter has now been completed.· So all of our

·7· · · ·forms that have previously existed in Chapter 61D are

·8· · · ·now technically changed to I think Chapter 75 --

·9· · · ·yeah, Chapter 75.· So it's a good step in the right

10· · · ·direction in terms of the types of transfer that was

11· · · ·supposed to happen.

12· · · · · · Secondarily, the time period to adopt the

13· · · ·public comment rule has now passed.· So with your

14· · · ·kind of authority, I do need the commission's consent

15· · · ·to move to adopt that rule.· So this is the rule that

16· · · ·would provide public comment guidelines for meetings.

17· · · ·So that is what I'm seeking today for the second

18· · · ·point.

19· · · · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· All right.· Any discussion?

20·

21·

22·

 ·Any questions on the public comment rule?· Then you

·need a motion -- you need us to approve the

·rulemaking, correct? For the public comment.

23· · · · ·  · MR. TROMBETTA:· Yes, Mr. Chair. 

24·

25·

  I need essentially the authority to file

·a notice of adoption as it relates to the public
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·1· · · ·comment rule.

·2· · · · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· Okay.· I'll make a motion that

·3· · · ·we allow the executive director the authority that he

·4· · · ·needs to file on the public comment.

·5· · · · · · COMMISSIONER DRAGO:· I'll second that.

·6· · · · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· All those in favor?

·7· · · · · · ALL MEMBERS:· Aye.

·8· · · · · · MR. TROMBETTA:· Thank you.· Then I wanted to

·9· · · ·touch on cashless rulemaking.· This was one where at

10· · · ·the previous meeting, we had public comment about the

11· · · ·desire to engage in cashless rulemaking or rulemaking

12· · · ·towards cashless wagering at the slot facilities.  I

13· · · ·wanted to just bring that up.· And if that is

14· · · ·something the commission desires to go down the road,

15· · · ·same type of thing where I would need some authority

16· · · ·to initiate rulemaking.

17· · · · · · So this is a different stage of rulemaking.

18· · · ·This would just be the initial process where it would

19· · · ·allow my staff to kind of formally begin determining

20· · · ·whether we -- how we're going to do that if that's

21· · · ·something that the commission does in fact want to go

22· · · ·do.· I'm just kind of throwing that out there right

23· · · ·now.· Essentially without commission's authority, my

24· · · ·staff is not authorized to go forward on that.

25· · · · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· Vice Chair Brown?
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·1· · · · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· Thank you, Mr. Chair.· Going

·2· · · ·to some of these conferences, it's such a common

·3· · · ·topic, common theme.· I think this is definitely ripe

·4· · · ·to explore and go down to that rulemaking and open it

·5· · · ·up.· What's the time frame that you are thinking

·6· · · ·about?

·7· · · · · · MR. TROMBETTA:· So this is, you know, frankly

·8· · · ·one of the more complex areas of rulemaking.· It

·9· · · ·would be a new technology that we would have to be --

10· · · ·we'd have to figure out how to implement.· I think

11· · · ·that, as you mentioned, this is something that the

12· · · ·pari-mutuel industry has been asking my staff for for

13· · · ·a number of months.· I think they're interested in

14· · · ·going down this road.· Several other states have

15· · · ·rules, there's model rules.· So it might be lengthy,

16· · · ·it might be several months.· But essentially what I'm

17· · · ·seeking is the ability to initiate the process so

18· · · ·that my staff can kind of undergo a review.

19· · · · · · So cashless is mentioned in statute.· What we'd

20· · · ·do is try to figure out how we could best implement

21· · · ·that rule, whether we need a single rule, a cashless

22· · · ·specific rule, or if we have to modify additional

23· · · ·rules in our slot machine rule chapter.· So

24· · · ·essentially what I'm seeking is the authority to

25· · · ·initiate the process.· It's the first step in what's
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·1· · · ·a lengthy process.· Once you initiate rulemaking, you

·2· · · ·have to then formally develop the rule, you have to

·3· · · ·move towards a proposed rule, which is another

·4· · · ·filing, and then, like you just granted the authority

·5· · · ·for the previous issue, before it gets adopted, the

·6· · · ·commission would ultimately have to sign off on the

·7· · · ·adoption.

·8· · · · · · So circling all the way back to your initial

·9· · · ·question, it would take several months to get to the

10· · · ·point we're readied to adopt the rule.· I think also

11· · · ·there probably would be a workshop or a hearing that

12· · · ·we'd like to get feedback from the industry on.· So

13· · · ·that also would have to be incorporated in our plan.

14· · · ·But what I'd like to do is if you do grant this, we'd

15· · · ·initiate the process, and potentially at the next

16· · · ·meeting, I would provide a better overview of kind of

17· · · ·the plan.

18· · · · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· Yes, Commissioner?

19· · · · · · COMMISSIONER D'AQUILA:· [Indiscernible].

20· · · · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· Commissioner Drago?

21· · · · · · COMMISSIONER DRAGO:· My Tallahassee allergies.

22· · · ·I agree, and I think certainly everything is moving

23· · · ·that way, and everything that I hear, too, is from

24· · · ·operators across the state are interested in this.

25· · · ·So it might be better for players, for operators.  I
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·1· · · ·think less cash that can be handled can be better for

·2· · · ·everybody in terms of time spent on crime, etc.· So I

·3· · · ·would really like us to look into this and see if we

·4· · · ·can work something out, and I'd be interested to hear

·5· · · ·from the operators as to see how they feel about it

·6· · · ·and how they think we should go about it to make it

·7· · · ·work the best for everybody.

·8· · · · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· What is the commission's role

·9· · · ·in the workshop when the stakeholders are

10· · · ·participating?

11· · · · · · MR. TROMBETTA:· I'm going to ask Ross to be

12· · · ·ready just in case.· It's essentially what you'd like

13· · · ·it to be I think is probably the best answer.· Under

14· · · ·120, there's two phases of rulemaking.· There's the

15· · · ·development phase and the proposed rule phase.· In

16· · · ·the development phase, agencies are able to offer

17· · · ·workshops throughout the state to get initial

18· · · ·feedback.· You don't have to have proposed language

19· · · ·at that point.· The more formal process is the second

20· · · ·stage.· At that point you're able to offer what I

21· · · ·call hearings, which is a more formal back and forth

22· · · ·with the industry.

23· · · · · · The commission itself, we haven't had a

24· · · ·workshop wet yet under the five commissioners, so

25· · · ·that's why kind of I've started with how you'd like
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·1· · · ·it.· In my head, if any of the commissioners want to

·2· · · ·be involved, come to the meetings, I don't know,

·3· · · ·really we can work with you on what you think and how

·4· · · ·your role should be in this process.

·5· · · · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· I think we'd like to get some

·6· · · ·feedback on how that would work and how it would work

·7· · · ·with Sunshine Laws and things like that.· But I want

·8· · · ·to make sure that we are informed of all the

·9· · · ·different options that are on the table and all the

10· · · ·various things involved in the process along the way,

11· · · ·but I think it's an important issue and obviously

12· · · ·something we should be addressing.· Specifically for

13· · · ·the next meeting, just broadly what are you thinking

14· · · ·about?· You'd come here and say what generally?

15· · · · · · MR. TROMBETTA:· Whatever you'd like, Mr. Chair.

16·

17·

18·

 ·I'd be happy to propose a timeline, I think that

·might help, as well as opportunities for workshops,

hearings. Would that help?

19· · · · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· Yes . I'm just trying to get a

20· · · ·better understanding of the process.· With that, I

21· · · ·think I'd like to make a motion to approve the start

22· · · ·of the rulemaking process on cash less transaction,

23· · · ·cashless wagering.· Do I have a second on that?

24· · · · ·

25· · · · ·

COMMISSIONER D'AQUILA:· I'll second that.  · 

CHAIRMAN UPTON:· All those in favor?
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·1· · · · · · ALL MEMBERS:· Aye.

·2· · · · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· Unanimous.

·3· · · · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· If you don't mind, I just

·4· · · ·want to share with our colleagues here that in my

·5· · · ·previous life with workshops, it's been done both

·6· · · ·staff driven and commissioner driven where the

·7· · · ·commissioners kind of ran.· It just depends on the

·8· · · ·subject matter and the area of interest of the

·9· · · ·commissioners, if would they want staff to run it or

10· · · ·if they want to run the meetings, the workshops.

11· · · · · · So I just wanted to offer that up when staff is

12· · · ·formulating the different options of the format,

13· · · ·there are various methods and mechanisms.· Thank you.

14· · · · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· Thank you, Vice Chair Brown.

15· · · ·That was helpful.· If you can just give us those

16· · · ·options at the next meeting.· I think this is just

17· · · ·the initial step, as I understand it.

18· · · · · · MR. TROMBETTA:· Yes, sir.

19· · · · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· Anything else for the

20· · · ·executive director?

21· · · · · · MR. TROMBETTA:· No, Mr. Chair.· Sorry.· One

22· · · ·other thing that -- just the discussion of the next

23· · · ·meetings.· It is also not necessarily on the agenda,

24· · · ·but I think that that is something that I think would

25· · · ·probably be fruitful, not necessarily in an update
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·1· · · ·either, but in my individual conversations with each

·2· · · ·of the commissioners, I think there is an interest in

·3· · · ·trying to plan our calendars.· So if there's any way

·4· · · ·I can help through that discussion or just lead you

·5· · · ·through that, I'd be happy to.

·6· · · · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· I'll open that up for

·7· · · ·discussion.

·8· · · · · · COMMISSIONER D'AQUILA:· [Indiscernible].

·9· · · · · · MR. TROMBETTA:· Yes, Commissioners D'Aquila.

10· · · ·Mr. Marshman, do you maybe want to provide just a

11· · · ·general overview of where we are with HISA?

12· · · · · · MR. MARSHMAN:· Mr. Chair.

13· · · · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· Yes, go ahead, general

14· · · ·counsel.

15· · · · · · MR. MARSHMAN:· To Commissioner D'Aquila's

16· · · ·point, after executing the agreement, we have started

17· · · ·to receive notices.· As was described in the

18· · · ·agreement, we obviously can't discuss the content of

19· · · ·the notices in a public meeting, but staff has been

20· · · ·handling those with all due care and confidentiality

21· · · ·pursuant to the terms of the agreement, and we're

22· · · ·starting to create our own sort of internal tracking,

23· · · ·the information that's been shared with us, and the

24· · · ·plan is I think for us to compare that to historical

25· · · ·data related to drug testing, positive test results,
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·1· · · ·and see if there's any sort of pattern that emerges

·2· · · ·or anything that we can tell what they're doing

·3· · · ·versus what we were doing.

·4· · · · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· Okay.· Let's go back to the

·5· · · ·calendar and the meeting.· Any other questions

·6· · · ·[indiscernible] on the calendaring of the meetings?

·7· · · ·I feel very strongly, not necessarily for the next

·8· · · ·meeting or even the one after that, but we ought to

·9· · · ·have at least a year in advance a set meeting time

10· · · ·and location, preferably not a different location.  I

11· · · ·know we're working without a meeting room, so that's

12· · · ·a difficult thing to arrange, but that's what I would

13· · · ·like to see going forward.· We can do it on an ad hoc

14· · · ·basis for the next couple, but after that, that we

15· · · ·know what it is and everybody [indiscernible].· The

16· · · ·only thing -- whether it's the first Tuesday of every

17· · · ·month or the first Wednesday, that's open for

18· · · ·whatever everybody on the commission wants to do, but

19· · · ·we know and we can plan, that's the way most of the

20· · · ·other commissions operate.· I'll open it up for

21· · · ·discussion.· Yes, Commissioner.

22· · · · · · COMMISSIONER DRAGO:· I agree with that

23· · · ·wholeheartedly, and I think that we right now, I know

24· · · ·we have set up for the first Thursday of every month,

25· · · ·so that's how I plan it, that it's going to be the
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·1· · · ·first Thursday of every month, unless something

·2· · · ·happens, 4th of July or whatever.· Certainly I'm open

·3· · · ·to if anybody wanted to change it to the third

·4· · · ·Thursday or whatever, but I think we should -- I

·5· · · ·agree that we should stick with some semblance of

·6· · · ·order in terms of consistency, first Thursday, second

·7· · · ·Thursday, whatever it is every month, so we can plan

·8· · · ·way out, and we can also look at the calendar in that

·9· · · ·fashion.· We know 4th of July is coming, we know 4th

10· · · ·of July will fall on a certain day of the week and

11· · · ·that will effect our schedule.· So we can do that way

12· · · ·in advance.· We don't have to wait until a month

13· · · ·before.

14· · · · · · Yeah, I'd hope that we can plan that out.  I

15· · · ·think it makes it easier for everybody to have a

16· · · ·standard day of the month and then look forward to

17· · · ·dates that might interrupt or that we know.· I know

18· · · ·there's always going to be things that are going to

19· · · ·come up and that we can't help, but I think it is

20· · · ·helpful for all of us and everybody that's involved

21· · · ·to have a schedule they can count on in terms of when

22· · · ·these meetings will happen.· So I'd like to see that

23· · · ·happen as well.

24· · · · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· From my perspective, this is a

25· · · ·a great meeting room, technical difficulties aside,
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·1· · · ·but the PSC meeting room being right across the

·2· · · ·street from our offices and not having to deal with

·3· · · ·downtown parking, I have a strong preference that we

·4· · · ·try to coordinate where we can meet in that meeting

·5· · · ·room consistently.

·6· · · · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· Mr. Chairman, I'd also add

·7· · · ·that it does help the public, too, to know well in

·8· · · ·advance if they want to talk on a topic or anything

·9· · · ·that they can plan accordingly.· I know we're all

10· · · ·pretty flexible on at least that first week of the

11· · · ·month.· If we want to stick with Thursday, I'm

12· · · ·completely okay with that.· And Commissioner Drago

13· · · ·said things come up and commissions have to be agile,

14· · · ·and we are, but if we can post a calendar, too, on

15· · · ·the website so that the public knows when our

16· · · ·meetings are going to be in advance, that will be

17· · · ·helpful, and any other important details or workshops

18· · · ·or forums that we'll be attending.

19· · · · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· I would suggest that we ask

20· · · ·staff to check on the availability of the PSC meeting

21· · · ·room.· Since we don't have one of our own, we need to

22· · · ·find out if that one is going to be available on the

23· · · ·first Thursday of the month regularly, and if that's

24· · · ·okay with everybody, maybe that's the starting point.

25· · · · · · COMMISSIONER D'AQUILA:· [Indiscernible].
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·1· · · · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· That would be fine.· I think

·2· · · ·another option for a meeting room is the

·3· · · ·[indiscernible] courtroom at the 1st DCA

·4· · · ·[indiscernible].· We had checked for this time, but

·5· · · ·it wasn't available, but that's much closer to our

·6· · · ·offices and the parking is much better.

·7· · · · · · COMMISSIONER D'AQUILA:· [Indiscernible].

·8· · · · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· That would be fine with me.

·9· · · ·Yes, Commissioner Repp.

10· · · · · · COMMISSIONER REPP:· [Indiscernible].

11· · · · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· I think telephonic appearance,

12· · · ·if you're open to that, we can [indiscernible].

13· · · · · · COMMISSIONER REPP:· I'm fine with

14· · · ·[indiscernible].

15· · · · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· The PSC has a big screen

16· · · ·behind you that we could see your face and you could

17· · · ·do FaceTime and call in.

18· · · · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· Okay.· I think it says it's

19· · · ·not jumbled, staff gets the idea, you understand the

20· · · ·direction of the commission, and give us some options

21· · · ·on meeting rooms for those days, with the preference

22· · · ·of the PSC room.

23· · · · · · MR. TROMBETTA:· Mr. Chair, just to confirm the

24· · · ·dates, it would be August 3rd, September 7th,

25· · · ·October 5th, and I'll with my staff try to get the
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·1· · · ·PSC room.· If that's not available, we'll try the

·2· · · ·DCA.· Does that kind of capture the --

·3· · · · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· Yeah.· Everybody take a

·4· · · ·second, confirm on your calendars.· August 3rd,

·5· · · ·September 7th, and October 5th, correct?

·6· · · · · · MR. TROMBETTA:· Yes, sir.

·7· · · · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· Good for me.· With the

·8· · · ·exception of Commissioner Repp needing the one

·9· · · ·telephonic appearance, I think we're all good for

10· · · ·those days in Tallahassee.

11· · · · · · MR. TROMBETTA:· Thank you, Mr. Chair.· I will

12· · · ·coordinate with staff and try to get the locations

13· · · ·set up.

14· · · · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· Okay.· Now -- anything further

15· · · ·from the executive director?

16· · · · · · MR. TROMBETTA:· No, sir.· Thank you.

17· · · · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· Now we're going to open it up

18· · · ·for any discussion from the commissioners.· Vice

19· · · ·Chair Brown?

20· · · · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

21· · · ·With the start of a new fiscal year and the close of

22· · · ·a prior fiscal year and so many milestones that have

23· · · ·been achieved to date that maybe the public is not

24· · · ·aware of but we are aware of, is there anything you

25· · · ·or your staff would like to add?
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·1· · · · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· I will take the blame, I

·2· · · ·thought this was going to be a much longer agenda.  I

·3· · · ·had pushed that off to another one in the interest of

·4· · · ·time, so I'm not sure if the executive director is

·5· · · ·prepared for that.· That is my fault.· And we are

·6· · · ·going to do that in the future, but if there's

·7· · · ·anything you'd like to discuss at this one, you're

·8· · · ·welcome to do that, or we can put that on the future

·9· · · ·agenda.

10· · · · · · MR. TROMBETTA:· Thank you, Mr. Chair.· With

11· · · ·your permission here, I think outside of Susie

12· · · ·Whitmire, our head of IT, who is busy working on a

13· · · ·project today, I think I have several directors here

14· · · ·that I think would be able to answer questions or

15· · · ·provide an overview of some accomplishments from this

16· · · ·past year.· I think we've done a lot.· I'm very proud

17· · · ·of the work the team has done.· I'd love to be able

18· · · ·to show it off if we have some time.

19· · · · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· The floor is yours.· I just

20· · · ·didn't want to put anybody on the spot with something

21· · · ·that wasn't on the agenda.

22· · · · · · MR. TROMBETTA:· Mr. Chair, again, with your

23· · · ·permission, first is Lisa Mustain, the Director of

24· · · ·Administration.

25· · · · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· The floor is yours.
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·1· · · · · · MS. MUSTAIN:· Thank you.· Thank you, Mr. Chair.

·2·

·3·

·4·

·5·

·6·

·7·

·8·

·9·

10·

11·

 ·In reflection for the last fiscal year, at this time

·we had two employees in the Division of

·Administration, DBPR was complete, all of our

·accounting, our budgeting.· We have come a long way.

·We now have a full staff of 19 employees, we are

·currently on the Statewide Travel Management System,

·My Florida Marketplace, People First.· We're

·independent from DBPR except for a few accounting

·transactions that are linked through Versarray, which

·we're working on.

12· · · · · · The close of this fiscal year, we produced 450

13· · · ·purchase orders, we've on-boarded 75 employees,

14· · · ·mostly with two HR employees, and really we're doing

15· · · ·-- we've come a long way and we have a long way to

16· · · ·go.· We have seven policies and procedures in place.

17· · · ·We've managed renovation of a building, we've moved

18· · · ·people in.· There's just been a lot of moving parts,

19· · · ·and we've had a really successful year, proud of the

20· · · ·people that work for the Division of Administration.

21· · · ·Everybody is onboard and looking forward to a great

22· · · ·year next year, this year.

23· · · · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· Thank you.

24· · · · · · COMMISSIONER DRAGO:· Lisa, can you just for the

25· · · ·sake of the public who doesn't really understand or
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·1· · · ·know, what responsibilities are under your division?

·2· · · ·What different kinds of areas do you manage?

·3· · · · · · MS. MUSTAIN:· Commissioner Drago, I manage the

·4· · · ·finance and accounting division, budgeting,

·5· · · ·facilities management, property asset management,

·6· · · ·leasing, accounting -- did I say accounting?· Yes.

·7· · · ·Just general operations.· My job is to support the

·8· · · ·people that work for the Florida Gaming Control

·9· · · ·Commission, to support the Law Enforcement Division,

10· · · ·to support our operations, and to get them what they

11· · · ·need to do their jobs.

12· · · · · · COMMISSIONER DRAGO:· HR as well?

13· · · · · · MS. MUSTAIN:· Yes, sorry.· HR as well.

14· · · · · · COMMISSIONER DRAGO:· It's a pretty big job that

15· · · ·you've done over the last year, and I know that

16· · · ·you've had an awful lot to do with helping law

17· · · ·enforcement get their feet on the ground and moving

18· · · ·forward.· And that cooperation is so important when

19· · · ·you're starting a whole new police department

20· · · ·basically.· And as somebody who understands it and

21· · · ·works with Carl in making sure that everything gets

22· · · ·up and running, I really appreciate that, because

23· · · ·that has really helped us move along as quickly as we

24· · · ·have.· So thank you for that.· And I know you've done

25· · · ·a lot of work.· I'm glad you were able to get up here
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·1· · · ·and talk about it.· You do a lot of the work behind

·2· · · ·the scenes that people don't see.· We certainly do

·3· · · ·recognize it.· Thank you for that.

·4· · · · · · MS. MUSTAIN:· Thank you, Commissioner.

·5· · · · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· Vice Chair Brown.

·6· · · · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

·7·

·8·

·9·

10·

11·

12·

13·

14·

15·

16·

17·

18·

19·

 ·Thank you for the indulgence.· We've seen -- even

·just this past month, we've seen such major

·milestones, but it's been a very gradual process, and

·you've been very successful, and I can't be more

·enthusiastic about the hires that the team has done

·under Mr. Trombetta.· You're just -- you've been

·tremendous, a great asset, and you could feel the

·energy in the new facilities, too, yesterday when the

·team got together.· It's very contagious.· People are

·excited to be at the gaming commission under your

·tutelage in making everything such a smooth

·transition from DBPR to the new entity.· So just

·really big compliments to you.

20· · · · · · MS. MUSTAIN:· Thank you, Commissioner.· It's a

21· · · ·team effort.· Again, we've come a long way, but Carl

22· · · ·has been wonderful, Ross is wonderful, the senior

23· · · ·leadership, Susie is wonder ful.· We're all in it to

24· · · ·make it work and we're all dedicated.· It's been a

25· · · ·great effort.· Thank you for the opportunity to work
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·1· · · ·at the Florida Gaming Control Commission.

·2· · · · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· Commissioner D'Aquila?

·3· · · · · · COMMISSIONER D'AQUILA:· Director Mustain, just

·4· · · ·a special appreciation as a person who's spent many,

·5· · · ·many years in both accounting and HR, in that role in

·6· · · ·the lower middle mark companies, I understand how

·7· · · ·difficult it is, and [indiscernible] the accounting

·8· · · ·to work.· So hats off.· Great job.· Thank you so

·9· · · ·much.

10· · · · · · MS. MUSTAIN:· Thank you, sir.

11· · · · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· Mr. Executive director, I'll

12· · · ·kind of let you lead this.

13· · · · · · MR. TROMBETTA:· Thank you, Mr. Chair.· Next up

14· · · ·I'm going to call Director Herold, who is our

15· · · ·Director of our Law Enforcement Team.

16· · · · · · MR. HEROLD:· Good morning.· If I may?

17· · · · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· Yes.

18· · · · · · MR. HEROLD:· Thank you.· My name is Carl

19· · · ·Herold, Director of Gaming Enforcement.· And I have a

20· · · ·few notes here because I'm certainly not going to

21· · · ·remember everything.

22· · · · · · This past year has been very interesting for

23· · · ·the Director of Gaming Enforcement.· Bringing a law

24· · · ·enforcement agency up from essentially nothing is

25· · · ·quite the challenge, and it has been very important
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·1· · · ·all the stuff that we've done.· So I'm going to start

·2· · · ·with kind of the infrastructure to let everybody know

·3· · · ·that in bringing a law enforcement agency up, there's

·4· · · ·a lot of things you've got to put in place before you

·5· · · ·can even start taking any kind of action.· Criminal

·6· · · ·justice access, you've got to have access to these

·7· · · ·databases and things like that.· Equipment, we're

·8· · · ·still building out our evidence property management

·9· · · ·system.· Warehouses, we had no idea that we needed to

10· · · ·have warehouses for all this gambling equipment that

11· · · ·we're seizing, policies and those kind of things like

12· · · ·that.· Those are all the pieces that you have to put

13· · · ·together that have to come in at different times and

14· · · ·different places, but they all need to kind of

15· · · ·intersect at the end where they can make the job for

16· · · ·gaming enforcement effective.

17· · · · · · One of the things that we did in gaming

18· · · ·enforcement is we really emphasized, outreached out

19· · · ·our stakeholders, meetings with the stakeholders to

20· · · ·let them know that we were here essentially.· And

21· · · ·that's part of the three-prong process that we have

22· · · ·of informing our stakeholders in law enforcement of

23· · · ·what we do in the gaming enforcement side.· We had

24· · · ·meetings, multiple meetings with law enforcement,

25· · · ·Florida Sheriffs Association.· In fact, I have
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·1· · · ·another meeting with them at their summer conference

·2· · · ·at the end of the month.· Meetings with local law

·3· · · ·enforcement, and I've tried to make sure that we

·4· · · ·educate the law enforcement unit and let them know

·5· · · ·that we want to participate with them and be good

·6· · · ·partners with them in the enforcement of gaming and

·7· · · ·gambling violations.· I think that part of the

·8· · · ·outreach is also about relationship building.· We've

·9· · · ·worked very hard to try and build relationships with

10· · · ·our partners out there, and then also informing the

11· · · ·general public.

12· · · · · · I'm going to take this opportunity to give a

13· · · ·shout-out to Eric Carr, our external affairs person,

14· · · ·because Eric has done a fantastic job of getting the

15· · · ·gaming enforcement and overall the agency's mission

16· · · ·out there.· He's done a phenomenal job.· He was able

17· · · ·to get me on a podcast.· I've never been on a

18· · · ·podcast, and that was quite interesting.· You know,

19· · · ·when we send letters -- whenever we get complaints

20· · · ·from the public on illegal gambling, we send letters

21· · · ·to businesses and letters out to the public informing

22· · · ·them about what's going on, and then we've also

23· · · ·recently put resources for the public and for law

24· · · ·enforcement on the gaming enforcement page on the

25· · · ·overall website.· So that's part of the informing and
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·1· · · ·the educating as well, you know, educating the public

·2· · · ·some and the stakeholders out there about what is

·3· · · ·legal and illegal and what we're doing.

·4· · · · · · Lastly, the enforcement side of it.· We've had

·5· · · ·some enforcement action already, very proud of that.

·6· · · ·We currently have a number of other investigations

·7· · · ·going on that will have a significant impact, I hope,

·8· · · ·and doing everything we can to try and mitigate the

·9· · · ·illegal gambling that's going on out there.

10· · · · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· Thank you.· Discussion?

11· · · ·Questions?

12· · · · · · COMMISSIONER DRAGO:· Just a couple of comments,

13· · · ·I think.· I wanted to thank you for what you've done,

14· · · ·and I know what a job this is to create a law

15· · · ·enforcement agency from the ground up and all the

16· · · ·work that's involved and behind-the-scenes stuff that

17· · · ·people don't even realize that has to get done that's

18· · · ·so time consuming.· And for the way that you've

19· · · ·introduced this agency to the state I think has been

20· · · ·-- the reputation is good, and it's because of what

21· · · ·you're doing and how you're doing it and the

22· · · ·partnerships you're creating and so forth and the way

23· · · ·you and Eric work together on that.

24· · · · · · And Eric, thank you for what you do in getting

25· · · ·the word out.· Fortunately, unfortunately, you're
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·1· · · ·getting the word out so good that people are

·2· · · ·imitating us in the illegal operations, but that

·3· · · ·shows that the word is getting out, everybody is

·4· · · ·hearing about it, understanding about these machines

·5· · · ·being illegal and the other illegal activities going

·6· · · ·on around them.· So thank you for all that work, and

·7· · · ·especially the way you keep us apprised and involved

·8· · · ·with what you're doing so we understand and know

·9· · · ·what's happening all the time.· So thank you for

10· · · ·that, Carl.

11· · · · · · MR. HEROLD:· My pleasure.

12· · · · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· Commissioner D'Aquila?

13· · · · · · COMMISSIONER D'AQUILA:· I'd like to echo

14· · · ·Commissioner Drago's comments, and in particular,

15· · · ·just to put on the record, with regard to the

16· · · ·podcast, that appeared on the Florida Sheriffs

17· · · ·Association website.· For the benefit of the public

18· · · ·and the staff, if you haven't listened to this

19· · · ·podcast, it's less than 30 minutes --

20· · · · · · MR. HEROLD:· About 35.

21· · · · · · COMMISSIONER D'AQUILA:· 35 minutes absent

22· · · ·commercials.· But it strikes at one of the pressing

23· · · ·many issues, but it's a very good summary of what

24· · · ·we're doing and also the recent developments in

25· · · ·illegal slot machines.· And so I want to compliment
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·1· · · ·you on that, the education of the public in this

·2· · · ·particular area [indiscernible].· And also the

·3· · · ·education with regard to workshops on those machines

·4· · · ·that was recently conducted by the staff,

·5· · · ·commissioners, all interested parties, was an

·6· · · ·extraordinary [indiscernible] on this somewhat

·7· · · ·complex topic that I believe has much conclusion for

·8· · · ·the public and within sometimes our own commission

·9· · · ·your efforts [indiscernible] the same way is greatly

10· · · ·appreciated.· [Indiscernible] a big thank you.· Keep

11· · · ·it up.· Thank you.

12· · · · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· Thank you.· Vice Chair Brown?

13· · · · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· Thank you.· All of that I

14· · · ·agree with, even more emphatically as well.· You're

15· · · ·being very modest about the work you've done in your

16· · · ·summary.· There are massive milestones you've

17· · · ·achieved in the what, ten months I think you've been

18· · · ·here?

19· · · · · · MR. HEROLD:· 11.

20· · · · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· 11, okay.· 11 months.· And

21· · · ·we [indiscernible] a lot of you when it's 12 months

22· · · ·because you went from being a singular employee to

23· · · ·now you've been building a team here in Tallahassee,

24· · · ·Central Florida, South Florida, finding space,

25· · · ·finding warehouse space, all on your own,
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·1· · · ·coordinating massive collaboration with

·2· · · ·multi-jurisdictions to seize illegal property to help

·3· · · ·-- continue to help prosecute cases, massive cases

·4· · · ·across, again, multiple counties that will have a

·5· · · ·significant impact on consumers and the state of

·6· · · ·Florida as far as revenue that's being lost to the

·7· · · ·illegal gambling.

·8· · · · · · Your collaboration with the help of Eric Carr

·9· · · ·with attracting other entities, not just law

10· · · ·enforcement, but AARP, it goes on and on of the

11· · · ·amount of things that you've done, and you're

12· · · ·building such an amazing program here for everybody.

13· · · ·I hope that we are definitely tracking this and we're

14· · · ·able to put all of the statistics that we know that

15· · · ·you've been achieving in a document for our annual

16· · · ·report that we can send the legislature, the governor

17· · · ·so that he knows the great work that you've already

18· · · ·done in the past 11 months, too, and your team has

19· · · ·just been impeccable.

20· · · · · · MR. HEROLD:· Absolutely.· I'm humbled.· Thank

21· · · ·you.· And I'm accepting all this praise, but I want

22· · · ·you to know it's everybody involved.· I mean, the

23· · · ·team that I've put together so far, Lisa, Susie,

24· · · ·absolutely Lou.· And so I appreciate the praise, but

25· · · ·it certainly should be showered on them as well,
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·1· · · ·because without them, I couldn't be successful.· So,

·2· · · ·thank you.

·3· · · · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· Thank you.· Mr. Executive

·4· · · ·director?

·5· · · · · · MR. TROMBETTA:· Thank you, Mr. Chair.· And then

·6· · · ·I think last that we have here is Mr. Joe Dillmore,

·7· · · ·who's the director of our regulatory division,

·8· · · ·Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering.

·9· · · · · · MR. DILLMORE:· Thank you.· We were a little bit

10·

11·

12·

13·

14·

15·

16·

17·

18·

19·

20·

21·

 ·different than the other divisions.· They were

·building from the ground up.· So the Division of

·Pari-Mutuel Wagering was involved in the Type 2

·transfer from DBPR into the newly formed gaming

·commission.· So we kind of had existing operations in

·place.· And with that, one of our big goals was to

·maintain the integrity of the gaming operations at

·the licensed facilities in Florida.· And we do that

·through our regulatory responsibilities of licensing,

·safeguarding our state revenue, inspections, ensuring

·the welfare of not only the patrons, but also the

·racing animals at the facilities.

22· · · · · · So since July 1st, that's been a primary focus,

23· · · ·and I think we largely succeeded in maintaining those

24· · · ·operations without interruption.· And I have to thank

25· · · ·our tremendous staff for that and the hard work they
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·1· · · ·did, and the division administration and the

·2· · · ·technology, keeping the lights on, keeping IT stuff

·3· · · ·going as we migrated from our other systems onto our

·4· · · ·own platforms.· So it has been I think very

·5· · · ·successful, and like I said, greatly appreciated.

·6· · · · · · Second thing that we had was back in 2020 when

·7· · · ·the Horseracing Integrity Safety Act was passed into

·8· · · ·federal law, and as luck would have it, the

·9· · · ·implementation date was July 1st, the same day the

10· · · ·commission went into existence.· So it was kind of a

11· · · ·double-barrel shotgun there.· So we got the safety

12· · · ·program in first and then there was some delays from

13· · · ·HISA with getting the anti-doping program in place,

14· · · ·and then there was also some legal challenges from

15· · · ·other states in getting that program.· So with a

16· · · ·couple false starts and stops, we I think in May,

17· · · ·mid-May, we went into officially collecting samples

18· · · ·under the HISA program, getting our staff trained up

19· · · ·under their protocols and all of their technology as

20· · · ·far as protocols for using iPads and stuff to

21· · · ·identify the samples and get those shipped off to the

22· · · ·lab.· The work there is not over, obviously, since

23· · · ·it's just really getting started.

24· · · · · · And I'd also like to thank our general

25· · · ·counsel's office for the tremendous assistance they
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·3·

·4·
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 ·provided us in getting to those agreements and also

·providing that information to the commission.· We

·have a couple of other things we implemented in the

·field, live fingerprint machines.· We have those at

·the slot facilities.· We also implemented those for

·our busiest places in the field, our horse racing

·facilities.· The one in Tampa Bay Downs is already up

·and running.· So we're already collecting live scan

·fingerprints at those facilities.· We're still

·working at the Gulfstream location to get that one in

·place.· And again, with the migration to some of the

·technology stuff, our staff has been tremendous in

·user interface testing for the migration from the new

·platforms on base and also help identifying

·ultimately some requirements when we get to a place

·where we're going to come into the new licensing

·system hopefully.· So that's kind of where we were as

·far as our big level things.

19· · · · · · Some of our stats we did:· We had 19 Greyhound

20· · · ·licenses that were annually operating issued last

21· · · ·year, ten jai-alai, three Thoroughbred, six quarter

22· · · ·horse and one harness, 27 card room operating

23· · · ·licenses and eight slot machines.· As far as

24· · · ·pari-mutuel, we only have a few facilities actually

25· · · ·conducting live races, but most of those are still
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·1· · · ·open along with their card rooms conducting

·2· · · ·inter-track wagering.· As far as revenue, we

·3· · · ·collected approximately -- again, these figures are

·4· · · ·preliminary because we're just finishing our fiscal

·5· · · ·year, it takes us a couple months to finalize

·6· · · ·those -- but around $290 million in total revenue we

·7· · · ·we collected.· 6.3 from pari-mutuel operations,

·8· · · ·22.6 million from card rooms, and 262 million from

·9· · · ·slot operations.

10· · · · · · Our occupational licenses, we did about 15,000

11· · · ·occupational licenses, processed the applications.

12· · · ·13,000 were in the pari-mutuel card room side and

13· · · ·2,800 were on the slot side.· We collected around

14· · · ·8,500 samples from the racing animals which resulted

15· · · ·in 75 positive test findings, which you've seen some

16· · · ·of those drug positives and some of the penalties

17· · · ·associated with those.· Really a lot of the other

18· · · ·stuff, we've just maintained continuing -- we've done

19· · · ·thousands of inspections, pari-mutuel card room,

20· · · ·obviously bar inspections, slot machine shipment

21· · · ·approvals.· So you'll see a breakdown of all of that.

22· · · ·I can provide you a list or it will come out in the

23· · · ·annual report when we have that finished.· But I'm

24· · · ·available to answer any questions you might have.

25· · · · · · COMMISSIONER DRAGO:· When you don't have the
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·1· · · ·live scan, the live scan fingerprinting, you just

·2· · · ·have the old ink fingerprinting, is that what you're

·3· · · ·still using in those other places?

·4· · · · · · MR. DILLMORE:· So that's one of the options

·5· · · ·people have.· They can actually go to a private

·6· · · ·service live scan provider if they want to.· We have

·7· · · ·I think a link to those sites on our website.· They

·8· · · ·can also just mail in the hard card and we actually

·9· · · ·scan it in at our end.· So we get them

10· · · ·electronically, get them in the system

11· · · ·electronically, but we still offer several options.

12· · · · · · COMMISSIONER DRAGO:· Do you know how many

13· · · ·facilities still need to get the live scan?

14· · · · · · MR. DILLMORE:· Well, so the horse racing is

15· · · ·where really our biggest on-site need is and our

16· · · ·highest demand.· So they come in and they'd really

17· · · ·like to enter a race either the same day or next day.

18· · · ·So we've identified those highest needs first and

19· · · ·we'll continue to explore whether any other areas we

20· · · ·have any log jams.

21· · · · · · COMMISSIONER DRAGO:· And what did you say the

22· · · ·total revenue was?· What was that number?

23· · · · · · MR. DILLMORE:· 290 million.

24· · · · · · COMMISSIONER DRAGO:· I just want to again thank

25· · · ·you, Joe, for all you and your division has done.  I
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·1· · · ·mean, you had to -- even though you were already

·2· · · ·there and the division was already there, the

·3· · · ·changeover, everything that gets complicated by that,

·4· · · ·you had to take on a new job, a new position.· Even

·5· · · ·though they were easy shoes to fill that you took

·6· · · ·over for, you had to take that over in the middle of

·7· · · ·all the changes, the commission, HISA, anti-doping,

·8· · · ·the whole thing.· We all recognize that, I think.

·9· · · ·And applying all that that you had to do and all your

10· · · ·staff who had to adjust to all these changes, coming

11· · · ·to the commission and having to do things differently

12· · · ·now I know is challenging.· But it's been done

13· · · ·without a bump in the road.

14· · · · · · I mean, really, it just seems like it's moved

15· · · ·right over, everybody jumped right in with what

16· · · ·they've been doing and working, and it's just been

17· · · ·flowing so smoothly.· So thank you to all your staff

18· · · ·and to you for all that.· We really do appreciate

19· · · ·that and appreciate the updates.· It's very

20· · · ·interesting to me to hear the updates on these

21· · · ·periodically and how much work is being done with the

22· · · ·licensees.· So thank you for that.

23· · · · · · COMMISSIONER D'AQUILA:· I'll echo the

24· · · ·commissioner's comments.· Just one question, would I

25· · · ·be correct that there's 7,500 [indiscernible] --
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·1· · · · · · MR. DILLMORE:· It was 8,500 samples collected

·2· · · ·and 75 positives.· That was for the fiscal year 2022

·3· · · ·and 2023.

·4· · · · · · COMMISSIONER D'AQUILA:· 8,500 samples, 75

·5· · · ·positives [indiscernible] --

·6· · · · · · MR. DILLMORE:· That's correct.· And obviously,

·7· · · ·you know, still being in transition, there may be a

·8· · · ·couple that trickle in there, but that's about it.

·9· · · · · · COMMISSIONER D'AQUILA:· [Indiscernible].

10· · · · · · MR. DILLMORE:· They did a tremendous job at

11· · · ·adapting to the new processes.· Thank you.

12· · · · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· Vice Chair Brown.

13· · · · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· I can't not say anything

14· · · ·because you've been tremendous.· You've been just a

15· · · ·steadfast leader for your whole team, for the whole

16· · · ·agency, and we are grateful that you're with us as

17· · · ·director of PMW.· And I know that your team is also

18· · · ·grateful.· You have this incredible institutional

19· · · ·knowledge of the agency that I think so many of us

20· · · ·depend on, and to have that and also have you be able

21· · · ·to do that as we migrate to a whole new agency

22· · · ·seamlessly really has just been amazing.· So thank

23· · · ·you so much for everything that you do for us, and

24· · · ·we're grateful for you.

25· · · · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· Anything else, Mr. Executive
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·1· · · ·director?

·2· · · · · · MR. TROMBETTA:· Yes, Mr. Chair.· I forgot Ross.

·3· · · ·So -- he's sitting right next to me.· Mr. Marshman is

·4· · · ·the general counsel, and I'd like to give him an

·5· · · ·opportunity to also kind of show off what he's done.

·6· · · · · · MR. MARSHMAN:· Mr. Chair?

·7· · · · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· Yes.

·8· · · · · · MR. MARSHMAN:· The best thing that I've done is

·9·

10·

11·

12·

13·

14·
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19·

20·

21·

22·

23·

24·

25·

 ·really reflected by my staff's efforts.· So I'd like

·to acknowledge them and congratulate them for

·sticking with it, so-to-speak.· The original three

·were Emily Alvarado, Elizabeth Stinson, and Ebonie

·Lanier.· Ms. Stinson and Ms. Alvarado I think you've

·seen almost every meeting, and Ms. Lanier is actually

·the one that first alerted me today about the audio

·issue.· She is my assistant and she keeps me on the

·straight and narrow.· So I appreciate her.· We've

·also hired Darrell Garvey, who we're very grateful

·with him helping Liz.· Steve Woods is our new hire.

·I'd like to introduce you to him after this meeting.

·And Elina Valentine. I think most of you have

·met at this point is my deputy.· We also have Melba,

·our clerk, who's sitting at the table as well.  I

·think most of you have met her before by now.· And we

·have Mindy, who's back at the office as well that
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·1· · · ·keeps all the lights going on our end.· And we also

·2· · · ·have an intern right now that we're trying to

·3· · · ·convince to work for us, Cara Campbell.· And without

·4· · · ·them, none of this would be able to succeed.· So I

·5· · · ·appreciate all their efforts.· Thank you.

·6· · · · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· Thank you, Mr. Marshman.· Mr.

·7· · · ·Executive director?

·8· · · · · · MR. TROMBETTA:· Just one final shout-out, two

·9· · · ·maybe.· Dixie and Brandy, they are instrumental in

10· · · ·putting these meetings together.· There was an e-mail

11· · · ·sent immediately following the conversation about the

12· · · ·dates and locations.· Dixie is already working on

13· · · ·trying to finalize locations.· So they do a

14· · · ·phenomenal job in making sure that these meetings

15· · · ·happen, putting the materials together, and I'd hate

16· · · ·to kind of miss that.· So thank you guys.· Debbie,

17· · · ·too, she's been super helpful just getting me through

18· · · ·a lot of things this year.· So it really is a team

19· · · ·effort from everybody who you've seen.· Susie, who

20· · · ·was not able to be here, again, because our IT team

21· · · ·is preparing what she's calling a caravan of

22· · · ·goodness, she has termed this thing, we are -- she's

23· · · ·boxing up a whole bunch of equipment and driving to

24· · · ·South Florida next week to get our folks in South

25· · · ·Florida new equipment.· So just it's taken all of her
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·1· · · ·time.· She wanted to be here, but she's working on

·2· · · ·that.· Her whole team, it would be bad to not mention

·3· · · ·all the work that IT has been doing to try to help

·4· · · ·all of this other stuff happen.· And it has not been

·5· · · ·easy, it's been very challenging.

·6· · · · · · So I'm very -- just thank everybody that you

·7·

·8·

·9·

10·

11·

12·

13·

14·

 ·don't necessarily see behind the scenes for

·everything they've been doing.· It's been a big lift

·on everybody's part.· And from leadership to the

·members of their team, I mean, really, everybody's

·chipped in, and it's a phenomenal place to be a part

·of.· This last year has really been pretty

·incredible.· Thank you, Mr. Chair, for the time, and

·thank you, commissioners, for the questions.

15· · · · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· Thank you.· Commissioner

16· · · ·Drago?

17· · · · · · COMMISSIONER DRAGO:· Thank you.· I certainly

18· · · ·don't want the lawyers to go without some compliments

19· · · ·because I personally really do appreciate everything

20· · · ·that they do.· Since day one when I started here --

21· · · ·and I know the other commissioners, many went through

22· · · ·the beginning the same way -- we got so much -- I

23· · · ·learned so much from the lawyers here in that short

24· · · ·period of time, and I have tremendous faith in all of

25· · · ·you.· I really appreciate the advice I get, the legal
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·1· · · ·advice.· It's helped me so much.· I can always count

·2· · · ·on it.· Mr. Marshman, everything that you've had to

·3· · · ·deal with over the last year, it made it much easier

·4· · · ·on me personally.· As I've said before, I sit next to

·5· · · ·a lawyer, so I feel like I'm pretty much qualified,

·6· · · ·but I'm really not.· So I appreciate all that

·7· · · ·information.· It's helped me get through a lot and

·8· · · ·understand it and simplify it for me.· And the way

·9· · · ·you all work together is just such a good team and

10· · · ·everything that you do.

11· · · · · · I know Emily has been put on the spot here in

12· · · ·dealing with some of the stuff, and even though we

13· · · ·may throw some crazy things at you, Emily, we

14· · · ·appreciate all of you and everything that you've

15· · · ·done.· And thanks for all the help you've done for

16· · · ·me.· The ethics training from Liz and everything has

17· · · ·just been top notch.· So I want to make sure I said

18· · · ·that, how much I appreciate it.· And I will still --

19· · · ·it doesn't mean you're going to get off easy.· I'm

20· · · ·still going to be hounding you for advice.

21· · · · · · Brandy and Dixie, thank you so much back there,

22·

23·

24·

25·

  ·sitting in the back of the room, the two people that

 ·I epitomize.· The wind beneath your wings

 ·kind of thing, you don't even know they're there, and

 ·they're always helping.· And I deal a lot with
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·1·
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·3·
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 ·Dixie of course, too, and like you said, you just

·have to mention something, and boom, they're taking

·care of it.· So thank you ladies back there.· You're

·not lost in the back, you can't hide forever.· We

·really do appreciate everything.

·6· · · · · · And then of course, Lou, thank you for

·7· · · ·everything that you do.· This year -- I think this is

·8· · · ·an appropriate time -- I know I'm boring everybody

·9· · · ·with this -- but this is an appropriate time I think

10· · · ·to make mention of these things, a great job you've

11· · · ·done in putting this team together, and the hiring

12· · · ·you've done, you brought in top notch people, that's

13· · · ·what it's all about, especially when you're a

14· · · ·manager, a leader, it's the people that are around

15· · · ·you that you put together that make everything work,

16· · · ·and you've done a great job with that on every level.

17· · · ·And one of the things I mentioned, I remember when

18· · · ·you were first hired is one of the main things for me

19· · · ·is that any commission is always kept apprised of

20· · · ·what's going on, always involved, no surprises, make

21· · · ·sure we're all in this together, and you've been

22· · · ·great about that, always keeping us in the loop and

23· · · ·keeping us informed.· I know sometimes when you have

24· · · ·a job like this, you're busy day to day to day, you

25· · · ·don't want to have to tell five people about what's
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·1· · · ·going on, but you've done a great job with it, and I

·2· · · ·want to thank you for that.

·3· · · · ·

·4· · · · ·

·5· · · · ·

·6· · · · ·

·7· · · · ·

 · MR. TROMBETTA:· Thanks.

· CHAIRMAN UPTON:· Commissioner D'AQUILA?

· COMMISSIONER D'AQUILA:· [Indiscernible].

· CHAIRMAN UPTON:· Vice Chair Brown?

· VICE CHAIR BROWN:· Thank you.· Seeing that this

·8· · · ·is such an apt time for a tribute, your kind of

·9· · · ·reflection, everything that Commissioner Drago said

10· · · ·was just so spot on.· I'm happy that you highlighted

11· · · ·Executive Director Trombetta, too, because it hasn't

12· · · ·been necessarily a smooth ride the whole time for him

13· · · ·or for the lawyers or for Dixie and Brandy or Debbie.

14· · · ·I mean, they work 18 hours some days.· I know a lot

15· · · ·of you all do, too, but I know directly each one of

16· · · ·you, we hear from you, one of you every single day,

17· · · ·and we're very dependent on you, the whole agency is.

18· · · ·Your leadership, Lou, has just been tremendous.

19· · · ·You've been faced with many challenges and obstacles

20· · · ·and you've stayed steadfast and resilient and you've

21· · · ·been great for the agency.· You've sent the whole

22· · · ·state staffers for the gaming commission, you give

23· · · ·them updates regularly so they're not in the dark of

24· · · ·what's going on and what our progress is.· I think

25· · · ·the employees really appreciate that from you.· Of
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·1· · · ·course you're in touch with us all the time, the

·2· · · ·lawyers, Mr. Marshman, Ms. Alvarado and Ms. Stinson.

·3· · · ·I mean, you have always been the rock from the

·4· · · ·beginning.· We've had a lot of growing pains

·5· · · ·together.· So thank you for sticking it out and for

·6· · · ·your hard work.· I know how many hours you work and I

·7· · · ·know you have multiple balls in the air that you're

·8· · · ·constantly juggling and always do such a professional

·9· · · ·job.· And of course, Dixie and Brandy, we love you.

10· · · ·Thank you so much.

11· · · · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· Commissioner Repp?

12· · · · · · COMMISSIONER REPP:· Being new to the

13· · · ·commission, I didn't get to see all of the

14· · · ·transitions that took place, but I'd like to just

15· · · ·collectively thank everyone for everything you've

16· · · ·done, everything you're doing now, and for making me

17· · · ·feel welcome.

18· · · · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· All right.· Thank you.· Mr.

19· · · ·Executive director, anything further?

20· · · · · · MR. TROMBETTA:· Just to follow up on what

21· · · ·Dixie's been working on.· We have the PSC room

22· · · ·confirmed for those three days.· But that's it.

23· · · ·Thank you.

24· · · · · · CHAIRMAN UPTON:· We will move on now to public

25· · · ·comment if we have any.· Okay.· I don't think we have
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·1· · · ·any public comment.

·2· · · · · · There's one thing I wanted to say.  I

·3· · · ·understand there were some technical issues with the

·4· · · ·sound today, and I know that some of the folks that

·5· · · ·were parties, respondents or otherwise, were trying

·6· · · ·to listen in.· If you want a transcript, just contact

·7· · · ·the office and we will get you a transcript of what

·8· · · ·went on today if you weren't able to hear it on The

·9· · · ·Florida Channel.· Any further discussion?· Anything

10· · · ·else from any of the commissioners?· Okay.· We'll

11· · · ·stand adjourned.

12· · · · · · (Transcription concluded.)
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4. Discussion of Amended
Application for Pari-Mutuel 

Operating License



To: 
From: 
Re: 

Date: 

MEMORANDUM 

The Florida Gaming Control Commission 
Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering 
Gulfstream Park Racing Association, Inc. (TBRD321) 
2023-046935 Amending 23/24 Operating License 
August 18, 2023 

Executive Summar 
A permitholder applied to amend its operating license on August 18, 2023, by canceling five 
thoroughbred performances. 1 The Commission should approve this request with an effective date 
of September 4, 2023. 

Background 
Gulfstream Park Racing Association, Inc. ("Gulfstream Park") possesses a valid thoroughbred 
permit. Gulfstream Park was issued a pari-mutuel operating license for the 2023-2024 fiscal year. 
When Gulfstream Park applied for its operating license, it included 174 performances (169 matinee 
and 5 charity).2 Now, Gulfstream Park wants to amend its operating license by canceling five 
thoroughbred performances resulting in a new total of 169 performances ( 164 matinee and 5 
charity) for its schedule. 

Analysis 
In addition to submitting a complete application, a thoroughbred permitholder may request a minor 
amendment to their license.3 Gulfstream Park has satisfied all requirements and is requesting an 
amendment to less than 49 percent of total performances from the current year's initial license. 

Recommendation: The Florida Gaming Control Commission should approve Gulfstream Park 
Racing Association, Inc. 's application to amend its 2023-2024 fiscal year operating license 
schedule. 

1 The commission shall have the authority to approve minor changes in racing dates after a license has been issued. 
§ 550.01215(3), Fla. Stat. 
2 "Performance" means "a series of events, races, or games performed consecutively under a single admission 
charge." § 550.002(25), Fla. Stat. 
3 § 550.012155(1), Fla. Stat. 



























































5. Discussion of Application
for Transfer of Permit Tax

Credit/Exemption



MEMORANDUM 

To:   The Florida Gaming Control Commission   
From:  Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering  
Re:   Request to Transfer Tax Credit Case #2023-044800 
Date:   August 9, 2023  

Executive Summary 

A greyhound permitholder request approval to transfer $250,000.00 in tax credits 
to another greyhound permitholder. The Commission should approve this request. 

Background 

TBD Entertainment, LLC., d/b/a TGT Poker & Racebook (# 140) possesses a 
greyhound permit.1 TBD Entertainment, LLC., d/b/a TGT Poker & Racebook has 
been issued a pari-mutuel operating license for the 2023-2024 Fiscal Year.2  
Daytona Beach Kennel Club, Inc. also possesses a greyhound permit. Daytona 
Beach Kennel Club, Inc. has also been issued a pari-mutuel operating license for 
the 2023-2024 Fiscal Year.   

TBD Entertainment, LLC., d/b/a TGT Poker & Racebook request to transfer 
$250,000.00 of their tax credits to Daytona Beach Kennel Club, Inc. For purposes 
of intertrack wagering,3 Daytona Beach Kennel Club, Inc. acts as a host track4 for 
TBD Entertainment, LLC., d/b/a TGT Poker & Racebook. TBD Entertainment, 
LLC., d/b/a TGT Poker & Racebook has $250,000.00 of tax credits available for 
transfer. Additionally, TBD Entertainment, LLC., d/b/a TGT Poker & Racebook 
has not previously elected to transfer these tax credits. Neither TBD Entertainment, 
LLC., d/b/a TGT Poker & Racebook nor Daytona Beach Kennel Club, Inc. owe 
any unpaid taxes.  

1 Permitting is a perquisite for gaming in this state. § 550.054, Fla. Stat.   
2 A permitholder must apply for and be issued an annual operating license before conducting any 
gaming activities. § 550.01215, Fla. Stat.  
3 See § 550.002(17), Fla. Stat. (defining “intertrack wagering.”).  
4 See §§ 550.002(12) & (16), Fla. Stat. (defining “guest track” and “host track.”).   



    
Analysis   
  
A greyhound permitholder may receive tax credits from another greyhound 
permitholder if certain requirements are satisfied.5 First, the receiving greyhound 
permitholder must act as the host track for the other greyhound permitholder for 
purposes of intertrack wagering.6 Second, the transferring greyhound permitholder 
can only make this election once per state fiscal year.7 Third, the transferring 
greyhound permitholder must have available unused tax credits to transfer.8 Lastly, 
neither the receiving nor transferring greyhound permitholder can owe any unpaid 
taxes to the state.9  
  
Daytona Beach Kennel Club, Inc. and TBD Entertainment, LLC., d/b/a TGT Poker 
& Racebook meet these requirements. First, Daytona Beach Kennel Club, Inc. acts 
as a host track for TBD Entertainment, LLC., d/b/a TGT Poker & Racebook.  
Second, TBD Entertainment, LLC., d/b/a TGT Poker & Racebook has not elected 
to transfer its available tax credits this state fiscal year. Third, TBD Entertainment, 
LLC., d/b/a TGT Poker & Racebook has $250,000.00 in available tax credits that 
they seek to transfer to Daytona Beach Kennel Club, Inc. Lastly, neither TBD 
Entertainment, LLC., d/b/a TGT Poker & Racebook nor Daytona Beach Kennel 
Club, Inc. owe any unpaid taxes. Therefore, TBD Entertainment, LLC., d/b/a TGT 
Poker & Racebook should be permitted to transfer $250,000.00 of their tax credits 
to Daytona.   
  
Recommendation: The Florida Gaming Control Commission should approve TBD 
Entertainment, LLC., d/b/a TGT Poker & Racebook request to transfer 
$250,000.00 in tax credits to Daytona Beach Kennel Club, Inc. 
 

 
5 See § 550.0951(1)(b), Fla. Stat. (outlining requirements for such a transfer).  
6 Id.  
7 Id.  
8 Id.  
9 Id.  







MEMORANDUM  
  

To:    The Florida Gaming Control Commission   
From:   Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering  
Re:    Request to Transfer Tax Credit Case #2023-044824  
Date:    August 9, 2023  

 
  
Executive Summary  
  
A greyhound permitholder request approval to transfer $250,000.00 in tax credits 
to another greyhound permitholder. The Commission should approve this request.  
  
Background  
  
Pensacola Greyhound Racing, LLP (# 150) possesses a greyhound permit.1 
Pensacola Greyhound Racing, LLP has been issued a pari-mutuel operating license 
for the 2023-2024 Fiscal Year.2  Daytona Beach Kennel Club, Inc. also possesses a 
greyhound permit. Daytona Beach Kennel Club, Inc. has also been issued a pari-
mutuel operating license for the 2023-2024 Fiscal Year.   
  
Pensacola Greyhound Racing, LLP request to transfer $250,000.00 of their tax 
credits to Daytona Beach Kennel Club, Inc. For purposes of intertrack wagering,3 
Daytona Beach Kennel Club, Inc. acts as a host track4 for Pensacola Greyhound 
Racing, LLP. Pensacola Greyhound Racing, LLP has $250,000.00 of tax credits 
available for transfer. Additionally, Pensacola Greyhound Racing, LLP has not 
previously elected to transfer these tax credits. Neither Pensacola Greyhound 
Racing, LLP nor Daytona Beach Kennel Club, Inc. owe any unpaid taxes.  
  
    
Analysis   
  

 
1 Permitting is a perquisite for gaming in this state. § 550.054, Fla. Stat.   
2 A permitholder must apply for and be issued an annual operating license before conducting any 
gaming activities. § 550.01215, Fla. Stat.  
3 See § 550.002(17), Fla. Stat. (defining “intertrack wagering.”).  
4 See §§ 550.002(12) & (16), Fla. Stat. (defining “guest track” and “host track.”).   



A greyhound permitholder may receive tax credits from another greyhound 
permitholder if certain requirements are satisfied.5 First, the receiving greyhound 
permitholder must act as the host track for the other greyhound permitholder for 
purposes of intertrack wagering.6 Second, the transferring greyhound permitholder 
can only make this election once per state fiscal year.7 Third, the transferring 
greyhound permitholder must have available unused tax credits to transfer.8 Lastly, 
neither the receiving nor transferring greyhound permitholder can owe any unpaid 
taxes to the state.9  
  
Daytona Beach Kennel Club, Inc. and Pensacola Greyhound Racing, LLP meet 
these requirements. First, Daytona Beach Kennel Club, Inc. acts as a host track for 
Pensacola Greyhound Racing, LLP.  Second, Pensacola Greyhound Racing, LLP 
has not elected to transfer its available tax credits this state fiscal year. Third, 
Pensacola Greyhound Racing, LLP has $250,000.00 in available tax credits that 
they seek to transfer to Daytona Beach Kennel Club, Inc. Lastly, neither Pensacola 
Greyhound Racing, LLP nor Daytona Beach Kennel Club, Inc. owe any unpaid 
taxes. Therefore, Pensacola Greyhound Racing, LLP should be permitted to 
transfer $250,000.00 of their tax credits to Daytona.   
  
Recommendation: The Florida Gaming Control Commission should approve 
Pensacola Greyhound Racing, LLP request to transfer $250,000.00 in tax credits to 
Daytona Beach Kennel Club, Inc. 
 

 
5 See § 550.0951(1)(b), Fla. Stat. (outlining requirements for such a transfer).  
6 Id.  
7 Id.  
8 Id.  
9 Id.  







MEMORANDUM  
  

To:    The Florida Gaming Control Commission   
From:   Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering  
Re:    Request to Transfer Tax Credit Case #2023-044826  
Date:    August 9, 2023  

 
  
Executive Summary  
  
A greyhound permitholder request approval to transfer $250,000.00 in tax credits 
to another greyhound permitholder. The Commission should approve this request.  
  
Background  
  
Sarasota Kennel Club, Inc. (# 153) possesses a greyhound permit.1 Sarasota Kennel 
Club, Inc. has been issued a pari-mutuel operating license for the 2023-2024 Fiscal 
Year.2  Daytona Beach Kennel Club, Inc. also possesses a greyhound permit. 
Daytona Beach Kennel Club, Inc. has also been issued a pari-mutuel operating 
license for the 2023-2024 Fiscal Year.   
  
Sarasota Kennel Club, Inc. request to transfer $250,000.00 of their tax credits to 
Daytona Beach Kennel Club, Inc. For purposes of intertrack wagering,3 Daytona 
Beach Kennel Club, Inc. acts as a host track4 for Sarasota Kennel Club, Inc.. 
Sarasota Kennel Club, Inc. has $250,000.00 of tax credits available for transfer. 
Additionally, Sarasota Kennel Club, Inc. has not previously elected to transfer 
these tax credits. Neither Sarasota Kennel Club, Inc. nor Daytona Beach Kennel 
Club, Inc. owe any unpaid taxes.  
  
    
Analysis   
  

 
1 Permitting is a perquisite for gaming in this state. § 550.054, Fla. Stat.   
2 A permitholder must apply for and be issued an annual operating license before conducting any 
gaming activities. § 550.01215, Fla. Stat.  
3 See § 550.002(17), Fla. Stat. (defining “intertrack wagering.”).  
4 See §§ 550.002(12) & (16), Fla. Stat. (defining “guest track” and “host track.”).   



A greyhound permitholder may receive tax credits from another greyhound 
permitholder if certain requirements are satisfied.5 First, the receiving greyhound 
permitholder must act as the host track for the other greyhound permitholder for 
purposes of intertrack wagering.6 Second, the transferring greyhound permitholder 
can only make this election once per state fiscal year.7 Third, the transferring 
greyhound permitholder must have available unused tax credits to transfer.8 Lastly, 
neither the receiving nor transferring greyhound permitholder can owe any unpaid 
taxes to the state.9  
  
Daytona Beach Kennel Club, Inc. and Sarasota Kennel Club, Inc. meet these 
requirements. First, Daytona Beach Kennel Club, Inc. acts as a host track for 
Sarasota Kennel Club, Inc..  Second, Sarasota Kennel Club, Inc. has not elected to 
transfer its available tax credits this state fiscal year. Third, Sarasota Kennel Club, 
Inc. has $250,000.00 in available tax credits that they seek to transfer to Daytona 
Beach Kennel Club, Inc. Lastly, neither Sarasota Kennel Club, Inc. nor Daytona 
Beach Kennel Club, Inc. owe any unpaid taxes. Therefore, Sarasota Kennel Club, 
Inc. should be permitted to transfer $250,000.00 of their tax credits to Daytona.   
  
Recommendation: The Florida Gaming Control Commission should approve 
Sarasota Kennel Club, Inc. request to transfer $250,000.00 in tax credits to 
Daytona Beach Kennel Club, Inc. 
 

 
5 See § 550.0951(1)(b), Fla. Stat. (outlining requirements for such a transfer).  
6 Id.  
7 Id.  
8 Id.  
9 Id.  







MEMORANDUM  
  

To:    The Florida Gaming Control Commission   
From:   Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering  
Re:    Request to Transfer Tax Credit Case #2023-044831  
Date:    August 9, 2023  

 
  
Executive Summary  
  
A greyhound permitholder request approval to transfer $250,000.00 in tax credits 
to another greyhound permitholder. The Commission should approve this request.  
  
Background  
  
Washington County Kennel Club, Inc. d/b/a Ebro Greyhound Park (# 154) 
possesses a greyhound permit.1 Washington County Kennel Club, Inc. d/b/a Ebro 
Greyhound Park has been issued a pari-mutuel operating license for the 2023-2024 
Fiscal Year.2  Daytona Beach Kennel Club, Inc. also possesses a greyhound permit. 
Daytona Beach Kennel Club, Inc. has also been issued a pari-mutuel operating 
license for the 2023-2024 Fiscal Year.   
  
Washington County Kennel Club, Inc. d/b/a Ebro Greyhound Park request to 
transfer $250,000.00 of their tax credits to Daytona Beach Kennel Club, Inc. For 
purposes of intertrack wagering,3 Daytona Beach Kennel Club, Inc. acts as a host 
track4 for Washington County Kennel Club, Inc. d/b/a Ebro Greyhound Park. 
Washington County Kennel Club, Inc. d/b/a Ebro Greyhound Park has $250,000.00 
of tax credits available for transfer. Additionally, Washington County Kennel Club, 
Inc. d/b/a Ebro Greyhound Park has not previously elected to transfer these tax 
credits. Neither Washington County Kennel Club, Inc. d/b/a Ebro Greyhound Park 
nor Daytona Beach Kennel Club, Inc. owe any unpaid taxes.  
  

 
1 Permitting is a perquisite for gaming in this state. § 550.054, Fla. Stat.   
2 A permitholder must apply for and be issued an annual operating license before conducting any 
gaming activities. § 550.01215, Fla. Stat.  
3 See § 550.002(17), Fla. Stat. (defining “intertrack wagering.”).  
4 See §§ 550.002(12) & (16), Fla. Stat. (defining “guest track” and “host track.”).   



    
Analysis   
  
A greyhound permitholder may receive tax credits from another greyhound 
permitholder if certain requirements are satisfied.5 First, the receiving greyhound 
permitholder must act as the host track for the other greyhound permitholder for 
purposes of intertrack wagering.6 Second, the transferring greyhound permitholder 
can only make this election once per state fiscal year.7 Third, the transferring 
greyhound permitholder must have available unused tax credits to transfer.8 Lastly, 
neither the receiving nor transferring greyhound permitholder can owe any unpaid 
taxes to the state.9  
  
Daytona Beach Kennel Club, Inc. and Washington County Kennel Club, Inc. d/b/a 
Ebro Greyhound Park meet these requirements. First, Daytona Beach Kennel Club, 
Inc. acts as a host track for Washington County Kennel Club, Inc. d/b/a Ebro 
Greyhound Park.  Second, Washington County Kennel Club, Inc. d/b/a Ebro 
Greyhound Park has not elected to transfer its available tax credits this state fiscal 
year. Third, Washington County Kennel Club, Inc. d/b/a Ebro Greyhound Park has 
$250,000.00 in available tax credits that they seek to transfer to Daytona Beach 
Kennel Club, Inc. Lastly, neither Washington County Kennel Club, Inc. d/b/a Ebro 
Greyhound Park nor Daytona Beach Kennel Club, Inc. owe any unpaid taxes. 
Therefore, Washington County Kennel Club, Inc. d/b/a Ebro Greyhound Park 
should be permitted to transfer $250,000.00 of their tax credits to Daytona.   
  
Recommendation: The Florida Gaming Control Commission should approve 
Washington County Kennel Club, Inc. d/b/a Ebro Greyhound Park request to 
transfer $250,000.00 in tax credits to Daytona Beach Kennel Club, Inc. 
 

 
5 See § 550.0951(1)(b), Fla. Stat. (outlining requirements for such a transfer).  
6 Id.  
7 Id.  
8 Id.  
9 Id.  







MEMORANDUM  
  

To:    The Florida Gaming Control Commission   
From:   Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering  
Re:    Request to Transfer Tax Credit Case #2023-044925  
Date:    August 9, 2023  

 
  
Executive Summary  
  
A greyhound permitholder request approval to transfer $250,000.00 in tax credits 
to another greyhound permitholder. The Commission should approve this request.  
  
Background  
  
831 Federal Highway Acquisition, LLC d/b/a The Big Easy Casino (# 141) 
possesses a greyhound permit.1 831 Federal Highway Acquisition, LLC d/b/a The 
Big Easy Casino has been issued a pari-mutuel operating license for the 2023-2024 
Fiscal Year.2  Daytona Beach Kennel Club, Inc. also possesses a greyhound permit. 
Daytona Beach Kennel Club, Inc. has also been issued a pari-mutuel operating 
license for the 2023-2024 Fiscal Year.   
  
831 Federal Highway Acquisition, LLC d/b/a The Big Easy Casino request to 
transfer $250,000.00 of their tax credits to Daytona Beach Kennel Club, Inc. For 
purposes of intertrack wagering,3 Daytona Beach Kennel Club, Inc. acts as a host 
track4 for 831 Federal Highway Acquisition, LLC d/b/a The Big Easy Casino. 831 
Federal Highway Acquisition, LLC d/b/a The Big Easy Casino has $250,000.00 of 
tax credits available for transfer. Additionally, 831 Federal Highway Acquisition, 
LLC d/b/a The Big Easy Casino has not previously elected to transfer these tax 
credits. Neither 831 Federal Highway Acquisition, LLC d/b/a The Big Easy Casino 
nor Daytona Beach Kennel Club, Inc. owe any unpaid taxes.  
  

 
1 Permitting is a perquisite for gaming in this state. § 550.054, Fla. Stat.   
2 A permitholder must apply for and be issued an annual operating license before conducting any 
gaming activities. § 550.01215, Fla. Stat.  
3 See § 550.002(17), Fla. Stat. (defining “intertrack wagering.”).  
4 See §§ 550.002(12) & (16), Fla. Stat. (defining “guest track” and “host track.”).   



    
Analysis   
  
A greyhound permitholder may receive tax credits from another greyhound 
permitholder if certain requirements are satisfied.5 First, the receiving greyhound 
permitholder must act as the host track for the other greyhound permitholder for 
purposes of intertrack wagering.6 Second, the transferring greyhound permitholder 
can only make this election once per state fiscal year.7 Third, the transferring 
greyhound permitholder must have available unused tax credits to transfer.8 Lastly, 
neither the receiving nor transferring greyhound permitholder can owe any unpaid 
taxes to the state.9  
  
Daytona Beach Kennel Club, Inc. and 831 Federal Highway Acquisition, LLC 
d/b/a The Big Easy Casino meet these requirements. First, Daytona Beach Kennel 
Club, Inc. acts as a host track for 831 Federal Highway Acquisition, LLC d/b/a The 
Big Easy Casino.  Second, 831 Federal Highway Acquisition, LLC d/b/a The Big 
Easy Casino has not elected to transfer its available tax credits this state fiscal year. 
Third, 831 Federal Highway Acquisition, LLC d/b/a The Big Easy Casino has 
$250,000.00 in available tax credits that they seek to transfer to Daytona Beach 
Kennel Club, Inc. Lastly, neither 831 Federal Highway Acquisition, LLC d/b/a The 
Big Easy Casino nor Daytona Beach Kennel Club, Inc. owe any unpaid taxes. 
Therefore, 831 Federal Highway Acquisition, LLC d/b/a The Big Easy Casino 
should be permitted to transfer $250,000.00 of their tax credits to Daytona.   
  
Recommendation: The Florida Gaming Control Commission should approve 831 
Federal Highway Acquisition, LLC d/b/a The Big Easy Casino request to transfer 
$250,000.00 in tax credits to Daytona Beach Kennel Club, Inc. 
 

 
5 See § 550.0951(1)(b), Fla. Stat. (outlining requirements for such a transfer).  
6 Id.  
7 Id.  
8 Id.  
9 Id.  





6. Discussion of Consent
Orders
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MEMORANDUM 
 

To:   The Florida Gaming Control Commission  
From:  Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering 
Through: Emily Alvarado, Deputy Chief Attorney 
Re:  FGCC v. Daytona Beach Kennel Club, Inc. Case No. 2023-021983; 

Consent Order 
Date:   August 22, 2023 
 
Executive Summary 
 
The Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering seeks the adoption of the proposed settlement 
and consent order signed by Daytona Beach Kennel Club, Inc. (“Respondent”) to 
resolve Case No. 2023-021983. Pursuant to the terms of the proposed order, 
Respondent would be issued a $750 administrative fine for violating rule 75-
11.012(8), Florida Administrative Code.  
 
Background 
 
On or about April 1, 2023, it was discovered that Respondent allowed an employee 
to access the count room during the count when they were not listed on the 
authorized list. Respondent has one prior violation of this rule which resulted in a 
$500 fine in case number 2021-029533.  
 
Analysis  
 
The Commission has the authority to impose an administrative fine up to $1,000.00 
for each violation of section 849.086, Florida Statutes, or any rules adopted pursuant 
to that section.1  
 
Rule 75-11.012(8), Florida Administrative Code, provides that “Cardroom operators 
shall establish, and list in their internal controls, security controls that limit access 
into the cashiers’ cage(s), count room, vault, and surveillance room. This list shall 
include the position titles of all employees who have access to these areas. A current 
list of employees, including full names and license numbers, authorized to enter each 
secure area and shall be posted on the inside door of the entrance to each specific 
area, in the security office, and in the surveillance room at all times.” 
 

 
1 § 849.086(14)(c), Fla. Stat.  



2 
 

 
Because Respondent allowed an employee to access the count room during the count 
when they were not listed on the authorized list, it is subject to an administrative fine 
of up to $1000 per count. 
 
Staff Recommendation: The Florida Gaming Control Commission should adopt the 
settlement and consent order in cased number 2023-021983.    
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Region: 
CENTRAL 

Date of Complaint: 
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Case Number: 
2023 02 1983 

Respondent: 
 
 
DAYTONA BEACH KENNEL CLUB, INC.  
960 S. WILLIAMSON BOULEVARD. 
DAYTONA BEACH, FLORIDA  32114 
 
 
 
Phone: 386-252-6484 

Complainant: 
 
 
DIVISION OF PARI-MUTUEL WAGERING 
OFFICE OF INVESTIGATIONS 
1400 WEST COMMERCIAL BOULEVARD, SUITE 165 
FT. LAUDERDALE, FLORIDA 33309 
 
 

License # and Type: 
143 / 1002 

Profession: 
PERMIT HOLDER 

Report Date: 
MAY 22, 2023 

Period of Investigation: 
APRIL 5, 2023 – MAY 22, 2023 

Type of Report: 
FINAL 

Alleged Violation:  75-11.012 Duties of Cardroom Operators 
(8) Cardroom operators shall establish, and list in their internal controls, security controls that limit access 
into the cashiers’ cage(s), count room, vault, and surveillance room. This list shall include the position titles 
of all employees who have access to these areas. A current list of employees, including full names and 
license numbers, authorized to enter each secure area and shall be posted on the inside door of the 
entrance to each specific area, in the security office, and in the surveillance room at all times.  
Synopsis:  On Wednesday, April 5, 2023, the DAYTONA BEACH KENNEL CLUB allowed an unauthorized 
employee into the surveillance room.  The employee was not listed on the Surveillance Room Access List as 
required by the above-cited rule (EXHIBIT#1). 
Related Case: 
Investigator / Date           
 /s/ Lee Ann Rounds    
Lee Ann Rounds     / May 22, 2023 

Investigator Supervisor / Date 

/s/  
C. Derek Washington    /   May 26, 2023 

Chief of Investigations / Date 
 
 
 
 
Bradford D. Jones   /   July 3, 2023 
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CONTINUATION 

 
On April 5, 2023, I conducted a routine facility visit at the DAYTONA BEACH KENNEL CLUB 
(DBKC).  At approximately 3:00 PM, I was present in the DBKC Surveillance Room.  While 
reviewing the Surveillance Log in the office of Surveillance Director Miguel Melendez-
Santiago (PMW License #7670022), I noticed an unfamiliar name in the Surveillance Log 
showing that on April 1, 2023, this person was allowed entry into the Surveillance Room 
(EXHIBIT#2).  I then asked Santiago about it, and he stated that Cardroom Manager 
John Atkins (PMW License #11443704), who was not authorized, was allowed entry into the 
Surveillance Room.  Melendez-Santiago further stated that he was “writing up” his Surveillance 
employee, Reagan Miles (PMW License #13480637) for allowing Atkins entry into the 
Surveillance Room, because Atkins was not on the Surveillance Room Access List.  Melendez-
Santiago then showed me a recorded surveillance video of Miles on April 1, 2023, receiving a 
telephone call and checking all access lists before allowing Atkins into the Surveillance Room.  
Melendez-Santiago issued a written reprimand to Miles for allowing Atkins access to the 
Surveillance Room (EXHIBIT#3). 
  
On April 17, 2023, at approximately 4:40 PM, I interviewed Cardroom Manager 
Joseph LaRosa (PMW License #10152488).  LaRosa stated John Atkins is one of his night shift 
managers.  He said Atkins called him that evening on April 1, 2023, with an issue, and he told 
him to go to the Surveillance Room and review the video to see if he could resolve the matter.  
LaRosa stated he was unaware that his managers were not on the Surveillance Access List.  
  
On May 19, 2023, at approximately 11:30 AM, I spoke with Atkins by telephone.  He said he 
was the night shift manager on duty on April 1, 2023.  He explained there was a multi-day 
tournament that weekend and that there was an issue where two players ended up with the 
same ticket for the nighttime tournament play.  Atkins stated he contacted Cardroom 
Manager LaRosa to inform him of the matter.  He said LaRosa told him to go to the Surveillance 
Room and see what he could determine from the surveillance video.  Atkins said he went to 
Surveillance as directed to review the video and was able to resolve the issue.  
  
After reviewing all information obtained, DAYTONA BEACH KENNEL CLUB is in violation of 
Rule 75-11.012 (8).  DBKC Surveillance employee Reagan MILES after checking all access 
lists, still allowed Cardroom Manager John ATKINS entry into the DBKC Surveillance Room 
knowing he was not on the facility Surveillance Access List. 
 
Conclusion: A check of Versa Regulations Enforcement database showed a prior violation, in 
which access was granted to an unauthorized employee to enter the DBKC Surveillance Room 
(Case #2021 02 9533).  A Consent Order was issued and a $500 fine was paid (EXHIBIT#8).  
 
 
Case Status: Investigations case closed and case forwarded to Legal for review.  
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Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering 
Office of Investigations 

1400 West Commercial Boulevard, Suite 165 
Ft. Lauderdale, Florida 33309 

Phone: 954.202.3900 • Fax: 954.202.3930 

Julie I. Brown, Secretary Ron DeSantis, Governor 

LICENSE EFFICIENTLY. REGULATE FAIRLY. 
WWW.MYFLORIDALICENSE.COM 

OFFICE OF INVESTIGATIONS 

INVESTIGATIVE REPORT 

Office: 

PMW 
Region: 
    CENTRAL 

Date of Complaint: 

JUNE 28, 2021 
Case Number: 

2021 02 9533 

Respondent: 

 DAYTONA BEACH KENNEL CLUB 
 960 S WILLIAMSON BLVD 
 DAYTONA BEACH, FL 32114 

TEL# (386)252-6484 

Complainant: 

STATE OF FLORIDA, 
DEPARTMENT OF BUSINESS AND 
PROFESSIONAL REGULATION, 
DIVISION OF PARI-MUTUEL WAGERING 

License # and Type: 
143 - 1002 

Profession: 
PERMIT HOLDER 

Report Date: 
July 14, 2021 

Period of Investigation: 
May 23, 2021 Thru July 14, 2021 

Type of Report: 
FINAL 

Alleged Violation: 61D-11.012 Duties of Cardroom Operators. 

(8) Cardroom operators shall establish, and list in their internal controls, security controls that limit access into the

cashiers’ cage(s), count room, vault, and surveillance room. This list shall include the position titles of all employees

who have access to these areas. A current list of employees, including full names and license numbers, authorized to

enter each secure area and shall be posted on the inside door of the entrance to each specific area, in the security

office, and in the surveillance room at all times.

(9) Cardroom operators are required to issue a photo identification to all cardroom employees. The photo identification

shall include, at a minimum, the name of the cardroom facility, cardroom employee occupational license number, and

the employee’s name.

61D-11.025 Cardroom Electronic Surveillance. 
(7) The surveillance room: (b) Access must be limited to  personnel authorized pursuant to subsection 61D-11.012(9),
F.A.C

Synopsis: On June 21, 2021, during a routine Bi-Weekly Cardroom inspection at DAYTONA BEACH KENNEL CLUB, 
it was discovered that Poker Room floor Supervisor KAYLA MARIE GIACCIO was granted access to the surveillance 
room to review recorded surveillance video; however, she was not listed on the employee-authorized list to enter the 
surveillance room. 

Related Case: 

Investigator   /   Date Randa Samson 

/s/ 
Randa Samson   /   July 14, 2021 

Investigator Supervisor   /   Date 

Julio Minaya   /   July 27, 2021 

Chief of Investigations   /   Date 

Steven E. Kogan   /   July 27, 2021 
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CONTINUATION   
 

Investigative Activity: During a routine Bi-Weekly Cardroom Inspection on June 21, 
2021, at approximately 11:45 A.M., at DAYTONA BEACH KENNEL CLUB, (EXHIBIT 
#1) it was discovered that Poker Room floor Supervisor Kayla Marie Giaccio (PMW LIC 
# 10803010) was granted access to the surveillance room on May 23, 2021, to review 
recorded surveillance video; (EXHIBIT #2) however, she was not listed on the 
employee-authorized list to enter the surveillance room. (EXHIBIT# 3)  
 
Giaccio was escorted by Poker Room Manager Juan Jose Montes De Oca (PMW LIC 
#7509796) and both of them signed in at 2:23 P.M., (EXHIBIT #2) Giaccio was asked to 
immediately leave the surveillance room and was signed out by surveillance personnel 
Andres M. Benero (PMW LIC # 12372552) due to her not being on the list of approved 
personnel to enter the surveillance room. Giaccio and Montes De Oca signed out at 
2:24 P.M. (EXHIBIT# 2)  
 
Further Investigative steps discovered that DAYTONA BEACH KENNEL CLUB, 
Maintenance Manager Keith Dwayne Barbee (PMW LIC #10103392) was also granted 
access to the surveillance room on June 9, 2021, at 4:05 P.M. thru 4:16 P.M., while 
being escorted by DAYTONA BEACH KENNEL CLUB Director of Operations, Michael 
F. Stringer (PMW LIC# 721023) in order to review recorded surveillance coverage of 
another employee. However, Barbee was not on the list of approved personnel to enter 
the surveillance room. This violation was brought to the attention of Surveillance 
Manager Miguel Melendez-Santiago (PMW LIC# 7670022). Melendez-Santiago stated 
that Barbee should be on the list of employees with access to the surveillance room and 
he would fix it immediately.  
 
This is a violation of the above stated regulations. (EXHIBIT# 2 & 3) 
 

Status: Investigation case closed and case referred to Legal for review. 
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MEMORANDUM 
 

To:   The Florida Gaming Control Commission  
From:  Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering 
Through: Emily Alvarado, Deputy Chief Attorney 
Re:   FGCC v. Doniel Nieto De Malas Case No. 2023-026181, Consent 
Order 
Date:   August 22, 2023 
 
Executive Summary 
 
The Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering seeks the adoption of the proposed settlement 
and consent order signed by Doniel Nieto De Malas(“Respondent”) to resolve Case 
No. 2023-026181. Pursuant to the terms of the proposed order, Respondent would 
be pay an administrative fine of $50 for his violation of rule 75-14.065(2)(j), Florida 
Administrative Code.   
 
Background 
 
On March 14, 2023, Respondent was employed as a count team member at Casino 
Miami, LLC.1 Respondent was observed via surveillance footage continuing to 
process money during the count when one of the count members was not present in 
the room.  Respondent has no prior violations of this rule.  
 
The Division served Respondent with an administrative complaint. The Commission 
sent Respondent a settlement agreement seeking to impose a $50 penalty for his 
violation.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Analysis  
 

 
1Casino Miami. is operated by a pari-mutuel wagering permitholder that also possesses a pari-mutuel, slot machine, 
and cardroom license. 
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The Commission may resolve matters informally through a negotiated settlement.2  
Rule 75-14.065(2)(j), Florida Administrative Code, provides “[i]f a count team 
member leaves the count room, all count team members shall secure all of the bills, 
tickets, and vouchers in the count room, and notify security that the count team is 
needs to leave the count room. No count team member shall remain in the count 
room alone.” Accordingly, Respondent can be issued an administrative fine up to 
$1000 for failing to ensure that the bills in the count room remained secure during 
the interruption of the count.  
 
Staff Recommendation: The Florida Gaming Control Commission should enter a 
Final Order adopting and incorporating the proposed settlement and consent order 
in Case No. 2023-026181. 

 
2 See § 120.57(4), Fla. Stat. (”Unless precluded by law, informal disposition may be made of any proceeding by 
stipulation, agreed settlement, or consent order.”) 























  

Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering 
Office of Investigations 

1400 West Commercial Boulevard, Suite 165 
Ft. Lauderdale, Florida 33309 

Phone: 954.202.3900 • Fax: 954.202.3930 

  

 
Louis Trombetta, Executive Director 

 
Ron DeSantis, Governor 

  

FLORIDA GAMING CONTROL COMMISSION 
HTTPS://FGCC.FL.GOV/ 

OFFICE OF INVESTIGATIONS 
 

INVESTIGATIVE REPORT 
 
Office: 
PMW 

Region: 
SOUTHERN 

Date of Complaint: 
May 5, 2023 

Case Number: 
2023 02 6181 

Respondent: 
 
NIETO DE MALAS, DONIEL 
3732 SW 27th STREET 
MIAMI, FLORIDA  33134 

Complainant: 
 
DIVISION OF PARI-MUTUEL WAGERING 
OFFICE OF INVESTIGATIONS 
1400 WEST COMMERCIAL BOULEVARD, SUITE 165 
FT. LAUDERDALE, FLORIDA 33309 
 

License # and Type: 
10994021 - 1055 

Profession: 
Count Room Supervisor 

Report Date: 
May 16, 2023 

Period of Investigation: 
March 27, 2023 through May 16, 2023 

Type of Report: 
Final 

Alleged Violation: 75-14.065 Procedure for Slot Cash Storage Box Count. 
(j) The count team members shall not leave the count room until all money is counted, verified, sorted, and 
totaled into the computer and cash drop funds are transferred to the cash vault. If a count team member 
leaves the count room, all count team members shall secure all of the bills, tickets and vouchers in the count 
room, and notify security that the count team needs to leave the count room. No count team member shall 
remain in the count room alone. The count team members shall not reenter the count room until all count 
team members are present; 
Synopsis: On March 24, 2023, Investigator Raul Suau conducted a facility inspection at Casino Miami.  
During his inspection, Inv. Suau visited the Surveillance Department and conducted a live review of the 
count.  Per Inv. Suau, at approximately 10:02 A.M., one of the count personnel contacted the Surveillance 
Department and requested to use the restroom, which is located inside the count room.  After receiving 
permission from surveillance personnel, he verbally notified his fellow workers in the count room that he was 
using the restroom.  All personnel present raised both arms in acknowledgement.  Immediately after this Inv. 
Suau observed Count Room Supervisor, Doniel Nieto return to his station and continue processing money, 
taking out bundles of cash from the count machine.  Suau brought this to the attention of Surveillance 
Supervisor Adrian Gordon who immediately called the count room.  Nieto answered the phone and when 
informed of his actions and that it was a violation, he became angry.  Inv. Suau then requested video 
footage of the count, copies of the count log and surveillance report.  He then transferred this incident to the 
undersigned Investigator for further action.  Upon review, an Open Case Request was submitted to 
Investigations Supervisor Julio Minaya for review and approval. 
Related Case: 
Investigator   /   Date 

                                                  
Ian Campbell   /   May 16, 2023 

Investigator Supervisor   /   Date 

                                              
Julio Minaya   /   May 19, 2023 

Chief of Investigations   /   Date 
 
 
 
Bradford D. Jones   /  May 29, 2023  
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CONTINUATION 
 

On March 24, 2023, Investigator Raul Suau visited Casino Miami’s Surveillance Department to 
conduct a live review of the count.  At approximately 10:02 AM, Investigator Suau observed 
Count Team member Anthony Mallon (Lic #13172299) contact the Surveillance Department to 
request permission to use the restroom located within the Count Room.  Upon receiving 
permission from Surveillance Assistant Manager Adrian Gordon (Lic #11117304), Mallon 
verbally notified the other Count Team members that he was going to use the restroom; at 
10:02:07 A.M., all Count Team members raised both of their arms in acknowledgement.  At 
approximately 10:02:20 A.M., Investigator Suau observed Count Room Supervisor Doniel 
NIETO DE MALAS (Lic #10994021) return to his work station and commence taking out 
bundles of cash from the count machine while Mallon was still in the restroom.  Investigator 
Suau then brought this to Gordon’s attention.  Gordon immediately called the Count Room.  
NIETO DE MALAS answered the phone.  When informed that his actions were a violation, 
NIETO DE MALAS became angry.  Investigator Suau requested video footage of the count, 
copies of the count log and the related Surveillance Report; on March 27, 2023, these items 
were transferred to this Investigator for further examination. 
 
Upon receiving the DVD copy of video footage from Investigator Suau, it was discovered that 
the disc was warped and could not be viewed.  On April 27, 2023, this Investigator visited 
Casino Miami’s Surveillance Department and obtained a flash drive containing video footage of 
the incident.  On April 28, 2023, the flash drive was shipped to the Florida Gaming Control 
Commission (FGCC) Information Technology Office in Tallahassee for security/virus scanning. 
 
On May 1, 2023, this Investigator contacted Casino Miami Vice President of Human Resources 
& State Compliance Beatriz Perez (Lic #634266), via email, to obtain surveillance footage from 
within the Surveillance Department on the day of the count incident.  The footage requested 
would have provided a view of the phone call made to the Count Room by Surveillance 
Assistant Manager Gordon.  That same afternoon, this Investigator was contacted by Casino 
Miami Surveillance Director William Hutcheson (Lic #591126914), via email, who advised that 
the requested footage was no longer available due to the date of the incident (March 24, 2023), 
being outside of the 30-day retention period of surveillance video. 
 
On May 4, 2023, this Investigator was able to meet with Surveillance Assistant Manager Gordon 
at Casino Miami.  When asked about the phone call he made to the Count Room on March 24, 
2023, Gordon stated that once he made NIETO DE MALAS aware of his violations NIETO DE 
MALAS responded with an annoyed tone.  During my conversation with Gordon in the 
Surveillance Department office, NIETO DE MALAS happened to call the office from the Count 
Room.  Gordon answered the call on the speaker phone and NIETO DE MALAS seemed polite. 
However, upon finishing his conversation with NIETO DE MALAS, Gordon specified to this 
Investigator that the tone NIETO DE MALAS just used was contrary to the tone used on the day 
of the incident. 
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CONTINUATION 
 

Upon leaving the Surveillance Department office, this Investigator met with NIETO DE MALAS 
in the hallway outside from the Count Room.  When asked why he did not stop the count when 
Mallon notified the entire count team that he was taking a restroom break, and everyone 
including himself, raised their hands in acknowledgment; NIETO DE MALAS stated that he was 
not aware of the rule he had violated.  When asked about the phone call he received from 
Surveillance that day, NIETO DE MALAS explained that he was “dumbfounded” and “caught off 
guard” when he received the phone call from Surveillance Assistant Manager Gordon.  NIETO 
DE MALAS went on to state that he stopped immediately after the phone call from the 
Surveillance Department, that he is now aware of the rule, and has followed it ever since that 
day.  
 
On May 5, 2023, the flash drive that contained the surveillance footage was received back from 
Tallahassee.  The camera that provided the best view of the violation did not have any audio; 
the only camera with audio is the one over the Count Room table.  A review of the surveillance 
video footage revealed the following: 
 
On March 24, 2023, at approximately 10:02:06 A.M., Mallon is observed notifying everyone in 
the room that he is going to enter the restroom, every member of the Count Team is then 
observed raising their arms in acknowledgment. 
 
At 10:02:07 A.M., NIETO DE MALAS acknowledged that Mallon was entering the restroom by 
raising his arms (Exhibit #1, Page 1). 
 
At 10:02:19 A.M., NIETO DE MALAS removes stacks of money from the count machines, 
bands them together and places the money onto the count room table (Exhibit #1, Page 2 - 9).  
 
At 10:02:49 A.M., NIETO DE MALAS is observed on the phone inside of the Count Room 
regarding an incoming call from Surveillance (Exhibit #1, Page 10). 
 
At 10:03:13 A.M., NIETO DE MALAS concludes the phone call with Surveillance (Exhibit #1, 
Page 11). 
 
At 10:15:35 A.M., Mallon re-enters the Count Room from the restroom (Exhibit #1, Page 12). 
 
Conclusion: Review of the video by this Investigator revealed that NIETO DE MALAS 
remained in compliance with count procedures after the phone call he received from 
Surveillance.  A review of the Versa Regulation Enforcement Database shows no prior 
violations for NIETO DE MALAS.  When questioned by this Investigator, NIETO DE MALAS 
was cooperative and emphasized that he was not aware of the above noted Rule, and since 
that day he has maintained compliance with it. 
 
Status:  Case closed by Investigations and forwarded to Legal for further review. 
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MEMORANDUM 
 

To:   The Florida Gaming Control Commission  
From:  Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering 
Through: Emily Alvarado, Deputy Chief Attorney 
Re:   FGCC v. John Rigattieri Case No. 2023-027827; Consent Order 
Date:   July 17, 2023 
 
Executive Summary 
 
The Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering seeks the adoption of the proposed settlement 
and consent order signed by John Rigattieri (“Respondent”) to resolve Case No. 
2023-027827. Pursuant to the terms of the proposed order, Respondent would be 
issued a written warning for violating section 550.2415(1)(a), Florida Statutes, and 
61D-6.008(3)(b), Florida Administrative Code.  
 
Background 
 
Respondent was the trainer of record for the racing horse Caughtandcollected, who 
was owned by Manfred Roos. On April 15, 2023, Caughtandcollected finished 1st 
place in the 6th race of the performances held by Tampa Bay Downs. A blood sample 
was taken from Caughtandcollected to test for any prohibited substances. The 
sample was sent to the University of Florida Lab (“UF Lab”) and subsequently 
tested. The UF Lab detected ketoprofen1 in the blood. Ketoprofen was detected at a 
blood concentration 21.79 +/- 0.21 ng/mL.  
 
The Division filed an administrative complaint alleging a violation of section 
550.2415(1)(a), Florida Statutes, which makes it a violation of Florida law to race 
an animal that been determined to have a prohibited substance present in its system.  
 
Rule 61D-6.008(3)(b), Florida Administrative Code, provides that it is a violation if 
ketoprofen exists at a primary serum concentration greater than 2 ng/mL.  
 
The penalty for this violation if it is found less than 50 ng is a minimum of a written 
warning to a maximum of a $500 fine under the Uniform Classification Guidelines 
for Foreign Substances, version 8.0, revised December 2014, by the Association of 
Racing Commissioners International, Inc. (“Guidelines”). 

 
1 Ketoprofen is an NSAID and Class 4 drug. See Uniform Classification Guidelines for Foreign Substances, version 
8.0, revised December 2014, by the Association of Racing Commissioners International, Inc. 



 
 

2 of 2 

 
Analysis  
 
Respondent has no prior violations of section 550.2415(1)(a), Florida Statutes, in the 
last 365 days. Therefore, Respondent should be issued a written warning under rule 
61D-6.011(3), Florida Administrative Code.  
 
Staff Recommendation: The Florida Gaming Control Commission should enter a 
Final Order adopting and incorporating the proposed settlement and consent order 
in Case No. 2023-027827. 
 



























STATE OF FLORIDA  
FLORIDA GAMING CONTROL COMMISSION 

DIVISION OF PARI-MUTUEL WAGERING 

FLORIDA GAMING CONTROL COMMISSION, 
DIVISION OF PARI-MUTUEL WAGERING, 

Petitioner, 

v. 

JOHN RIGATTIERI, 

Respondent. 
______________________________________/ 

FGCC Case No.: 2023-027827 

ADMINISTRATIVE COMPLAINT 

The Florida Gaming Control Commission, Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering 

(“Petitioner”), files this Administrative Complaint against John Rigattieri (“Respondent”), and 

alleges as follows: 

1. Petitioner is the state agency charged with regulating pari-mutuel wagering

pursuant to chapter 550, Florida Statutes. 

2. At all times material hereto, Respondent held a Pari-Mutuel Wagering Professional

Individual Occupational License, 10623022-1021, issued by Petitioner. 

3. At all times material hereto, Respondent was the trainer of record for the racing

horse “Caughtandcollected,” with microchip number 981020033755130. 

4. At all times material hereto, “Caughtandcollected” was owned by “Manfred Roos,”

who holds a Pari-Mutuel Wagering Professional Individual Occupational License, 10634895-

1021, issued by Petitioner. 

5. On April 15, 2023, “Caughtandcollected” participated in the 6th race of the

performances held by Tampa Bay Downs, Inc. (“TBD”). 

5/30/2023
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6. On April 15, 2023, “Caughtandcollected” finished in 1st place in the 6th race of the 

performances held by TBD. 

7. TBD is a facility operated by a permitholder authorized to conduct pari-mutuel 

wagering in this state under chapter 550, Florida Statutes. 

8. On April 15, 2023, blood sample number 315402 was collected from 

“Caughtandcollected.” 

9. Blood sample number 315402 was processed and forwarded to the University of 

Florida Racing Laboratory (“UF Lab”), for analysis. 

10. The UF Lab tested the serum extracted from blood sample number 315402 and 

found that it contained ketoprofen. 

11. In blood sample number 315402, ketoprofen was detected at a serum concentration 

of 21.79 +/- 0.21 ng/mL. 

12. Pursuant to section 550.2415(1)(a), Florida Statutes: 

The racing of an animal that has been impermissibly medicated or 
determined to have a prohibited substance present is prohibited. It is 
a violation of this section for a person to impermissibly medicate an 
animal or for an animal to have a prohibited substance present 
resulting in a positive test for such medications or substances based 
on samples taken from the animal before or immediately after the 
racing of that animal. 
 

13. According to rule 75-6.008(3)(b), Florida Administrative Code, it is a violation of 

section 550.2415, Florida Statutes, if ketoprofen exists at a primary serum concentration greater 

than 2 ng/mL. 

14. Section 550.2415(1)(c), Florida Statutes, states, “[t]he finding of a prohibited 

substance in a race-day specimen constitutes prima facie evidence that the substance was 

administered and was carried in the body of the animal while participating in the race.” 
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15. Rule 75-6.002(1), Florida Administrative Code, provides that, "[t]he trainer of 

record shall be responsible for and be the absolute insurer of the condition of the horses…he/she 

enters to race." 

16. Based on the foregoing, Respondent violated section 550.2415(1)(a), Florida 

Statutes, and rule 75-6.008(3)(b), Florida Administrative Code, by racing “Caughtandcollected” 

with an impermissible concentration of a permitted substance in its body on April 15, 2023. 

WHEREFORE, Petitioner respectfully requests the Florida Gaming Control Commission 

enter an Order imposing against Respondent one or more of the penalties specified in rule 75-

6.011, Florida Administrative Code, section 550.2415(3)(a), Florida Statutes, and/or any other 

relief that the Commission is authorized to impose pursuant to chapter 550, Florida Statutes, and/or 

the rules promulgated thereunder. 

This Administrative Complaint for FGCC Case Number 2023-027827 is signed this 30th 

day of May, 2023.  

/s/Emily A. Alvarado 
Emily A. Alvarado 
Deputy Chief Attorney 
Florida Bar Number: 1025200 
Florida Gaming Control Commission 
Office of the General Counsel 
Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering 
2601 Blair Stone Road 
Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2202 
Telephone: (850) 717-1783 
Facsimile: (850) 921-1311 
Primary: Emily.Alvarado@flgaming.gov 
Secondary: Ebonie.Lanier@flgaming.gov 
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NOTICE OF RIGHTS TO REQUEST A HEARING 

Pursuant to sections 120.569 and 120.57, Florida Statutes, you have the right to request a 

hearing to challenge the charges contained in this Administrative Complaint. If you choose to 

request a hearing, you will have the right to be represented by counsel, or other qualified 

representative, to present evidence and argument, to call and cross-examine witnesses, and to have 

subpoenas and subpoenas duces tecum issued on your behalf.  

Any request for an administrative proceeding to challenge or contest the charges contained 

in this Administrative Complaint must conform to rule 28-106.2015, Florida Administrative Code. 

Pursuant to rule 28-106.111, Florida Administrative Code, you must request a hearing within 21 

days from receipt of this Notice, or you will waive your right to request a hearing. 

Mediation under section 120.573, Florida Statutes, is not available to resolve this 

Administrative Complaint. 

NOTICE OF RIGHT TO REQUEST A SPLIT SAMPLE 

Pursuant to rule 75-6.006, Florida Administrative Code, you have the right to request a split 

sample with respect to each “Report of Positive Result” from the UF Lab. (Copy attached as 

Exhibit A). To request a split sample, use Form DBPR PMW-3290, Notification to Stewards/Judge 

of Split Sample Request (Form 3290). 

You can obtain Form 3290, as well as a list of approved split samples laboratories, at the 

State Office located in any Florida pari-mutuel facility, or on the Division’s website: 

http://www.myfloridalicense.com/DBPR/pari-mutuel-wagering/forms-and-publications/. You 

must submit Form 3290 to the state steward, Division hearing officer, or office of the General 

Counsel, within 10 days from receipt of this Notice, or you will waive your right to request a split 

sample.  
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EXHIBIT A 
 

 



2023-027827 Page 6 of 6 

 



















1 
 

MEMORANDUM 
 

To:   The Florida Gaming Control Commission  
From:  Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering 
Through: Emily Alvarado, Deputy Chief Attorney 
Re:  FGCC v. Washington Kennel Club, Inc. Case No. 2023-029082; 

Consent Order 
Date:   August 22, 2023 
 
Executive Summary 
 
The Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering seeks the adoption of the proposed settlement 
and consent order signed by Washington Kennel Club, Inc. (“Respondent”) to 
resolve Case No. 2023-029082. Pursuant to the terms of the proposed order, 
Respondent would be issued a $500 administrative fine for violating rule 75-
11.0175(5)(c), Florida Administrative Code.  
 
Background 
 
On or about May 8, 2023, it was discovered that Respondent failed to ensure that 
count members’ clothing were in good condition and completely zipped for the 
duration of their time in the count room. Respondent has no prior violations of this 
rule. 
 
Analysis  
 
The Commission has the authority to impose an administrative fine up to $1,000.00 
for each violation of section 849.086, Florida Statutes, or any rules adopted pursuant 
to that section.1  
 
Rule 75-11.0175(5)(c) Florida Administrative Code, provides that “[a]ll persons 
present in the count room during the counting process shall wear outer garments that 
must be a full-length, short sleeved, one-piece, pocket-less garment with openings 
for the arms, feet, and neck only, which are in good condition and completely closed, 
fastened, or zipped at all times while in the count room.” 
 

 
1 § 849.086(14)(c), Fla. Stat.  
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Because Respondent failed to ensure that count members’ clothing were in good 
condition and completely zipped for the duration of their time in the count room, it 
is subject to an administrative fine of up to $1000 per count. 
 
Staff Recommendation: The Florida Gaming Control Commission should adopt the 
settlement and consent order in cased number 2023-029082.    
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INVESTIGATIVE REPORT 
Office: 
PMW 

Region: 
CENTRAL 

Date of Complaint: 
MAY 11, 2023 

Case Number: 
2023 02 9082 

Respondent: 
WASHINGTON COUNTY KENNEL CLUB, INC.  
6558 DOG TRACK ROAD,  
EBRO, FLORIDA 32437 
 
TEL# (850)234-3943 

Complainant: 
DIVISION OF PARI-MUTUEL WAGERING 
OFFICE OF INVESTIGATIONS 
1400 W. COMMERCIAL BLVD. SUITE 165 
FT. LAUDERDALE, FLORIDA 33309 
 

License # and Type: 
154 / 1002 

Profession: 
PERMIT HOLDER 

Report Date: 
JUNE 6, 2023 

Period of Investigation: 
MAY 8, 2023 – JUNE 6, 2023  

Type of Report: 
FINAL 

Alleged Violation: 75D-11.0175 Cardroom Drop, Count Rooms, and Count Procedures. 
(5) Count Room procedures shall be as follows: 

(c) All persons present in the count room during the counting process shall wear outer garments that 
must be a full-length, short sleeved, one-piece, pocket-less garment with openings for the arms, feet, and 
neck only, which are in good condition and completely closed, fastened, or zipped at all times while 
in the count room; 
(6) Security employees shall inspect the entire count room, including all trash containers and counting 
equipment to verify that no chips, tokens, or currency remain in the room. 
Synopsis: On May 8, 2023, during a cardroom inspection at the WASHINGTON COUNTY KENNEL CLUB, 
INC. (WCKC), I observed via saved recorded surveillance video of the count of May 8, 2023, Count Team 
members BOGUSLAW JAN BINIEK and NATHAN EDWARD HARCUS wearing outer garments that were 
in poor condition and not zipped at all times while they were in the count room.  Upon further review, I also 
observed WCKC Security Manager PAUL J. DISCOLO  JR. fail to inspect the entire Count Room as 
required by the above listed Rule. 
Related Case(s):  
 
Investigator  / Date 

 
Randa Samson /   June 6, 2023 

Investigator Supervisor / Date 

/s/  
C. Derek Washington / June 26, 2023 

Chief of Investigations / Date 
 
 
 
Bradford D. Jones   /   July 2, 2023 
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On May 8, 2023, at approximately 3:00 PM, during a routine cardroom inspection at the 
WASHINGTON COUNTY KENNEL CLUB, INC., I reviewed recorded surveillance video of 
the count conducted on earlier that day.  During my video review, I observed Count Team 
Members Boguslaw Jan BINIEK (PMW LIC. #9800341) and Nathan 
Edward HARCUS (PMW LIC. #10799514) enter the Count Room at approximately 9:13 
AM, wearing outer garments that had multiple rips and holes in them.  The garments of 
these team members also were not zipped at all times as required.  Upon further review of 
the recorded surveillance video, I observed WCKC Security Manager Paul J DISCOLO  
JR.  (PMW LIC. #1021629) enter the Count Room after the count was completed and he 
did not inspect the entire Count Room as required by Rule (EXHIBITS #2 & #3). 
 
Following my review, Security Manager DISCOLO was advised of the violations. 
 DISCOLO and I then went to the dealers' lockers to further inspect the Count Team outer 
garments.  We found two garments in poor condition with multiple rips and holes.  
 
Cage Manager Nichole Owens Kennedy (PMW LIC# 8645103) was also informed of the 
violations.  She stated she would immediately acquire new jumpsuits for Count Team use. 
 
Conclusion: WASHINGTON COUNTY KENNEL CLUB, INC. violated F.A.C. Rule 75-
11.0175 (5)(c)(6) because Count Room procedures were not followed as required. 

Status: Case closed by Investigations and forwarded to Legal for review. 
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MEMORANDUM 
 

To:   The Florida Gaming Control Commission  
From:  Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering 
Through: Emily Alvarado, Deputy Chief Attorney 
Re:  FGCC v. St. Petersburg Kennel Club, Inc. Case No. 2023-029445; 

Consent Order 
Date:   July 17, 2023 
 
Executive Summary 
 
The Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering seeks the adoption of the proposed settlement 
and consent order signed by St. Petersburg Kennel Club, Inc. (“Respondent”) to 
resolve Case No. 2023-029445. Pursuant to the terms of the proposed order, 
Respondent would be issued a $750 administrative fine for violating rule 75-
11.012(8), Florida Administrative Code.  
 
Background 
 
On or about May 27, 2023, it was discovered that Respondent failed have the most 
current employee access list in the surveillance room and allowed an employee to 
access the count room during the count when they were not listed on the authorized 
list. Respondent has one prior violation of this rule which resulted in a $250 fine in 
case number 2022-020796.  
 
Analysis  
 
The Commission has the authority to impose an administrative fine up to $1,000.00 
for each violation of section 849.086, Florida Statutes, or any rules adopted pursuant 
to that section.1  
 
Rule 75-11.012(8), Florida Administrative Code, provides that “Cardroom operators 
shall establish, and list in their internal controls, security controls that limit access 
into the cashiers’ cage(s), count room, vault, and surveillance room. This list shall 
include the position titles of all employees who have access to these areas. A current 
list of employees, including full names and license numbers, authorized to enter each 
secure area and shall be posted on the inside door of the entrance to each specific 
area, in the security office, and in the surveillance room at all times.” 
                                                 
1 § 849.086(14)(c), Fla. Stat.  



2 
 

 
 
Because Respondent failed have the most current employee access list in the 
surveillance room and allowed an employee to access the count room during the 
count when they were not listed on the authorized list, it is subject to an 
administrative fine of up to $1000 per count. 
 
Staff Recommendation: The Florida Gaming Control Commission should adopt the 
settlement and consent order in cased number 2023-029445.    
 
 

























  

Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering 
Office of Investigations 

1400 West Commercial Boulevard, Suite 165 
Ft. Lauderdale, Florida 33309 

Phone: 954.202.3900 • Fax: 954.202.3930 

  

 
Louis Trombetta, Executive Director 

 
Ron DeSantis, Governor 

  

 

OFFICE OF INVESTIGATIONS 
 

INVESTIGATIVE REPORT 
 
Office: 
PMW 

Region: 
CENTRAL 

Date of Complaint: 
MAY 23, 2023 

Case Number: 
2023 02 9445 

Respondent: 
 
ST. PETERSBURG KENNEL CLUB, INC. 
10490 GANDY BLVD. 
ST. PETERSBURG, FLORIDA 33702 
 
TEL# (727) 812-3236 
 

Complainant: 
 
DIVISION OF PARI-MUTUEL WAGERING 
OFFICE OF INVESTIGATIONS 
1400 W. COMMERCIAL BLVD. SUITE 165 
FT. LAUDERDALE, FLORIDA 33309 
 
 

License # and Type: 
151 / 1002 

Profession: 
PERMIT HOLDER 

Report Date: 
JUNE 1, 2023 

Period of Investigation: 
MAY 27, 2023 – JUNE 1, 2023 

Type of Report: 
FINAL 

Alleged Violation:  75-11.012 Duties of Cardroom Operators. - (8) Cardroom operators shall 
establish, and list in their internal controls, security controls that limit access into the cashiers’ 
cage(s), count room, vault, and surveillance room. This list shall include the position titles of all 
employees who have access to these areas. A current list of employees, including full names and 
license numbers, authorized to enter each secure area and shall be posted on the inside door of 
the entrance to each specific area, in the security office, and in the surveillance room at all times.  
Synopsis: On May 22, 2023, during a bi-weekly cardroom inspection at ST. PETERSBURG 
KENNEL CLUB (DERBY LANE), I discovered no surveillance access list posted in the surveillance 
room.  In addition, after further review of the saved surveillance video of May 20, 2023, I observed 
Cashier Hayley Aron Hoggatt participating in the count, who was not listed on the employee-
authorized access list as being authorized to enter the count room.  
Related Case: 
Case# 2021 05 9100 & Case# 2022 02 0796 
 Investigator / Date     

  /s/                           
Randa Samson / June 1, 2023 

Investigator Supervisor / Date 

 /s/  
C. Derek Washington / June 1, 2023 

Chief of Investigations   /   Date 
 
 
 
 
Bradford D. Jones   /   June 1, 2023 
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CONTINUATION 

 
 
On May 27, 2023, at approximately 10:50 AM, I conducted a routine bi-weekly cardroom 
inspection at the ST. PETERSBURG KENNEL CLUB (DERBY LANE).  During my 
cardroom inspection, I noticed no Surveillance Employee Access list posted in the 
Surveillance Room.  In addition, upon review of the saved recorded video of the count 
performed on May 20, 2023, I observed Hayley Aron Hogatt (PMW Lic. #8075652), who 
was not listed on the Count Room Employee Access list, participating in the 
count (EXHIBITS #2 & #3).  
 
After my cardroom inspection, I informed Poker Room Manager Jason Christopher 
Hogatt (PMW Lic. #7777471) of the violation.  He acknowledged the violation and stated 
that he would update the lists immediately.  
 
Based on the findings of my inspection, ST. PETERSBURG KENNEL CLUB 
(DERBY LANE) violated F.A.C. Rule: 75-11.012(8) by (1) failing to update the Count 
Room Employee Access list, (2) allowing an employee who was not listed on the Count 
Room Employee Access list to enter the Count Room (3) allowing that unauthorized 
employee to participate in the count and (4) failing to post a Surveillance Room 
Employee Access List in the Surveillance Room.  
 
A review of the Versa Regulation Enforcement database revealed ST. 
PETERSBURG KENNEL CLUB (DERBY LANE) has two previous violations of the 
above-cited rule: 

• Case 2021 05 2022 – Verbal Warning was given 

• Case # 2022 02 0796 - Two hundred fifty dollar fine ($250.00) issued (EXHIBIT #4). 

 

Status: Investigation case closed and case referred to Legal for review 
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OFFICE OF INVESTIGATIONS 
 

INVESTIGATIVE REPORT 
 

Office:                
PMW 

Region: 
   CENTRAL 

Date of Complaint:   

APRIL 28, 2022 
Case Number: 

2022 02 0796 

Respondent: 
 
 

ST. PETERSBURG KENNEL CLUB, INC. 
10490 GANDY BOULEVARD  
ST. PETERSBURG , FL  33702   
 

TEL# (727) 812-3236 

Complainant: 
 
 

STATE OF FLORIDA, 
DEPARTMENT OF BUSINESS AND 
PROFESSIONAL REGULATION, 
DIVISION OF PARI-MUTUEL WAGERING 
 

License # and Type: 
151 / 1002 

Profession: 
PERMIT HOLDER 

Report Date: 
APRIL 29, 2022 

Period of Investigation: 
APRIL 27, 2022 – APRIL 29, 2022 

Type of Report: 
FINAL 

Alleged Violation: 61D-11.012 Duties of Cardroom Operators. 

(8) Cardroom operators shall establish, and list in their internal controls, security controls that limit access 

into the cashiers’ cage(s), count room, vault, and surveillance room. This list shall include the position titles 

of all employees who have access to these areas. A current list of employees, including full names and license 

numbers, authorized to enter each secure area and shall be posted on the inside door of the entrance to each 

specific area, in the security office, and in the surveillance room at all times. 
 

 

Synopsis: On April 27, 2022, during a bi-weekly cardroom inspection at ST. PETERSBURG KENNEL 

CLUB (DERBY LANE), it was discovered that the Cashier Cage Access List posted in the surveillance 

room was not accurate. 

 

 
 

Related Case: 
2021 05 9100 

Investigator  / Date           

  /s/     
Randa Samson     / April 29, 2022 

Investigator Supervisor / Date 

/s/  
C. Derek Washington    / May 17, 2022    

Chief of Investigations / Date 
 
 
Steven E. Kogan      /     July 27, 2022   
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CONTINUATION 

 
 
 

Investigative Activity:  
 
On April 27, 2022, at approximately 10:30 AM, I conducted a routine bi-weekly 
cardroom inspection at ST. PETERSBURG KENNEL CLUB (DERBY LANE). As 
part of my inspection, I checked all access lists and found the Cashier Cage Employee 
Access list posted in the surveillance room was not current with the Access list posted 
in the Cashier’s Cage. The current Access list posted in the Cashier cage had Lead 
Cashier ANDREA A VASSALLO (PMW LIC #12590038) omitted from the list, and cage 
cashier AMBER ELIZABETH BETHKE (PMW LIC#13168006) added. The Cashier 
Cage Access list posted in the surveillance room had VASSALLO still listed on the 
list (EXHIBIT#2 PHOTO #2) and BETHKE not listed (EXHIBIT #2 PHOTO #1).  
 
Poker Room Floor Manager, TONY LAWRENCE CARTER (PMW LIC# 7898586), was 
advised of the discrepancy, and he stated he would update the list immediately. 
 
ST. PETERSBURG KENNEL CLUB (DERBY LANE) violated F.A.C. Rule: 61D- 
11.012(8) for failing to update the Cashier Cage Employee Access list posted in the 
surveillance room. 
 
A review of the Versa Regulation Enforcement database revealed ST. PETERSBURG 
KENNEL CLUB (DERBY LANE) has one previous violation of the above-cited rule 
(Refer to case # 2021 05 9100). 
 
 

Status: Investigation case closed and case referred to Legal for review 
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STATE OF FLORIDA  
FLORIDA GAMING CONTROL COMMISSION 

DIVISION OF PARI-MUTUEL WAGERING 

FLORIDA GAMING CONTROL COMMISSION, 
DIVISION OF PARI-MUTUEL WAGERING, 

 Petitioner, 

v. 

ST. PETERSBURG KENNEL CLUB, INC., 

 Respondent. 
______________________________________/ 

FGCC Case No.: 2023-029445 

ADMINISTRATIVE COMPLAINT 

The Florida Gaming Control Commission, Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering 

(“Petitioner”), files this Administrative Complaint against St. Petersburg Kennel Club, Inc. 

(“Respondent”), and alleges: 

1. Petitioner is the state agency charged with regulating pari-mutuel wagering and

cardroom operations pursuant to chapters 550 and 849, Florida Statutes. 

2. At all times material hereto, Respondent held a Cardroom permit and license,

number 151-1002, issued by Petitioner. 

COUNT I 

3. Petitioner realleges and adopts paragraphs numbered one and two as if set forth

fully herein. 

4. On or about May 27, 2023, Respondent failed to have an the most current employee

access list in the surveillance room.  

5. Rule 75-11.012(8), Florida Administrative Code, provides, in pertinent part, that

“[a] current list of employees, including full names and license numbers, authorized to enter each 

6/14/2023
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secure area and shall be posted on the inside door of the entrance to each specific area, in the 

security office, and in the surveillance room at all times.” 

6. Based on the foregoing, Respondent violated rule 75-11.021(8), Florida 

Administrative Code, by failing to have an the most current employee access list in the surveillance 

room.  

COUNT II 

7. Petitioner realleges and adopts paragraphs numbered one and two as if set forth 

fully herein. 

8. On or about May 20, 2023, Respondent allowed an employee to access the count 

room during the count who was not on the authorized list.  

9. Rule 75-11.012(8), Florida Administrative Code, provides in pertinent part, that the 

“[c]ardroom operators shall establish, and list in their internal controls, security controls that limit 

access into the cashiers’ cage(s), count room, vault, and surveillance room. This list shall include 

the position titles of all employees who have access to these areas.”  

10. Based on the foregoing, Respondent violated rule 75-11.012(8), Florida 

Administrative Code, by allowing an employee to access the count room during the count when 

they were not on the authorized list.  
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WHEREFORE, Petitioner respectfully requests the Florida Gaming Control Commission 

enter an Order imposing against Respondent one or more of the penalties specified in section 

849.086(14)(c), Florida Statutes, and/or the rules promulgated thereunder. 

This Administrative Complaint for FGCC Case Number 2023-029445 is signed this 13th 

day of June, 2023. 

 
/s/Emily A. Alvarado 
Emily A. Alvarado 
Deputy Chief Attorney 
Florida Bar Number: 1025200 
Florida Gaming Control Commission 
Office of the General Counsel 
Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering 
2601 Blair Stone Road 
Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2202 
Telephone: (850) 717-1783 
Facsimile: (850) 921-1311 
Primary: Emily.Alvarado@flgaming.gov 
Secondary: Ebonie.Lanier@flgaming.gov 
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NOTICE OF RIGHTS 

Pursuant to sections 120.569 and 120.57, Florida Statutes, you have the right to request a 

hearing to challenge the charges contained in this Administrative Complaint. If you choose to 

request a hearing, you will have the right to be represented by counsel, or other qualified 

representative, to present evidence and argument, to call and cross-examine witnesses, and to have 

subpoenas and subpoenas duces tecum issued on your behalf. 

Any request for an administrative proceeding to challenge or contest the charges contained 

in this Administrative Complaint must conform to rule 28-106.2015, Florida Administrative Code. 

Pursuant to rule 28-106.111, Florida Administrative Code, you must request a hearing within 21 

days from receipt of this Notice, or you will waive your right to request a hearing. 

Mediation under section 120.573, Florida Statutes, is not available to resolve this 

Administrative Complaint. 
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MEMORANDUM 
 

To:   The Florida Gaming Control Commission  
From:  Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering 
Through: Emily Alvarado, Deputy Chief Attorney 
Re:  FGCC v. Ryan Austin Duarte Case No. 2023-019619; Default Final 

Order 
Date:   June 17, 2023 
 
Executive Summary 
 
The Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering seeks the permanent exclusion of Ryan 
Austin Duarte (“Respondent”) from all pari-mutuel and slot facilities in the state of 
Florida. By failing to respond to the properly served administrative complaint 
seeking to exclude him, Respondent waived his right to request a hearing contesting 
the Division’s decision. Therefore, the Florida Gaming Control Commission should 
enter a final order excluding Respondent from all pari-mutuel and slot facilities in 
the state of Florida. 
 
Background 
On multiple occasions from September 6 to September 12, 2022, Respondent was a 
patron of Calder Casino.1 Respondent was involved in multiple incidents of using 
stolen credit cards for cash advances at the facility. Respondent was permanently 
excluded from Calder Casino2, on September 21, 2022.  
 
Based on his exclusion from Calder Casino, the Division served Respondent with an 
administrative complaint seeking his exclusion from all pari-mutuel and slot 
facilities in the state of Florida. The election of rights accompanying the 
administrative complaint made it clear that the Respondent had 21 days3 to file a 
written response to the administrative complaint. The Respondent was served on 
June 21, 2023 which means the Respondent had until July 12, 2023 to respond. He 
has never responded. 
 
 

                                                 
1 Calder Casino  is operated by a pari-mutuel wagering permitholder that also possesses a slot machine and cardroom 
license. 
2 Pari-mutuel permitholders and slot machine licensees have the right to exclude patrons. §§ 550.0251(6); 551.112, 
Fla. Stat.  
3 See Fla. Admin. Code R. 28-106.111(4) (“Any person who receives written notice of an agency decision and who 
fails to file a written request for a hearing within 21 days waives the right to request a hearing on such matters.”) 



2 

 
Analysis  
Respondent can be excluded from all pari-mutuel and slot machine facilities in this 
state. Section 550.0251(6), Florida Statutes, provides, in relevant part, that “[t]he 
Commission may exclude from any pari-mutuel facility within this state any person 
who has been ejected from a pari-mutuel facility in this state.” Likewise, section 
551.112, Florida Statutes, provides, in relevant part “[t]he Commission may exclude 
from any facility of a slot machine licensee any person who has been ejected from a 
facility of a slot machine licensee in this state.” Calder Casino is both a pari-mutuel 
facility and slot machine licensee in this state. And Respondent was ejected from it.  
Accordingly, Respondent can be excluded from all pari-mutuel and slot machine 
facilities in this state.  
 
Because Respondent failed to file a timely response to the properly served 
administrative complaint seeking to exclude him from all pari-mutuel and slot 
machine facilities in this state, he waived his right to request a hearing. Therefore, 
the Florida Gaming Control Commission may enter a final order excluding 
Respondent from all pari-mutuel and slot machine facilities in this state. 
 
Staff Recommendation: The Florida Gaming Control Commission should enter a 
final order permanently excluding Ryan Austin Duarte from all pari-mutuel and slot 
machine facilities in this state. 
 
 



STATE OF FLORIDA  
FLORIDA GAMING CONTROL COMMISSION 

DIVISION OF PARI-MUTUEL WAGERING 

FLORIDA GAMING CONTROL COMMISSION, 
DIVISION OF PARI-MUTUEL WAGERING, 

Petitioner, 

v. 

RYAN AUSTIN DUARTE, 

Respondent. 
______________________________________/ 

FGCC Case No.: 2023-019619 

ADMINISTRATIVE COMPLAINT 

The Florida Gaming Control Commission, Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering 

(“Petitioner”), files this Administrative Complaint against Ryan Austin Duarte (“Respondent”), 

and alleges: 

1. Petitioner is the state agency charged with regulating pari-mutuel wagering, slot

machines, and cardroom operations pursuant to chapters 550, 551, and 849, Florida Statutes. 

2. At all times material hereto, Respondent’s address was reported as 21405

Northwest 39th Avenue Miami Gardens, Florida 33055. 

3. At all times material hereto, Calder Casino was a facility operated by a permitholder

authorized to conduct pari-mutuel wagering, slot machines, and cardroom operations in the State 

of Florida. 

4. On multiple days from September 6, 2022 to September 12, 2022, Respondent was

a patron of Calder Casino. 

5. On or about September 21, 2022, Respondent was permanently excluded from

Calder Casino. 

6/15/2023
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6. Respondent was permanently excluded for the reasons alleged in Exhibit 1.  

7. Section 550.0251(6), Florida Statutes, provides in relevant part: 

In addition to the power to exclude certain persons from any pari-
mutuel facility in this state, the commission may exclude any person 
from any and all pari-mutuel facilities in this state for conduct that 
would constitute, if the person were a licensee, a violation of this 
chapter or the rules of the commission. The commission may 
exclude from any pari-mutuel facility within this state any person 
who has been ejected from a pari-mutuel facility in this state or who 
has been excluded from any pari-mutuel facility in another state by 
the governmental department, agency, commission, or authority 
exercising regulatory jurisdiction over pari-mutuel facilities in such 
other state. 

 
(Emphasis supplied). 
 

8. Section 551.112, Florida Statutes, provides: 

In addition to the power to exclude certain persons from any facility 
of a slot machine licensee in this state, the commission may exclude 
any person from any facility of a slot machine licensee in this state 
for conduct that would constitute, if the person were a licensee, a 
violation of this chapter or the rules of the commission. The 
commission may exclude from any facility of a slot machine 
licensee any person who has been ejected from a facility of a slot 
machine licensee in this state or who has been excluded from any 
facility of a slot machine licensee or gaming facility in another state 
by the governmental department, agency, commission, or authority 
exercising regulatory jurisdiction over the gaming in such other 
state. This section does not abrogate the common law right of a slot 
machine licensee to exclude a patron absolutely in this state. 

 
(Emphasis supplied). 
 

9. Based on the foregoing, Respondent is subject to exclusion from all licensed pari-

mutuel wagering facilities and any facility of a slot machine licensee in the State of Florida under 

sections 550.0251(6) and 551.112, Florida Statutes based on his ejection from Calder Casino on 

or about September 21, 2022.  
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WHEREFORE, Petitioner respectfully requests the Florida Gaming Control Commission 

enter an Order excluding Respondent from all licensed pari-mutuel wagering facilities and any 

facility of a slot machine licensee in the State of Florida, along with any other remedy provided by 

chapters 550 and 551, Florida Statutes, and/or the rules promulgated thereunder. 

This Administrative Complaint for FGCC Case Number 2023-019619 is signed this 14th 

day of June 2023. 

 
/s/Emily A. Alvarado 
Emily A. Alvarado 
Deputy Chief Attorney 
Florida Bar Number: 1025200 
Florida Gaming Control Commission 
Office of the General Counsel 
Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering 
2601 Blair Stone Road 
Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2202 
Telephone: (850) 717-1783 
Facsimile: (850) 921-1311 
Primary: Emily.Alvarado@flgaming.gov 
Secondary: Ebonie.Lanier@flgaming.gov 

  



 

 
2023-019619 Page 4 of 4 

NOTICE OF RIGHTS TO REQUEST A HEARING 
 

 Pursuant to sections 120.569 and 120.57, Florida Statutes, you have the right to request a 

hearing to challenge the charges contained in this Administrative Complaint. If you choose to 

request a hearing, you will have the right to be represented by counsel, or other qualified 

representative, to present evidence and argument, to call and cross-examine witnesses, and to have 

subpoenas and subpoenas duces tecum issued on your behalf. 

Any request for an administrative proceeding to challenge or contest the charges contained 

in this Administrative Complaint must conform to rule 28-106.2015, Florida Administrative Code. 

Pursuant to rule 28-106.111, Florida Administrative Code, you must request a hearing within 21 

days from receipt of this Notice, or you will waive your right to request a hearing.  

Mediation under section 120.573, Florida Statutes, is not available to resolve this 

Administrative Complaint. 

 





  

Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering 
Office of Investigations 

1400 West Commercial Boulevard, Suite 165 
Ft. Lauderdale, Florida 33309 

Phone: 954.202.3900 • Fax: 954.202.3930 

  

 
Louis Trombetta, Executive Director 

 
Ron DeSantis, Governor 
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OFFICE OF INVESTIGATIONS 
 

INVESTIGATIVE REPORT 
 
Office: 
PMW 

Region: 
SOUTHERN 

Date of Complaint: 
April 6, 2023 

Case Number: 
2023 01 9619 

Respondent: 
 
DUARTE, RYAN AUSTIN 
21405 NW 39 AVE  
MIAMI GARDENS, FL 33055 

Complainant: 
 
DIVISION OF PARI-MUTUEL WAGERING 
OFFICE OF INVESTIGATIONS 
1400 WEST COMMERCIAL BLVD STE. 165 
FT. LAUDERDALE, FL  33309 
 

License # and Type: 
N/A - 1098 

Profession: 
Patron 

Report Date: 
June 6, 2023 

Period of Investigation: 
April 6, 2023 through June 6, 2023 

Type of Report: 
Final 

Alleged Violation: 550.0251 The powers and duties of the Florida Gaming Control Commission The 
commission shall administer this chapter and regulate the pari-mutuel industry under this chapter and the 
rules adopted pursuant thereto and: 
(6) In addition to the power to exclude certain persons from any pari-mutuel facility in this state, the commission may 
exclude any person from any and all pari-mutuel facilities in this state for conduct that would constitute, if the person 
were a licensee, a violation of this chapter or the rules of the commission. The commission may exclude from any pari-
mutuel facility within this state any person who has been ejected from a pari-mutuel facility in this state or who has 
been excluded from any pari-mutuel facility in another state by the governmental department, agency, commission, or 
authority exercising regulatory jurisdiction over pari-mutuel facilities in such other state. The commission may authorize 
any person who has been ejected or excluded from pari-mutuel facilities in this state or another state to attend the pari-
mutuel facilities in this state upon a finding that the attendance of such person at pari-mutuel facilities would not be 
adverse to the public interest or to the integrity of the sport or industry; however, this subsection shall not be construed 
to abrogate the common-law right of a pari-mutuel permitholder to exclude absolutely a patron in this state. 
Synopsis: On September 20, 2023, Synchrony Bank Fraud Investigator Craig Catlin visited Calder Casino seeking 
information into numerous fraudulent credit card transactions involving cash advances that were successfully 
committed by a group of individuals.  During Catlin’s visit, numerous individuals were identified including Ryan Austin 
DUARTE.  DUARTE, used several stolen Synchrony Bank credit cards to fraudulently obtain cash advances using his 
own name.  In total DUARTE obtained $10,100.00 in cash advances using a total of eight separate stolen Synchrony 
Bank credit cards.  These monies were acquired during ten separate transactions over four separate days.  Although 
not apprehended, DUARTE was permanently excluded by Calder Casino. 
Related Case: 2023 01 8395, 2023 02 8537 
Investigator   /   Date 
 
 
 
Raul Suau   /   June 6, 2023  

Investigator Supervisor   /   Date 
 
 
 
Julio Minaya   /   June 13, 2023 

Chief of Investigations   /   Date 
 
 
 
Bradford D. Jones   /   June 13, 2023 
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This case is predicated on a fraudulent transaction that a patron of Calder Casino identified as 
Carlos Jose Brogdon committed during his visit to the casino on September 12, 2022.  Upon 
further inquiry it was discovered that Synchrony Bank’s Fraud Department had been 
investigating a group of individuals that had wrongfully used stolen credit cards to fraudulently 
obtain cash advances impacting numerous local businesses including Calder Casino.  
According to Casino staff, Synchrony Bank has been investigating a group of individuals 
including DUARTE since April of 2022 for credit card fraud.  During their monitoring of the credit 
cards in question, Synchrony Bank became aware that several stolen credit cards had been 
fraudulently utilized to obtain cash advances at Calder Casino. 
 
According to Calder Compliance Officer Iliana Velazquez, on September 20, 2022, Synchrony 
Bank Fraud Investigator Craig Catlin visited Calder Casino seeking information into a fraudulent 
Cash advance that was completed by Carlos Jose Brogdon on September 12, 2022.  It was 
during this meeting that Catlin provided Velazquez and Susan Flores, the former Calder Casino 
Compliance Officer an Excel spreadsheet containing numerous transaction numbers related to 
cash advances that were done by DUARTE, Brogdon and Shaniya Branae Murphy, using stolen 
credit cards.  According to Velazquez, Catlin stated that these fraudulent transactions have 
caused Synchrony Bank over $500,000.00 in financial losses.  With the information provided by 
Catlin, the facility’s cage team conducted their own research and confirmed that DUARTE, 
Carlos Jose Brogdon and Shaniya Branae Murphy had committed the listed transactions. 
 
While the cage team looked through its own records, the Surveillance Department was 
reviewing video footage of potentially fraudulent transactions for September 12, 2022.  It was 
during this review that surveillance noticed a male with Shaniya Branae Murphy.  When they 
compared the image of the male in the video with photos provided by Synchrony’s Fraud 
Investigator, the facility identified the male as “James Segars” based on information contained in 
the facility FABICASH Transaction Report which included a copy of a Florida driver’s license 
bearing that name.  After learning of the identification “Segars”, Synchrony’s Fraud Investigator 
responded by stating that his sources in Law Enforcement had determined the license on the 
FABICASH Report was fraudulent, and the suspect individuals’ real name was Carlos Jose 
Brogdon (Exhibit #3).  
 
On September 21, 2022, after identifying all parties involved, a Be-On-The-Look-Out (BOLO) 
was issued within Calder for DUARTE, Carlos Jose Brogdon and Branae Murphy.  DUARTE, 
Brogdon and Murphy were then permanently excluded from the facility (Exhibit #4).  
 
During Investigator Catlin’s visit with former Calder Compliance Officer Susan Flores and 
Velazquez, it was learned that Ryan Austin DUARTE, visited Calder Casino on five different 
occasions and used eight (8) different credit cards all under his name to obtain a total of 
$10,100.00 in cash advances.  This was done over four separate visits1. 
 
The fifth visit occurred while surveillance was beginning their investigation into the above 
incidents and resulted in DUARTE being observed on October 9, 2022, by a cage employee 
while standing in line waiting to conduct a transaction.  DUARTE was approached by Security 
Shift Manager Jason Milam resulting in him fleeing the casino building and running to his vehicle 

                                                 
1 On April 5, 2023, I requested via e-mail information from Craig Catlin, Synchrony Bank Fraud Investigator as to how the 
cards were obtained.  He replied to me that the suspects called Synchrony Bank and fraudulently changed the address on 
the cards.  They then requested replacement credit cards to be mailed to the fraudulent “new” address (Exhibit #5). 
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located in the casino parking lot.  He then fled the casino parking lot at a high rate of speed.  
Because DUARTE fled, he did not complete the transaction. 
 
DUARTE visited Calder Casino on the following dates (Exhibit #3): 
 September 6, 2022 – One transaction conducted for a total of $2,300.00. 
 September 7, 2022 – One transaction conducted for a total of $900.00. 
 September 9, 2022 – Seven transactions conducted for a total of $5,900.00. 
 September 12, 2022 – One transaction conducted for a total of $1,000.00. 
 October 9, 2022 – Attempted to complete transaction was not successful. 

 
PMW cases have been opened against Carlos Jose Brogdon 2023-01-8935 and Shaniya 
Branae Murphy 2023-02-8537. 
 
On June 8, 2023, the undersigned investigator conducted a search of the Miami/Dade County 
Clerk of Courts to determine if DUARTE has any prior arrests on a state charges related to 
financial crimes.  Results were negative for financial crimes; only three misdemeanor drug 
charges were discovered.  I also conducted a search of the U.S. Bureau of Prisons to see if 
DUARTE was in federal custody.  Results were also negative.  I then requested that a check be 
conducted through the US Department of Justice paid website to see if an indictment had been 
filed against DUARTE.  Per Chief of Investigations Bradford D. Jones, results were negative for 
any federal charges (Exhibit #8). 
 
Conclusion; Case closed by Investigations and forwarded to Legal for review and possible 
state-wide exclusion from all Florida Pari-Mutuel Wagering facilities. 
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Iliana contacted me this morning.  This last suspect attempted another cash advance last night at Calder.  When security 
attempted to interview the suspect, he fled.   
 
This fraud ring is responsible for $500K loss to Synchrony to date.  Thanks to Iliana and Susan and the rest of your 
security team, this case is now being put together for federal prosecution.   
 
Again, I want to thank Susan and Ileana.  I can’t say enough of how I appreciate their help and working with them.  If 
they ever need anything from Synchrony, I will be more than happy to help.   
 
Thanks and stay safe, 
 
Craig 
 
Craig Catlin 
Vice President 
Special Investigations Team 
Synchrony 
  
T: 786‐778‐9090 
E: craig.catlin@syf.com 
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33056
Miami Gardens, Florida   United States
21001 NW 27th Avenue

Calder Casino & Race Course

Incident Report
SURV-2022-09-00080Incident Number:

Non Criminal/Informational ReportClass/Category:

9/9/2022 1:03 AMOccurred From Date/Time:

OpenStatus:



Incident Number:

Status:

Class/Category:

SURV-2022-09-00080

Open

Non Criminal/Informational Report

Local Print Date/Time: Page 1 of 4
9/27/2022 12:00 PM

Access Level:

Level 2

Owner Workgroup:

Surveillance

Incident Details

Supplemental Details

Reported to Police: No

Site: Casino

Building:

Location:

Section:

Front of House

Cashier

North

Physical Location

Business Unit

Business Unit: Gaming

Department: Cash Ops

Classification

Class: Non Criminal

Category: Informational Report

Incident Number: SURV-2022-09-00080

Incident Details

Summary:

On September 9, 2022 at approximately 1:03 am, it was 
observed that the guest named Ryan Duarte was observed 
requesting a credit cash transaction at our check cashing 
window.

Occurred From Date/Time: 9/9/2022 1:03 AM

Reported Date/Time: 9/22/2022 10:28 AM



Incident Number:

Status:

Class/Category:

SURV-2022-09-00080

Open

Non Criminal/Informational Report

Local Print Date/Time: Page 2 of 4
9/27/2022 12:00 PM

Access Level:

Level 2

Owner Workgroup:

Surveillance

Incident Involvement Section
Total = 1Linked Person

DUARTE, Ryan Involvement Type: Suspect

Date of Birth:

Gender: Male

Hair Color:

Eye Color:

Height: 00' 00''

Weight: 0lbs

Marital Status:

Employee?: No

Interviewed?: No

Phone Number:

Address:

Notes:

Linked To Person: Duarte, Ryan

First Aid 
Administered?:
Person 
Hospitalized?:
Injured:

No

No

No



Incident Number:

Status:

Class/Category:

SURV-2022-09-00080

Open

Non Criminal/Informational Report

Local Print Date/Time: Page 3 of 4
9/27/2022 12:00 PM

Access Level:

Level 2

Owner Workgroup:

Surveillance

Total = 1Incident Narratives

AUTHOR: 3, Surv Narrative Type: Original Narrative

Sealed

Narrative:

No

Greetings,



Craig Catlin, Special Investigations Team with Synchrony Bank is investigating fraudulent transactions that were 
conducted by a bravo couple at the Check Cashing window.  



Attached is an excel spreadsheet which has the date and transaction times (central time).  Please add 1 hour to determine 
the exact visit at the Check Cashing Window.



Could you please research to determine if we have them on video, as well as a copy of their driver’s licenses on file?



He is on property but I told him we will research and hopefully provide him some information tomorrow.



Thanks for your research in advance.



Susan

 

At the time of this review based on the spreadsheet Susan provided Surveillance, it was observed that Mr. Ryan Duarte 
was requesting a credit

card advance at Calder Casino Check Chasing window on September 9, 2022. Be advised this incident is under 
investigation by Mr. Craig Catlin

(Special Investigation Team with Synchrony Bank.

Created By Date/Time 9/27/2022 11:40 AM

Incident Narratives



Incident Number:

Status:

Class/Category:

SURV-2022-09-00080

Open

Non Criminal/Informational Report

Local Print Date/Time: Page 4 of 4
9/27/2022 12:00 PM

Access Level:

Level 2

Owner Workgroup:

Surveillance

Incident Visibility

Owner Workgroup:

All Workgroups:

Workgroup Name Record RightsExceptions:Surveillance

None

Incident Controls
Incident Controls

Org Rollup Name

Org Level 1:

Org Level 2:

Org Level 3:

Org Level 4:

Access Level:

Status:

Locked:

Level 2

Open

No

Archive (record not 
visible):

No

Record Owner: 3, Surv

Incident Record Created By leonides.martinez, 9/22/2022 2:34 PM GMT

Last Modified By leonides.martinez, 9/27/2022 3:44 PM GMT
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manner.  We are trying to permanently exclude them from all facilities governed by the Florida Gaming Control 
Commission. 
 
In your e‐mail to Iliana Velazquez, the Director of Compliance at Calder Casino, you state that the cards may be 
stolen.  Could you tell me whether the cards were physically stolen or their information was stolen and the cards 
cloned? 
 
Thank you in advance for your help. 
 
 
 

   

Raul Suau 

Investigations Specialist II 
Florida Gaming Control Commission 

Division of Pari‐Mutuel Wagering  

Investigations 

954‐202‐6787  Office    954‐202‐3930  FAX    

954‐658‐3663  Cell 
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Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering 
Office of Investigations 

1400 West Commercial Boulevard, Suite 165 
Ft. Lauderdale, Florida 33309 

Phone: 954.202.3900 • Fax: 954.202.3930 

  

 
Louis Trombetta, Executive Director 

 
Ron DeSantis, Governor 
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OFFICE OF INVESTIGATIONS 
 

INVESTIGATIVE REPORT 
 
Office: 
PMW 

Region: 
SOUTHERN 

Date of Complaint: 
April 6, 2023 

Case Number: 
2023 01 9619 

Respondent: 
 
DUARTE, RYAN AUSTIN 
21405 NW 39 AVE  
MIAMI GARDENS, FL 33055 

Complainant: 
 
DIVISION OF PARI-MUTUEL WAGERING 
OFFICE OF INVESTIGATIONS 
1400 WEST COMMERCIAL BLVD STE. 165 
FT. LAUDERDALE, FL  33309 
 

License # and Type: 
N/A - 1098 

Profession: 
Patron 

Report Date: 
June 6, 2023 

Period of Investigation: 
April 6, 2023 through June 6, 2023 

Type of Report: 
Final 

Alleged Violation: 550.0251 The powers and duties of the Florida Gaming Control Commission The 
commission shall administer this chapter and regulate the pari-mutuel industry under this chapter and the 
rules adopted pursuant thereto and: 
(6) In addition to the power to exclude certain persons from any pari-mutuel facility in this state, the commission may 
exclude any person from any and all pari-mutuel facilities in this state for conduct that would constitute, if the person 
were a licensee, a violation of this chapter or the rules of the commission. The commission may exclude from any pari-
mutuel facility within this state any person who has been ejected from a pari-mutuel facility in this state or who has 
been excluded from any pari-mutuel facility in another state by the governmental department, agency, commission, or 
authority exercising regulatory jurisdiction over pari-mutuel facilities in such other state. The commission may authorize 
any person who has been ejected or excluded from pari-mutuel facilities in this state or another state to attend the pari-
mutuel facilities in this state upon a finding that the attendance of such person at pari-mutuel facilities would not be 
adverse to the public interest or to the integrity of the sport or industry; however, this subsection shall not be construed 
to abrogate the common-law right of a pari-mutuel permitholder to exclude absolutely a patron in this state. 
Synopsis: On September 20, 2023, Synchrony Bank Fraud Investigator Craig Catlin visited Calder Casino seeking 
information into numerous fraudulent credit card transactions involving cash advances that were successfully 
committed by a group of individuals.  During Catlin’s visit, numerous individuals were identified including Ryan Austin 
DUARTE.  DUARTE, used several stolen Synchrony Bank credit cards to fraudulently obtain cash advances using his 
own name.  In total DUARTE obtained $10,100.00 in cash advances using a total of eight separate stolen Synchrony 
Bank credit cards.  These monies were acquired during ten separate transactions over four separate days.  Although 
not apprehended, DUARTE was permanently excluded by Calder Casino. 
Related Case: 2023 01 8395, 2023 02 8537 
Investigator   /   Date 
 
 
 
Raul Suau   /   June 6, 2023  

Investigator Supervisor   /   Date 
 
 
 
Julio Minaya   /   June 13, 2023 

Chief of Investigations   /   Date 
 
 
 
Bradford D. Jones   /   June 13, 2023 
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This case is predicated on a fraudulent transaction that a patron of Calder Casino identified as 
Carlos Jose Brogdon committed during his visit to the casino on September 12, 2022.  Upon 
further inquiry it was discovered that Synchrony Bank’s Fraud Department had been 
investigating a group of individuals that had wrongfully used stolen credit cards to fraudulently 
obtain cash advances impacting numerous local businesses including Calder Casino.  
According to Casino staff, Synchrony Bank has been investigating a group of individuals 
including DUARTE since April of 2022 for credit card fraud.  During their monitoring of the credit 
cards in question, Synchrony Bank became aware that several stolen credit cards had been 
fraudulently utilized to obtain cash advances at Calder Casino. 
 
According to Calder Compliance Officer Iliana Velazquez, on September 20, 2022, Synchrony 
Bank Fraud Investigator Craig Catlin visited Calder Casino seeking information into a fraudulent 
Cash advance that was completed by Carlos Jose Brogdon on September 12, 2022.  It was 
during this meeting that Catlin provided Velazquez and Susan Flores, the former Calder Casino 
Compliance Officer an Excel spreadsheet containing numerous transaction numbers related to 
cash advances that were done by DUARTE, Brogdon and Shaniya Branae Murphy, using stolen 
credit cards.  According to Velazquez, Catlin stated that these fraudulent transactions have 
caused Synchrony Bank over $500,000.00 in financial losses.  With the information provided by 
Catlin, the facility’s cage team conducted their own research and confirmed that DUARTE, 
Carlos Jose Brogdon and Shaniya Branae Murphy had committed the listed transactions. 
 
While the cage team looked through its own records, the Surveillance Department was 
reviewing video footage of potentially fraudulent transactions for September 12, 2022.  It was 
during this review that surveillance noticed a male with Shaniya Branae Murphy.  When they 
compared the image of the male in the video with photos provided by Synchrony’s Fraud 
Investigator, the facility identified the male as “James Segars” based on information contained in 
the facility FABICASH Transaction Report which included a copy of a Florida driver’s license 
bearing that name.  After learning of the identification “Segars”, Synchrony’s Fraud Investigator 
responded by stating that his sources in Law Enforcement had determined the license on the 
FABICASH Report was fraudulent, and the suspect individuals’ real name was Carlos Jose 
Brogdon (Exhibit #3).  
 
On September 21, 2022, after identifying all parties involved, a Be-On-The-Look-Out (BOLO) 
was issued within Calder for DUARTE, Carlos Jose Brogdon and Branae Murphy.  DUARTE, 
Brogdon and Murphy were then permanently excluded from the facility (Exhibit #4).  
 
During Investigator Catlin’s visit with former Calder Compliance Officer Susan Flores and 
Velazquez, it was learned that Ryan Austin DUARTE, visited Calder Casino on five different 
occasions and used eight (8) different credit cards all under his name to obtain a total of 
$10,100.00 in cash advances.  This was done over four separate visits1. 
 
The fifth visit occurred while surveillance was beginning their investigation into the above 
incidents and resulted in DUARTE being observed on October 9, 2022, by a cage employee 
while standing in line waiting to conduct a transaction.  DUARTE was approached by Security 
Shift Manager Jason Milam resulting in him fleeing the casino building and running to his vehicle 

                                                 
1 On April 5, 2023, I requested via e-mail information from Craig Catlin, Synchrony Bank Fraud Investigator as to how the 
cards were obtained.  He replied to me that the suspects called Synchrony Bank and fraudulently changed the address on 
the cards.  They then requested replacement credit cards to be mailed to the fraudulent “new” address (Exhibit #5). 
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located in the casino parking lot.  He then fled the casino parking lot at a high rate of speed.  
Because DUARTE fled, he did not complete the transaction. 
 
DUARTE visited Calder Casino on the following dates (Exhibit #3): 
 September 6, 2022 – One transaction conducted for a total of $2,300.00. 
 September 7, 2022 – One transaction conducted for a total of $900.00. 
 September 9, 2022 – Seven transactions conducted for a total of $5,900.00. 
 September 12, 2022 – One transaction conducted for a total of $1,000.00. 
 October 9, 2022 – Attempted to complete transaction was not successful. 

 
PMW cases have been opened against Carlos Jose Brogdon 2023-01-8935 and Shaniya 
Branae Murphy 2023-02-8537. 
 
On June 8, 2023, the undersigned investigator conducted a search of the Miami/Dade County 
Clerk of Courts to determine if DUARTE has any prior arrests on a state charges related to 
financial crimes.  Results were negative for financial crimes; only three misdemeanor drug 
charges were discovered.  I also conducted a search of the U.S. Bureau of Prisons to see if 
DUARTE was in federal custody.  Results were also negative.  I then requested that a check be 
conducted through the US Department of Justice paid website to see if an indictment had been 
filed against DUARTE.  Per Chief of Investigations Bradford D. Jones, results were negative for 
any federal charges (Exhibit #8). 
 
Conclusion; Case closed by Investigations and forwarded to Legal for review and possible 
state-wide exclusion from all Florida Pari-Mutuel Wagering facilities. 
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Iliana contacted me this morning.  This last suspect attempted another cash advance last night at Calder.  When security 
attempted to interview the suspect, he fled.   
 
This fraud ring is responsible for $500K loss to Synchrony to date.  Thanks to Iliana and Susan and the rest of your 
security team, this case is now being put together for federal prosecution.   
 
Again, I want to thank Susan and Ileana.  I can’t say enough of how I appreciate their help and working with them.  If 
they ever need anything from Synchrony, I will be more than happy to help.   
 
Thanks and stay safe, 
 
Craig 
 
Craig Catlin 
Vice President 
Special Investigations Team 
Synchrony 
  
T: 786‐778‐9090 
E: craig.catlin@syf.com 
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Calder Casino & Race Course

Incident Report
SURV-2022-09-00080Incident Number:

Non Criminal/Informational ReportClass/Category:

9/9/2022 1:03 AMOccurred From Date/Time:

OpenStatus:



Incident Number:

Status:

Class/Category:

SURV-2022-09-00080

Open

Non Criminal/Informational Report

Local Print Date/Time: Page 1 of 4
9/27/2022 12:00 PM

Access Level:

Level 2

Owner Workgroup:

Surveillance

Incident Details

Supplemental Details

Reported to Police: No

Site: Casino

Building:

Location:

Section:

Front of House

Cashier

North

Physical Location

Business Unit

Business Unit: Gaming

Department: Cash Ops

Classification

Class: Non Criminal

Category: Informational Report

Incident Number: SURV-2022-09-00080

Incident Details

Summary:

On September 9, 2022 at approximately 1:03 am, it was 
observed that the guest named Ryan Duarte was observed 
requesting a credit cash transaction at our check cashing 
window.

Occurred From Date/Time: 9/9/2022 1:03 AM

Reported Date/Time: 9/22/2022 10:28 AM



Incident Number:

Status:

Class/Category:

SURV-2022-09-00080

Open

Non Criminal/Informational Report

Local Print Date/Time: Page 2 of 4
9/27/2022 12:00 PM

Access Level:

Level 2

Owner Workgroup:

Surveillance

Incident Involvement Section
Total = 1Linked Person

DUARTE, Ryan Involvement Type: Suspect

Date of Birth:

Gender: Male

Hair Color:

Eye Color:

Height: 00' 00''

Weight: 0lbs

Marital Status:

Employee?: No

Interviewed?: No

Phone Number:

Address:

Notes:

Linked To Person: Duarte, Ryan

First Aid 
Administered?:
Person 
Hospitalized?:
Injured:

No

No

No



Incident Number:

Status:

Class/Category:

SURV-2022-09-00080

Open

Non Criminal/Informational Report

Local Print Date/Time: Page 3 of 4
9/27/2022 12:00 PM

Access Level:

Level 2

Owner Workgroup:

Surveillance

Total = 1Incident Narratives

AUTHOR: 3, Surv Narrative Type: Original Narrative

Sealed

Narrative:

No

Greetings,



Craig Catlin, Special Investigations Team with Synchrony Bank is investigating fraudulent transactions that were 
conducted by a bravo couple at the Check Cashing window.  



Attached is an excel spreadsheet which has the date and transaction times (central time).  Please add 1 hour to determine 
the exact visit at the Check Cashing Window.



Could you please research to determine if we have them on video, as well as a copy of their driver’s licenses on file?



He is on property but I told him we will research and hopefully provide him some information tomorrow.



Thanks for your research in advance.



Susan

 

At the time of this review based on the spreadsheet Susan provided Surveillance, it was observed that Mr. Ryan Duarte 
was requesting a credit

card advance at Calder Casino Check Chasing window on September 9, 2022. Be advised this incident is under 
investigation by Mr. Craig Catlin

(Special Investigation Team with Synchrony Bank.

Created By Date/Time 9/27/2022 11:40 AM

Incident Narratives



Incident Number:

Status:

Class/Category:

SURV-2022-09-00080

Open

Non Criminal/Informational Report

Local Print Date/Time: Page 4 of 4
9/27/2022 12:00 PM

Access Level:

Level 2

Owner Workgroup:

Surveillance

Incident Visibility

Owner Workgroup:

All Workgroups:

Workgroup Name Record RightsExceptions:Surveillance

None

Incident Controls
Incident Controls

Org Rollup Name

Org Level 1:

Org Level 2:

Org Level 3:

Org Level 4:

Access Level:

Status:

Locked:

Level 2

Open

No

Archive (record not 
visible):

No

Record Owner: 3, Surv

Incident Record Created By leonides.martinez, 9/22/2022 2:34 PM GMT

Last Modified By leonides.martinez, 9/27/2022 3:44 PM GMT
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manner.  We are trying to permanently exclude them from all facilities governed by the Florida Gaming Control 
Commission. 
 
In your e‐mail to Iliana Velazquez, the Director of Compliance at Calder Casino, you state that the cards may be 
stolen.  Could you tell me whether the cards were physically stolen or their information was stolen and the cards 
cloned? 
 
Thank you in advance for your help. 
 
 
 

   

Raul Suau 

Investigations Specialist II 
Florida Gaming Control Commission 

Division of Pari‐Mutuel Wagering  

Investigations 

954‐202‐6787  Office    954‐202‐3930  FAX    

954‐658‐3663  Cell 
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MEMORANDUM 
 

To:   The Florida Gaming Control Commission  
From:  Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering 
Through: Emily Alvarado, Deputy Chief Attorney 
Re:  FGCC v. Mario Luis Collado Case No. 2023-025629; Default Final 

Order 
Date:   July 17, 2023 
 
Executive Summary 
 
The Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering seeks the permanent exclusion of Mario Luis 
Collado (“Respondent”) from all pari-mutuel and slot facilities in the state of 
Florida. By failing to respond to the properly served administrative complaint 
seeking to exclude him, Respondent waived his right to request a hearing contesting 
the Division’s decision. Therefore, the Florida Gaming Control Commission should 
enter a final order excluding Respondent from all pari-mutuel and slot facilities in 
the state of Florida. 
 
Background 
On April 24, 2023, Respondent was a patron of Magic City Casino.1 Respondent 
was seen acting in a disorderly manner towards cardroom employees. Respondent 
was permanently excluded from Magic City Casino2, on April 24, 2023.  
 
Based on his exclusion from Magic City Casino, the Division served Respondent 
with an administrative complaint seeking his exclusion from all pari-mutuel and slot 
facilities in the state of Florida. The election of rights accompanying the 
administrative complaint made it clear that the Respondent had 21 days3 to file a 
written response to the administrative complaint. The Respondent was served on 
June 20, 2023 which means the Respondent had until July 11, 2023 to respond. He 
has never responded. 
 
 
 

                                                 
1 Magic City Casino is operated by a pari-mutuel wagering permitholder that also possesses a slot machine and 
cardroom license. 
2 Pari-mutuel permitholders and slot machine licensees have the right to exclude patrons. §§ 550.0251(6); 551.112, 
Fla. Stat.  
3 See Fla. Admin. Code R. 28-106.111(4) (“Any person who receives written notice of an agency decision and who 
fails to file a written request for a hearing within 21 days waives the right to request a hearing on such matters.”) 



2 

Analysis  
Respondent can be excluded from all pari-mutuel and slot machine facilities in this 
state. Section 550.0251(6), Florida Statutes, provides, in relevant part, that “[t]he 
Commission may exclude from any pari-mutuel facility within this state any person 
who has been ejected from a pari-mutuel facility in this state.” Likewise, section 
551.112, Florida Statutes, provides, in relevant part “[t]he Commission may exclude 
from any facility of a slot machine licensee any person who has been ejected from a 
facility of a slot machine licensee in this state.” Magic City Casino is both a pari-
mutuel facility and slot machine licensee in this state. And Respondent was ejected 
from it.  Accordingly, Respondent can be excluded from all pari-mutuel and slot 
machine facilities in this state.  
 
Because Respondent failed to file a timely response to the properly served 
administrative complaint seeking to exclude him from all pari-mutuel and slot 
machine facilities in this state, he waived his right to request a hearing. Therefore, 
the Florida Gaming Control Commission may enter a final order excluding 
Respondent from all pari-mutuel and slot machine facilities in this state. 
 
Staff Recommendation: The Florida Gaming Control Commission should enter a 
final order permanently excluding Mario Luis Collado from all pari-mutuel and slot 
machine facilities in this state. 
 
 



STATE OF FLORIDA  
FLORIDA GAMING CONTROL COMMISSION 

DIVISION OF PARI-MUTUEL WAGERING 

FLORIDA GAMING CONTROL COMMISSION, 
DIVISION OF PARI-MUTUEL WAGERING, 

 Petitioner, 

v. 

MARIO LUIS COLLADO, 

 Respondent. 
______________________________________/ 

FGCC Case No.: 2023-025629 

ADMINISTRATIVE COMPLAINT 

The Florida Gaming Control Commission, Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering 

(“Petitioner”), files this Administrative Complaint against Mario Luis Collado (“Respondent”), 

and alleges: 

1. Petitioner is the state agency charged with regulating pari-mutuel wagering, slot

machines, and cardroom operations pursuant to chapters 550, 551, and 849, Florida Statutes. 

2. At all times material hereto, Respondent’s address was reported as 13220

Southwest 264th Street Homestead, Florida 33032. 

3. At all times material hereto, Magic City Casino was a facility operated by a

permitholder authorized to conduct pari-mutuel wagering, slot machines, and cardroom operations 

in the State of Florida. 

4. On or about April 24, 2023, Respondent was a patron of Magic City Casino.

5. On or about April 24, 2023, Respondent was ejected and permanently excluded

from Magic City Casino.  

6. Respondent was permanently excluded for the reasons alleged in Exhibit 1.

FILED 
FLORIDA GAMING CONTROL COMMISSION 

Date:  _______________________ 
File Number: _______________________ 

BY: MELBA L. APELLANIZ 
CLERK OF THE COMMISSION 
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7. Section 550.0251(6), Florida Statutes, provides in relevant part: 

In addition to the power to exclude certain persons from any pari-
mutuel facility in this state, the commission may exclude any person 
from any and all pari-mutuel facilities in this state for conduct that 
would constitute, if the person were a licensee, a violation of this 
chapter or the rules of the commission. The commission may 
exclude from any pari-mutuel facility within this state any person 
who has been ejected from a pari-mutuel facility in this state or who 
has been excluded from any pari-mutuel facility in another state by 
the governmental department, agency, commission, or authority 
exercising regulatory jurisdiction over pari-mutuel facilities in such 
other state. 

 
(Emphasis supplied). 
 

8. Section 551.112, Florida Statutes, provides: 

In addition to the power to exclude certain persons from any facility 
of a slot machine licensee in this state, the commission may exclude 
any person from any facility of a slot machine licensee in this state 
for conduct that would constitute, if the person were a licensee, a 
violation of this chapter or the rules of the commission. The 
commission may exclude from any facility of a slot machine 
licensee any person who has been ejected from a facility of a slot 
machine licensee in this state or who has been excluded from any 
facility of a slot machine licensee or gaming facility in another state 
by the governmental department, agency, commission, or authority 
exercising regulatory jurisdiction over the gaming in such other 
state. This section does not abrogate the common law right of a slot 
machine licensee to exclude a patron absolutely in this state. 

 
(Emphasis supplied). 
 

9. Based on the foregoing, Respondent is subject to exclusion from all licensed pari-

mutuel wagering facilities and any facility of a slot machine licensee] in the State of Florida under 

section(s) 550.0251(6) and 551.112, Florida Statutes based on his ejection from Magic City Casino 

on or about April 24, 2023.  

WHEREFORE, Petitioner respectfully requests the Florida Gaming Control Commission 

enter an Order excluding Respondent from all licensed pari-mutuel wagering facilities and any 
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facility of a slot machine licensee in the State of Florida, along with any other remedy provided by 

chapters 550 and 551, Florida Statutes, and/or the rules promulgated thereunder. 

This Administrative Complaint for FGCC Case Number 2023-025629 is signed this 13th 

day of June 2023. 

 
/s/Emily A. Alvarado 
Emily A. Alvarado 
Deputy Chief Attorney 
Florida Bar Number: 1025200 
Florida Gaming Control Commission 
Office of the General Counsel 
Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering 
2601 Blair Stone Road 
Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2202 
Telephone: (850) 717-1783 
Facsimile: (850) 921-1311 
Primary: Emily.Alvarado@flgaming.gov 
Secondary: Ebonie.Lanier@flgaming.gov 
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NOTICE OF RIGHTS TO REQUEST A HEARING 
 

 Pursuant to sections 120.569 and 120.57, Florida Statutes, you have the right to request a 

hearing to challenge the charges contained in this Administrative Complaint. If you choose to 

request a hearing, you will have the right to be represented by counsel, or other qualified 

representative, to present evidence and argument, to call and cross-examine witnesses, and to have 

subpoenas and subpoenas duces tecum issued on your behalf. 

Any request for an administrative proceeding to challenge or contest the charges contained 

in this Administrative Complaint must conform to rule 28-106.2015, Florida Administrative Code. 

Pursuant to rule 28-106.111, Florida Administrative Code, you must request a hearing within 21 

days from receipt of this Notice, or you will waive your right to request a hearing.  

Mediation under section 120.573, Florida Statutes, is not available to resolve this 

Administrative Complaint. 
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Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering
Office of Investigations 

1400 West Commercial Boulevard, Suite 165 
Ft. Lauderdale, Florida 33309 

Phone: 954.202.3900 • Fax: 954.202.3930

Louis Trombetta, Executive Director Ron DeSantis, Governor

FLORIDA GAMING CONTROL COMMISSION
HTTPS://FGCC.FL.GOV/  

OFFICE OF INVESTIGATIONS

INVESTIGATIVE REPORT
Office:
PMW

Region:
SOUTHERN

Date of Complaint:
May 2, 2023

Case Number:
2023 02 5629

Respondent:

COLLADO, MARIO LUIS
13220 SW 264 STREET
HOMESTEAD, FLORIDA  33032

Complainant:
DIVISION OF PARI-MUTUEL WAGERING
OFFICE OF INVESTIGATIONS
1400 W. COMMERCIAL BLVD. SUITE 165
FT. LAUDERDALE, FLORIDA 33309
TEL (954) 202-3900

License # and Type:
N/A   /   1098

Profession:
Patron

Report Date:
May 16, 2023

Period of Investigation:
May 2, 2023 through May 16, 2023

Type of Report:
Final

Alleged Violation: 550.0251 Powers and duties of the Florida Gaming Control Commission.—The commission 
shall administer this chapter and regulate the pari-mutuel industry under this chapter and the rules adopted pursuant 
thereto, and:
(6) In addition to the power to exclude certain persons from any pari-mutuel facility in this state, the commission may 
exclude any person from any and all pari-mutuel facilities in this state for conduct that would constitute, if the person 
were a licensee, a violation of this chapter or the rules of the commission. The commission may exclude from any pari-
mutuel facility within this state any person who has been ejected from a pari-mutuel facility in this state or who has 
been excluded from any pari-mutuel facility in another state by the governmental department, agency, commission, or 
authority exercising regulatory jurisdiction over pari-mutuel facilities in such other state.
Synopsis: On April 28, 2023, this Investigator received an email notification from Magic City Casino Compliance 
Manager Yadelin Crespo containing an updated Weekly Exclusion list for the facility. Upon a review of the list, this 
Investigator found that on April 24, 2023, cardroom patron Mario Luis COLLADO was added to the list for Disorderly 
Conduct.  According to the Incident Report (# INV20230001890) COLLADO was initially going to be excluded for a 
month, however, because he continued to escalate the situation and was subsequently arrested by Miami Police 
Officers, he was permanently excluded from the facility (EXHIBIT #3).   

Related Case(s):
Investigator /   Date: May 16, 2023

Tyrell D. Smith   /   

Investigator Supervisor  /  Date

Julio Minaya /   May 19, 2023
Chief of Investigations   /  Date

Bradford D. Jones  /   May 29, 2023

Date

02322222222232233333333323222222222222233323222222222
Chief of Investigations   / Da
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Further investigation into this matter and a review of Magic City Casino Incident Report 
#IN20230001890, revealed that on April 24, 2023, at approximately 11:00 P.M., Security Officer 
Ladaun Brown advised Security Supervisor Manuel Andreu of a disorderly patron seated at table 
#25.  The patron, who was identified as Mario Luis COLLADO, was acting in a disorderly manner 
towards cardroom employees (EXHIBIT #1). 
 
Although not mentioned in the Incident Report, Poker Supervisor Juliette Avilez informed me that on 
the date of the incident, she asked COLLADO to leave the Poker Room because he was 
intoxicated and becoming disorderly.  As he approached the exit door of the Poker Room, he was 
met by Security Supervisor Manuel Andreu along with the assigned off-duty detail Miami Police 
Officers.  As per Avilez, Andreu advised COLLADO that he was going to be excluded from the 
facility for 1 month based on his conduct.  
 
As per the Incident Report, as Andreu attempted to escort COLLADO to the Security Office, 
COLLADO stated “I’m not fucking going anywhere with you people.”  The Police then intervened 
and COLLADO continued to act in a disorderly manner; he was subsequently placed under arrest.  
Once in custody, Andreu informed COLLADO of the Casino Rules as they pertain to a patron’s 
conduct while visiting the Casino.  He was unable to acknowledge and sign the Magic City Casino 
Trespass Form due to his arrest.  COLLADO was also informed by Andreu that he was being 
permanently excluded from the facility.  He was then transported off the property by Police 
(EXHIBIT #1 & 2). 
 
On May 9, 2023, this investigator conducted a video review of the April 24, 2023, incident involving 
COLLADO which revealed the following: 
 
At approximately 11:00 P.M, COLLADO was observed sitting at table #25 seat #3.  He calls a 
Cocktail Waitress over to the table and appears to be ordering a round of drinks for patrons at the 
table.  
 
COLLADO is observed talking with the cocktail waitress for a few minutes, when another patron 
walks over to the table and begins to talk to the waitress.  COLLADO then says something to the 
waitress that catches the attention of Poker Supervisor Juliette Avilez who was seated at table   
#24.  Avilez, stands up and walks over to table #25.  She is then seen calling the Security Officer 
posted in the cardroom over to table #25.  Avilez and COLLADO exchange words with each other 
and the Security Officer walks over to the table.  Avilez then gives a cut-throat gesture to the 
Security Officer to indicate that COLLADO needs to leave the cardroom.  COLLADO continues to 
say something to Avilez while collecting his chips from the table.  He is then escorted from the table 
by the Security Officer towards the Poker entrance when he is met by Security Supervisor Manuel 
Andreu and the off-duty Miami Police Officers.  They escort COLLADO to the cashier cage where 
he is allowed to cash out his remaining chips.  After cashing out his chips, he is escorted outside of 
the facility to the valet area.  He then begins to argue and become visibly aggressive with the Police 
Officers who are able to physically restrain him by wrestling COLLADO to the ground and placing 
him under arrest.  He was then placed in a police vehicle and transported off property. 
 
On May 15, 2023, this Investigator spoke with Magic City Poker Supervisor Juliette Avilez about the 
incident.  Avilez stated that on the day of the incident she was acting as the Poker Room Floor 
Supervisor.  She saw that COLLADO was intoxicated and she advised the cocktail waitress to not 
serve him anymore alcoholic beverages.  When the waitress would not serve COLLADO anymore 
cocktails, he became upset because he had ordered a round of drinks for the table but he could not 
have one.  He then requested to speak with the Poker Supervisor in reference to being cut off from 
additional alcoholic beverages.  Avilez stated that when she tried to explain to COLLADO why he 
could not have any more drinks, he became belligerent.  He then refused to pay for the other drinks 
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that he had ordered and began to call her vulgar names.  She then notified security to come to the 
table and have COLLADO removed.  Security then responded and COLLADO was escorted from 
the table.  Avilez could not provide additional information. 
 
On May 19, 2023, a check of the Miami/Dade County Clerk of Court records was conducted by this 
Investigator which revealed that when COLLADO was arrested on April 24, 2023, he was charged 
with Misdemeanor Disorderly Intoxication and Resisting Officer without Violence (EXHIBIT #5).  As 
of the date of this report, the matter is still pending.  COLLADO’s next court appearance is 
scheduled for July 5, 2023. 
 
Status: Closed by Investigations and forwarded to Legal for review and the possible addition of 
COLLADO’s name to the Statewide Exclusion List. 
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Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering
Office of Investigations 

1400 West Commercial Boulevard, Suite 165 
Ft. Lauderdale, Florida 33309 

Phone: 954.202.3900 • Fax: 954.202.3930

Louis Trombetta, Executive Director Ron DeSantis, Governor

FLORIDA GAMING CONTROL COMMISSION
HTTPS://FGCC.FL.GOV/  

OFFICE OF INVESTIGATIONS

INVESTIGATIVE REPORT
Office:
PMW

Region:
SOUTHERN

Date of Complaint:
May 2, 2023

Case Number:
2023 02 5629

Respondent:

COLLADO, MARIO LUIS
13220 SW 264 STREET
HOMESTEAD, FLORIDA  33032

Complainant:
DIVISION OF PARI-MUTUEL WAGERING
OFFICE OF INVESTIGATIONS
1400 W. COMMERCIAL BLVD. SUITE 165
FT. LAUDERDALE, FLORIDA 33309
TEL (954) 202-3900

License # and Type:
N/A   /   1098

Profession:
Patron

Report Date:
May 16, 2023

Period of Investigation:
May 2, 2023 through May 16, 2023

Type of Report:
Final

Alleged Violation: 550.0251 Powers and duties of the Florida Gaming Control Commission.—The commission 
shall administer this chapter and regulate the pari-mutuel industry under this chapter and the rules adopted pursuant 
thereto, and:
(6) In addition to the power to exclude certain persons from any pari-mutuel facility in this state, the commission may 
exclude any person from any and all pari-mutuel facilities in this state for conduct that would constitute, if the person 
were a licensee, a violation of this chapter or the rules of the commission. The commission may exclude from any pari-
mutuel facility within this state any person who has been ejected from a pari-mutuel facility in this state or who has 
been excluded from any pari-mutuel facility in another state by the governmental department, agency, commission, or 
authority exercising regulatory jurisdiction over pari-mutuel facilities in such other state.
Synopsis: On April 28, 2023, this Investigator received an email notification from Magic City Casino Compliance 
Manager Yadelin Crespo containing an updated Weekly Exclusion list for the facility. Upon a review of the list, this 
Investigator found that on April 24, 2023, cardroom patron Mario Luis COLLADO was added to the list for Disorderly 
Conduct.  According to the Incident Report (# INV20230001890) COLLADO was initially going to be excluded for a 
month, however, because he continued to escalate the situation and was subsequently arrested by Miami Police 
Officers, he was permanently excluded from the facility (EXHIBIT #3).   

Related Case(s):
Investigator /   Date: May 16, 2023

Tyrell D. Smith   /   

Investigator Supervisor  /  Date

Julio Minaya /   May 19, 2023
Chief of Investigations   /  Date

Bradford D. Jones  /   May 29, 2023

Date
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Further investigation into this matter and a review of Magic City Casino Incident Report 
#IN20230001890, revealed that on April 24, 2023, at approximately 11:00 P.M., Security Officer 
Ladaun Brown advised Security Supervisor Manuel Andreu of a disorderly patron seated at table 
#25.  The patron, who was identified as Mario Luis COLLADO, was acting in a disorderly manner 
towards cardroom employees (EXHIBIT #1). 
 
Although not mentioned in the Incident Report, Poker Supervisor Juliette Avilez informed me that on 
the date of the incident, she asked COLLADO to leave the Poker Room because he was 
intoxicated and becoming disorderly.  As he approached the exit door of the Poker Room, he was 
met by Security Supervisor Manuel Andreu along with the assigned off-duty detail Miami Police 
Officers.  As per Avilez, Andreu advised COLLADO that he was going to be excluded from the 
facility for 1 month based on his conduct.  
 
As per the Incident Report, as Andreu attempted to escort COLLADO to the Security Office, 
COLLADO stated “I’m not fucking going anywhere with you people.”  The Police then intervened 
and COLLADO continued to act in a disorderly manner; he was subsequently placed under arrest.  
Once in custody, Andreu informed COLLADO of the Casino Rules as they pertain to a patron’s 
conduct while visiting the Casino.  He was unable to acknowledge and sign the Magic City Casino 
Trespass Form due to his arrest.  COLLADO was also informed by Andreu that he was being 
permanently excluded from the facility.  He was then transported off the property by Police 
(EXHIBIT #1 & 2). 
 
On May 9, 2023, this investigator conducted a video review of the April 24, 2023, incident involving 
COLLADO which revealed the following: 
 
At approximately 11:00 P.M, COLLADO was observed sitting at table #25 seat #3.  He calls a 
Cocktail Waitress over to the table and appears to be ordering a round of drinks for patrons at the 
table.  
 
COLLADO is observed talking with the cocktail waitress for a few minutes, when another patron 
walks over to the table and begins to talk to the waitress.  COLLADO then says something to the 
waitress that catches the attention of Poker Supervisor Juliette Avilez who was seated at table   
#24.  Avilez, stands up and walks over to table #25.  She is then seen calling the Security Officer 
posted in the cardroom over to table #25.  Avilez and COLLADO exchange words with each other 
and the Security Officer walks over to the table.  Avilez then gives a cut-throat gesture to the 
Security Officer to indicate that COLLADO needs to leave the cardroom.  COLLADO continues to 
say something to Avilez while collecting his chips from the table.  He is then escorted from the table 
by the Security Officer towards the Poker entrance when he is met by Security Supervisor Manuel 
Andreu and the off-duty Miami Police Officers.  They escort COLLADO to the cashier cage where 
he is allowed to cash out his remaining chips.  After cashing out his chips, he is escorted outside of 
the facility to the valet area.  He then begins to argue and become visibly aggressive with the Police 
Officers who are able to physically restrain him by wrestling COLLADO to the ground and placing 
him under arrest.  He was then placed in a police vehicle and transported off property. 
 
On May 15, 2023, this Investigator spoke with Magic City Poker Supervisor Juliette Avilez about the 
incident.  Avilez stated that on the day of the incident she was acting as the Poker Room Floor 
Supervisor.  She saw that COLLADO was intoxicated and she advised the cocktail waitress to not 
serve him anymore alcoholic beverages.  When the waitress would not serve COLLADO anymore 
cocktails, he became upset because he had ordered a round of drinks for the table but he could not 
have one.  He then requested to speak with the Poker Supervisor in reference to being cut off from 
additional alcoholic beverages.  Avilez stated that when she tried to explain to COLLADO why he 
could not have any more drinks, he became belligerent.  He then refused to pay for the other drinks 
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that he had ordered and began to call her vulgar names.  She then notified security to come to the 
table and have COLLADO removed.  Security then responded and COLLADO was escorted from 
the table.  Avilez could not provide additional information. 
 
On May 19, 2023, a check of the Miami/Dade County Clerk of Court records was conducted by this 
Investigator which revealed that when COLLADO was arrested on April 24, 2023, he was charged 
with Misdemeanor Disorderly Intoxication and Resisting Officer without Violence (EXHIBIT #5).  As 
of the date of this report, the matter is still pending.  COLLADO’s next court appearance is 
scheduled for July 5, 2023. 
 
Status: Closed by Investigations and forwarded to Legal for review and the possible addition of 
COLLADO’s name to the Statewide Exclusion List. 
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MEMORANDUM 
 

To:   The Florida Gaming Control Commission  
From:  Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering 
Through: Emily Alvarado, Deputy Chief Attorney 
Re:  FGCC v. Julian M. Reyes Case No. 2023-026490; Default Final Order 
Date:   July 17, 2023 
 
Executive Summary 
 
The Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering seeks the revocation of Julian M. Reyes’s 
(“Respondent”) Cardroom Employee Occupational License based on his conviction. 
By failing to respond to the properly served administrative complaint, Respondent 
waived his right to request a hearing contesting the Division’s decision. Therefore, 
the Florida Gaming Control Commission should enter a final order revoking 
Respondent’s Cardroom Employee Occupational License. 
 
Background 
On March 6, 2023, Respondent was convicted of False Imprisonment and 
Tampering with a Witness, Victim or informant, felonies, in Clay County, Florida. 
Respondent did not inform the Division of conviction within 48 hours.  
 
Based on this conviction, the Division served Respondent with an administrative 
complaint seeking revocation of his Cardroom Employee Occupational License via 
U.S. certified mail. The election of rights accompanying the administrative 
complaint made it clear that the Respondent had 21 days1 to file a written response 
to the administrative complaint. The Respondent was served on June 22, 2023 which 
means the Respondent had until July 13, 2023 to respond. He has never responded. 
 
Analysis  
 
Section 550.105(5)(b), Florida Statutes, provides, in pertinent part that “the 
commission may deny, suspend, revoke, or declare ineligible any occupational 
license if the applicant forsuch license has been convicted in this state, in any other 
state, orunder the laws of the United States of a capital felony, a felony, or an 
offense in any other state which would be a felony under the laws of this state…” 
 

                                                 
1 See Fla. Admin. Code R. 28-106.111(4) (“Any person who receives written notice of an agency decision and who 
fails to file a written request for a hearing within 21 days waives the right to request a hearing on such matters.”) 
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Section 550.105(10)(d), Florida Statutes, provides that each licensee shall inform 
the Division, within 48 hours, “if he or she is convicted of or has entered a plea of 
guilty or nolo contendere to any disqualifying offense, regardless of adjudication.” 
Accordingly, Respondent license can be revoked or suspended based on the felony 
convictions and Respondent’s failure to inform the Division of this conviction within 
48 hours.  
 
Section 849.086(6)(f), Florida Statutes, provides that the “provisions specified in s. 
550.105(4), (5), (6), (7), (8), and (10) relating to licensure shall be applicable to 
cardroom occupational licenses.” 
 
Because Respondent failed to file a timely response to the properly served 
administrative complaint, he waived his right to request a hearing. Therefore, the 
Florida Gaming Control Commission may enter a final order revoking Respondent’s 
Cardroom Employee Occupational License.  
 
Staff Recommendation: The Florida Gaming Control Commission should enter a 
final order revoking Julian M. Reyes’s Cardroom Employee Occupational License. 
 
 



STATE OF FLORIDA  
FLORIDA GAMING CONTROL COMMISSION 

DIVISION OF PARI-MUTUEL WAGERING 

FLORIDA GAMING CONTROL COMMISSION, 
DIVISION OF PARI-MUTUEL WAGERING, 

Petitioner, 

v. 

JULIAN M. REYES, 

Respondent. 
______________________________________/ 

FGCC Case No.: 2023-026490 

ADMINISTRATIVE COMPLAINT 

The Florida Gaming Control Commission, Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering 

(“Petitioner”), files this Administrative Complaint against Julian M. Reyes (“Respondent”), and 

alleges: 

1. Petitioner is the state agency charged with regulating pari-mutuel wagering and

cardroom operations pursuant to chapters 550 and 849, Florida Statutes. 

2. At all times material hereto, Respondent held a Cardroom Employee Occupational

License, number 12810520-1012, issued by Petitioner. 

3. On or about March 6, 2023, Respondent entered a plea of guilty and was convicted

of False Imprisonment and Tampering with a Witness, Victim or Informant, felonies, in the Circuit 

Court of the Fourth Judicial Circuit in and for Clay County, Florida, in case number 10-2021-CF-

1638. 

FILED 
FLORIDA GAMING CONTROL COMMISSION 

Date:  _______________________ 
File Number: _______________________ 

BY: MELBA L. APELLANIZ 
CLERK OF THE COMMISSION 
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COUNT I 

4. Petitioner realleges and adopts paragraphs numbered one through three as if set 

forth fully herein. 

5. Pursuant to section 550.105(5)(b), Florida Statutes: 

The commission may deny, suspend, revoke, or declare ineligible 
any occupational license if the applicant for or holder thereof has 
violated the provisions of this chapter or the rules of the commission 
governing the conduct of persons connected with racetracks and 
frontons. In addition, the commission may deny, suspend, revoke, 
or declare ineligible any occupational license if the applicant for 
such license has been convicted in this state, in any other state, or 
under the laws of the United States of a capital felony, a felony, or 
an offense in any other state which would be a felony under the laws 
of this state involving arson; trafficking in, conspiracy to traffic in, 
smuggling, importing, conspiracy to smuggle or import, or delivery, 
sale, or distribution of a controlled substance; or a crime involving 
a lack of good moral character, or has had a pari-mutuel license 
revoked by this state or any other jurisdiction for an offense related 
to pari-mutuel wagering. 

 
6. Section 550.105(5)(d), Florida Statutes, provides the term “convicted” means 

“having been found guilty, with or without adjudication of guilt, as a result of a jury verdict, 

nonjury trial, or entry of a plea of guilty or nolo contendere.” 

7. Section 849.086(6)(f), Florida Statutes, provides that the “provisions specified in s. 

550.105(4), (5), (6), (7), (8), and (10) relating to licensure shall be applicable to cardroom 

occupational licenses.”  

8. Based on the foregoing, Respondent violated sections 550.105(5)(b), and 

849.086(6)(f), Florida Statutes, by entering a plea of guilty and being convicted of False 

Imprisonment and Tampering with a Witness, Victim or Informant, felonies, in Clay County, 

Florida on March 6, 2023. 
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COUNT II 

9. Petitioner realleges and adopts paragraphs numbered one through three as if set 

forth fully herein. 

10. Respondent failed to notify Petitioner within 48 hours of his March 6, 2023 

convictions for False Imprisonment and Tampering with a Witness, Victim or Informant in Clay 

County, Florida. 

11. Pursuant to section 550.105(10)(d), Florida Statutes, each licensee shall inform the 

Commission, within 48 hours, “if he or she is convicted of or has entered a plea of guilty or nolo 

contendere to any disqualifying offense, regardless of adjudication.” 

12. Section 849.086(6)(f), Florida Statutes, provides that the “provisions specified in s. 

550.105(4), (5), (6), (7), (8), and (10) relating to licensure shall be applicable to cardroom 

occupational licenses.”  

13. Based on the foregoing, Respondent violated sections 550.105(10)(d), and 

849.086(6)(f), Florida Statutes, by failing to inform the Division of his March 6, 2023 convictions 

for a disqualifying offenses within 48 hours. 
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WHEREFORE, Petitioner respectfully requests the Florida Gaming Control Commission 

enter an Order imposing against Respondent one or more of the penalties specified in chapters 550 

and 849, Florida Statutes, and/or the rules promulgated thereunder. 

This Administrative Complaint for FGCC Case Number 2023-026490 is signed this 14th 

day of June 2023. 

 

/s/Emily A. Alvarado 
Emily A. Alvarado 
Deputy Chief Attorney 
Florida Bar Number: 1025200 
Florida Gaming Control Commission 
Office of the General Counsel 
Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering 
2601 Blair Stone Road 
Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2202 
Telephone: (850) 717-1783 
Facsimile: (850) 921-1311 
Primary: Emily.Alvarado@flgaming.gov 
Secondary: Ebonie.Lanier@flgaming.gov 
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NOTICE OF RIGHTS TO REQUEST A HEARING 
 

 Pursuant to Sections 120.569 and 120.57, Florida Statutes, you have the right to request a 

hearing to challenge the charges contained in this Administrative Complaint. If you choose to 

request a hearing, you will have the right to be represented by counsel, or other qualified 

representative, to present evidence and argument, to call and cross-examine witnesses, and to have 

subpoenas and subpoenas duces tecum issued on your behalf. 

Any request for an administrative proceeding to challenge or contest the charges contained 

in this Administrative Complaint must conform to Rule 28-106.2015, Florida Administrative 

Code. Pursuant to Rule 28-106.111, Florida Administrative Code, you must request a hearing 

within 21 days from receipt of this Notice, or you will waive your right to request a hearing.  

Mediation under Section 120.573, Florida Statutes, is not available to resolve this 

Administrative Complaint. 
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CONTINUATION 
  

On October 30, 2021, the Division received an Applicant Hit notification from the Florida 
Department of Law Enforcement (FDLE).  The report indicated that on October 30, 
2021, REYES was arrested by the Clay County Sheriff’s Office and charged with the 
following offenses: (Exhibit #1):  

1. Kidnapping-False Imprisonment (Felony 3rd Degree) 
2. Obstructing Justice-Tampering in Misdemeanor Proceeding (Felony 3rd Degree) 
3. Battery-Battery Touch or Strike Domestic Battery (Misdemeanor) 

Mr. REYES received his PMW Cardroom Employee Occupational license on June 11, 
2021 to work as a Chip Counter at Orange Park.  He is currently licensed until June 30, 
2024 (Exhibit #2).  

On November 3, 2021, PMW Operations Review Specialist Tanicha McDowell placed 
an Enforcement Alert on REYES’ PMW license regarding the above offenses (Exhibit 
#3). 

Information obtained from the Florida Comprehensive Case Information System (CCIS) 
for Clay County, Florida indicated that on March 6, 2023, REYES pled guilty to all 
charges listed above.  For counts 1 & 2, he received Adjudication Withheld and for 
Count 3, REYES was Adjudicated Guilty.  REYES was sentenced to 6 months in 
County Jail with 117 days credited for time served and 3 years’ probation (Exhibit #4). 
   
Conclusion: REYES is in violation of the above listed Statute and Rule due to his 
arrest and subsequent felony convictions and for failing to notify the Division of same. 
 
Status:  Investigations case closed and case forwarded to Legal for review. 
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On October 30, 2021, the Division received an Applicant Hit notification from the Florida 
Department of Law Enforcement (FDLE).  The report indicated that on October 30, 
2021, REYES was arrested by the Clay County Sheriff’s Office and charged with the 
following offenses: (Exhibit #1):  

1. Kidnapping-False Imprisonment (Felony 3rd Degree) 
2. Obstructing Justice-Tampering in Misdemeanor Proceeding (Felony 3rd Degree) 
3. Battery-Battery Touch or Strike Domestic Battery (Misdemeanor) 

Mr. REYES received his PMW Cardroom Employee Occupational license on June 11, 
2021 to work as a Chip Counter at Orange Park.  He is currently licensed until June 30, 
2024 (Exhibit #2).  

On November 3, 2021, PMW Operations Review Specialist Tanicha McDowell placed 
an Enforcement Alert on REYES’ PMW license regarding the above offenses (Exhibit 
#3). 

Information obtained from the Florida Comprehensive Case Information System (CCIS) 
for Clay County, Florida indicated that on March 6, 2023, REYES pled guilty to all 
charges listed above.  For counts 1 & 2, he received Adjudication Withheld and for 
Count 3, REYES was Adjudicated Guilty.  REYES was sentenced to 6 months in 
County Jail with 117 days credited for time served and 3 years’ probation (Exhibit #4). 
   
Conclusion: REYES is in violation of the above listed Statute and Rule due to his 
arrest and subsequent felony convictions and for failing to notify the Division of same. 
 
Status:  Investigations case closed and case forwarded to Legal for review. 
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MEMORANDUM 
 

To:   The Florida Gaming Control Commission  
From:  Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering 
Through: Emily Alvarado, Deputy Chief Attorney 
Re:  FGCC v. Shaniya Branae Murphy Case No. 2023-028537; Default 

Final Order 
Date:   June 17, 2023 
 
Executive Summary 
 
The Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering seeks the permanent exclusion of Shaniya 
Branae Murphy (“Respondent”) from all pari-mutuel and slot facilities in the state 
of Florida. By failing to respond to the properly served administrative complaint 
seeking to exclude him, Respondent waived his right to request a hearing contesting 
the Division’s decision. Therefore, the Florida Gaming Control Commission should 
enter a final order excluding Respondent from all pari-mutuel and slot facilities in 
the state of Florida. 
 
Background 
On multiple occasions from September 6 to September 12, 2022, Respondent was a 
patron of Calder Casino.1 Respondent was involved in one incident of using stolen 
credit cards for cash advances at the facility. Respondent was permanently excluded 
from Calder Casino2, on September 21, 2022.  
 
Based on his exclusion from Calder Casino, the Division served Respondent with an 
administrative complaint seeking her exclusion from all pari-mutuel and slot 
facilities in the state of Florida. The election of rights accompanying the 
administrative complaint made it clear that the Respondent had 21 days3 to file a 
written response to the administrative complaint. The Respondent was served on 
June 23, 2023 which means the Respondent had until July 14, 2023 to respond. She 
has never responded. 
 
 

                                                 
1 Calder Casino  is operated by a pari-mutuel wagering permitholder that also possesses a slot machine and cardroom 
license. 
2 Pari-mutuel permitholders and slot machine licensees have the right to exclude patrons. §§ 550.0251(6); 551.112, 
Fla. Stat.  
3 See Fla. Admin. Code R. 28-106.111(4) (“Any person who receives written notice of an agency decision and who 
fails to file a written request for a hearing within 21 days waives the right to request a hearing on such matters.”) 
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Analysis  
Respondent can be excluded from all pari-mutuel and slot machine facilities in this 
state. Section 550.0251(6), Florida Statutes, provides, in relevant part, that “[t]he 
Commission may exclude from any pari-mutuel facility within this state any person 
who has been ejected from a pari-mutuel facility in this state.” Likewise, section 
551.112, Florida Statutes, provides, in relevant part “[t]he Commission may exclude 
from any facility of a slot machine licensee any person who has been ejected from a 
facility of a slot machine licensee in this state.” Calder Casino is both a pari-mutuel 
facility and slot machine licensee in this state. And Respondent was ejected from it.  
Accordingly, Respondent can be excluded from all pari-mutuel and slot machine 
facilities in this state.  
 
Because Respondent failed to file a timely response to the properly served 
administrative complaint seeking to exclude her from all pari-mutuel and slot 
machine facilities in this state, she waived his right to request a hearing. Therefore, 
the Florida Gaming Control Commission may enter a final order excluding 
Respondent from all pari-mutuel and slot machine facilities in this state. 
 
Staff Recommendation: The Florida Gaming Control Commission should enter a 
final order permanently excluding Shaniya Branae Murphy from all pari-mutuel and 
slot machine facilities in this state. 
 
 



STATE OF FLORIDA  
FLORIDA GAMING CONTROL COMMISSION 

DIVISION OF PARI-MUTUEL WAGERING 

FLORIDA GAMING CONTROL COMMISSION, 
DIVISION OF PARI-MUTUEL WAGERING, 

Petitioner, 

v. 

SHANIYA BRANAE MURPHY, 

Respondent. 
______________________________________/ 

FGCC Case No.: 2023-028537 

ADMINISTRATIVE COMPLAINT 

The Florida Gaming Control Commission, Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering 

(“Petitioner”), files this Administrative Complaint against Shanita Branae Murphy 

(“Respondent”), and alleges: 

1. Petitioner is the state agency charged with regulating pari-mutuel wagering, slot

machines, and cardroom operations pursuant to chapters 550, 551, and 849, Florida Statutes. 

2. At all times material hereto, Respondent’s address was reported as 1452 7th Street

West Palm Beach, Florida 33401. 

3. At all times material hereto, Calder Casino was a facility operated by a permitholder

authorized to conduct pari-mutuel wagering, slot machines, and cardroom operations in the State 

of Florida. 

4. On September 12, 2022, Respondent was a patron of Calder Casino.

5. On or about September 21, 2022, Respondent was permanently excluded from

Calder Casino.  

6. Respondent was permanently excluded for the reasons alleged in Exhibit 1.

6/16/2023
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7. Section 550.0251(6), Florida Statutes, provides in relevant part:

In addition to the power to exclude certain persons from any pari-
mutuel facility in this state, the commission may exclude any person
from any and all pari-mutuel facilities in this state for conduct that
would constitute, if the person were a licensee, a violation of this
chapter or the rules of the commission. The commission may
exclude from any pari-mutuel facility within this state any person
who has been ejected from a pari-mutuel facility in this state or who
has been excluded from any pari-mutuel facility in another state by
the governmental department, agency, commission, or authority
exercising regulatory jurisdiction over pari-mutuel facilities in such
other state.

(Emphasis supplied). 

8. Section 551.112, Florida Statutes, provides:

In addition to the power to exclude certain persons from any facility
of a slot machine licensee in this state, the commission may exclude
any person from any facility of a slot machine licensee in this state
for conduct that would constitute, if the person were a licensee, a
violation of this chapter or the rules of the commission. The
commission may exclude from any facility of a slot machine
licensee any person who has been ejected from a facility of a slot
machine licensee in this state or who has been excluded from any
facility of a slot machine licensee or gaming facility in another state
by the governmental department, agency, commission, or authority
exercising regulatory jurisdiction over the gaming in such other
state. This section does not abrogate the common law right of a slot
machine licensee to exclude a patron absolutely in this state.

(Emphasis supplied). 

9. Based on the foregoing, Respondent is subject to exclusion from all licensed pari-

mutuel wagering facilities and any facility of a slot machine licensee in the State of Florida under 

sections 550.0251(6) and 551.112, Florida Statutes based on her ejection from Calder Casino on 

or about September 21, 2022.  

WHEREFORE, Petitioner respectfully requests the Florida Gaming Control Commission 

enter an Order excluding Respondent from all licensed pari-mutuel wagering facilities and any 



2023-028537 Page 3 of 4 

facility of a slot machine licensee in the State of Florida, along with any other remedy provided by 

chapters 550 and 551, Florida Statutes, and/or the rules promulgated thereunder. 

This Administrative Complaint for FGCC Case Number 2023-028537 is signed this 15th 

day of June 2023. 

/s/Emily A. Alvarado 
Emily A. Alvarado 
Deputy Chief Attorney 
Florida Bar Number: 1025200 
Florida Gaming Control Commission 
Office of the General Counsel 
Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering 
2601 Blair Stone Road 
Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2202 
Telephone: (850) 717-1783 
Facsimile: (850) 921-1311 
Primary: Emily.Alvarado@flgaming.gov 
Secondary: Ebonie.Lanier@flgaming.gov 
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NOTICE OF RIGHTS TO REQUEST A HEARING 

Pursuant to sections 120.569 and 120.57, Florida Statutes, you have the right to request a 

hearing to challenge the charges contained in this Administrative Complaint. If you choose to 

request a hearing, you will have the right to be represented by counsel, or other qualified 

representative, to present evidence and argument, to call and cross-examine witnesses, and to have 

subpoenas and subpoenas duces tecum issued on your behalf. 

Any request for an administrative proceeding to challenge or contest the charges contained 

in this Administrative Complaint must conform to rule 28-106.2015, Florida Administrative Code. 

Pursuant to rule 28-106.111, Florida Administrative Code, you must request a hearing within 21 

days from receipt of this Notice, or you will waive your right to request a hearing.  

Mediation under section 120.573, Florida Statutes, is not available to resolve this 

Administrative Complaint. 
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This case is predicated on a September 20, 2022, visit by Synchrony Bank Fraud Investigator 
Craig Catlin to Calder Casino involving numerous fraudulent transactions that a group of 
individuals committed at the casino.  Upon further inquiry it was discovered that Synchrony 
Bank’s Fraud Department was investigating a group of individuals that had illegally used stolen 
credit cards to fraudulently obtain cash advances impacting numerous local businesses 
including Calder Casino.  According to Casino staff, Synchrony Bank has been investigating this 
group including MURPHY since April of 2022.  During their monitoring of the credit cards in 
question, Synchrony Bank became aware that several stolen credit cards had been fraudulently 
utilized to obtain cash advances at Calder Casino (Exhibit # 1). 

During his September 20, 2022, visit to the facility, Synchrony Bank Fraud Investigator Craig 
Catlin met with then Compliance Officer Susan Flores and her Assistant Iliana Velazquez who is 
now the Compliance Officer for Calder Casino.  It was during this meeting that Catlin provided 
Velazquez and Flores with an Excel Sheet containing numerous cash advance transactions that 
were committed by MURPHY, Ryan Austin Duarte, and Carlos Jose Brogdon, using stolen 
credit cards.  According to Velazquez, Catlin stated that these fraudulent transactions have 
caused Synchrony Bank over $500,000.00 in financial losses.  With the information provided by 
Catlin the facility’s cage team conducted their own research and confirmed that MURPHY, 
Carlos Jose Brogdon and Ryan Austin Duarte had conducted the transactions and the casino. 

While the cage looked through its own records, Calder Surveillance Department was reviewing 
video footage of a fraudulent transactions for September 12, 2022.  It was during this review 
that surveillance noticed a male with Shaniya Branae MURPHY.  That male was identified from 
the facility’s FABICASH Transaction Report which had attached to it a Florida driver’s license 
under the name of “James Segars”.  After learning of the identification “Segars”, Synchrony’s 
Fraud Investigator responded by stating that his sources in Law Enforcement had determined 
the license on the FABICASH Report was fraudulent, and the suspect individuals’ real name 
was Carlos Jose Brogdon.  MURPHY was also identified because she utilized her own identity 
to commit the transaction (Exhibit #3).  

Of the three individuals identified by Synchrony Bank, one of them, (MURPHY) visited the 
casino on September 12, 2022, for the purpose of obtaining a cash advance at the Main Cage 
of the Facility.  She used a credit card that had been identified as fraudulent by Synchrony 
Bank.  MURPHY obtained $1,800.00 using the card.  Murphy was not detained by Calder 
personnel because the transaction went unnoticed until Synchrony Bank notified the Casino. 
Although not present, MURPHY was permanently excluded from Calder Casino (Exhibit #3). 

On June 13, 2023, the undersigned investigator conducted a search of the Comprehensive 
Case Information System web-site (CCIS) to determine if MURPHY has been arrested in 
relation to this incident.  Results were negative, MURPHY has not been arrested within the state 
of Florida.  I also conducted a search of the U.S. Bureau of Prisons to see if MURPHY is 
currently in federal custody; results were negative.  I then requested that a check be conducted 
through the U.S. Department of Justice PACER website to see if any federal charges had been 
filed against MURPHY.   Per Chief of Investigations Bradford D. Jones, results were negative 
(Exhibit #8). 

Conclusion; Case closed by Investigations and forwarded to Legal for review and possible 
state-wide exclusion from all Florida Pari-Mutuel Wagering facilities. 
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Iliana contacted me this morning.  This last suspect attempted another cash advance last night at Calder.  When security 
attempted to interview the suspect, he fled.   
 
This fraud ring is responsible for $500K loss to Synchrony to date.  Thanks to Iliana and Susan and the rest of your 
security team, this case is now being put together for federal prosecution.   
 
Again, I want to thank Susan and Ileana.  I can’t say enough of how I appreciate their help and working with them.  If 
they ever need anything from Synchrony, I will be more than happy to help.   
 
Thanks and stay safe, 
 
Craig 
 
Craig Catlin 
Vice President 
Special Investigations Team 
Synchrony 
  
T: 786‐778‐9090 
E: craig.catlin@syf.com 
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33056
Miami Gardens, Florida   United States
21001 NW 27th Avenue

Calder Casino & Race Course

Incident Report
SURV-2022-09-00081Incident Number:

Non Criminal/Informational ReportClass/Category:

9/12/2022 8:12 PMOccurred From Date/Time:

OpenStatus:
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Incident Number:

Status:

Class/Category:

SURV-2022-09-00081

Open

Non Criminal/Informational Report

Local Print Date/Time: Page 1 of 4
9/27/2022 12:01 PM

Access Level:

Level 2

Owner Workgroup:

Surveillance

Incident Details

Supplemental Details

Reported to Police: No

Site: Casino

Building:

Location:

Section:

Front of House

Cashier

North

Physical Location

Business Unit

Business Unit: Gaming

Department: Cash Ops

Classification

Class: Non Criminal

Category: Informational Report

Incident Number: SURV-2022-09-00081

Incident Details

Summary:

On September 12, 2022 at approximately 8:12 pm, it was 
observed that the guest named Shaniya Murphy was 
observed requesting a credit cash transaction at our check 
cashing window.

Occurred From Date/Time: 9/12/2022 8:12 PM

Reported Date/Time: 9/22/2022 10:38 AM
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Incident Number:

Status:

Class/Category:

SURV-2022-09-00081

Open

Non Criminal/Informational Report

Local Print Date/Time: Page 2 of 4
9/27/2022 12:01 PM

Access Level:

Level 2

Owner Workgroup:

Surveillance

Incident Involvement Section
Total = 1Linked Person

MURPHY, Shaniya Involvement Type: Suspect

Date of Birth:

Gender: Female

Hair Color:

Eye Color:

Height: 00' 00''

Weight: 0lbs

Marital Status:

Employee?: No

Interviewed?: No

Phone Number:

Address:

Notes:

Linked To Person: Murphy, Shaniya

First Aid 
Administered?:
Person 
Hospitalized?:
Injured:

No

No

No
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Incident Number:

Status:

Class/Category:

SURV-2022-09-00081

Open

Non Criminal/Informational Report

Local Print Date/Time: Page 3 of 4
9/27/2022 12:01 PM

Access Level:

Level 2

Owner Workgroup:

Surveillance

Total = 1Incident Narratives

AUTHOR: 3, Surv Narrative Type: Original Narrative

Sealed

Narrative:

No

Greetings,



Craig Catlin, Special Investigations Team with Synchrony Bank is investigating fraudulent transactions that were 
conducted by a bravo couple at the Check Cashing window.  



Attached is an excel spreadsheet which has the date and transaction times (central time).  Please add 1 hour to determine 
the exact visit at the Check Cashing Window.



Could you please research to determine if we have them on video, as well as a copy of their driver’s licenses on file?



He is on property but I told him we will research and hopefully provide him some information tomorrow.



Thanks for your research in advance.



Susan

 

At the time of this review based on the spreadsheet Susan provided Surveillance, it was observed that Mrs. Shaniya 
Murphy was requesting a credit card advance at Calder Casino Check Chasing window on September 12, 2022. Be 
advised this incident is under investigation by Mr. Craig Catlin(Special Investigation Team with Synchrony Bank}

Created By Date/Time 9/27/2022 11:48 AM

Incident Narratives

EXHIBIT # 2
PAGE # 4



Incident Number:

Status:

Class/Category:

SURV-2022-09-00081

Open

Non Criminal/Informational Report

Local Print Date/Time: Page 4 of 4
9/27/2022 12:01 PM

Access Level:

Level 2

Owner Workgroup:

Surveillance

Incident Visibility

Owner Workgroup:

All Workgroups:

Workgroup Name Record RightsExceptions:Surveillance

None

Incident Controls
Incident Controls

Org Rollup Name

Org Level 1:

Org Level 2:

Org Level 3:

Org Level 4:

Access Level:

Status:

Locked:

Level 2

Open

No

Archive (record not 
visible):

No

Record Owner: 3, Surv

Incident Record Created By leonides.martinez, 9/22/2022 2:39 PM GMT

Last Modified By leonides.martinez, 9/27/2022 3:48 PM GMT
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manner.  We are trying to permanently exclude them from all facilities governed by the Florida Gaming Control 
Commission. 
 
In your e‐mail to Iliana Velazquez, the Director of Compliance at Calder Casino, you state that the cards may be 
stolen.  Could you tell me whether the cards were physically stolen or their information was stolen and the cards 
cloned? 
 
Thank you in advance for your help. 
 
 
 

   

Raul Suau 

Investigations Specialist II 
Florida Gaming Control Commission 

Division of Pari‐Mutuel Wagering  

Investigations 

954‐202‐6787  Office    954‐202‐3930  FAX    

954‐658‐3663  Cell 
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This case is predicated on a September 20, 2022, visit by Synchrony Bank Fraud Investigator 
Craig Catlin to Calder Casino involving numerous fraudulent transactions that a group of 
individuals committed at the casino.  Upon further inquiry it was discovered that Synchrony 
Bank’s Fraud Department was investigating a group of individuals that had illegally used stolen 
credit cards to fraudulently obtain cash advances impacting numerous local businesses 
including Calder Casino.  According to Casino staff, Synchrony Bank has been investigating this 
group including MURPHY since April of 2022.  During their monitoring of the credit cards in 
question, Synchrony Bank became aware that several stolen credit cards had been fraudulently 
utilized to obtain cash advances at Calder Casino (Exhibit # 1). 

During his September 20, 2022, visit to the facility, Synchrony Bank Fraud Investigator Craig 
Catlin met with then Compliance Officer Susan Flores and her Assistant Iliana Velazquez who is 
now the Compliance Officer for Calder Casino.  It was during this meeting that Catlin provided 
Velazquez and Flores with an Excel Sheet containing numerous cash advance transactions that 
were committed by MURPHY, Ryan Austin Duarte, and Carlos Jose Brogdon, using stolen 
credit cards.  According to Velazquez, Catlin stated that these fraudulent transactions have 
caused Synchrony Bank over $500,000.00 in financial losses.  With the information provided by 
Catlin the facility’s cage team conducted their own research and confirmed that MURPHY, 
Carlos Jose Brogdon and Ryan Austin Duarte had conducted the transactions and the casino. 

While the cage looked through its own records, Calder Surveillance Department was reviewing 
video footage of a fraudulent transactions for September 12, 2022.  It was during this review 
that surveillance noticed a male with Shaniya Branae MURPHY.  That male was identified from 
the facility’s FABICASH Transaction Report which had attached to it a Florida driver’s license 
under the name of “James Segars”.  After learning of the identification “Segars”, Synchrony’s 
Fraud Investigator responded by stating that his sources in Law Enforcement had determined 
the license on the FABICASH Report was fraudulent, and the suspect individuals’ real name 
was Carlos Jose Brogdon.  MURPHY was also identified because she utilized her own identity 
to commit the transaction (Exhibit #3).  

Of the three individuals identified by Synchrony Bank, one of them, (MURPHY) visited the 
casino on September 12, 2022, for the purpose of obtaining a cash advance at the Main Cage 
of the Facility.  She used a credit card that had been identified as fraudulent by Synchrony 
Bank.  MURPHY obtained $1,800.00 using the card.  Murphy was not detained by Calder 
personnel because the transaction went unnoticed until Synchrony Bank notified the Casino. 
Although not present, MURPHY was permanently excluded from Calder Casino (Exhibit #3). 

On June 13, 2023, the undersigned investigator conducted a search of the Comprehensive 
Case Information System web-site (CCIS) to determine if MURPHY has been arrested in 
relation to this incident.  Results were negative, MURPHY has not been arrested within the state 
of Florida.  I also conducted a search of the U.S. Bureau of Prisons to see if MURPHY is 
currently in federal custody; results were negative.  I then requested that a check be conducted 
through the U.S. Department of Justice PACER website to see if any federal charges had been 
filed against MURPHY.   Per Chief of Investigations Bradford D. Jones, results were negative 
(Exhibit #8). 

Conclusion; Case closed by Investigations and forwarded to Legal for review and possible 
state-wide exclusion from all Florida Pari-Mutuel Wagering facilities. 
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Iliana contacted me this morning.  This last suspect attempted another cash advance last night at Calder.  When security 
attempted to interview the suspect, he fled.   
 
This fraud ring is responsible for $500K loss to Synchrony to date.  Thanks to Iliana and Susan and the rest of your 
security team, this case is now being put together for federal prosecution.   
 
Again, I want to thank Susan and Ileana.  I can’t say enough of how I appreciate their help and working with them.  If 
they ever need anything from Synchrony, I will be more than happy to help.   
 
Thanks and stay safe, 
 
Craig 
 
Craig Catlin 
Vice President 
Special Investigations Team 
Synchrony 
  
T: 786‐778‐9090 
E: craig.catlin@syf.com 
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33056
Miami Gardens, Florida   United States
21001 NW 27th Avenue

Calder Casino & Race Course

Incident Report
SURV-2022-09-00081Incident Number:

Non Criminal/Informational ReportClass/Category:

9/12/2022 8:12 PMOccurred From Date/Time:

OpenStatus:
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Incident Number:

Status:

Class/Category:

SURV-2022-09-00081

Open

Non Criminal/Informational Report

Local Print Date/Time: Page 1 of 4
9/27/2022 12:01 PM

Access Level:

Level 2

Owner Workgroup:

Surveillance

Incident Details

Supplemental Details

Reported to Police: No

Site: Casino

Building:

Location:

Section:

Front of House

Cashier

North

Physical Location

Business Unit

Business Unit: Gaming

Department: Cash Ops

Classification

Class: Non Criminal

Category: Informational Report

Incident Number: SURV-2022-09-00081

Incident Details

Summary:

On September 12, 2022 at approximately 8:12 pm, it was 
observed that the guest named Shaniya Murphy was 
observed requesting a credit cash transaction at our check 
cashing window.

Occurred From Date/Time: 9/12/2022 8:12 PM

Reported Date/Time: 9/22/2022 10:38 AM
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Incident Number:

Status:

Class/Category:

SURV-2022-09-00081

Open

Non Criminal/Informational Report

Local Print Date/Time: Page 2 of 4
9/27/2022 12:01 PM

Access Level:

Level 2

Owner Workgroup:

Surveillance

Incident Involvement Section
Total = 1Linked Person

MURPHY, Shaniya Involvement Type: Suspect

Date of Birth:

Gender: Female

Hair Color:

Eye Color:

Height: 00' 00''

Weight: 0lbs

Marital Status:

Employee?: No

Interviewed?: No

Phone Number:

Address:

Notes:

Linked To Person: Murphy, Shaniya

First Aid 
Administered?:
Person 
Hospitalized?:
Injured:

No

No

No
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Incident Number:

Status:

Class/Category:

SURV-2022-09-00081

Open

Non Criminal/Informational Report

Local Print Date/Time: Page 3 of 4
9/27/2022 12:01 PM

Access Level:

Level 2

Owner Workgroup:

Surveillance

Total = 1Incident Narratives

AUTHOR: 3, Surv Narrative Type: Original Narrative

Sealed

Narrative:

No

Greetings,



Craig Catlin, Special Investigations Team with Synchrony Bank is investigating fraudulent transactions that were 
conducted by a bravo couple at the Check Cashing window.  



Attached is an excel spreadsheet which has the date and transaction times (central time).  Please add 1 hour to determine 
the exact visit at the Check Cashing Window.



Could you please research to determine if we have them on video, as well as a copy of their driver’s licenses on file?



He is on property but I told him we will research and hopefully provide him some information tomorrow.



Thanks for your research in advance.



Susan

 

At the time of this review based on the spreadsheet Susan provided Surveillance, it was observed that Mrs. Shaniya 
Murphy was requesting a credit card advance at Calder Casino Check Chasing window on September 12, 2022. Be 
advised this incident is under investigation by Mr. Craig Catlin(Special Investigation Team with Synchrony Bank}

Created By Date/Time 9/27/2022 11:48 AM

Incident Narratives
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Incident Number:

Status:

Class/Category:

SURV-2022-09-00081

Open

Non Criminal/Informational Report

Local Print Date/Time: Page 4 of 4
9/27/2022 12:01 PM

Access Level:

Level 2

Owner Workgroup:

Surveillance

Incident Visibility

Owner Workgroup:

All Workgroups:

Workgroup Name Record RightsExceptions:Surveillance

None

Incident Controls
Incident Controls

Org Rollup Name

Org Level 1:

Org Level 2:

Org Level 3:

Org Level 4:

Access Level:

Status:

Locked:

Level 2

Open

No

Archive (record not 
visible):

No

Record Owner: 3, Surv

Incident Record Created By leonides.martinez, 9/22/2022 2:39 PM GMT

Last Modified By leonides.martinez, 9/27/2022 3:48 PM GMT
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manner.  We are trying to permanently exclude them from all facilities governed by the Florida Gaming Control 
Commission. 
 
In your e‐mail to Iliana Velazquez, the Director of Compliance at Calder Casino, you state that the cards may be 
stolen.  Could you tell me whether the cards were physically stolen or their information was stolen and the cards 
cloned? 
 
Thank you in advance for your help. 
 
 
 

   

Raul Suau 

Investigations Specialist II 
Florida Gaming Control Commission 

Division of Pari‐Mutuel Wagering  

Investigations 

954‐202‐6787  Office    954‐202‐3930  FAX    

954‐658‐3663  Cell 
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MEMORANDUM 
 

To:   The Florida Gaming Control Commission  
From:  Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering 
Through: Emily Alvarado, Deputy Chief Attorney 
Re:  FGCC v. Carlos Eduardo Moreno Villegas Case No. 2023-030311; 

Default Final Order 
Date:   July 17, 2023 
 
Executive Summary 
 
The Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering seeks the permanent exclusion of Carlos 
Eduardo Moreno Villegas (“Respondent”) from all pari-mutuel and slot facilities in 
the state of Florida and revocation of his Slot Machine/Cardroom/Pari-Mutuel 
Combination Occupational License. By failing to respond to the properly served 
administrative complaint, Respondent waived his right to request a hearing 
contesting the Division’s decision. Therefore, the Florida Gaming Control 
Commission should enter a final order excluding Respondent from all pari-mutuel 
and slot facilities in the state of Florida and revoking his occupational license. 
 
Background 
On multiple days from November 21, to November 26, 2022, Respondent was 
working as a poker dealer at the Casino at Dania Beach.1 Respondent was seen 
engaging in the theft of multiple chips during the course of his employment. Upon 
review, Respondent was terminated and issued a one-year exclusion from the Casino 
at Dania Beach2, following the incident. 
 
Based on the act leading to his exclusion and termination from the Casino at Dania 
Beach, the Division served Respondent with an administrative complaint seeking his 
exclusion from all pari-mutuel and slot facilities in the state of Florida and revocation 
of his license. The election of rights accompanying the administrative complaint 
made it clear that the Respondent had 21 days3 to file a written response to the 
administrative complaint. The Respondent was served on June 21, 2023 which 
means the Respondent had until July 12, 2023 to respond. He has never responded. 

 
1 The Casino at Dania Beach is operated by a pari-mutuel wagering permitholder that also possesses a slot machine 
and cardroom license. 
2 Pari-mutuel permitholders and slot machine licensees have the right to exclude patrons. §§ 550.0251(6); 551.112, 
Fla. Stat.  
3 See Fla. Admin. Code R. 28-106.111(4) (“Any person who receives written notice of an agency decision and who 
fails to file a written request for a hearing within 21 days waives the right to request a hearing on such matters.”) 
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Analysis  
Respondent can be excluded from all pari-mutuel and slot machine facilities in this 
state. Section 550.0251(6), Florida Statutes, provides, in relevant part, that the 
Commission may exclude from any pari-mutuel facility within this state for “any 
conduct that would constitute, if the person were a licensee, a violation of this 
chapter or the rules of the commission.” Likewise, section 551.112, Florida Statutes, 
provides, in relevant part, the Commission may exclude from any facility of a slot 
machine licensee for “any conduct that would constitute, if the person were a 
licensee, a violation of this chapter or the rules of the commission.” The Casino at 
Dania Beach is both a pari-mutuel facility and slot machine licensee in this state. 
And Respondent was ejected from it.  Accordingly, Respondent can be excluded 
from all pari-mutuel and slot machine facilities in this state.  
 
Furthermore, Rule 61D-11.005(4), Florida Administrative Code, provides, in 
pertinent part, that“[n]o person shall, either directly or indirectly (a) [e]mploy or 
attempt to employ any device, scheme, or artifice to defraud any participant in a 
game or the cardroom operator.” 
 
Section 849.086(14)(a), Florida Statutes, provides that: 

 
The commission may deny a license or the renewal 
thereof, or may suspend or revoke any license, when the 
applicant has: violated or failed to comply with the 
provisions of this section or any rules adopted pursuant 
thereto; knowingly caused, aided, abetted, or conspired 
with another to cause any person to violate this section or 
any rules adopted pursuant thereto; or obtained a license 
or permit by fraud, misrepresentation, or concealment; or 
if the holder of such license or permit is no longer eligible 
under this section. 

 
Because Respondent failed to file a timely response to the properly served 
administrative complaint seeking to exclude him from all pari-mutuel and slot 
machine facilities in this state, he waived his right to request a hearing. Therefore, 
the Florida Gaming Control Commission may enter a final order revoking 
Respondent’s Slot Machine/Cardroom/Pari-Mutuel Combination Occupational 
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License and excluding Respondent from all pari-mutuel and slot machine facilities 
in this state. 
 
Staff Recommendation: The Florida Gaming Control Commission should enter a 
final order revoking Carlos Eduardo Moreno Villegas Slot Machine/Cardroom/Pari-
Mutuel Combination Occupational License and permanently excluding Carlos 
Eduardo Moreno Villegas from all pari-mutuel and slot machine facilities in this 
state. 
 
 



 STATE OF FLORIDA  
FLORIDA GAMING CONTROL COMMISSION 

DIVISION OF PARI-MUTUEL WAGERING 

FLORIDA GAMING CONTROL COMMISSION, 
DIVISION OF PARI-MUTUEL WAGERING, 

Petitioner, 

v. 

CARLOS EDUARDO MORENO VILLEGAS, 

Respondent. 
______________________________________/ 

FGCC Case No.: 2023-030311 

ADMINISTRATIVE COMPLAINT 

The Florida Gaming Control Commission, Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering 

(“Petitioner”), files this Administrative Complaint against Carlos Eduardo Moreno Villegas 

(“Respondent”), and alleges: 

1. Petitioner is the state agency charged with regulating pari-mutuel wagering, slot

machines, and cardroom operations pursuant to chapters 550, 551, and 849, Florida Statutes. 

2. At all times material hereto, Respondent held a Slot Machine/Cardroom/Pari-

mutuel Combination Occupational License, number 13163012-1055, issued by Petitioner. 

3. At all times material hereto, the Casino at Dania Beach was a facility operated by

a permitholder authorized to conduct pari-mutuel wagering, slot machines, and cardroom 

operations in the State of Florida.  

4. At all times material hereto, Respondent was employed as a Poker Dealer at the

Casino at Dania Beach. 

FILED 
FLORIDA GAMING CONTROL COMMISSION 

Date:  _______________________ 
File Number: _______________________ 

BY: MELBA L. APELLANIZ 
CLERK OF THE COMMISSION 
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5. On multiple occasions from about November 21, 2022 to November 26, 2022, it 

was discovered via surveillance footage that during the course of his employment, Respondent 

engaged in the theft of various chips.  

6. Following the discovery of the various incidents, Respondent was terminated from 

the Casino at Dania Beach and issued a one year exclusion.   

COUNT I 

7. Petitioner realleges and incorporates the allegations contained within paragraphs 

one through six as though fully set forth herein. 

8. Rule 61D-11.005(4), Florida Administrative Code, provides, in pertinent part, that 

“[n]o person shall, either directly or indirectly (a) [e]mploy or attempt to employ any device, 

scheme, or artifice to defraud any participant in a game or the cardroom operator.” 

9. Section 849.086(14)(a), Florida Statutes, provides that: 

The commission may deny a license or the renewal thereof, or may 
suspend or revoke any license, when the applicant has: violated or 
failed to comply with the provisions of this section or any rules 
adopted pursuant thereto; knowingly caused, aided, abetted, or 
conspired with another to cause any person to violate this section or 
any rules adopted pursuant thereto; or obtained a license or permit 
by fraud, misrepresentation, or concealment; or if the holder of such 
license or permit is no longer eligible under this section. 
 

10. Based on the foregoing, Respondent violated rule 61D-11.005(4), Florida 

Administrative Code, by employing a device, scheme, or artifice to defraud the cardroom operator 

and is therefore subject to suspension or revocation of his occupational license. 

COUNT II 

11. Petitioner realleges and incorporates the allegations contained within paragraphs 

one through six as though fully set forth herein. 

12. Respondent was excluded for the reasons alleged in Exhibit 1.  



 

 
2023-030311 Page 3 of 5 

13. Section 550.0251(6), Florida Statutes, provides in relevant part: 

In addition to the power to exclude certain persons from any pari-
mutuel facility in this state, the commission may exclude any person 
from any and all pari-mutuel facilities in this state for conduct that 
would constitute, if the person were a licensee, a violation of this 
chapter or the rules of the commission. The commission may 
exclude from any pari-mutuel facility within this state any person 
who has been ejected from a pari-mutuel facility in this state or who 
has been excluded from any pari-mutuel facility in another state by 
the governmental department, agency, commission, or authority 
exercising regulatory jurisdiction over pari-mutuel facilities in such 
other state. 

 
(Emphasis supplied). 
 

14. Section 551.112, Florida Statutes, provides: 

In addition to the power to exclude certain persons from any facility 
of a slot machine licensee in this state, the commission may exclude 
any person from any facility of a slot machine licensee in this state 
for conduct that would constitute, if the person were a licensee, a 
violation of this chapter or the rules of the commission. The 
commission may exclude from any facility of a slot machine 
licensee any person who has been ejected from a facility of a slot 
machine licensee in this state or who has been excluded from any 
facility of a slot machine licensee or gaming facility in another state 
by the governmental department, agency, commission, or authority 
exercising regulatory jurisdiction over the gaming in such other 
state. This section does not abrogate the common law right of a slot 
machine licensee to exclude a patron absolutely in this state. 

 
(Emphasis supplied). 

 
15. Based on the foregoing, Respondent is subject to exclusion from all licensed pari-

mutuel wagering facilities and any facility of a slot machine licensee in the State of Florida under 

sections 550.0251(6) and 551.112, Florida Statutes. 
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WHEREFORE, Petitioner respectfully requests the Florida Gaming Control Commission 

enter an Order excluding Respondent from all licensed pari-mutuel wagering facilities and any 

facility of a slot machine licensee in the State of Florida, along with any other remedy provided by 

chapters 550, 551, and 849, Florida Statutes, and/or the rules promulgated thereunder. 

This Amended Administrative Complaint for FGCC Case Number 2023-030311 is signed 

this 8th day of June, 2023. 

 
/s/ Emily A. Alvarado 
Emily A. Alvarado  
Deputy Chief Attorney 
Florida Bar Number: 1025200 
Florida Gaming Control Commission 
Office of the General Counsel 
Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering 
2601 Blair Stone Road 
Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2202 
Telephone: (850) 717-1783 
Facsimile: (850) 921-1311 
Primary: Emily.Alvarado@fgcc.fl.gov 
Secondary: Ebonie.Lanier@fgcc.fl.gov 
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NOTICE OF RIGHTS TO REQUEST A HEARING 
 

 Pursuant to sections 120.569 and 120.57, Florida Statutes, you have the right to request a 

hearing to challenge the charges contained in this Administrative Complaint. If you choose to 

request a hearing, you will have the right to be represented by counsel, or other qualified 

representative, to present evidence and argument, to call and cross-examine witnesses, and to have 

subpoenas and subpoenas duces tecum issued on your behalf. 

Any request for an administrative proceeding to challenge or contest the charges contained 

in this Administrative Complaint must conform to rule 28-106.2015, Florida Administrative Code. 

Pursuant to rule 28-106.111, Florida Administrative Code, you must request a hearing within 21 

days from receipt of this Notice, or you will waive your right to request a hearing.  

Mediation under section 120.573, Florida Statutes, is not available to resolve this 

Administrative Complaint. 
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During a video review MORENO VILLEGAS, a Poker Dealer (License # 13163012 – EXP. 
June 30, 2024) at the Casino Dania Beach, was observed by facility surveillance extracting 
chips from pots, “parking” said funds in his impress tray, and subsequently placing them in his 
tip box on multiple occasions.  As a result of this act of theft, MORENO VILLEGAS was 
terminated from employment.  
 
When conducting routine facility visits/inspections, this Investigator has heightened the 
awareness of poker room management and Surveillance Operators concerning specific 
methods that dealers may employ in acts of theft and potential indicators of such activity.  Most 
often, dealer theft is accomplished by getting the ill-gotten gains into a tip box.  Therefore, I 
encourage supervisory focus on the hand movement(s) of dealers as they interact with their tip 
boxes.  I have advised facility staff that any concerning behavior should trigger a review of the 
dealer’s action. 
 
In this instance the CDB Supervisor on duty Saturday November 26, 2022 suspected 
MORENO VILLEGAS took two red $5 chips from his impress tray and combined them with two 
$1 chips he received as a tip.  That action was validated as a theft which brought about a 
deeper audit.  Once the theft was validated MORENO VILLEGAS was placed on suspension 
pending review of his previous activity. 
 
As per the CDB Surveillance Report, the audit confirmed thefts on four separate dates during 
November of 2022 with multiple acts of theft occurring on each of those dates.  The Report 
notes the total daily losses as: 
 

 November 21, 2022    $178 

 November 23, 2022    $166 

 November 25, 2022  - $284 

 November 26, 2022  - $79 

The total loss incurred for all thefts within the audit period were $707.00 (EXHIBIT #2).  This 
Investigator reviewed video footage affirming theft took place (EXHIBIT #3). 
 
At the start of a work shift, an Impress Tray is initially set up and issued with a fixed amount of 
chips (totaling for example $1,200.00).  When a table is opened, the Impress Tray value will 
remain constant throughout the day from dealer to dealer.  If chips are purchased, the total tray 
value will still consist of $1,200.00, but now in combined cash and chips.  Cash buys chips but 
the tray count remains constant.  When MORENO VILLEGAS removed chips from the Impress 
Tray he lowered the balance in the tray; by taking chips from pots he made up the balance in 
the Tray.   
 
Conclusion:  As a result of his actions, MORENO VILLEGAS’ employment with CDB was 
terminated1.  During the separation process with CDB Human Resources MORENO 
VILLEGAS admitted committing the thefts and apologized.  The policy of Casino Dania Beach 
regarding terminated former employees is to ask to those personnel not to come back to the 
property for one year.  CDB did not permanently exclude MORENO VILLEGAS. 
 
Status: Case closed by Investigations and forwarded to Legal for review. 

                                                 
1 This Office has determined that MORENO VILLEGAS is currently employed at Calder Casino as a Cardroom Supervisor. 
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MEMORANDUM 
 

To:   The Florida Gaming Control Commission  
From:  Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering 
Through: Emily Alvarado, Deputy Chief Attorney 
Re:  FGCC v. Jonathan Ferber Case No. 2022-043586; Vacate Default 

Final Order 
Date:   August 22, 2023 
 
Executive Summary 
 
The Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering seeks to vacate the final order issued on 
Jonathan Ferber (“Respondent”) in case number 2023-043586 which permanently 
excluded Respondent from all pari-mutuel and slot facilities in the state of Florida. 
 
Background 
On or about August 21, 2022, Respondent was a patron of Magic City Casino.1 
Respondent was seen engaging in a fight at the cardroom. Respondent was 
permanently excluded from Magic City Casino2, on August 21, 2022.  
 
Based on his exclusion from Magic City Casino, the Division attempted to serve 
Respondent with an administrative complaint seeking his exclusion from all pari-
mutuel and slot facilities in the state of Florida. The Commission served Respondent 
via publication the address that was provided by Magic City Casino. A Final Order 
was issued at the May 5, 2023. Respondent has informed the Commission that the 
address provided was incorrect.3  
 
Staff Recommendation: The Florida Gaming Control Commission should enter an 
order vacating the final order permanently excluding Jonathan Ferber from all pari-
mutuel and slot machine facilities in this state. The Administrative Complaint in this 
case will be reopened and sent to Respondent at their correct address.  
 
 

 
1 Magic City Casino is operated by a pari-mutuel wagering permitholder that also possesses a slot machine and 
cardroom license. 
2 Pari-mutuel permitholders and slot machine licensees have the right to exclude patrons. §§ 550.0251(6); 551.112, 
Fla. Stat.  
3 Because Respondent is a patron of a pari-mutuel facility and not a licensee, the Commission relies on the information 
provided by the facility to accurately serve the individual. 
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Item 9.2. 2022-048147 – Anderson, Garrett 

 
contains no meeting materials 





 
 
 

Item 9.3. 2022-061179 – Gonzalez, Gilfredo 
 

contains no meeting materials 
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Denial



MEMORANDUM 
 
To:   The Florida Gaming Control Commission  
From:  Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering 
Through: Emily Alvarado, Deputy Chief Attorney 
Re:   Inna Alekseenko-Repass; Case No. 2023-025872 
Date:   August 24, 2023 
 
Executive Summary 
 
The Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering seeks to deny Inna Alekseenko-Repass 
(“Applicant”) application for a General Individual Occupational License. Applicant 
submitted a completed application for a General Individual Occupational License on 
May 2, 2023, and applied for a waiver of her felony conviction. The Executive 
Director reviewed the file along with the waiver interview notes and declined to 
waive the felony conviction. Therefore, the Florida Gaming Control Commission 
should authorize the issuance of a Notice of Intent to Deny License. 
 
Pertinent Facts  
 
On May 2, 2023, Applicant submitted their application to the Division of Pari-
Mutuel Wagering for a General Individual Occupational License. Upon review of 
the completed application, it appears the Applicant was convicted of felony Frauds 
and Swindles (Mail Fraud) in 2010. The Applicant failed to disclose this on her 
application.  
 
Applicant applied for a waiver for the felony conviction and a waiver interview was 
subsequently conducted. On May 19, 2023, Applicant spoke with an investigator on 
the phone for the waiver interview, and a report was drafted of that interview which 
was submitted to the Executive Director of the Florida Gaming Control Commission 
for consideration. On July 17, 2023, the Executive Director declined to waive the 
felony conviction.  
 
Relevant Law 
 
Section 550.105(5)(b), Florida Statutes, provides in pertinent part that:  
  

“. . . the commission may deny, suspend, revoke, or declare ineligible 
any occupational license if the applicant for such license has been 
convicted in this state, in any other state, or under the laws of the United 



States of a capital felony, a felony, or an offense in any other state which 
would be a felony under the laws of this state involving arson; 
trafficking in, conspiracy to traffic in, smuggling, importing, 
conspiracy to smuggle or import, or delivery, sale, or distribution of a 
controlled substance; or a crime involving a lack of good moral 
character, or has had a pari-mutuel license revoked by this state or any 
other jurisdiction for an offense related to pari-mutuel wagering.”  

  
Section 550.105(5)(d), Florida Statutes, provides that:  
  

“. . . the term “convicted” means having been found guilty, with or 
without adjudication of guilt, as a result of a jury verdict, nonjury trial, 
or entry of a plea of guilty or nolo contendere. However, the term 
“conviction” shall not be applied to a crime committed prior to the 
effective date of this subsection in a manner that would invalidate any 
occupational license issued prior to the effective date of this subsection 
or subsequent renewal for any person holding such a license.”  

  
Section 550.105(5)(c), Florida Statutes, provides in pertinent part that:  
  

“[i]f the applicant establishes that she or he is of good moral character, 
that she or he has been rehabilitated, and that the crime she or he was 
convicted of is not related to pari-mutuel wagering and is not a capital 
offense, the restrictions excluding offenders may be waived by the 
director of the commission.”  

 
Rule 75-5.006(1), Florida Administrative Code, requires the applicant to 
submit Form DBPR PMW-3180, Request for Waiver, and schedule a waiver 
interview with the Office of Investigations. Failure to participate in a waiver 
interview or to disclose any pertinent information regarding criminal 
convictions shall result in a denial of the request for waiver.  
  
Rule 75-5.006(2), Florida Administrative Code, provides that “[t]he applicant 
shall establish proof of rehabilitation and demonstrate good moral character.” 

 
Staff Recommendation: Because the Applicant's disqualifying criminal conviction 
was not waived, the Florida Gaming Control Commission may deny or declare 
Applicant ineligible for any license. Accordingly, the Division of Pari-Mutuel 
Wagering recommends the Florida Gaming Control Commission authorize the 
issuance of a Notice of Intent to Deny License in this matter.  
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OFFICE OF INVESTIGATIONS 

 
WAIVER INVESTIGATIVE REPORT 

 
Office: 
PMW 

Region: 
Southern 

Date of Complaint: 
May 4, 2023 

Case Number: 
2023 02 5872 

Respondent: 
 
ALEKSEENKO-REPASS, INNA 
5030 CHAMPION BLVD. SUITE G11-437 
BOCA RATON, FLORIDA 33496 

Complainant: 
 
DIVISION OF PARI-MUTUEL WAGERING 
OFFICE OF INVESTIGATIONS 
1400 W. COMMERCIAL BLVD. SUITE 165 
FORT LAUDERDALE, FLORIDA 33309 

License #  /  Type: 
13467058  -  1022 

Profession: 
Individual Horse Owner 

Report Date: 
June 5, 2023 

Period of Investigation: 
May 4, 2023-June 5, 2023 

Type of Report: 
Final 

Basis of Investigation: This investigation is predicated upon receipt of Inna ALEKSEENKO-REPASS’s 
application for a State of Florida Pari-Mutuel Waging Individual Occupational License dated January 26, 2023 and 
her Waiver Request form dated March 1, 2023 (Exhibit #1). 
 
On January 26, 2023, ALEKSEENKO-REPASS electronically submitted a PMW Occupational License 
application to be licensed as an Individual Horse Owner at Gulfstream Park.  On her application ALEKSEENKO-
REPASS answered “No” to the question “Have you ever been convicted of or had adjudication withheld for any 
crime, or pled guilty or nolo contender to any criminal charges against you? 
 
On January 30, 2023, February 20, 2023 and March 28, 2023, the Office of Operations sent ALEKSEENKO-
REPASS Deficiency Letters informing her that her application was incomplete and that she needed to amend or 
correct her application (Exhibit #4). 
 
ALEKSEENKO-REPASS appears to have amended her application on two separate occasions.  On each 
occasion she answered “Yes” to the question concerning prior convictions.  On her first amended application she 
wrote “Erie County, PA See attached documents” in lieu of providing specific details.  This form was date/time-
stamped as being received on March 27, 2023.  The second amended document was received on May 2, 2023.  
On this amendment ALEKSEENKO-REPASS made specific disclosure of the following arrests: a 02/28/2000 
arrest from Erie, Pennsylvania for Receiving Stolen Property, 11/19/2002 and a 03/13/2009 arrests from Hampton 
Massachusetts for Disorderly Conduct, a 10/21/2010 arrest from New Jersey for Wire Fraud, along with an 
11/22/2010, Reckless Driving charge and a 10/01/2012 arrest for Driving Under the Influence both of which 
occurred in the state of Georgia (Exhibit #1). 
Related Case: 
Investigations Specialist II   /   Date 
 
Lisa Vila   /   June 5, 2023 

Investigator Supervisor   /   Date 
 
Julio Minaya   /   June 7, 2023 

Chief of Investigations   /   Date 
 
 
Bradford D. Jones   /   July 2, 2023 
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CRIMINAL HISTORY 
Arrest 1 

Date of Arrest: 
11/05/2009 

Arresting Agency 
United States Marshall’s Service, Newark, New Jersey Office 

OFFENSE 
CHARGES CLASSIFICATION PLEA DISPOSITION CONVICTION 

DATE 
1 Fraud and Swindles (Mail Fraud) Felony Guilty Guilty 11/01/2010 
2      
3      
4      
5      
6      
 

SENTENCE 
6 Months imprisonment, 36 months supervised release, $100.00 Special assessment, 
$132,930.00 Restitution which applicant has paid in full. (EXHIBIT #2, Page #7 & EXHIBIT #3, 
Pages 2 thru 19) 
 
 
Additional Information: 
 
 
 
 

Arrest 2 
Date of Arrest: 
 

Arresting Agency: 
 

OFFENSE 
CHARGES CLASSIFICATION PLEA DISPOSITION CONVICTION 

DATE 
1      
2      
3      
4      
 

SENTENCE 
 
 
 
Additional Information: 
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Arrest 3 
Date of Arrest: 
 

Arresting Agency: 
 

OFFENSE 
CHARGES CLASSIFICATION PLEA DISPOSITION CONVICTION 

DATE 
1      
2      
3      
4      
 

SENTENCE 
 
 
 
 
Additional Information: 
 
 
 
 
 

Arrest 4 
Date of Arrest: 
 

Arresting Agency: 

OFFENSE 
CHARGES CLASSIFICATION PLEA DISPOSITION CONVICTION 

DATE 
1      
2      
3      
4      
 

SENTENCE 
 
 
 
 
Additional Information: 
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ADDITIONAL LICENSES 
 YES NO 
Has the Applicant ever possessed a Florida Pari-Mutuel Occupational License?  X 
Does the Applicant possess an Occupational License from other jurisdictions?  X 
 
1.  License Type: 
Date Licensed: 
 

Expiration Date: 
 

License #: 
 

Agency or Jurisdiction: 
 

 YES NO 
Has License ever been suspended or revoked?   
Was any derogatory information received?   
Additional Comments:  
 
2.  License Type: 
Date Licensed: 
 

Expiration Date: 
 

License #: 
 

Agency or Jurisdiction: 
 

 YES NO 
Has License ever been suspended or revoked?   
Was any derogatory information received?   
Additional Comments: 
 
 
 
3.  License Type: 
Date Licensed: 
 

Expiration Dated: License #: Agency or Jurisdiction: 

 YES NO 
Has License ever been suspended or revoked?   
Was any derogatory information received?   
Additional Comments: 
 
 
 
4.  License Type: 
Date Licensed: 
 

Expiration Dated: License #: Agency or Jurisdiction: 

 YES NO 
Has License ever been suspended or revoked?   
Was any derogatory information received?   
Additional Comments: 
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WAIVER INTERVIEW 
 YES NO 
Was a Waiver Interview Conducted? X  
 
Date of Interview: 
May 19, 2023 

Location of Interview: 
Telephonically 

 YES NO 
Was the applicant cooperative? X  
Additional Comments: 
 
 

 
SUMMARY OF INTERVIEW: 
Because ALEKSEENKO-REPASS did not provide a phone number with her application, the 
undersigned investigator sent ALEKSEENKO-REPASS numerous e-mails instructing her to 
contact this writer so that a waiver interview could be conducted.  After a few e-mail attempts 
that went unanswered, on May 19, 2023, ALEKSEENKO-REPASS called this Investigator and 
the Waiver interview was immediately conducted via telephone.  The following was noted: 
 
During the interview, ALEKSEENKO-REPASS was asked about her criminal history.  She 
stated that she was 17 years of age when she was arrested in 1999 for Criminal Conspiracy.  
She explained that she was in the company of bad friends and at a shopping mall.  Some 
members of the group knocked over a table and ran out of the store with a display tool item.  
The entire group was apprehended by mall security, and because the retailer pressed charges, 
they were all charged with the crime (EXHIBIT #2, Page #5). 
 
ALEKSEENKO-REPASS was then asked about her 2009 arrest for Mail Fraud in Newark, New 
Jersey.  She explained that at the time she was employed as an Administrative Assistant and 
her boss at the time was giving her financial kickbacks when she prepared his expense reports.  
Instead of reporting her boss, she knowingly mailed out the fraudulent reports via U.S. mail.  
Once she mailed out the falsified reports, she willingly and knowingly conspired to defraud.  
After a Federal investigation, she and others were charged with Mail Fraud.  ALEKSEENKO-
REPASS, consented to a plea agreement, and was sentenced to six months in federal prison.  
ALEKSEENKO-REPASS was also sentenced to 36 months supervised release and ordered to 
pay $132,930.00 in restitution along with a $100.00 special assessment.  All conditions of her 
plea agreement have been satisfied (EXHIBIT #2, Page #7 & EXHIBIT #3, Pages 2 thru 19). 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



FGCC INVESTIGATIVE REPORT  CASE NUMBER: 2023 02 5872 
 

CONTINUATION 
 

 6 

CONCLUSION: 
A check of the Association of Racing Commissioners International (ARCI) database showed No 
rulings against ALEKSEENKO-REPASS. 
 
Upon review of ALEKSEENKO-REPASS’s, court documents the Misdemeanor arrests listed in 
her amended application(s) were noted for various offenses.  These arrests included the above 
described Criminal Conspiracy and Receiving Stolen Property convictions, as well as Disorderly 
Conduct, Trespass and Driving Under the Influence arrests (Exhibit #2, Pages 5 & 6 – Exhibit 
#3, Pages 1, and Pages 20 - 23). 
 
Status: Case closed by Investigations and forwarded to Licensing for review. 
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MEMORANDUM 
 
To:   The Florida Gaming Control Commission  
From:  Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering 
Through: Emily Alvarado, Deputy Chief Attorney 
Re:   Ignacio Dario Gonzalez.; Case No. 2023-025891 
Date:   August 24, 2023 
 
Executive Summary 
 
The Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering seeks to deny Ignacio Dario Gonzalez’s 
(“Applicant”) application for a Slot/Cardroom/Pari-mutuel Individual Combination 
License. Applicant submitted a completed application for a Slot/Cardroom/Pari-
mutuel Individual Combination License on May 2, 2023. The Executive Director 
reviewed the file and declined to waive the misdemeanor conviction. Therefore, the 
Florida Gaming Control Commission should authorize the issuance of a Notice of 
Intent to Deny License. 
 
Pertinent Facts  
 
On May 2, 2023 Applicant submitted their completed application to the Division of 
Pari-Mutuel Wagering for a Slot/Cardroom/Pari-mutuel Individual Combination 
License. Upon review of the completed application, it appears the Applicant was 
convicted of a misdemeanor in the state of Florida. Specifically, the Applicant was 
convicted of Petit Theft in 2014.  
 
Applicant applied for a waiver for the misdemeanor conviction and a waiver 
interview was subsequently scheduled. The Applicant spoke with an investigator for 
the waiver interview, and a report was compiled and submitted to the Executive 
Director of the Florida Gaming Control Commission for consideration. On June 22, 
2023, the Executive Director declined to waive the misdemeanor conviction. 
Applicant failed to disclose the conviction on his initial application.  
 
Relevant Law 
  
Section 849.086(6)(g), Florida Statutes, provides that:  
  

“[t]he commission may deny, declare ineligible, or revoke any 
cardroom occupational license if the applicant or holder thereof has 
been found guilty or had adjudication withheld in this state or any other 



state, or under the laws of the United States of a felony or misdemeanor 
involving forgery, larceny, extortion, conspiracy to defraud, or filing 
false reports to a government agency, racing or gaming commission or 
authority.”  

  
Section 849.086(6)(f), Florida Statutes, provides that the “provisions specified in s. 
550.105(4), (5), (6), (7), (8), and (10) relating to licensure shall be applicable to 
cardroom occupational licenses.”  
 
Section 550.105(5)(d), Florida Statutes, provides that:  
  

“. . . the term “convicted” means having been found guilty, with or 
without adjudication of guilt, as a result of a jury verdict, nonjury trial, 
or entry of a plea of guilty or nolo contendere. However, the term 
“conviction” shall not be applied to a crime committed prior to the 
effective date of this subsection in a manner that would invalidate any 
occupational license issued prior to the effective date of this subsection 
or subsequent renewal for any person holding such a license.”  

 
Staff Recommendation: Because the Applicant's disqualifying criminal conviction 
was not waived, the Florida Gaming Control Commission may deny or declare 
Applicant ineligible for any license. Accordingly, the Division of Pari-Mutuel 
Wagering recommends the Florida Gaming Control Commission authorize the 
issuance of a Notice of Intent to Deny License in this matter.  













































































































































MEMORANDUM 
 
To:   The Florida Gaming Control Commission  
From:  Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering 
Through: Emily Alvarado, Deputy Chief Attorney 
Re:   Lorie Denise Whitfield; Case No. 2023-031184 
Date:   August 24, 2023 
 
Executive Summary 
 
The Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering seeks to deny Lorie Denise Whitfield’s, 
(“Applicant”) application for a Cardroom Employee Occupational License. 
Applicant submitted a completed application for a Cardroom Employee 
Occupational License on April 25, 2023. The Applicant’s previous Cardroom 
Employee Occupational License was revoked on June 29, 2022 due to a felony 
conviction. Therefore, the Florida Gaming Control Commission should authorize 
the issuance of a Notice of Intent to Deny License. 
 
Pertinent Facts  
 
On April 25, 2023, Applicant submitted their completed application to the Division 
of Pari-Mutuel Wagering for a Cardroom Employee Occupational License. Upon 
review of the completed application, it appears the Applicant’s previous Cardroom 
Employee Occupational License was revoked in 2022 in Case Number 2022-
000896. The previously issued license was revoked due to the 2021 felony 
conviction for Unlawful Sale, Manufacture, Alteration, Delivery, Uttering, or 
Possession of Counterfeit-Resistant Blanks for Controlled Substance and her failure 
to notify the Division within 48 hours of her conviction. Applicant disclosed this 
felony conviction on her application. 
 
Relevant Law 
 
Section 550.105(5)(d), Florida Statutes, provides that:  
  

“. . . the term “convicted” means having been found guilty, with or 
without adjudication of guilt, as a result of a jury verdict, nonjury trial, 
or entry of a plea of guilty or nolo contendere. However, the term 
“conviction” shall not be applied to a crime committed prior to the 
effective date of this subsection in a manner that would invalidate any 



occupational license issued prior to the effective date of this subsection 
or subsequent renewal for any person holding such a license.”  

 
Section 849.086(6)(f), Florida Statutes, provides that the “provisions specified in s. 
550.105(4), (5), (6), (7), (8), and (10) relating to licensure shall be applicable to 
cardroom occupational licenses.”  
  
Section 849.086(6)(g), Florida Statutes, provides that:  
  

“[t]he commission may deny, declare ineligible, or revoke any 
cardroom occupational license if the applicant or holder thereof has 
been found guilty or had adjudication withheld in this state or any other 
state, or under the laws of the United States of a felony or misdemeanor 
involving forgery, larceny, extortion, conspiracy to defraud, or filing 
false reports to a government agency, racing or gaming commission or 
authority.”  

  
Section 550.105(5)(d), Florida Statutes, provides that:  
  

“. . . the term “convicted” means having been found guilty, with or 
without adjudication of guilt, as a result of a jury verdict, nonjury trial, 
or entry of a plea of guilty or nolo contendere. However, the term 
“conviction” shall not be applied to a crime committed prior to the 
effective date of this subsection in a manner that would invalidate any 
occupational license issued prior to the effective date of this subsection 
or subsequent renewal for any person holding such a license.”  

 
Staff Recommendation: Because the Applicant's disqualifying criminal conviction 
and previous license revocation, the Florida Gaming Control Commission may deny 
or declare Applicant ineligible for any license. Accordingly, the Division of Pari-
Mutuel Wagering recommends the Florida Gaming Control Commission authorize 
the issuance of a Notice of Intent to Deny License in this matter.  







 
*Please attach Routing Slip to front of case file                                                                                                         
    
 

ROUTING SLIP 
REQUEST FOR WAIVER 

 
 

RE: WHITFIELD, LORIE DENISE – 12548941                          Case No: 2023 03 1184 
          (APPLICANT’S NAME – LICENSE #) 
 
 
1012 – Chip Runner                          154 – WASHINGTON COUNTY KENNEL CLUB (EBRO)  
Occupation Code and Job Title      Facility (d/b/a name)  
                       

90-DAY RESPONSE DEADLINE:       AUGUST 30, 2023                                                                   (DATE) 
 

 
Investigations Section:  Reviewed by Bradford D. Jones      6/28/2023  

                       (Initial & Date) 
 
The attached “Request for Waiver” file has been reviewed for completeness and accuracy, and has been 
forwarded to the Licensing Section. 
  
 
Licensing Section:   Reviewed by:          

                      (Initial & Date)           (Initial & Date) 
 
Is the applicant currently under suspension, has unpaid fines, or has been refused a license by any gaming 
or racing jurisdiction?  
 
 [    ] Yes  or  [    ] No   If yes, in what jurisdiction?          
 
 
Executive Director:     
            (Initial & Date) 
 
[    ] Prepare Waiver   or    [    ] Prepare File for Commission Review  
   
 
Comments:                 
 
 
Investigative Findings:  
 
June 8, 2021  Bay County Sheriff’s Office, FL. – Unlawful Sale, Manufacture, Alteration, Delivery, 

Uttering, or Possession of Counterfeit-Resistant Prescription Blanks for Controlled 
Substance – Felony – Pled Nolo Contendere – Adjudication Withheld on October 14, 
2021. – Sentenced to 18 months’ Probation and $300.00 in Court costs/Fines  

 
June 28, 2022  FGCC – PMW Cardroom Employee Occupational License revoked due to above 

felony conviction and the Applicant’s failure to notify the Division within 48 hours of 
her conviction (PMW Case #2022-00-0896). 



  

Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering 
Office of Investigations 

1400 West Commercial Boulevard, Suite 165 
Ft. Lauderdale, Florida 33309 

Phone: 954.202.3900 • Fax: 954.202.3930 

  

 
Louis Trombetta, Executive Director 

 
Ron DeSantis, Governor 

  

 

FLORIDA GAMING CONTROL COMMISSION 
HTTPS://FGCC.FL.GOV/ 

 

OFFICE OF INVESTIGATIONS 
 

WAIVER INVESTIGATIVE REPORT 
 

Office: 
PMW 

Region: 
NORTHERN 

Date of Complaint: 
MAY 31, 2023 

Case Number: 
2023 03 1184 

Respondent: 
 
WHITFIELD, LORIE DENISE 
362 E. WOODLAND ROAD 
PANAMA CITY, FLORIDA 32409 
          

  

Complainant: 
 
DIVISION OF PARI-MUTUEL WAGERING 
OFFICE OF INVESTIGATIONS 
1400 W. COMMERCIAL BOULEVARD, SUITE 165 
FT. LAUDERDALE, FLORIDA 33309 

License # / Type: 
12548941 / 1012 

Profession: 
Chip Runner 

Report Date: 
June 26, 2023 

Period of Investigation: 
May 31, 2023 – June 26, 2023 

Type of Report: 
Final 

Basis of Investigation: This investigation is predicated upon receipt of Lorie Denise WHITFIELD’s State of 
Florida Pari-Mutuel Occupational License Application dated April 18, 2023, and Waiver Request Form dated 
May 22, 2023. 
 
On April 18, 2023, WHITFIELD applied for a PMW Cardroom Employee Occupational license to work as a 
Chip Runner at Washington County Kennel Club (Ebro).  On her application, she answered “Yes” to the 
question on page 2 of the application, “Have you ever been convicted of, or had adjudication withheld for 
any crime, or pled guilty or nolo contendere to any criminal charges against you?”  WHITFIELD disclosed a 
2021 Felony conviction in Bay County, FL. for Sale, Possession, Manufacture, Alteration of Prescription 
Blanks.  
 
  
Related Case: 2022 00 0896 
Investigator Supervisor / Date 

/s/  
C. Derek Washington / June 26, 2023 

Chief of Investigations / Date 
 
 
Bradford D. Jones   /   June 28, 2023 
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CRIMINAL HISTORY 
Arrest 1 

Date of Arrest: 
06/08/2021 

Arresting Agency: 
Bay County Sheriff’s Office, FL 

OFFENSE 
 CLASSIFICATION PLEA DISPOSITION CONVICTION 

DATE 
1 Unlawful Sale, Manufacture, 

Alteration, Delivery, Uttering, or 
Possession of Counterfeit-
Resistant Prescription Blanks for 
Controlled Substance. 

Felony Nolo 
Contendere 

Adj. 
Withheld 

10/14/2021 

2      
3      
4      
 

SENTENCE 
18 months’ probation, $300.00 Court Costs/Fines.  

 
Additional Information: Bay County Court #302020CF003912 / All fines paid in full. Early 
termination of probation on October 11, 2022. 
 
 

Arrest 2 
Date of Arrest: 
 

Arresting Agency: 
 

OFFENSE 
 CLASSIFICATION PLEA DISPOSITION CONVICTION 

DATE 
1      
2      
3      
4      
 

SENTENCE 
 

Additional Information:   
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CRIMINAL HISTORY 

Arrest 3 
Date of Arrest: 
 

Arresting Agency: 
 

OFFENSE 
 CLASSIFICATION PLEA DISPOSITION CONVICTION 

DATE 
1      
2      
3      
4      
 

SENTENCE 
              

 
Additional Information: 

 
 

Arrest 4 
Date of Arrest: 
 

Arresting Agency: 

OFFENSE 
 CLASSIFICATION PLEA DISPOSITION CONVICTION 

DATE 
1      
2      
3      
4      
 

SENTENCE 
 

 
Additional Information: 
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ADDITIONAL LICENSES 
 YES NO 
Has the Applicant ever possessed a Florida Pari-Mutuel Occupational License? X  
Does the Applicant possess an Occupational License from other jurisdictions?  X 
 
1.  License Type: 1012 – Cardroom Employee Occupational 
Date Licensed: 
10/29/2020 

Expiration Date: 
06/30/2023 

License #: 
12548941 

Agency or Jurisdiction: 
FGCC 

 YES NO 
Has License ever been suspended or revoked? X  
Was any derogatory information received? X  
Additional Comments: Applicant’s prior license was revoked due to her Felony conviction 
listed above and failure to notify the Division of the conviction, FGCC Case 2022 00 0896 
(Exhibit #4).  
 
 
2.  License Type:  
Date Licensed: 
 

Expiration Date: 
 

License #: 
 

Agency or Jurisdiction: 
 

 YES NO 
Has License ever been suspended or revoked?   
Was any derogatory information received?   
Additional Comments:  
 
3.  License Type:  
Date Licensed: 
 

Expiration Date:  License #:  
 

Agency or Jurisdiction: 
 

 YES NO 
Has License ever been suspended or revoked?   
Was any derogatory information received?   
Additional Comments: 
 
 
 
4.  License Type:  
Date Licensed: 
 

Expiration Date:  License #:  Agency or Jurisdiction:  
 

 YES NO 
Has License ever been suspended or revoked?   
Was any derogatory information received?   
Additional Comments: 
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WAIVER INTERVIEW 
 YES NO 
Was a Waiver Interview Conducted? X  
 
Date of Interview:  
June 13, 2023 

Location of Interview:  
Via telephone  

 YES NO 
Was the applicant cooperative? X  
Additional Comments:  
 
 

 
SUMMARY OF INTERVIEW: 
In discussing Ms. WHITFIELD’s 2021 Felony conviction, she explained that she worked 
at a drug rehabilitation center (Journey Pure) in 2020 and got addicted to sleeping pills.  
She said she took blank prescriptions from the Doctor and forged them to get the 
sleeping pills.  Ms. WHITFIELD further explained that a warrant for her arrest was 
issued for this incident.  She said when she was arrested on June 8, 2021, she had 
been working at Washington County Kennel Club (Ebro) as a Chip Runner.  She said 
she informed her supervisor of the arrest, and her supervisor sent an email to PMW 
Chief of Operations Glenda Ricks notifying the Division of Ms. WHITFIELD’s arrest. 
  
When asked why she failed to notify the Division after she was convicted, Ms. 
WHITFIELD said she informed her supervisor about her arrest, thinking it was sufficient. 
She said she did not know she had to notify the Division as well.   
 
Ms. WHITFIELD’s PMW Cardroom Employee License that she held at the time, was 
revoked because of her felony conviction and her failure to notify the Division of said 
conviction. 
 
 
 
CONCLUSION: 
A check of the Association of Racing Commissioners International (ARCI) database 
showed no rulings against WHITFIELD.  
 
Case Status: Case closed by Investigations and forwarded to Licensing. 
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Comprehensive Ruling Report

Rulings Against: Lorie Denise Whitfield
 

 
Legal Name: Lorie Denise Whitfield
Birth Date
 

0 Total Ruling(s) Listed

"Multiple medication violation points and point totals are for advisory and informational purposes only to indicate the existence of
regulatory medication violation determinations made by racing regulatory entities in order to notify officials of possible

aggravating factor  that hould be reviewed by official  prior to taking regulatory action  Confirmation of violation  hould be
made directly with the racing regulatory entity responsible."

No Rulings
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Comprehensive Licensee Report

ARCI Licensee: Lorie Denise Whitfield
 

Identification Information 
DOB:  
Country: USA 
Sex: Unknown 

Licensee's Names
Current Legal Name: Lorie Denise Whitfield

Licensee's Addresses 
None

Licensee's Phone Numbers 
None

Fingerprint History 
None

License History
License
Number:

12548941 License Type Other/OTB/Casino 

Commission: Florida Division of Pari-Mutuel
Wagering 

State/Province: Florida 

Issue Date 10/29/2020 Expire Date 6/30/2023 
Division Dog Breed Unknown 
 
Ruling History 
None
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MEMORANDUM 
 
To:   The Florida Gaming Control Commission  
From:  Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering 
Through: Emily Alvarado, Deputy Chief Attorney 
Re:   Dioni Gonzalez Fernandez; Case No. 2023-037449 
Date:   July 20, 2023 
 
Executive Summary 
 
The Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering seeks to deny Dioni Gonzalez Fernandez’s, 
(“Applicant”) application for a Slot Machine/Cardroom/Pari-Mutuel Combination 
Occupational License. Applicant submitted a completed application for a Slot 
Machine/Cardroom/Pari-Mutuel Combination Occupational License on June 15, 
2023. The Executive Director reviewed the file and declined to waive the felony 
convictions. Therefore, the Florida Gaming Control Commission should authorize 
the issuance of a Notice of Intent to Deny License. 
 
Pertinent Facts  
 
On June 15, 2023, Applicant submitted their completed application to the Division 
of Pari-Mutuel Wagering for a Slot Machine/Cardroom/Pari-Mutuel Combination 
Occupational License. Upon review of the completed application, it appears the 
Applicant was convicted of felonies in the state of Florida. Specifically, the 
Applicant was convicted of four counts of threats/extortion in 2020. 
 
Applicant did not apply for a waiver for his felony convictions, however, under 
section 551.107(6)(a), Florida Statutes, the legislature did not authorize the 
Executive Director to waive criminal convictions for slot machine 
licensing.  Applicant disclosed these convictions on his application.  
 
Relevant Law 
 
Section 551.107(6)(a), Florida Statutes, provides in pertinent part that:  
  

“. . .the commission may deny, suspend, revoke, or refuse to renew any 
slot machine occupational license if the applicant for such license or the 
licensee has been convicted in this state, in any other state, or under the 
laws of the United States of a capital felony, a felony, or an offense in 
any other state that would be a felony under the laws of this state 



involving arson; trafficking in, conspiracy to traffic in, smuggling, 
importing, conspiracy to smuggle or import, or delivery, sale, or 
distribution of a controlled substance; racketeering; or a crime 
involving a lack of good moral character, or has had a gaming license 
revoked by this state or any other jurisdiction for any gaming-related 
offense.”  

  
Section 849.086(6)(f), Florida Statutes, provides that the “provisions specified in s. 
550.105(4), (5), (6), (7), (8), and (10) relating to licensure shall be applicable to 
cardroom occupational licenses.”  
  
Section 849.086(6)(g), Florida Statutes, provides that:  
  

“[t]he commission may deny, declare ineligible, or revoke any 
cardroom occupational license if the applicant or holder thereof has 
been found guilty or had adjudication withheld in this state or any other 
state, or under the laws of the United States of a felony or misdemeanor 
involving forgery, larceny, extortion, conspiracy to defraud, or filing 
false reports to a government agency, racing or gaming commission or 
authority.”  

  
Section 550.105(5)(d), Florida Statutes, provides that:  
  

“. . . the term “convicted” means having been found guilty, with or 
without adjudication of guilt, as a result of a jury verdict, nonjury trial, 
or entry of a plea of guilty or nolo contendere. However, the term 
“conviction” shall not be applied to a crime committed prior to the 
effective date of this subsection in a manner that would invalidate any 
occupational license issued prior to the effective date of this subsection 
or subsequent renewal for any person holding such a license.”  

 
Staff Recommendation: Because the Applicant's disqualifying criminal convictions 
were not waived, the Florida Gaming Control Commission may deny or declare 
Applicant ineligible for any license. Accordingly, the Division of Pari-Mutuel 
Wagering recommends the Florida Gaming Control Commission authorize the 
issuance of a Notice of Intent to Deny License in this matter.  































































MEMORANDUM 
 
To:   The Florida Gaming Control Commission  
From:  Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering 
Through: Emily Alvarado, Deputy Chief Attorney 
Re:   Garrett T. Anderson; Case No. 2023-037859 
Date:   August 24, 2023 
 
Executive Summary 
 
The Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering seeks to deny Garrett T. Anderson’s, 
(“Applicant”) application for a Cardroom Employee Occupational License. 
Applicant submitted a completed application for a Cardroom Employee 
Occupational License on May 8, 2023. The Executive Director reviewed the file and 
declined to waive the convictions. Therefore, the Florida Gaming Control 
Commission should authorize the issuance of a Notice of Intent to Deny License. 
 
Pertinent Facts  
 
On May 8, 2023, Applicant submitted their completed application to the Division of 
Pari-Mutuel Wagering for a Cardroom Employee Occupational License. Upon 
review of the completed application, it appears the Applicant was convicted of two 
felonies in the state of Florida. Specifically, the Applicant was convicted of the 
following felonies: 
 

• Feeling or Attempting to Elude High Speed in 2022 
• Fleeing or Attempting to Elude in 2022 

 
The Commission is also considering Applicant’s license after an informal hearing. 
 
Relevant Law 
 
Section 550.105(5)(d), Florida Statutes, provides that:  
  

“. . . the term “convicted” means having been found guilty, with or 
without adjudication of guilt, as a result of a jury verdict, nonjury trial, 
or entry of a plea of guilty or nolo contendere. However, the term 
“conviction” shall not be applied to a crime committed prior to the 
effective date of this subsection in a manner that would invalidate any 



occupational license issued prior to the effective date of this subsection 
or subsequent renewal for any person holding such a license.”  

 
Section 849.086(6)(f), Florida Statutes, provides that the “provisions specified in s. 
550.105(4), (5), (6), (7), (8), and (10) relating to licensure shall be applicable to 
cardroom occupational licenses.”  
  
Section 849.086(6)(g), Florida Statutes, provides that:  
  

“[t]he commission may deny, declare ineligible, or revoke any 
cardroom occupational license if the applicant or holder thereof has 
been found guilty or had adjudication withheld in this state or any other 
state, or under the laws of the United States of a felony or misdemeanor 
involving forgery, larceny, extortion, conspiracy to defraud, or filing 
false reports to a government agency, racing or gaming commission or 
authority.”  

  
Section 550.105(5)(d), Florida Statutes, provides that:  
  

“. . . the term “convicted” means having been found guilty, with or 
without adjudication of guilt, as a result of a jury verdict, nonjury trial, 
or entry of a plea of guilty or nolo contendere. However, the term 
“conviction” shall not be applied to a crime committed prior to the 
effective date of this subsection in a manner that would invalidate any 
occupational license issued prior to the effective date of this subsection 
or subsequent renewal for any person holding such a license.”  

 
Staff Recommendation: Because the Applicant's disqualifying criminal convictions 
were not waived, the Florida Gaming Control Commission may deny or declare 
Applicant ineligible for any license. Accordingly, the Division of Pari-Mutuel 
Wagering recommends the Florida Gaming Control Commission authorize the 
issuance of a Notice of Intent to Deny License in this matter.  









  

Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering 
Office of Investigations 

1400 West Commercial Boulevard, Suite 165 
Ft. Lauderdale, Florida 33309 

Phone: 954.202.3900 • Fax: 954.202.3930 

  

 
Louis Trombetta, Executive Director 

 
Ron DeSantis, Governor 

  

 

FLORIDA GAMING CONTROL COMMISSION 
HTTPS://FGCC.FL.GOV/ 

 

OFFICE OF INVESTIGATIONS 
 

WAIVER INVESTIGATIVE REPORT 
 

Office: 
PMW 

Region: 
Central 

Date of Complaint: 
July 7, 2023 

Case Number: 
2023 03 7859 

Respondent: 
 
ANDERSON, GARRETT T. 
1007 WANDERER DRIVE 
DELTONA, FLORIDA 32738 
          
Phone: (850) 867-9074  

Complainant: 
 
DIVISION OF PARI-MUTUEL WAGERING 
OFFICE OF INVESTIGATIONS 
1400 W. COMMERCIAL BOULEVARD, SUITE 165 
FT. LAUDERDALE, FLORIDA 33309 

License # / Type: 
11565390 / 1012 

Profession: 
DEALER 

Report Date: 
JULY 24, 2023 

Period of Investigation: 
JULY 7, 2023 – JULY 24, 2023 

Type of Report: 
Final 

Basis of Investigation: This investigation is predicated upon receipt of Garrett T. ANDERSON’S State of 
Florida Pari-Mutuel Occupational License Application dated April 26, 2023, and Waiver Request Form dated 
July 6, 2023. 
 
On April 26, 2023, ANDERSON applied for a PMW Cardroom Employee Occupational license to work as a 
Poker Dealer at Orange City Racing & Card Club.  On his application, he answered “Yes” to the question on 
page 2 of the application, “Have you ever been convicted of, or had adjudication withheld for any crime, or 
pled guilty or nolo contendere to any criminal charges against you?”  ANDERSON disclosed a 2022 Felony 
conviction in Volusia County, FL. for Fleeing or Attempting to Elude High Speed and Fleeing or Attempting 
to Elude.  
 
  
Related Case: 2022 04 8147 
 
Investigator Supervisor / Date 

/s/  
C. Derek Washington / July 24, 2023 

Chief of Investigations / Date 
 
 
Bradford D. Jones   /   July 28, 2023 
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CRIMINAL HISTORY 

Arrest 1 
Date of Arrest: 
02/25/2022 

Arresting Agency: 
Volusia County Sheriff’s Office, FL. 

OFFENSE 
 CLASSIFICATION PLEA DISPOSITION CONVICTION 

DATE 
1 Fleeing or Attempting to Elude 

High Speed (2nd Degree) 
Felony Nolo 

Contendere 
Adjudicated 
Guilty 

09/15/2022 

2 Fleeing or Attempting to Elude 
(3rd Degree) 

Felony Nolo 
Contendere 

Adjudicated 
Guilty 

09/15/2022 

3      
4      
 

SENTENCE 
Placed on Community Control for 24 months and fined $651.00.  

 
Additional Information: Applicant failed to notify the Division of his arrest and subsequent 
conviction while licensed as a Poker Dealer. 
 
 

Arrest 2 
Date of Arrest: 
 

Arresting Agency: 
 

OFFENSE 
 CLASSIFICATION PLEA DISPOSITION CONVICTION 

DATE 
1      
2      
3      
4      
 

SENTENCE 
 

Additional Information:   
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CRIMINAL HISTORY 

Arrest 3 
Date of Arrest: 
 

Arresting Agency: 
 

OFFENSE 
 CLASSIFICATION PLEA DISPOSITION CONVICTION 

DATE 
1      
2      
3      
4      
 

SENTENCE 
              

 
Additional Information: 

 
 

Arrest 4 
Date of Arrest: 
 

Arresting Agency: 

OFFENSE 
 CLASSIFICATION PLEA DISPOSITION CONVICTION 

DATE 
1      
2      
3      
4      
 

SENTENCE 
 

 
Additional Information: 
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ADDITIONAL LICENSES 
 YES NO 
Has the Applicant ever possessed a Florida Pari-Mutuel Occupational License? X  
Does the Applicant possess an Occupational License from other jurisdictions?  X 
 
1.  License Type: 1012 – Cardroom Employee Occupational 
Date Licensed: 

07/14/2020 
Expiration Date: 

06/30/2023 
License #: 
11565390 

Agency or Jurisdiction: 
FGCC 

 YES NO 
Has License ever been suspended or revoked?  X 
Was any derogatory information received? X  
Additional Comments: Applicant’s was issued an Administrative Complaint due to his 
Felony convictions noted above and failure to notify the Division of the convictions, 
FGCC Case 2022 04 8147 (Exhibit #4).  
 
 
2.  License Type:  
Date Licensed: 
 

Expiration Date: 
 

License #: 
 

Agency or Jurisdiction: 
 

 YES NO 
Has License ever been suspended or revoked?   
Was any derogatory information received?   
Additional Comments:  
 
3.  License Type:  
Date Licensed: 
 

Expiration Date:  License #:  
 

Agency or Jurisdiction: 
 

 YES NO 
Has License ever been suspended or revoked?   
Was any derogatory information received?   
Additional Comments: 
 
 
 
4.  License Type:  
Date Licensed: 
 

Expiration Date:  License #:  Agency or Jurisdiction:  
 

 YES NO 
Has License ever been suspended or revoked?   
Was any derogatory information received?   
Additional Comments: 
 
 
 
 



FGCC INVESTIGATIVE REPORT    CASE NUMBER: 2023 03 7859 
 

 5 

 
WAIVER INTERVIEW 
 YES NO 
Was a Waiver Interview Conducted? X  
 
Date of Interview:  
July 11, 2023 

Location of Interview:  
Via telephone  

 YES NO 
Was the applicant cooperative? X  
Additional Comments:  
 
 

 
SUMMARY OF INTERVIEW: 
In discussing ANDERSON's 2022 Felony convictions, he explained that on the date of 
the incident, he met up with some friends for drinks.  He stated that he and another guy 
started going back and forth about which one of their cars was faster, his New Dodge 
Charger or the other guy's Ford Mustang.  ANDERSON said everyone left the bar to go 
to another bar except for him, who was heading home.  He said while stopped at a red 
light, the guy he was talking to about whose car was fastest was next to him at the light.  
 
ANDERSON said when the light turned green, they both “hit it” (sped) for a few 
seconds.  ANDERSON said he saw the police but did not stop because he was afraid 
the police would think he was street racing and impound the car he just bought, so he 
kept driving to get home.  ANDERSON further stated that after driving away from the 
police, he stopped and tried to report that his car was stolen and flagged down a police 
officer driving by.  Upon questioning, the police officer knew he was lying, 
and ANDERSON was arrested. 
  
ANDERSON further explained that he was going through a rough time and had just 
ended a toxic relationship with a woman he should not have been dating.  He said she 
continued to harass him, which put him “in a bad place” mentally.  
  
When asked why he failed to notify the Division after he was arrested and subsequently 
convicted, ANDERSON said he was unaware he had to make any such notification. 
 
ANDERSON provided letters of support from his parents and brother (Exhibit #4). 
 
CONCLUSION: 
A check of the Association of Racing Commissioners International (ARCI) database 
showed no rulings against ANDERSON.  
 
Case Status: Case closed by Investigations and forwarded to Licensing. 
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Notice to Appear Instruction Sheet
Follow these instructions according to the boxes checked.

Mandatory Court Appearance -- You MUST appear at COURT. You will receive a Notice of Arraignment from the County Clerk's
Office at the mailing address you have given. Failure to appear at the time and place designated, will result in a warrant being issued for your arrest.

Court Appearance Not Mandatory -- You MUST comply with EITHER A or B:

PAYMENTS SHOULD BE MADE PAYABLE TO:

CLERK OF THE COURT.

A.  Pay the Fine: You must complete the waiver information below and either mail or personally present this citation at the Clerk's
Office checked below, from 8:00 a.m. to 4:30 p.m., Monday through Friday within 15 days of the issuance of this Notice to
Appear. Fines may be paid in cash, personal check, money order or certified check made payable to: Clerk of the Court

Total fine and costs you must pay: $

ATTENTION:  PERSONS WITH DISABILITIES
If you are a person with a disability who needs any accommodation in order to participate in this proceeding, you are
entitled, at no cost to you, to the provision of certain assistance.  Please contact Court Administration, 125 E. Orange Avenue,
Ste.300, Daytona Beach, FL 32114; Telephone: 386-257-6096 within two (2) working days of your receipt of this notice: If you
are hearing or voice impaired, call 1-800-955-8771 or 1-800-955-8770.  THIS IS NOT A COURT INFORMATION LINE.

Plea and Waiver Information
If this notice indicates that you have the option to pay a fine or appear in court and you choose to pay the fine, follow the instructions in
paragraph A above.  Read and sign this page. This page MUST be returned to the clerk's office with your fine payment.

1.    In consideration of my not appearing in court, I enter my plea on the affidavit in this case, for the offense charged, waiving my
right to be present and the reading of the affidavit.  I understand the nature of the charge(s) against me and hereby enter my plea
of guilty or nolo contendere (no contest) .

2.    In doing so, I understand the nature of the charge(s) against me, I understand that I waive my right to counsel, the right to a trial
before a judge or jury, the right to a continuance, and the right to appeal.  Payment of this fine will result in adjudication of guilt
to this charge being withheld.

3.    By my signature, I acknowledge that I understand the above statements.  I am not under the influence of alcohol or drugs. I also
certify that my address listed below is correct.

Defendant's Signature:

Defendant's Name (print):

Date:

Volusia
Court Case
Number:

Number:
Agency Case

.

Pg #        of

Defendant's Address:

(DO NOT MAIL CASH.)

You MUST request that a court date be set within 15 days of the issuance of this Notice to Appear (if
the 15th day falls on a Saturday, Sunday or legal holiday, the period is extended to the next working day) by either appearing

B.  Contest the Citation:

of the Court at the address checked below.

COUNTY CLERK'S OFFICES:
Volusia County Courthouse, room B155, 101 N. Alabama Avenue, Deland, FL, 32724

Court House Annex, room 109, 125 E. Orange Avenue, Daytona Beach, FL, 32114

Volusia County Courthouse, room 6, 124 N. Riverside Drive, New Smyrna Beach, FL, 32169

between the hours of 8:00 a.m. and 10:00 a.m. at the Clerk's Office checked below, or by mailing your written request to the
Clerk

I agree to appear at the time and place as designated above to answer the listed charge(s) or pay the fine and costs.  I
understand that if I willfully fail to request a court date and/or fail to appear before the court as required by this Notice to
Appear, or fail to pay the indicated fine and costs on or before the date set forth above, I may be held in contempt of court and a
warrant for my arrest will be issued.

DEFENDANT'S SIGNATURE (MANDATORY):

(First) (Middle) (Last)

32
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I swear/affirm the above statements are correct and true

OFFICER'S/COMPLAINANT'S SIGNATURE

NAME (PRINTED) ID NUMBER

Sworn to and subscribed before me, the undersigned

this day of

Name:

, ,

Type of Identification:

Right Thumb

Law Enforcement Officer

Produced Identification

Narrative
Supplement

707-B
Court Case
Number: Page # of

CHARGES DOMESTIC
VIOLENCE?

Charge: FEL ORD FS/ORD: Citation No.: Bond:

Charge:

Charge: FEL MISD ORD FS/ORD: Citation No.: Bond:

FEL MISD ORD FS/ORD: Citation No.: Bond:

MISD

#

#

#

Number:
Agency Case(Last) (First) (Middle)

Notary Public

Personally Known

Defendant
Name:

Arrest

Affidavit

Notice to Appear

Adult

Juvenile

Yes Attachments:   Affidavit(s)? Statement(s) NTA Schedule Report Traffic Infraction(s)
Total
Charges:

3 3

Anderson Garrett T 220000577

1

16 

17 Deputy Marty was in the area of Garfield and Doyle Rd and observed the vehicle at which point he attempted to conduct a traffic stop at which point 
18 the vehicle fled from him as well. See VSO case #VP220003912 for details. This was at approximately 0124:04 hours per CAD.

19 

20 Deputy Nealis was set up east of Deputy Marty at Doyle Rd/Lush Ln with stop sticks where he was able to successfully deploy his stop sticks and 
21 deflate the vehicles tires. The vehicle continued to drive east bound on Doyle Rd. This was at approximately 0124:58 hours per CAD. 

22 

23 Deputy Marty then located the vehicle unoccupied, locked with the windows rolled up at the Circle K located at S.R. 415 and Doyle Rd. This was at 
24 approximately 0127:25 hours per CAD.  Deputy Martey observed a white male same build and hair cut as the DEF from the back walking south 
25 bound on S.R. 415 from the location of where the vehicle was located. Deputy Marty stayed with the vehicle until additional Law Enforcement Officers 
26 arrival.

27 

28 Units on scene then began to BOLO the area. At approximately 0145:19 hours per CAD the registered owner/DEF called into 911 wanting to report 
29 his vehicle stolen. The DEF explained he was on Maytown Rd walking. Deputies arrived in the 300 blk of Maytown Rd and secured the DEF. The 300 
30 blk of Maytown Rd is in a close proximity to where the vehicle was located. 

31 

32 The DEF was read his Miranda Rights by Deputy Bryant from a pre-printed card. The DEF stated he was at his friend "Ryan's" house all night and 
33 had recently left "Ryan's" house approximately 20 minutes prior to calling 911 to report his vehicle stolen. The DEF stated "Ryan's" house was off 
34 Maytown but he was unsure of the exact location. He estimated he had walked six miles to obtain cell phone service to call 911 to report his vehicle 
35 stolen. The DEF stated he walked outside of "Ryan's" house 20 minutes before calling and saw his car gone. The DEF stated he only had one key 
36 fob for the car. Noting- when the vehicle was located it showed no sign of damage to the steering column or interior of the vehicle as if it was stolen. 
37 The DEF was also found to have the only key fob to the vehicle in his pocket. When questioned how the vehicle would be stolen if he had the key fob 
38 and it was not damaged inside, he stated he did not know. While speaking with him deputies were able to speak with "Ryan". "Ryan" stated the DEF 
39 was at his house on 02-24-2022 and had left at approximately 1800 hours in his Orange Charger. Ryan had not seen the DEF since. The DEF stated 
40 "Ryan" is a close friend and would have no reason to lie to get him in trouble when asked. 

41 

42 Based on the totality of circumstance probable cause was established to state the DEF/registered owner of the vehicle was driving the car when it 
43 fled from Law Enforcement and he was placed under arrest. 

44 

45 Search incident to arrest the DEF was found to have two bar tab/receipts in his pocket. The receipts were  both for "Pub and Grill" located at 2438 S 
46 Volusia Ave in Orange City. One block away from where I originally observed the vehicle committing a traffic violation. The time stamps on the 
47 receipts are as follows; receipt #1- 02-24-2022 at 1136 hours. Receipt #2- 02-25-2022 at 0108 hours, which was approximately 11 minutes before I 
48 attempted to conduct a traffic stop on him. These receipts were taken for evidence by Deputy Martey.

49 

50 The DEF was additionally charged with Fleeing and Eluding and Misuse of 911 by Deputy Martey. See VP220003912 for VSO report/charging 
51 affidavit. 

52 

53 The DEF was issued several citation then transported to VCBJ.


25 February 2022

Harralson,Samuel OC1243
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Notice to Appear Instruction Sheet
Follow these instructions according to the boxes checked.

Mandatory Court Appearance -- You MUST appear at COURT. You will receive a Notice of Arraignment from the County Clerk's
Office at the mailing address you have given. Failure to appear at the time and place designated, will result in a warrant being issued for your arrest.

Court Appearance Not Mandatory -- You MUST comply with EITHER A or B:

PAYMENTS SHOULD BE MADE PAYABLE TO:

CLERK OF THE COURT.

A.  Pay the Fine: You must complete the waiver information below and either mail or personally present this citation at the Clerk's
Office checked below, from 8:00 a.m. to 4:30 p.m., Monday through Friday within 15 days of the issuance of this Notice to
Appear. Fines may be paid in cash, personal check, money order or certified check made payable to: Clerk of the Court

Total fine and costs you must pay: $

ATTENTION:  PERSONS WITH DISABILITIES
If you are a person with a disability who needs any accommodation in order to participate in this proceeding, you are
entitled, at no cost to you, to the provision of certain assistance.  Please contact Court Administration, 125 E. Orange Avenue,
Ste.300, Daytona Beach, FL 32114; Telephone: 386-257-6096 within two (2) working days of your receipt of this notice: If you
are hearing or voice impaired, call 1-800-955-8771 or 1-800-955-8770.  THIS IS NOT A COURT INFORMATION LINE.

Plea and Waiver Information
If this notice indicates that you have the option to pay a fine or appear in court and you choose to pay the fine, follow the instructions in
paragraph A above.  Read and sign this page. This page MUST be returned to the clerk's office with your fine payment.

1.    In consideration of my not appearing in court, I enter my plea on the affidavit in this case, for the offense charged, waiving my
right to be present and the reading of the affidavit.  I understand the nature of the charge(s) against me and hereby enter my plea
of guilty or nolo contendere (no contest) .

2.    In doing so, I understand the nature of the charge(s) against me, I understand that I waive my right to counsel, the right to a trial
before a judge or jury, the right to a continuance, and the right to appeal.  Payment of this fine will result in adjudication of guilt
to this charge being withheld.

3.    By my signature, I acknowledge that I understand the above statements.  I am not under the influence of alcohol or drugs. I also
certify that my address listed below is correct.

Defendant's Signature:

Defendant's Name (print):

Date:

Volusia
Court Case
Number:

Number:
Agency Case

.

Pg #        of

Defendant's Address:

(DO NOT MAIL CASH.)

You MUST request that a court date be set within 15 days of the issuance of this Notice to Appear (if
the 15th day falls on a Saturday, Sunday or legal holiday, the period is extended to the next working day) by either appearing

B.  Contest the Citation:

of the Court at the address checked below.

COUNTY CLERK'S OFFICES:
Volusia County Courthouse, room B155, 101 N. Alabama Avenue, Deland, FL, 32724

Court House Annex, room 109, 125 E. Orange Avenue, Daytona Beach, FL, 32114

Volusia County Courthouse, room 6, 124 N. Riverside Drive, New Smyrna Beach, FL, 32169

between the hours of 8:00 a.m. and 10:00 a.m. at the Clerk's Office checked below, or by mailing your written request to the
Clerk

I agree to appear at the time and place as designated above to answer the listed charge(s) or pay the fine and costs.  I
understand that if I willfully fail to request a court date and/or fail to appear before the court as required by this Notice to
Appear, or fail to pay the indicated fine and costs on or before the date set forth above, I may be held in contempt of court and a
warrant for my arrest will be issued.

DEFENDANT'S SIGNATURE (MANDATORY):

(First) (Middle) (Last)

42
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I swear/affirm the above statements are correct and true

OFFICER'S/COMPLAINANT'S SIGNATURE

NAME (PRINTED) ID NUMBER

Sworn to and subscribed before me, the undersigned

this day of

Name:

, ,

Type of Identification:

Right Thumb

Law Enforcement Officer

Produced Identification

Narrative
Supplement

707-B
Court Case
Number: Page # of

CHARGES DOMESTIC
VIOLENCE?

Charge: FEL ORD FS/ORD: Citation No.: Bond:

Charge:

Charge: FEL MISD ORD FS/ORD: Citation No.: Bond:

FEL MISD ORD FS/ORD: Citation No.: Bond:

MISD

#

#

#

Number:
Agency Case(Last) (First) (Middle)

Notary Public

Personally Known

Defendant
Name:

Arrest

Affidavit

Notice to Appear

Adult

Juvenile

Yes Attachments:   Affidavit(s)? Statement(s) NTA Schedule Report Traffic Infraction(s)
Total
Charges:

3 4

ANDERSON GARRETT T 220003912

1

16 contact with the Circle K employee who advised she did not see anyone walk away from the vehicle and was unable to provide deputies with video 
17 surveillance. It should be noted the was observed to be locked with the engine off. 

18 

19 Deputies then queried the Charger through FCIC/NCIC which showed Garrett Anderson (D1) as the registered owner of the vehicle. At approximately 
20 0146 hours, Central Communications advised Anderson was calling on 911 where he advised he wanted to report his vehicle as stolen. Anderson 
21 then stated he had been drinking at a friends house and when he went to retrieve a cigarette from out of his vehicle he noticed it was missing. 
22 Anderson advised he had been walking on Osteen Maytown Rd, Osteen until he was able retrieve service on his cell phone. Anderson was unable to 
23 provide an address for his friend's residence.

24 

25 Deputies then made contact with Anderson who was located at 395 Osteen Maytown Rd, Osteen. It should be noted Anderson was located 
26 approximately half a mile from where his vehicle was parked and matched the description and statute of the white male who was walking south on 
27 SR 415, Osteen. Deputies observed Anderson to be nervous, intoxicated and appeared to have perspiration on his person. Anderson was then read 
28 his Constitutional Rights by Deputy Bryant where he advised he understood and wanted to speak to deputies. Anderson told deputies he had been 
29 drinking at his friend "Ryan's" house the entire day and did not leave until approximately 30 minute prior to him calling 911. Anderson advised he 
30 believed someone either stole his vehicle or had played a joke with him so he did not want to wake his friend "Ryan" up to ask. Deputies then 
31 observed Anderson carrying the Key Fob to his Dodge Charger in his front right pocket. Deputies questioned Anderson about the Key Fob where he 
32 advised he only owned one set at the time because he lost the original when he purchased the vehicle. 

33 

34 Deputies were unable to retrieve video surveillance footage from the Circle K located at 320 SR 415, Osteen and video surveillance footage from the 
35 Foxhead Lounge located at 280 SR 415, Osteen. Deputies then made contact with "Ryan" who advised Anderson was drinking at his home earlier in 
36 the day but left in his Dodge Charger at approximately 1900 hours and did not return. 

37 

38 Based on the totality of circumstances probable cause was established to charge Anderson with the act fleeing and eluding with lights and sirens 
39 active and misuse of 911.

40 

41 After a search incident to arrest, deputies retrieved two receipts located in his rear right pocket. The receipts were both for the American Pub and Grill 
42 located at 2438 S Volusia Av, Orange City which was approximately one block away from where Sergeant Harrelson observed the initial violation. 
43 Receipt #1 was observed to have a date of February 24, 2022 at 1136 hours and the name garret on it. Receipt #2 was observed to have a date of 
44 February 25, 2022 at 0108 hours, which was approximately 11 minutes prior to the initial traffic violation. Both receipts were later turned into the 
45 District 4 evidence locker for evidence. 

46 

47 Deputies later conducted an inventory on Anderson's vehicle where they located a Colt handgun serial #(25076)  in a back bag located in the rear 
48 passenger floor board. Deputies also located a white plastic container with 4.4 grams of a green leafy substance (presumptive marijuana) in the 
49 center console of the vehicle. The handgun and the presumptive marijuana was later turned into the District 4 evidence locker. 

50 

51 Anderson was also issued 2 Uniform Traffic Citations:

52 

53 AG0H63E- Flee or Attempting to Elude with lights and sirens active

54 AG0H64E- Traffic control device. 

55 

56 Anderson was additionally charged with fleeing and eluding by Sergeant Harrelson reference OCPD case #(OC220000577).


25 February 2022
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I certify that the foregoing is a complete list of
witnesses/victims & evidence known to me. Investigating Officer ID Number Agency

Drug Amount

Drug Amount

Drug AmountDescription of Evidence

Description of Evidence

Description of Evidence

Drug Amount

Drug Amount

Drug AmountDescription of Evidence

Description of Evidence

Description of Evidence

Witness/Victim/Evidence
Court Case
Number: Page # of

Agency CaseDefendant
Name: Number:

(Last)Name:

Wit

Vic Race: Sex: Age: DOB: SSN:

Address

(#, Street, City, State):

Zip:

Zip:

Phone:

Phone:

Bus:

Address:

Bus/School

Relative/

Contact Name

Relative/Contact

Address:

EVIDENCE COLLECTED

Home:

Phone:

Statement:

Yes No

Name:

Wit

Vic Race: Sex: Age: DOB: SSN:

Address

(#, Street, City, State):

Zip:

Zip:

Phone:

Phone:

Bus:

Address:

Bus/School

Relative/

Contact Name

Relative/Contact

Address:

Home:

Phone:

Statement:

Yes No

Name:

Wit

Vic Race: Age: DOB: SSN:

Address

(#, Street, City, State):

Zip:

Zip:

Phone:

Phone:

Bus:

Address:

Bus/School

Relative/

Contact Name

Relative/Contact

Address:

Home:

Phone:

Statement:

Yes No

Name:

Wit

Vic Race: Sex: Age: DOB: SSN:

Address

(#, Street, City, State):

Zip:

Zip:

Phone:

Phone:

Bus:

Address:

Bus/School

Relative/

Contact Name

Relative/Contact

Address:

Home:

Phone:

Statement:

Yes No

Name:

Wit

Vic Race: Sex: Age: DOB: SSN:

Address

(#, Street, City, State):

Zip:

Zip:

Phone:

Phone:

Bus:

Address:

Bus/School

Relative/

Contact Name

Relative/Contact

Address:

Home:

Phone:

Statement:

Yes No

Name:

Wit

Vic Race: Sex: Age: DOB: SSN:

Address

(#, Street, City, State):

Zip:

Zip:

Phone:

Phone:

Bus:

Address:

Bus/School

Relative/

Contact Name

Relative/Contact

Address:

Home:

Phone:

Statement:

Yes No

Owner Name

Owner Name

Drug Amount

(Last) (Address) Value

(Last) (Address) Value

Drug AmountDescription of Evidence

Drug AmountDescription of Evidence

Description of Evidence

Form 707-A

Date Recovered Model Serial/I.D. Number

Date Recovered Model Serial/I.D. Number

Date Recovered Model Serial/I.D. Number

(Phone)

(Phone)

Date Recovered Model Serial/I.D. Number

Date Recovered Model Serial/I.D. Number

Date Recovered Model Serial/I.D. Number

Date Recovered Model Serial/I.D. Number

Date Recovered Model Serial/I.D. Number

Date Recovered Model Serial/I.D. Number

Sex:

M F

M

M

M

M

M

F

F

F

F

F

(First) (Middle)

(Last) (First) (Middle)

(Last) (First) (Middle)

(Last) (First) (Middle)

(Last) (First) (Middle)

(Last) (First) (Middle)

(Last) (First) (Middle)

(First)

(First)

Adult

JuvenileNotice to Appear

Affidavit

Arrest

4 4

ANDERSON GARRETT T 220003912

SEE PROPERT PAGE

MARTY,REUBEN 9086 VCSO
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STATE OF FLORIDA                                          IN THE SEVENTH JUDICIAL
                                         CIRCUIT COURT, IN AND FOR
                                         VOLUSIA  COUNTY

-VS-
                                         CASE NUMBER 2022 100408 CFDL

GARRETT THOMAS ANDERSON
Defendant                                          DC NUMBER   B61437

Local Jurisdiction Identification Number:      

ORDER OF COMMUNITY CONTROL

This cause coming before the Court to be heard, and you, the defendant, being now present before the court, and you 
having

entered a plea of guilty to been found guilty by jury verdict of

entered a plea of nolo contendere to been found guilty by the court trying the case without a jury of

Case #  2022 100408 CFDL Count  I Fleeing or Attempt to Elude High Speen, a Second Degree Felony 

Case #  2022 100408 CFDL Count  II Fleeing or Attempting to Elude, a Third  Degree Felony

SECTION 1:  JUDGMENT OF GUILT

The court hereby adjudges you to be guilty of the above offense(s).

Now, therefore, it is ordered and adjudged that the imposition of sentence is hereby withheld and that you be placed 
on Community Control for a period of Twenty four (24) Months under the supervision of the Department of 
Corrections, subject to Florida law.

SECTION 2:  ORDER WITHHOLDING ADJUDICATION

Now, therefore, it is ordered and adjudged that the adjudication of guilt is hereby withheld and that you be placed on 
Community Control for a period of        under the supervision of the Department of Corrections, subject to Florida 
law.

SECTION 3:  INCARCERATION DURING PORTION OF SUPERVISION SENTENCE

It is hereby ordered and adjudged that you be:  

committed to the Department of Corrections
for a term of       prison with credit for       jail time, followed by Community Control for a period of       
under the supervision of the Department of Corrections, subject to Florida law.
or
confined in the County Jail
for a term of       with credit for       jail time.  After you have served       of the term, you shall be placed on 
Community Control for a period of       under the supervision of the Department of Corrections, subject to Florida 
law.
or
confined in the County Jail
for a term of       with credit for       jail time, as a special condition of supervision.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that you shall comply with the following standard conditions of supervision as provided by Florida 
law:

09/20/2022 01:38:12 PM Clerk of the Circuit Court, Volusia County, Florida
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GARRETT THOMAS ANDERSON 2022 100408 CFDL

Page 2 of 5                                         Revised 07-01-2020

(1) You will report to the probation officer as directed.  

(2) You will pay the State of Florida the amount of $50.00 per month, as well as 4% surcharge, toward the cost of your supervision in 
accordance with s. 948.09, F.S., unless otherwise exempted in compliance with Florida Statutes.

(3) You will remain in a specified place.  You will not change your residence or employment or leave the county of your residence 
without first procuring the consent of your officer.

(4) You will not possess, carry or own any firearm. You will not possess, carry, or own any weapon without first procuring the consent 
of your officer.

(5) You will live without violating any law.  A conviction in a court of law is not necessary for such a violation of law to constitute a 
violation of your probation, community control, or any other form of court ordered supervision.

(6) You will not associate with any person engaged in any criminal activity.

(7) You will not use intoxicants to excess or possess any drugs or narcotics unless prescribed by a physician, an advanced practice 
registered nurse, or a physician assistant.  Nor will you visit places where intoxicants, drugs or other dangerous substances are 
unlawfully sold, dispensed or used.

(8) You will work diligently at a lawful occupation, advise your employer of your probation status, and support any dependents to the 
best of your ability, as directed by your officer.

(9) You will promptly and truthfully answer all inquiries directed to you by the court or the officer, and allow your officer to visit in 
your home, at your employment site or elsewhere, and you will comply with all instructions your officer may give you.

(10) You will pay restitution, court costs, and/or fees in accordance with special conditions imposed or in accordance with the attached 
orders.

(11) You will submit to random testing as directed by your officer or the professional staff of the treatment center where you are 
receiving treatment to determine the presence or use of alcohol or controlled substances. 

(12) You will submit a DNA sample, as directed by your officer, for DNA analysis as prescribed in ss. 943.325 and 948.014, F.S.  

(13) You will submit to the taking of a digitized photograph by the department.  This photograph may be displayed on the department’s 
website while you are on supervision, unless exempt from disclosure due to requirements of s. 119.07, F.S.

(14) You will report in person within 72 hours of your release from incarceration to the probation office in VOLUSIA County, Florida, 
unless otherwise instructed by the court or department.  (This condition applies only if section 3 on the previous page is checked.)  
Otherwise, you must report immediately to the probation office located at 334 E. NEW YORK AVE. DELAND,FLORIDA. 

EXHIBIT #2
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GARRETT THOMAS ANDERSON 2022 100408 CFDL

Page 3 of 5                                         Revised 07-01-2020

SPECIAL CONDITIONS

23.  Pay $1 per month during the term of probation or community control to supplement rehabilitative efforts through First 
Step Funds, pursuant to s. 948.039(2), F.S.

24. You shall pay to the Department of Corrections a $2.00 per month surcharge for each month you are under supervision 
pursuant to Section 948.09(1)(2), F.S. For the period of time cost of supervision is waived, this condition does not apply.  

27.  Other: Your driver's license is suspended for a period of one year. 

28.  Other: You will enroll and successfully complete an approved Advanced Driving Improvement Course as directed by 
your officer. You will pay the cost of said program. (enroll within 60 days of today) 

29.  Other: The Defendant will submit to warrantless searches of person, car and home.  

30.  Other: You will not possess any weapons, firearms or ammunition. 

31.  Other: You may perform community service at a rate of $15.00 per hour in lieu of court cost.  

32.  Other: You may convert Community Control to Probation at the halfway point with a letter to the Court.

AND, IF PLACED ON COMMUNITY CONTROL, YOU WILL COMPLY WITH THE FOLLOWING CONDITIONS, IN 
ADDITION TO THE STANDARD CONDITIONS LISTED ABOVE AND ANY OTHER SPECIAL CONDITIONS ORDERED 
BY THE COURT:

(15) You will report to your officer as directed, at least one time a week, unless you have written consent otherwise.
(16) You will remain confined to your approved residence except for one half hour before and after your approved employment,     public 

service work, or any other special activities approved by your officer.
(17) You will maintain an hourly accounting of all your activities on a daily log, which you will submit to your officer on request.

 (18)  You will successfully complete     hours of community service at a rate of      , at a work site approved by your 
officer.  Additional instructions ordered:       

(19)  You will submit to electronic monitoring, follow the rules of electronic monitoring, and pay for the cost of the electronic 
monitoring service.

Effective for offenders whose crime was committed on or after September 1, 2005, there is hereby imposed, in additional to any 
other provision in this section, mandatory electronic monitoring as a condition of supervision for those who:

 Are placed on supervision for a violation of chapter 794, s. 800.04(4), (5), or (6), s. 827.071, or s. 847.0145 and the unlawful 
sexual activity involved a victim 15 years of age or younger and the offender is 18 years of age or older; or

 Are designated as a sexual predator pursuant to s. 775.21; or
 Has previously been convicted of a violation of chapter 794, s. 800.04(4), (5), or (6), s. 827.071, or s. 847.0145 and the unlawful 

sexual activity involved a victim 15 years of age or younger and the offender is 18 years of age or older.

You are hereby placed on notice that should you violate your probation or community control, and the conditions set forth in s. 
948.063(1) or (2) are satisfied, whether your probation or community control is revoked or not revoked, you shall be placed on 
electronic monitoring in accordance with F.S. 948.063.
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GARRETT THOMAS ANDERSON 2022 100408 CFDL

Page 4 of 5                                         Revised 07-01-2020

Effective for offenders who are subject to supervision for a crime that was committed on or after May 26, 2010, and who has 
been convicted at any time of committing, or attempting, soliciting, or conspiring to commit, any of the criminal offenses listed in s. 
943.0435(1)(h)1.a.(I), or a similar offense in another jurisdiction, against a victim who was under the age of 18 at the time of the 
offense; the following conditions are imposed in addition to all other conditions:  
  (a) A prohibition on visiting schools, child care facilities, parks, and playgrounds, without prior approval from the offender's 
supervising officer. The court may also designate additional locations to protect a victim. The prohibition ordered under this paragraph 
does not prohibit the offender from visiting a school, child care facility, park, or playground for the sole purpose of attending a religious 
service as defined in s. 775.0861 or picking up or dropping off the offender's children or grandchildren at a child care facility or school. 
 
    (b) A prohibition on distributing candy or other items to children on Halloween; wearing a Santa Claus costume, or other 
costume to appeal to children, on or preceding Christmas; wearing an Easter Bunny costume, or other costume to appeal to children, on 
or preceding Easter; entertaining at children's parties; or wearing a clown costume; without prior approval from the court.

Effective for offenders whose crime was committed on or after October 1, 2014, and who is placed on probation or community 
control for a violation of chapter 794, s. 800.04, s. 827.071, s. 847.0135(5), or s. 847.0145, in addition to all other conditions imposed, 
is prohibited from viewing, accessing, owning, or possessing any obscene, pornographic, or sexually stimulating visual or auditory 
material unless otherwise indicated in the treatment plan provided by a qualified practitioner in the sexual offender treatment program.  
Visual or auditory material includes, but is not limited to, telephone, electronic media, computer programs, and computer services.

YOU ARE HEREBY PLACED ON NOTICE that the court may at any time rescind or modify any of the conditions of your probation, 
or may extend the period of probation as authorized by law, or may discharge you from further supervision. If you violate any of the 
conditions of your probation, you may be arrested and the court may revoke your probation, adjudicate you guilty if adjudication of 
guilt was withheld, and impose any sentence that it might have imposed before placing you on probation or require you to serve the 
balance of the sentence.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that when you have been instructed as to the conditions of probation, you shall be released from custody 
if you are in custody, and if you are at liberty on bond, the sureties thereon shall stand discharged from liability. (This paragraph applies 
only if section 1 or section 2 is checked.)

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that you pay:  
Court Costs, Fees, and Fines, as imposed at sentencing, in the total amount of: $ 651.00

Payments processed through the Department of Corrections will be assessed a 4% surcharge pursuant to s. 945.31, F.S.
Pursuant to s. 948.09, F.S., you will be assessed an amount of $2.00 per month for each month of supervision for the Training Trust Fund Surcharge.

Court Costs/Fines Waived
Court Costs/Fines in the amount of       converted to       community service hours
Court Costs/Fines in the amount of       reduced to civil judgment. 

SPECIFIC INSTRUCTIONS FOR PAYMENT:      

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the clerk of this court file this order in the clerk’s office and provide certified copies of same to the 
officer for use in compliance with the requirements of law.

Done and Ordered on 15th day of September, 2022

CIRCUIT JUDGE
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GARRETT THOMAS ANDERSON 2022 100408 CFDL
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I acknowledge receipt of a certified copy of this order and that the conditions have been explained to me and I agree to abide by them.

Date:
Defendant 

Instructed by: Supervising Officer STATE OF FLORIDA
I HEREBY ATTEST the following is a true copy

of the original filed in this office. The
______________ day of ___________________, _____

Clerk of Circuit and County Court

By ___________________________________________
Deputy Clerk

Copies To:
Counsel for the state: _____  hand delivery open court ____  U.S. Mail ____   interoffice/hand delivery
Counsel for the defendant: _____  hand delivery open court ____  U.S. Mail ____   interoffice/hand delivery

I do certify that a copy hereof has been furnished to counsel for the state and the defendant by the method indicated 
above, done this  ____ day of _____________________, _______.

LAURA E. ROTH
CLERK OF CIRCUIT COURT

By:
Deputy Clerk
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 (//www.dc.state.fl.us/index.html)
Florida Department of Corrections
(//www.dc.state.fl.us/index.html)
“Inspiring Success by Transforming One Life at a Time”

Ron DeSantis, Governor

Ricky D. Dixon, Secretary

Corrections Offender Network

Supervised Population Information Detail
(This information was current as of 9/25/2022)

DC Number: B61437

Name: ANDERSON, GARRETT THOM

Race: WHITE

Sex: MALE

Birth Date:

Supervision Begin Date: 09/15/2022

Current Location:
DAYTONA BEACH (http://pro
wpws001.fdc.myflorida.com/c

Current Status: ACTIVE

Supervision Type: COMMUNITY CONTROL - PR

Scheduled Termination Date: 09/14/2024

(https://www.vinelink.com/vinelink/servlet/SubjectSearch?
siteID=10000&agency=900&offenderID=B61437)

Current Verified PERMANENT Address:
1007 WANDERER DR 

DELTONA, FL 32738

Aliases:
GARRETT THOMAS ANDERSON
Note: The offense descriptions are truncated and do not necessarily reflect the crime for which the offender is on supervision. Please refer to the court
documents or the Florida Statutes for further information or definition.
 

Current Community Supervision History:

Offender Search (/OffenderSearch/InmateInfoMenu.aspx) Visit an Inmate (/ci/visit.html)

Correctional Institutions (/ci/index.html) Probation Services (/cc/index.html) Programs (/development/index.html)

FDC Jobs (http://www.fldcjobs.com) Newsroom (/comm/index.html) Statistics (/pub/index.html)

Partners (mailto:development@fdc.myflorida.com)
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Offense Date Offense Sentence Date County Case No. Community Supervision Length

02/25/2022 FLEE LEO/NO REGARD 09/15/2022 VOLUSIA 2210408 2Y 0M 0D

02/25/2022 FLEE/ELUDE LEO-FELONY 09/15/2022 VOLUSIA 2210408 2Y 0M 0D

 

First   Previous   Next   Last   Return to List New Search Record: 1 of 1

The Florida Department of Corrections updates this information regularly, to ensure that it is complete and accurate, however this information can
change quickly. Therefore, the information on this site may not reflect the true current location, status, scheduled termination date, or other

information regarding an offender.
This database contains public record information on felony offenders sentenced to the Department of Corrections. This information includes offenders

sentenced or released to state supervision or offenders received for supervision from another sate as the result of an Interstate Compact transfer.
Information contained herein includes current supervision offenses. Offense types include related crimes such as attempts, conspiracies and

solicitations to commit crimes. Information on offenders sentenced to county jail, county probation, or any other form of supervision is not contained.
The information is derived from court records provided to the Department of Corrections and is made available as a public service to interested citizens.

The Department of Corrections makes no guarantee as to the accuracy or completeness of the information contained herein. Any person who believes
information provided is not accurate may contact the Department of Corrections.

For questions and comments, you may contact the Department of Corrections, Bureau of Probation and Parole Field Services, at DAYTONA BEACH
Circuit Office (http://prod.fdc-wpws001.fdc.myflorida.com/cc/07.html). This information is made available to the public and law enforcement in the

interest of public safety.
Search Criteria: (/OffenderSearch/search.aspx?TypeSearch=AO) Last Name: anderson First Name: garrett Search Aliases: YES Offense Category:
Supervision Type: ALL Supervision Status: ALL County of Supervision: ALL Current Location: ALL
 
Current Status Definitions: Active - offender is being actively supervised by the probation officer in the community. Active Suspense - offender is
temporarily unavailable for direct supervision during the supervision term, due to being in custody in jail or another facility, but is still being monitored
by a probation officer for release, arrest, etc. Absconder - offender absconds from supervision (his/her whereabouts are unknown and the offender is

not available for supervision) and warrant is issued for violation.

Return to Corrections Offender Information Network (../OffenderSearch/InmateInfoMenu.aspx)

Quick LinksAbout Us
(http://www.dc.state.fl.us/about.html)

As Florida's largest state
agency, and the third largest
prison system in the country,
FDC employs 24,000
members, incarcerates
approximately 80,000
inmates and supervises
nearly 146,000 offenders in
the community.

Contact an Inmate

(http://www.dc.state.fl.us/ci/ContactInmate.html)

Public Records

(//www.dc.state.fl.us/comm/PRR.html)

Volunteer

(http://www.dc.state.fl.us/volunteer/index.html)

File a Complaint

(//www.dc.state.fl.us/apps/IGcomplaint asp)

Organization

(//www.dc.state.fl.us/org/orgchart.html

Regulatory Plan

(//www.dc.state.fl.us/pub/regulatory/2017

2018.pdf)

Victim Services

(//www.dc.state.fl.us/vict/index.html)

Inmate and Offender

Programming

(//www.dc.state.fl.us/development/index.html)

Corrections Foundation

(https://www.correctionsfoundation.org/)

Parole Information

(https://www.fcor.state.fl.us/index.shtml)

Inspector General

(//www.dc.state.fl.us/ig/index.html)

Prison Rape Elimination Act

(http://www.dc.state.fl.us/PREA/index.html)

Contact Us
(http://www.dc.state.fl.us/org

501 South Calhoun Street 
Tallahassee, FL 32399-2500
 

Main: (850) 488-5021

Phone Directory

(//www.dc.state.fl.us/org/contact.html)

Citizen Services

(//www.dc.state.fl.us/citizen/index.html)
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7/19/23, 12:57 AM ARCI Online Comprehensive Ruling Report

https://www.arci-members.com/Rulings/AllRulingsReport.asp?ID=2139103 1/1

 
Comprehensive Ruling Report

Rulings Against: Garrett T. Anderson
 

 
Legal Name: Garrett T. Anderson
Birth Date: 
 

0 Total Ruling(s) Listed

"Multiple medication violation points and point totals are for advisory and informational purposes only to indicate the existence of
regulatory medication violation determinations made by racing regulatory entities in order to notify officials of possible

aggravating factor  that hould be reviewed by official  prior to taking regulatory action  Confirmation of violation  hould be
made directly with the racing regulatory entity responsible."

No Rulings
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https://www.arci-members.com/Licensees/ComprehensiveLicensee.asp?ID=2139103 1/2

 
Comprehensive Licensee Report

ARCI Licensee: Garrett T. Anderson
 

Identification Information
DOB:  
Country: USA 
Sex: Unknown 

Licensee's Names
Current Legal Name: Garrett T. Anderson

Licensee's Addresses
None

Licensee's Phone Numbers
None

Fingerprint History
None

License History
License
Number:

11565390 License Type Other/OTB/Casino 

Commission: Florida Division of Pari-Mutuel
Wagering 

State/Province: Florida 

Issue Date 7/14/2020 Expire Date 6/30/2023 
Division Dog Breed Unknown 
 
License
Number:

11565390 License Type Other/OTB/Casino 

Commission: Florida Division of Pari-Mutuel
Wagering 

State/Province: Florida 

Issue Date 7/6/2020 Expire Date 10/4/2020 
Division Dog Breed Unknown 
 
License
Number:

11565390 License Type Other/OTB/Casino 

Commission: Florida Division of Pari-Mutuel
Wagering 

State/Province: Florida 

Issue Date 12/14/2017 Expire Date 6/30/2020 
Division Dog Breed Unknown 
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License
Number:

11565390 License Type: Other/OTB/Casino 

Commission: Florida Division of Pari-Mutuel
Wagering 

State/Province: Florida 

Issue Date: 11/17/2017 Expire Date: 2/15/2018 
Division: Dog Breed: Unknown 
 
Ruling History
None
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Dear Gaming Commission,

I hope this letter finds you well. I am writing to provide a heartfelt character reference for my brother, 
Garrett Thomas Anderson, who is currently being considered for the renewal of his gaming license as a
poker dealer. I am his brother, Carl, and I want to express my unwavering support for Garrett during 
this challenging time.

Garrett is more than just a brother to me; he is a beacon of goodness and an invaluable member of our 
family. His outgoing nature, fun-loving spirit, and sarcastic sense of humor make him a joy to be 
around. Despite the circumstances that led to his current situation, I have never doubted his inherent 
goodness and his ability to learn from his mistakes.

One of Garrett's most admirable qualities is his willingness to lend a helping hand to anyone in need. I 
have witnessed him selflessly assist others countless times, always going the extra mile to ensure that 
those around him are taken care of. His genuine compassion and generosity are truly remarkable, and 
they exemplify the kind of person he is.

Garrett's passion for the game of poker is evident in every aspect of his life. As a poker dealer, he 
excels in his role due to his quick thinking, exceptional memory, and love for the game. His dedication
and enthusiasm create a vibrant and enjoyable atmosphere at the poker table, enhancing the experience
for all players. Garrett's professionalism and skill make him an invaluable asset in the gaming industry.

Beyond his professional endeavors, Garrett's impact on our family is immeasurable. He has always 
been a dependable and supportive presence in our lives. Not only does he contribute financially, 
ensuring that our family's needs are met, but he also provides emotional support and guidance when 
we need it most. Garrett's unwavering commitment to our family's well-being has made him an 
irreplaceable pillar of strength.

It is important to understand that the incident leading to Garrett's current situation was a regrettable 
mistake. It was an uncharacteristic act that does not reflect his true nature or his ability to be a 
responsible and law-abiding citizen. Prior to this incident, Garrett had a spotless record, demonstrating 
his commitment to leading a life of integrity.

In light of Garrett's exceptional character, dedication to his work, and the positive impact he has on our
family, I wholeheartedly urge you to consider renewing his gaming license. Losing his current job 
would not only jeopardize his financial stability but also have a profound impact on our family's well-
being. I firmly believe that Garrett has learned from this experience and will continue to be a valuable 
asset to the gaming industry.

Thank you for taking the time to review this character reference on behalf of my brother. Should you 
require any further information or clarification, please do not hesitate to reach out to me. I am 
confident that by considering Garrett's unique qualities and contributions, you will make the right 
decision in renewing his gaming license.

Warm regards,

Carl Anderson II
EXHIBIT #4
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Dear Gaming Commission, 

 This is Garrett's mother and father reaching out to share with you our thoughts,opinions and 

beliefs of Garrett. Firstly we would like to shed light on Garrett's selfless amazing character. Secondly, 

we would like to bring attention to Garrett's undying  passion for the game of poker and being a poker 

dealer. Lastly, the unconditional love and support for his family.  

 Garrett is extremely hard working. He goes to work all day and before coming home he goes 

grocery shopping, comes home  mows and weed eats the lawn before cooking dinner. He brings his 

girlfriend to work and still manages to show up to work on time. Garrett is also very responsible, he 

makes sure the mortgage and bills are paid. He provides food and other neccessities for the house. 

 Garrett has a passion for poker, he loves the game. He constantly watches you tube to learn all 

that he can about poker. As a family we have poker nights and play as if we were at the poker room. He 

taught his brother's girlfriend, Janae how play and deal poker and now she is a dealer at the Orange City 

Racing and Card Club. He taught his girlfriend Hayley how to play poker as well. He loves poker so much 

that he has cards tattooed on his arm. 

 Garrett has a very strong bond with his family. We were renting a home for 13 years when the 

landlord decided he needed his home back. With our belongings in storage, we were living in a motel in 

which Garrett paid the expenses, meanwhile he bought a brand new house. He calls or texts from work 

to make sure we are okay or if we need anything before he comes home. He picks up our prescriptions, 

took us on vacations, hockey games and occassionally out to dinner and buys groceries for the week. He 

is a blessing and we are grateful and proud he is our son! He deserves a second chance, please find it in 

your heart to help him and his family.  

 In conclusion, Garrett has a great personality, he is very hard working and a responsible young 

man. Garrett has a strong passion for poker. We play poker every night as a family. He trained Janae 

how to play and deal poker in which she is currantly at Orange City Racing and Card Club employed as a 

poker dealer. 

 Garrett has a strong family bond. He bought a home for his family, helps with food and travel. 

We feel he deserves a second chance, Please find it in your heart to help him and his family. It would be 

detramental if he looses his license. I appreciate and Thank you for the time you took to read this letter. 

 Sincerely,, 

          Lynda and Carl Anderson 
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MEMORANDUM 
 
To:   The Florida Gaming Control Commission  
From:  Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering 
Through: Emily Alvarado, Deputy Chief Attorney 
Re:   Meshika Latrice Anderson; Case No. 2023-038380; License Denial 
Date:   July 20, 2023 
 
Executive Summary 
 
The Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering seeks to deny Meshika Latrice Anderson’s, 
(“Applicant”) application for a Slot Machine/Cardroom/Pari-Mutuel Combination 
Occupational License. Applicant submitted a completed application for a Slot 
Machine/Cardroom/Pari-Mutuel Combination Occupational License on June 26, 
2023. Upon review of the application, it appears Applicant has been convicted of 
several crimes. Therefore, the Florida Gaming Control Commission should 
authorize the issuance of a Notice of Intent to Deny License. 
 
Pertinent Facts  
 
On June 26, 2023, Applicant submitted their completed application to the Division 
of Pari-Mutuel Wagering for a Slot Machine/Cardroom/Pari-Mutuel Combination 
Occupational License. Upon review of the completed application, it appears the 
Applicant was convicted of several crimes in the state of Florida. Applicant failed 
disclose one conviction on their application. Specifically, the Applicant was 
convicted of the following crimes: 
 

• Cocaine Possession with Intent, a felony, in 1993 
• Petit Theft/ Larceny, a misdemeanor, in 1995 
• Child Abuse (No Harm), a felony, in 2001 

 
Applicant did not apply for a waiver for her convictions, however, under section 
551.107(6)(a), Florida Statutes, the legislature did not authorize the Executive 
Director to waive criminal convictions for slot machine licensing.  Applicant failed 
disclose the child abuse conviction on their application. 
 
Relevant Law 
 
Section 551.107(6)(a), Florida Statutes, provides in pertinent part that:  
  



“. . .the commission may deny, suspend, revoke, or refuse to renew any 
slot machine occupational license if the applicant for such license or the 
licensee has been convicted in this state, in any other state, or under the 
laws of the United States of a capital felony, a felony, or an offense in 
any other state that would be a felony under the laws of this state 
involving arson; trafficking in, conspiracy to traffic in, smuggling, 
importing, conspiracy to smuggle or import, or delivery, sale, or 
distribution of a controlled substance; racketeering; or a crime 
involving a lack of good moral character, or has had a gaming license 
revoked by this state or any other jurisdiction for any gaming-related 
offense.”  

  
Rule 75-14.009, Florida Administrative Code, provides that: 
  
“[t]he [commission] shall deny the application for a slot machine occupational 

license if a review of the application or the investigation of the applicant 
demonstrates . . . [t]he applicant has been convicted of any disqualifying 
offense under Section 551.107(6), F.S.” 

 
Section 849.086(6)(f), Florida Statutes, provides that the “provisions specified in s. 
550.105(4), (5), (6), (7), (8), and (10) relating to licensure shall be applicable to 
cardroom occupational licenses.”  
  
Section 849.086(6)(g), Florida Statutes, provides that:  
  

“[t]he commission may deny, declare ineligible, or revoke any 
cardroom occupational license if the applicant or holder thereof has 
been found guilty or had adjudication withheld in this state or any other 
state, or under the laws of the United States of a felony or misdemeanor 
involving forgery, larceny, extortion, conspiracy to defraud, or filing 
false reports to a government agency, racing or gaming commission or 
authority.”  

  
Section 550.105(5)(d), Florida Statutes, provides that:  
  

“. . . the term “convicted” means having been found guilty, with or 
without adjudication of guilt, as a result of a jury verdict, nonjury trial, 
or entry of a plea of guilty or nolo contendere. However, the term 
“conviction” shall not be applied to a crime committed prior to the 
effective date of this subsection in a manner that would invalidate any 



occupational license issued prior to the effective date of this subsection 
or subsequent renewal for any person holding such a license.”  

 
Staff Recommendation: Because the Applicant's disqualifying criminal convictions 
cannot be waived and because Applicant was convicted of a disqualifying offense 
under section 551.107(6), Florida Statutes, the Florida Gaming Control Commission 
shall deny Applicant’s application for a slot combination license. Accordingly, the 
Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering recommends the Florida Gaming Control 
Commission authorize the issuance of a Notice of Intent to Deny License in this 
matter.   
 















































































MEMORANDUM 
 
To:   The Florida Gaming Control Commission  
From:  Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering 
Through: Emily Alvarado, Deputy Chief Attorney 
Re:   Cherri Christine Behnke Samson Case No. 2023-045367 
Date:   August 24, 2023 
 
Executive Summary 
 
The Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering seeks to deny Cherri Christine Behnke 
Samson’s, (“Applicant”) application for a Slot Machine/Cardroom/Pari-Mutuel 
Combination Occupational License. Applicant submitted a completed application 
for a Slot Machine/Cardroom/Pari-Mutuel Combination Occupational License on 
August 8, 2023. Upon review of the application, it appears Applicant has been 
convicted of a felony crime. Therefore, the Florida Gaming Control Commission 
should authorize the issuance of a Notice of Intent to Deny License. 
 
Pertinent Facts  
 
On August 8, 2023, Applicant submitted their completed application to the Division 
of Pari-Mutuel Wagering for a Slot Machine/Cardroom/Pari-Mutuel Combination 
Occupational License. Upon review of the completed application, it appears the 
Applicant was convicted of a felony in the state of Indiana. Specifically, the 
Applicant was convicted of the felony of Permitted Unlawful Use of a Building in 
2007.The Applicant disclosed this conviction on their application. 
 
Relevant Law 
 
Section 551.107(6)(a), Florida Statutes, provides in pertinent part that:  
  

“. . .the commission may deny, suspend, revoke, or refuse to renew any 
slot machine occupational license if the applicant for such license or the 
licensee has been convicted in this state, in any other state, or under the 
laws of the United States of a capital felony, a felony, or an offense in 
any other state that would be a felony under the laws of this state 
involving arson; trafficking in, conspiracy to traffic in, smuggling, 
importing, conspiracy to smuggle or import, or delivery, sale, or 
distribution of a controlled substance; racketeering; or a crime 
involving a lack of good moral character, or has had a gaming license 



revoked by this state or any other jurisdiction for any gaming-related 
offense.”  

  
Rule 75-14.009, Florida Administrative Code, provides that: 
 
 “[t]he [commission] shall deny the application for a slot machine 

occupational license if a review of the application or the investigation 
of the applicant demonstrates . . . [t]he applicant has been convicted of 
any disqualifying offense under Section 551.107(6), F.S.” 

  
 
Section 849.086(6)(f), Florida Statutes, provides that the “provisions specified in s. 
550.105(4), (5), (6), (7), (8), and (10) relating to licensure shall be applicable to 
cardroom occupational licenses.”  
  
Section 849.086(6)(g), Florida Statutes, provides that:  
  

“[t]he commission may deny, declare ineligible, or revoke any 
cardroom occupational license if the applicant or holder thereof has 
been found guilty or had adjudication withheld in this state or any other 
state, or under the laws of the United States of a felony or misdemeanor 
involving forgery, larceny, extortion, conspiracy to defraud, or filing 
false reports to a government agency, racing or gaming commission or 
authority.”  

  
Section 550.105(5)(d), Florida Statutes, provides that:  
  

“. . . the term “convicted” means having been found guilty, with or 
without adjudication of guilt, as a result of a jury verdict, nonjury trial, 
or entry of a plea of guilty or nolo contendere. However, the term 
“conviction” shall not be applied to a crime committed prior to the 
effective date of this subsection in a manner that would invalidate any 
occupational license issued prior to the effective date of this subsection 
or subsequent renewal for any person holding such a license.”  

 
Staff Recommendation: Because the Applicant's disqualifying criminal conviction 
cannot be waived, and because Applicant was convicted of a disqualifying offense 
under section 551.107(6), Florida Statutes, the Florida Gaming Control Commission 
shall deny Applicant’s application for a slot combination license. Accordingly, the 
Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering recommends the Florida Gaming Control 



Commission authorize the issuance of a Notice of Intent to Deny License in this 
matter.   
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I. STATEMENT OF POLICY 

 
Travel is performed and reimbursed as provided by Section 112.061, Florida 
Statutes. Authorized travel expenses shall be promptly reimbursed in accordance 
with the Florida Gaming Control Commission’s policies and procedures. This policy 
is applicable to all FGCC employees, any authorized persons, and to all travel 
reimbursements. Travel should be processed through the Statewide Travel 
Management System (STMS). The STMS is the State of Florida’s secure, cloud-
based travel management solution for tracking and processing travel authorizations 

 

 
FLORIDA GAMING CONTROL COMMISSION 
ADMINISTRATIVE POLICIES AND 

PROCEDURES  
 

 TITLE: Travel 
 

POLICY NUMBER 
 

01.02.01 
 

Administration 
 

AUTHORITY AND REFERENCE 
 

         Section 112.061; 215.422, Florida Statutes 
         (F.S.) 
 
         Chapter 69I-42, Florida Administrative Code (F.A.C.) 
 
         Department of Financial Services (DFS) Reference Guide for 

State Expenditures 
          
         https://www.myfloridacfo.com/docs-sf/accounting-and-

auditing-libraries/state-agencies/reference-guide-for-state-
expenditures.pdf 

 
         Department of Management Services (DMS) Statewide 

Travel Management Services (STMS) User Manual 
          

https://www.dms.myflorida.com/content/download/142904/9
53408/STMS_User_Manual_-June_2023.pdf 

   
         Chief Financial Officer’s (CFO) 
         Travel Restrictions Imposed by Chapter 2022-157, Laws of 

Florida, Dated July 6,2022 
         https://www.flsenate.gov/Laws/Statutes/2022/Chapter157  

 
 
 
 
 

 
EFFECTIVE DATE:  
  
 
 
REVISED:       
 

https://www.myfloridacfo.com/docs-sf/accounting-and-auditing-libraries/state-agencies/reference-guide-for-state-expenditures.pdf
https://www.myfloridacfo.com/docs-sf/accounting-and-auditing-libraries/state-agencies/reference-guide-for-state-expenditures.pdf
https://www.myfloridacfo.com/docs-sf/accounting-and-auditing-libraries/state-agencies/reference-guide-for-state-expenditures.pdf
https://www.dms.myflorida.com/content/download/142904/953408/STMS_User_Manual_-June_2023.pdf
https://www.dms.myflorida.com/content/download/142904/953408/STMS_User_Manual_-June_2023.pdf
https://www.flsenate.gov/Laws/Statutes/2022/Chapter157
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and reimbursements.  
 
It is the responsibility of all state employees to utilize the most economical method 
of travel for each trip, keeping in mind the nature of the business, the most effective 
and economical means of travel (considering time of the travel, cost of 
transportation and per diem or subsistence required), and the number of persons 
making the trip and the amount of equipment or material to be transported. 
 
An Authorization to Incur Travel Expenses should be completed for all trips with 
the exception of routine travel by field auditors and inspectors related to their 
duties. To be sure that the most economical method of travel is being used, the  
employee should discuss the travel methods with FGCC travel auditor prior to 
submission to confirm. Authorization to Incur Travel Expenses form for 
conferences, conventions, speaking engagements, and out-of-state travel must 
have approval from the Executive Director (EXE).    
 
FGCC has a separate policy for the FGCC Fleet. Please refer to the fleet policy- 
01.03.01 for complete information.   

 
II. PURPOSE 

 
To explain the procedures for obtaining authorization and reimbursement of travel 
expenses. 

 
III. TRAVEL TERMS 

 
A. Agency Head - The highest policymaking authority of a public agency. 

 
B. Authorized Person - A person other than a public officer or Commission 

employee who is authorized by the agency head or designee to incur travel 
expenses in the performance of official duties, a person who is called upon by 
the Commission to contribute time and services as consultant or advisor, or a 
person who is a candidate for an executive or professional position. [ See Rule 
112.061(b), F.A.C.] 

 
C. Class A Travel - Continuous travel of more than 24 hours or more away from 

official headquarters. [See Rule 112.01(3)(k), F.A.C.] 
 

D. Class B Travel - Continuous travel of less than 24 hours which involves 
overnight absence from official headquarters. [See Rule 112.01(3)(l), F.A.C] 

 
E. Class C Travel - Travel for short or day trips where the traveler is not away 

from his or her official headquarters overnight (NOTE: Section 112.061 (15), 
F.S., states “Moneys appropriated from the State Treasury may not be used to 
pay per diem or subsistence related to Class C Travel.” [See Rule 112.01(3)(m), 
F.A.C] 
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F. Common Carrier - Common carrier includes trains, buses, commercial airlines 
operating scheduled flights, or rental cars of established rental car firms. 

 
G. Conference - The coming together of persons with a common interest or 

interests for the purpose of deliberation, exchange of views or for the removal of 
differences or disputes, and for discussion of their common problems and 
interests. A conference may also be termed as being similar meetings such as 
seminars and workshops which are large, formal group meetings that are 
programmed and supervised to accomplish intensive research, study, discussion, 
and work in some specific field or on a governmental problem or problems. [See 
Rule 69I-42.002 (3), F.A.C.] 
 

H. Convention - An assembly of a group of persons representing persons and 
groups, coming together for the accomplishment of a purpose of interest to a 
larger group or groups. A convention does not mean the coming together of 
agency or interagency personnel. [See Rule 69I-42.002 (4), F.A.C.] 

 
I. Designee - Designee means an employee who has been delegated authority to 

approve the Authorization to Incur Travel Expenses and the Voucher for     
Reimbursement of Travel Expenses forms.  

 
J. Emergency Notice - Written or oral notification to the traveler of less than 24 

hours prior to scheduled departure. [See Rule 69I-42.002(5), F.A.C.] 
 

K. Emergency Situation - Circumstances in which there is an immediate danger 
or a threat of immediate danger to the public health, safety, or welfare, or of other 
substantial loss to the state. [See Rule 69I-42.002(6), F.A.C.] 

 
L. Employee or Public Employee - An individual, whether commissioned or not, 

other than an officer or authorized person as defined in 112.061 (2) (c) and 
112.061 (2) (e), who is filling a regular or full-time authorized position and is 
responsible to the agency head. 

 
M. Meal Allowance - The following amounts authorized by Section 112.061 (6) (b), 

F.S., for each meal during the travel period: 
 
          Travel                     Travel 
                                Amounts              Begins Before   Extends Beyond 
 

Breakfast      $6.00   6  a.m.   8 a.m. 
Lunch   $11.00            12 p.m.    2 p.m. 

 Dinner     $19.00      6 p.m.    8 p.m. 
 

N. Meeting - A gathering of Commission personnel called by a Commissioner, the 
Executive Director, a division director/office head, or any other administrator for 
the discussion and study of common problems or interests. A meeting may be in 
the form of a management review, seminar, or workshop not deemed to be either 
a convention or a conference. 
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O. Most Economical Class of Transportation - The class having the lowest fare 
which is available. 

 
P. Most Economical Method of Travel - The mode of transportation (state-owned 

vehicle, privately owned vehicle, common carrier, etc.) designated by the agency 
head or designee in accordance with criteria prescribed by Section 112.061, F.S. 

 
Q. Nonbusiness Day - For a Commission employee, a weekend or an authorized 

state holiday; for an authorized person, a day on which such person was not 
scheduled to be performing service or contributing time to the Commission. 

 
R. Officer or Public Officer - An individual who in the performance of his or her 

official duties are vested by law with sovereign powers of government and who is 
either elected by the people, or commissioned by the Governor and has 
jurisdiction extending throughout the state, or any person lawfully serving instead 
of either of the foregoing two classes of individuals as initial designee or 
successor. 

 
T. Per Diem Rate - The amount as authorized by Section 112.061 (6) (a), F.S. 

($80 per day) 
 

U. Personal Time - Time outside the regular work hours of a business day, a 
nonbusiness day, or a day for which an officer or employee had prior approval for 
leave of absence. 

 
V. Physically Handicapped - Any person diagnosed as having a physical disability, 

including but not limited to blindness, or the loss of one or more life functions 
leaving that person mobility-impaired (or sensory-impaired) requiring the use of 
trained animal companions or prosthetic equipment, including, but not limited to, 
crutches, walkers, canes, or wheelchairs. 

 
W. Point of Origin - The geographic location of the traveler's official headquarters 

or the geographic location where travel begins, whichever is the lesser distance 
from the destination. (Refer to Attorney General's Opinion 75-275) 

 
X. Routine Travel - Travel which is performed on a day-to-day basis within a 

specified geographical area as a part of an employee's normal work assignment. 
 

Y. Statewide Travel Management Services (STMS) - the State of Florida’s secure, 
cloud-based travel management solution for tracking and processing travel 
authorizations and reimbursements.  

 
Z. Travel Auditor (FGCC) – STMS Travel Auditor works in the Division of 

Administration and is the person that answers travel questions and audits travel 
vouchers through STMS.  

 
   AA. Travel Agency Surcharge - Assessment made by travel agencies for the use  

    of their services.   
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   BB. Travel Agent - One Administrative Assistant (AA) employee in each unit will 
be assigned the responsibility of acting as the travel agent for authorized travel. 
 

       CC. Travel Day - A period of 24 hours consisting of four quarters of six hours each. 
 

       DD. Traveler - A public officer, public employee, or authorized person performing 
authorized travel.  

 
   EE. Travel Expense - The usual ordinary and incidental expenditures incurred by a 

     traveler. 
 

  FF. Travel Period - The period of time between the time of departure and time of 
return. 

 
 

IV. AUTHORITY TO INCUR TRAVEL EXPENSES 
 
A. Travel must be authorized and approved by the Agency Head or designee in 

advance of travel.  Employees whose position requires significant travel as part 
of their position are not required to complete an authorization to incur travel 
expenses for routine travel. However, Authorization to Incur Travel Expenses 
for conferences, conventions, speaking engagements, and out-of-state travel 
must have prior approval from the Executive Director (EXE).  
 

B. Travel expenses of travelers shall be limited to those expenses necessarily 
incurred by them in the performance of a public purpose authorized by law to 
be performed by the agency and must be within limitations prescribed by section 
112.061, F.S. 

 
C. Authorization to Incur Travel (in STMS) must be completed in advance for each 

employee attending a conference or convention.  It will include a statement of 
the benefits to the State of Florida, all registration programs, agenda itemizing 
the registration fees, and any meals or lodging included in the registration fee.   
 

D. Travel expenses for public employees for the sole purpose of taking merit 
system or other job placement examinations, written or oral, will not be allowed, 
except upon written approval of the Executive Director. Written requests for 
executive or professional travel allowance should be forwarded directly to the 
Executive Director. 

 
E. Travel expenses of public officers or employees for the purpose of 

implementing, organizing, directing, coordinating, or administering, or 
supporting the implementation, organization, direction, coordination, or 
administration of, activities related to or involving travel to a terrorist state shall 
not be allowed under any circumstances. For purposes of this section, “terrorist 
state” is defined as any state, country, or nation designated by the United States 
Department of State as a state sponsor of terrorism. 
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V. OFFICIAL HEADQUARTERS 
 
The official headquarters of an officer or employee assigned to an office shall be in 
the city or town in which the office is located except that:  

 
A. The official headquarters of a person located in a place other than primary 

headquarters, the headquarters designation shall be in the next city or town 
nearest to the area where the majority of the traveler’s work is performed unless 
designated by the agency head. Any such designation must be in the best 
interests of the agency. 

 
B. When any state employee is stationed in any city or town for a period of over 30 

continuous workdays, such city or town shall be deemed to be the employee’s 
official headquarters, and they shall not be allowed per diem or subsistence after 
the paid period of 30 continuous workdays has elapsed, unless this period of 
time is extended by the express approval of the agency head or his or her 
designee. 

 
C. A traveler may leave their assigned post to return home overnight, over the 

weekend, or during a holiday, but any time lost from regular duties shall be taken 
as annual leave and authorized in the usual manner. The traveler shall not be 
reimbursed for travel expenses in excess of the established rate for per diem 
allowable had the employee remained at his or her assigned post. However, 
when a traveler has been temporarily assigned away from their official 
headquarters for an approved period extending beyond 30 days, the traveler 
shall be entitled to reimbursement for travel expenses at the established rate of 
one round trip for each 30-day period taken to his or her home in addition to pay 
and allowances otherwise provided. 

 
 
VI. COMPUTATION OF TRAVEL TIME FOR REIMBURSEMENT 

 
A. The travel day for Class A travel shall be a calendar day (midnight to midnight). 

A continuous travel of 24 hours or more away from official headquarters and is 
based on a calendar day. 
 

B. The travel day for Class B travel shall be less than 24 hours, which involves 
overnight absence from official headquarters.  

 
C. For Class A and Class B travel, the traveler shall be reimbursed one-fourth of 

the authorized rate of per diem for each quarter, or fraction thereof, of the travel 
day included within the travel period. Class A and Class B travel shall include 
any assignment on official business outside of regular office hours and away 
from regular places of employment when it is considered reasonable and 
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necessary to stay overnight and for which travel expenses are approved. 
 

D. A traveler shall not be reimbursed on a per diem basis for Class C travel, but 
shall receive subsistence as provided: 

      
1. Breakfast- When travel begins before 6 a.m. and extends beyond 8 a.m. 
 
2. Lunch- When travel begins before 12 noon and extends beyond 2 p.m. 
 
3. Dinner- When travel begins before 6 p.m. and extends beyond 8 p.m., or   
  when travel occurs during nighttime hours due to special assignments. 

  
VII.   HOURS WORKED 

 
  While in travel status, a normal workday of eight hours shall be observed unless 
  extra hours are approved by the employee's supervisor and are recorded on the 
  employee’s People First Time Sheet.  In determining overtime, "work required to   
  be performed" includes time spent in travel beyond the normal workday when the   
  employee is in official travel status for which per diem is reimbursable under state  
  law (See Rule 60L-34.0031, F.A.C.) 
  

VIII. TIMES OF DEPARTURE AND RETURN 
 

 The hours of departure and return should be specified as a.m. and p.m.; 12 
 o'clock noon should be "12 p.m." and 12 o'clock midnight should be "12 a.m." 
 The hours reported as traveled must meet the criteria that the time allowed is 
 "reasonable and necessary" to complete the official assignment. When traveling 
 by air, travelers shall be allowed travel time to begin up to two hours prior to the 
 scheduled departure time displayed on the airline ticket. Other than air travel, if 
 more than an hour is needed, justification must be included on the travel 
 voucher, e.g.: 
 

1. Flight was late; therefore, the ticket does not reflect the actual return time. 
 

2. Extra time was necessary due to an airline requirement that a passenger 
check in an hour before flight time. 

 
      3. Traveler had to wait in line to get luggage or check out of parking lot. 
 
IX. RATES PER DIEM AND SUBSISTENCE ALLOWANCE 

 
A. All travelers shall be allowed for subsistence when traveling to a convention or 

conference or when traveling within or outside the state in order to conduct bona 
fide state business, which convention, conference, or business serves a direct 
and lawful public purpose with relation to the public agency served by the person 
attending such meeting or conducting such business, either of the following for 
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each day of such travel at the option of the traveler: 
 
1. The daily rate for Class A or B travel when overnight travel occurs is $80. 

 
2. The quarterly rate for Class A or Class B travel is $20. 

 
B. All travelers shall be allowed the following amounts for subsistence: 

 
1. Breakfast- $6 When travel begins before 6:00 a.m. and extends beyond 8:00                                           

a.m. 
 

2. Lunch- $11 When travel begins before 12:00 noon and extends beyond 2:00 
p.m. 

 
3. Dinner- $19 When travel begins before 6:00 p.m. and extends beyond 8:00 

p.m. 
 
X. CLAIMING HOTE/LODGING REIMBURSEMENT 

 
When claiming reimbursement for lodging expenses, receipts must show the name 
and address of the establishment, the name of the traveler, the daily rate(s) actually 
paid showing a zero balance, the dates checked in and out and the number of 
persons who occupied the room. The lodging receipts must be uploaded in STMS 
with your reimbursement request. In addition, the following requirements must be 
met: 

 
1 .  Each travel reimbursement or Purchasing Card charge that seeks payment 

for lodging associated with a meeting, conference, or convention organized 
or sponsored by an agency may not exceed the traveler’s daily room rate of 
$225., pursuant to Dept. of Financial Services Agency Memo (Agency 
Addressed (No.2, 2023-2024) dated July 6, 2023.  If lodging daily room 
rates exceed $225 and there are no other reasonable options available, the 
traveler must obtain at least three comparable hotel quotes within a 
reasonable vicinity of meeting/work location and include this documentation 
to the agency head or designee to approve in advance by providing them in 
the Authorization to Incur Travel within STMS.    
  

3 .  If the room was occupied by more than one person, the receipt must show 
the single occupancy rate. Only the single occupancy rate can be 
reimbursed. 

 
4 .  If there is a mandatory hotel parking charge, it should be included on the 

hotel receipt. This should be listed as a separate charge on the travel 
reimbursement form, and it should be stated “hotel parking mandatory”. 
 

XI.  TRANSPORTATION 



   
 

01.02.01 Page 9 of 15 9/6/2023  

  
A. All travel must be by a usually traveled route. In case a person travels by an 

indirect route for his or her own convenience, any extra costs shall be borne by 
the traveler; and reimbursement for expenses shall be based only on such 
charges as would have been incurred by a usually traveled route. The agency 
head or his or her designee shall designate the most economical method of 
travel for each trip and keep in mind the nature of the business. 

 
B. When it is more efficient and economical to either the traveler or the agency 

head, jet service offered by any airline, whether on state contract or not, may 
be used when the cost is within an approved threshold determined by the 
agency head or his or her designee. 

 
C. Air Travel 

 
1. Air Travel should be made well in advance to reduce the ticket cost, when 

possible. Except for extenuating circumstances, commercial air travel is to 
be by coach class.   
 

2. Off-peak, excursion, or other promotional fares should be used whenever 
practical. Travelers must obtain the lowest fare available considering such 
factors as per diem, subsistence, productivity, Saturday stay-over, and the 
amount of time required for travel scheduled departure time displayed on 
the airline ticket. 

 
3. Non-Refundable Tickets - Travelers and supervisors should carefully 

evaluate the circumstances and risk of cancellation prior to purchase of non-
refundable tickets to avoid or at least minimize the cancellation penalty on 
these tickets (e.g. event cancellation or rescheduling; illness to the traveler 
or immediate family; separation of employee). Employees have up to one 
year to use their non-refundable ticket and should use that ticket 
immediately toward their next trip.  

 
4. Travelers are responsible for their own unused or lost tickets if they were 

obtained on a traveler’s personal credit card. 
 

5. Penalties for cancellation of airline tickets may be paid from State funds only 
if cause for cancellation is in the best interest of the state.  

 
6. Charges for excess luggage may be allowed when the luggage is required 

for the performance of the duties of the job and adequate justification is 
provided. 

 
7. Parking a vehicle at an airport for the duration of a trip by air travel is 

allowed. 
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8. Travelers that do not park vehicles at the airport for the duration of a trip 
may claim mileage from home or office (8 miles), to and from the airport 
when performing authorized travel.  
 

D. Rental Car  
 
1. State of Florida maintains a statewide car rental contract. Arrangements for 

rental cars should be made in advance by the traveler or preparer.  
 

2. The FGCC-approved rental vehicle class is class “C” or Compact unless 
upgraded by the state rental car contractor at no additional cost.  

 
3. If a trip includes two or more travelers, the traveler may upgrade the car 

class and be paid by the FGCC 
 

4. In accordance with subsection 212.08(6), F.S., only in-state business use 
rentals that are billed directly to the customer by use of a state purchasing 
card (P-Card), purchase order, or by a preapproved method of payment are 
tax-exempt. Tax exemption will not apply to rentals when travelers use 
personal funds for payment, including cash, checks, or credit cards. 

  
E. The use of privately-owned vehicles for official travel in lieu of publicly owned 

vehicles (fleet) or common carriers may be authorized by the agency head or 
his or her designee on a case-by-case basis. Employees who use their 
personal vehicle for official state business must have insurance that meets 
state insurance requirements of $10,000 personal injury protection and 
$10,000 property damage liability insurance.  Commissioners and employees 
who are authorized to use their private vehicles for official Commission travel 
will be covered by the state risk management program, and the state will 
provide defense counsel if the employee is sued for injuries or damages caused 
to others while driving their private vehicle provided that the accident occurs 
while the employee is acting within the scope of their employment.  If, however, 
the accident occurs while the employee is acting outside the scope of their 
employment or if it is a result of the employee acting in bad faith, or with 
malicious purpose, or in a manner exhibiting wanton and willful disregard of 
human rights, safety, or property, the state coverage will not apply.  In addition, 
state coverage will not cover the cost to repair the employee’s private 
automobile or the employee’s medical expenses as a result of an accident 
occurring in the employee’s private automobile, whether or not the employee is 
acting within the scope of their employment.  

 
F. Whenever travel is by privately owned vehicle: 

 
1. A traveler shall be entitled to a mileage allowance at a rate of 44.5 cents 

per mile; or 
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2. A traveler shall be entitled to the common carrier fare for such travel if 

determined by the agency head to be more economical. 
 

G. Reimbursement for expenditures related to the operation, maintenance, and 
ownership of a vehicle shall not be allowed when privately owned vehicles are 
used for public business and reimbursement is made, except for: 

• Taxi fare 
• Ferry fares; bridge, road, and tunnel tolls 
• Storage or parking fees 
• Communication expense 

 
H. No traveler shall be allowed either mileage or transportation expense when 

transported by another traveler who is entitled to mileage or transportation 
expense. However, a traveler on a private aircraft shall be reimbursed the 
actual amount charged and paid for the fare for such transportation up to the 
cost of a commercial airline ticket for the same flight, even though the owner or 
pilot of such aircraft is also entitled to transportation expense for the same flight. 
 

I. Two-or three-wheeled vehicles may not be used for travel in an official capacity 
unless prior approval is obtained in writing from the Executive Director or 
designee and uploaded in the STMS system.  

 
 
XII. INCIDENTAL TRAVEL EXPENSES 

 
A. Limousine and Taxi Fare:  Reimbursement for limousine and taxi fare is limited 

to reasonable amounts for transportation to and from the office and airport. 
Receipts are required for fares in excess of $25 each. Limousine services 
should not be used instead of taxi service unless it can be shown that it is the 
more economical method. 
 

B. Ferry Fare and Bridge, Road, and Tunnel Tolls: Receipts are required for 
items in excess of $25. 

 
C. Tips and Gratuities: Reasonable tips and gratuities may be reimbursed to the 

traveler as per the following: 
 

1. Actual tips paid to taxi or Uber drivers shall not exceed 15% of the fare. 
 

2. Actual amount paid for mandatory valet parking which shall not exceed 
$1 per occasion, and which was incurred in the performance of public 
business. Actual portage charges paid which shall not exceed $1 per bag 



   
 

01.02.01 Page 12 of 15 9/6/2023  

not to exceed a total of $5.  
 

D. Other Incidental Expenses: Other incidental travel expenses of the traveler 
may be reimbursed upon presentation of a receipt as follows: 
 

       1.  Actual laundry, pressing, and dry-cleaning expenses when official travel 
  extends beyond seven days and such expenses are necessarily incurred  
  to complete the official business portion of the trip. 
 
       2.  Actual passport and visa fees required for official travel. 
 
       3.  Actual fee charged to exchange currency necessary to pay official   
            travel expenses. 
 
       4.  Receipts for baggage fees are required. Baggage fees for more than  
            one bag must be justified. 
 
  E. Non-reimbursable Expenses: 
 

1. Fines for traffic violations. 
   

2. Expenses related to lost keys or keys locked in a vehicle. 
 
3. Tips made to housekeeping 

XIII. MAP MILEAGE CLAIMED 
 
A. Map mileage shall be computed based on the official state road map issued by 

the Department of Transportation. Map mileage may also be obtained through 
the website: https://fdotewp1.dot.state.fl.us/CityToCityMileage/viewer.aspx. 
 

B. Reasonable vicinity mileage necessary for the conduct of official business is 
allowable but is shown as a separate item on the expense voucher. Claiming 
mileage to travel to the airport from office, which is eight (8) miles of home, 
whichever is less, is permitted when performing authorized travel. Vicinity 
mileage is computed on actual additional mileage incurred.   

 
C. If a person travels by an indirect route for his/her own convenience, any extra 

cost shall be borne by the traveler and reimbursement for expenses shall be 
based only on such charges as would have been incurred by a usually traveled 
route. 

 
XIV. UNUSUAL TRAVEL EVENTS 

 
If unusual events occur during a trip, employees should prepare a memo and 
explain the circumstances surrounding the unusual event to assist auditor 
comprehension. 

https://fdotewp1.dot.state.fl.us/CityToCityMileage/viewer.aspx
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If an employee becomes ill while traveling and cannot perform assigned duties, the 
employee and supervisor must decide whether it is likely to be less costly to the 
State to return the employee to official headquarters immediately or for the 
employee to ride out the illness away from official headquarters. If a decision is 
made for the employee to ride out the illness away from official headquarters, the 
employee shall continue to receive subsistence during this period of illness or injury 
until such time as the employee is able to perform the official duties or return to 
official headquarters, whichever is earlier. The employee's People First Time Sheet 
should also reflect "sick leave" for that period. 
 

 
XV. OTHER GENERAL INFORMATION REGARDING TRAVEL  

 
A. Immediate vicinity of headquarters 

 
       Reimbursement may not be made for per diem or meals for day trips where 
       the traveler is not away from official headquarters overnight. 
 

B. Overnight travel versus return to headquarters 
 
1. When an employee is working at a location away from headquarters at the 

close of business on one day and is required to be at or near the same 
location on the following day, the decision whether to return to 
headquarters for the night should be based on the relative expense 
involving round-trip mileage or common carrier expense versus per diem 
or actual lodging plus meals. Round-trip mileage or common carrier 
expense in such cases may not exceed the per diem rate or actual lodging 
plus meals. 

 
2. A traveler may not claim per diem or reimbursement for lodging for 

overnight travel within 50 miles of his/her headquarters or residence, 
unless the circumstances necessitating such overnight travel are fully 
explained by the traveler and approved by the Agency Head. Criteria for 
approval shall include late night or early morning job responsibilities and 
excessive travel time because of traffic conditions. 

 
C. Absence from duty while in travel status 

 
When absent from official duty while in a travel status, (including annual leave, 

   weekends, and holidays) the exact hours of beginning and ending such  
   absence must be shown within STMS. Per diem rate will not apply during 

leave. It shall be the responsibility of the employee’s supervisor to ensure the 
hours worked and leave taken agree with the People First Time Sheet. 
(Attorney General's Opinion 076-46)   
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D. Request for reimbursement of travel expenses related to an emergency 
situation 

 
Requests for reimbursement of the emergency situations stated below must be 
presented in writing to the Director of Administration or designee, who will 
forward them to the Chief, Bureau of Auditing, Department of Financial 
Services, 200 East Gaines Street, Tallahassee, Florida 32399-0355 for 
approval prior to being vouchered for payment. 

 
When a public officer, employee, or authorized person away from his or her 
official headquarters on personal time is required to travel because of an 
emergency situation pertaining to official work-related business, the following 
shall apply: 

 
1. The traveler may be reimbursed for travel expenses incurred when traveling   

from the actual point of origin to the point of destination, which may be the 
official headquarters. 

 
2. If personal circumstances necessitate the traveler to return to the actual 

point of origin after the emergency situation has ended rather than returning 
to or staying at the official headquarters, the traveler may be reimbursed for 
travel expenses to return. For example, an individual on personal time in 
California whose official headquarters is Tallahassee is required to travel 
back to Tallahassee because of an emergency situation. If, due to personal 
circumstances, the individual is required to travel back to California after the 
emergency situation has ended instead of remaining in Tallahassee, the 
individual may be reimbursed for travel expenses to return to California. 

 
3. If the traveler is able to return directly to or remain at official headquarters, 

the traveler may only be reimbursed the excess of the necessary actual 
travel expenses for the emergency situation over what would have incurred 
for the traveler’s own personal convenience. 

 
4. The traveler’s reimbursement request of travel expenses claimed from an 

actual point of origin rather than the official headquarters shall contain an 
explanation of the emergency situation that necessitated the travel from 
such point. Detail of the cost should be provided showing the net cost of 
what the traveler would have incurred against his actual cost of returning. 

 
If an authorized traveler has incurred certain unrecoverable costs 
associated with personal plans and is unable to carry out such plans due to 
an emergency situation, such recoverable costs may be reimbursed by the 
agency. Requests for reimbursement must provide the circumstances of the 
emergency situation. 
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 E. General requirements for reimbursement of Expenditures by physically 
handicapped travelers 

 
When a physically handicapped traveler incurs travel expenses in excess of 
those ordinarily authorized pursuant to the travel law and rules, and such 
excess travel expenses were incurred to permit the safe travel of that 
handicapped traveler, those excess expenses will be reimbursed by the 
Commission to the extent that the expenses were reasonable and necessary 
to the safe travel of the individual. All such claims for reimbursement of 
excess travel expenses shall be submitted with sufficient documentation to 
permit a proper audit.    
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FLORIDA GAMING CONTROL COMMISSION 

ADMINISTRATIVE POLICIES AND PROCEDURES  

 

TITLE:  Sick Leave Transfer Plan 03.12.01 

HUMAN RESOURCE MANAGEMENT 

Authority 

Section 60L-34.0042(5), Florida Administrative 
Code (F.A.C.) 

 

  

 
EFFECTIVE DATE:  
  
 
 
REVISED:       

 

 
I. Statement of Policy 

The purpose of this policy is to establish an interagency/intra-agency sick leave transfer plan 

for eligible and participating employees to voluntarily donate sick leave hours to or receive 

sick leave hours from eligible employees of the Florida Gaming Control Commission (FGCC) 

or another state agency that have exhausted their accrued sick, compensatory, and annual 

leave.  

II. Definitions 
 

1) Donor: refers to the FGCC or other State Personnel System employee who is donating 

sick leave. 
2) Recipient: refers to the FGCC or other State Personnel System employee receiving 

donated leave. 
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3) Relative: refers to an employee’s spouse and the parents, grandparents, brothers, sisters, 

children, and grandchildren of either the employee or the spouse. 
4) Sick Leave Transfer Administrator: refers to the Chief of Human Resources, or his/her 

designee. 
5) State Personnel System: For the purposes of this policy, this includes Career Service 

(CS), Selected Exempt Service (SES), and Senior Management Service (SMS) 

employees in all agencies except those in the State University System, the Florida Lottery, 

the Florida Legislature, the Justice Administration Commission, and the State Courts 

System.  
 

III. Policy 

 

1) All FGCC CS, SES, and SMS employees may participate in the Sick Leave Transfer Plan. 

2) The provisions of this policy provide for the donation and receipt of sick leave credits 

among employees of FGCC and between eligible employees within the State Personnel 

System that participate in an inter-agency sick leave transfer plan.  

3) Sick leave donations cannot be used for the illness, accident or injury of a relative of an 

employee. 

4) Participation in the sick leave transfer plan must always be voluntary on the part of the 

donating employee and the receiving employee. Employees who attempt to coerce or 

pressure another employee to donate sick leave will be subject to disciplinary action. The 

names of donors will not be published. The names of recipients will not be published 

unless the recipient agrees in writing to waive this provision. 

5) Receiving or donating employees who solicit or offer transferred sick leave credits in return 

for compensation in any form will be subject to disciplinary action. 

6) The Director of Administration, Sick Leave Transfer Administrator, or designee will 

investigate alleged abuse of the sick leave transfer plan. If abuse is found, the participating 

employee(s) will not be allowed to transfer or receive sick leave hours, and the 

employee(s) may be subject to disciplinary action. 

7) Decisions regarding requests to use donated sick leave are final and cannot be grieved. 

There is no appeal process. 

8) The information contained in this policy shall not be construed to limit or extend the 

maximum allowable absence under the Family and Medical Leave Act (FMLA). 

9) The Commission may terminate the sick leave transfer plan at any time. 

 

IV. Procedures 
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1) Criteria to donate leave to another employee: 
a. The donor must maintain a minimum of 80 hours of sick leave after a donation is 

processed. 
b. The minimum transfer amount for each donation shall be 8 hours; and 
c. Donors must complete the “Sick Leave Transfer - Request to Donate” form and submit 

it to the Sick Leave Transfer Administrator in the HRM via email at HR@flgaming.gov.   
 

2) Criteria to receive donated sick leave credits: 

To be eligible to receive sick leave credits, the receiving employee must: 

a. Have used all accrued sick and annual leave and all types of earned compensatory 

leave. 

b. Have suffered a documented personal illness, accident or injury (excluding workers’ 

compensation injuries), which requires, as certified by the treating physician, absence 

from the workplace for a minimum of five (5) consecutive workdays. 

c. Serve the required 5-day waiting period before donations can be received. The 

employee’s absence must be for 40 hours or more, with the employee using their own 

personal leave, or leave without pay, if necessary, before using sick leave transfer 

hours. The transfer of sick leave credits will be applied to cover absences associated 

with the documented medical condition beginning with the sixth (6th) missed workday 

or partial workday or on the first (1st) day the employee has exhausted all leave credits, 

whichever is later. If the employee provides notice of a subsequent need for sick leave 

donations due to a different medical condition, the 5-day waiting period will apply 

before donations can be received. The Commission reserves the right to waive the 5-

day waiting period on a case-by-case basis by requesting a waiver that must be 

approved by the Executive Director. 

d. Submit a properly completed “Sick Leave Transfer - Request to Use” form to the Sick 

Leave Transfer Administrator in the HRM via email at HR@flgaming.gov. Requests to 

use donated sick leave credits will only be processed upon the receipt of sufficient 

medical certification. Employees will be advised promptly by the HRM if the medical 

certification provided is deemed insufficient. 

e. Not be eligible for disability leave (workers’ compensation) under the provisions of 

section 60L-34.0061(1), F.A.C.  

f. Not have used more than 1040 hours of transferred sick leave credits in the preceding 

12-month period. The preceding 12-month period begins the month sick leave credits 

mailto:HR@flgaming.gov
mailto:HR@flgaming.gov
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are initially used. When an employee has used 1040 hours of transferred sick leave 

within the preceding 12-month period, the employee is not eligible to receive additional 

sick leave credits until a new measurement period begins. 

 

V. Processing Guidelines 

 

1) All requests to donate will be processed in the order received. All donations received from 

employees of FGCC will be processed before donations are received from employees of 

other state agencies, except for leave transferred by the receiving employee’s relative.  

2) The HRM will maintain a sick leave transfer log to record donated/used sick leave hours 

and the respective donors and recipients until the Department of State, designated 

retention period has been met.  

3) For intra-agency requests to use or donate, the HRM will review the requests to ensure 

all eligibility criteria is met to donate or receive sick leave donations. 

4) For inter-agency requests to donate, the HRM will review the "Request to Donate” form to 

ensure donor requirements are met. Inter-agency donations will be deducted from the 

donor’s sick leave account and the request promptly forwarded to the recipient’s human 

resource office. Unused credits will be returned to the donor’s sick leave account upon 

receipt of the “Return of Unused Donated Sick Leave Hours” form from the recipient’s 

human resource office. 

5) An employee should ensure that a "Request to Use” form is received by the HRM at least 

3-5 business days before the scheduled payroll deadline in the month in which the 

donations are needed to allow sufficient time for review, approval, and processing, or the 

employee could be placed on leave without pay until the request is approved and 

donations are received and processed. 

i. Requests that are incomplete or for which medical certification is not sufficient will 

not be processed until such time that a complete and sufficient medical certification 

is received by the HRM. 

6) Requests to Donate received after the payroll processing date will be applied to the next 

pay period, if needed. Otherwise, the donor will be notified via email that his/her request 

to donate is no longer needed and will not be processed. 

7) Donated leave will not be credited retroactively to a prior pay period for which the payroll 

has been processed and submitted for payment. 

8) An employee is not eligible to receive sick leave donations for any period of absence that 

is not certified by the treating physician.  
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9) If a “Request to Use” form is received for an FMLA-qualifying condition and the employee 

is not currently on FMLA and is eligible for FMLA, the HRM will immediately notice the 

employee of the Commission’s intent to designate his/her illness as FMLA in accordance 

with the “Family and Medical Leave Act,” Policy #03.07.01. 

10) An employee must provide additional medical certification, completed by the treating 

physician, every thirty (30) days, if the certification does not indicate a definite period of 

absence. Failure to provide sufficient follow-up medical certification as required will 

disqualify the further use of donated sick leave credits. 

11) All sick leave donated under this policy will be credited to the recipient on an as needed 

basis each pay period in the following order: 

a. First – Donations from the recipient’s relative; 

b. Second – Donations from within FGCC; 

c. Third – Donations from other state agencies in the State Personnel System. 

Within each of the above groups, donations are processed in the order they are received 

and credited to the recipient on a first in, first out basis.  

12) Once an employee’s sick leave donation has been credited to another employee, it cannot 

be cancelled or withdrawn. 

13) Donated leave will be deducted from the donor’s sick leave balance before crediting 

donated hours to the recipient’s sick leave balance. 

14) An employee will only be credited with the amount of sick leave needed to bring the 

employee’s total number of compensable hours up to the required number of hours for the 

pay period.  

15) Donated leave can be used continuously or intermittently, as needed.  

16) All sick leave credits that remain unused at the time of an employee’s return to work from 

the qualifying illness, accident or injury, will be returned to those employees whose 

donated leave credits have not been drawn upon under the first-in, first-out method. 

17) If a documented medical condition reoccurs within three (3) months from the date of a 

recipient’s return to work, the employee does not have to observe another 5-day waiting 

period. However, it is the employee’s responsibility to provide to the HRM sufficient 

medical certification that relates the current absence from work with the initial period of 

disability for which the 5-day waiting period was served. 

18) Sick leave credits cannot be “pooled” or held for future transfer. 

19) An employee may not use donated sick leave to repay a salary overpayment. 
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20) Transferred sick leave credits have no terminal value. An employee who separates 

employment with FGCC with unused donated sick leave hours shall not be paid for the 

unused hours. Unused hours will be credited back to the donor. 

21) Requests to use/donate sick leave will be filed in the employee’s confidential medical file. 

 

 
________________________________  _____________________________  
   
Louis Trombetta      Date   
Executive Director   
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